

Pamukkale Medical Journal Pamukkale Tıp Dergisi

Vol: 17

Issue: 2

April 2024





Pamukkale Medical Journal Pamukkale Tip Dergisi

Issue: 2

April 2024

Owner Dean on behalf of Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine MD. Osman İsmail Özdel

Vol: 17

WD. OSIIIali Isiliali Ozue

Editor in Chief MD. Eylem Teke

Deputiy Editör in Chief MD. Yavuz Dodurga

Associate Editors MD. Süleyman Erkan Alataş MD. Çağdaş Erdoğan MD. Özmert Muhammet Ali Özdemir MD. Gamze Gököz Doğu MD. Murat Özban MD. Yavuz Dodurga MD. Harun Resit Güngör MD. Gökhan Ozan Çetin MD. Bayram Özhan MD. Tuğba Sarı MD. Yusuf Özlülerden MD. Esin Avcı MD. Mert Özen MD. Yeliz Arman Karakaya MD. Emrah Egemen MD. Selma Tekin

MD. İpek Büber MD. Tuğçe Toker Uğurlu MD. Başak Ünver Koluman MD. Hande Şenol MD. Süleyman Utku Uzun

International Editorial Members

MD. Dragan Hrncic, Serbia MD. Reza Rahbarghazi, Tabriz, Iran MD. Fang Yu, USA MD. Kutluay Uluc, USA MD. Yordan Yordanov, Sofia, Bulgaria

Editorial Advisory Board

MD. Eylem Teke, Pamukkale University, Denizli MD. Selçuk Yüksel, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Çanakkale MD. Banu Çelikel Acar, University of Health Sciences, Ankara MD. Murat Bülent Rabuş, University of Health Sciences, İstanbul MD. Mehmet Uludağ, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul MD. Güven Çetin, Bezmiâlem Foundation University, İstanbul MD. Cengiz Candan, Medeniyet University, İstanbul MD. Çığır Biray Avcı, Ege University, İstanbul MD. Nilüfer Kale, İstanbul Bağcılar Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul MD. Nevzat Uzuner, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir MD. Gülnur Uzuner, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir

> Editorial Secretary and Graphic Designer Computer Operator Kutsel Onaç Officer Burcu Ateş Tanış

> > English Language Editor Lecturer Ayşe Yavuz

Pamukkale Medical Journal, TR Index, Turkey Citation Index, Turkish Medline, SOBIAD, Semantic Scholar, Crossref, EBSCO, Google Scholar, WoldCat, BASE, EuroPub, İdealonline, MIAR, DRJI, Dimensions, ResearchBib, Scilit, CiteFactor, OUCI, ProQuest, Academindex, OpenAIRE/EXPLORE, CNKI Scholar, ResearchGate, ROOTINDEXING, ACARINDEX, Paperity, J-Gate, CAS, GALE Cengage Learning, SCOPUS, INDEX COPERNICUS, Journals Insights, Harvard Library, Scinapse it is indexed by.

Name of the Journal: Pamukkale Medical Journal Web Address: https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/patd Publication Type: Periodical Publishing Period: 4 Issues per Year ISSN: 1309-9833 e-ISSN: 1308-0865

Address: Pamukkale Medical Journal, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine Dean's Office, Yunusemre Street, no: 3/F, Kınıklı, 200070 Pamukkale, Denizli. E-mail: tipdergisi@pau.edu.tr Tel: +902582961619

Fax: +902582961765

CONTENTS

Research Articles

Expression of sialic acid binding receptors (siglecs) in human trophoblast cell line	
İnsan trofoblast hücre hattında sialik asit bağlayıcı reseptörlerin (siglecs) ekspresyonu	195-203
Nazlı Çil, İbrahim Veysel Fenkçi, Gülçin Abban Mete, Doğukan Mutlu, Cihan Kabukçu, Ümit Çabuş	
Impact of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on periodontal status in obese patients	
Obez hastalarda laparoskopik tüp mide ameliyatının periodontal duruma etkisi	205-212
Aysan Lektemür Alpan, Gizem Torumtay Cin, Muhammed Raşid Aykota	
Evaluation of children with dysfagia	
Disfajisi olan çocukların değerlendirilmesi	215-224
Sevinç Garip	
Complications in digital subtraction angiography: initial three years of experience	
Dijital substraksiyon anjiografide komplikasyonlar: ilk üç yıllık deneyim	227-235
Serkan Civlan, Berk Burak Berker, Fatih Yakar, Eylem Teke, Mehmet Erdal Coşkun	
The relationship of postoperative tramadol activity with the CYP2D6*17 genome in total knee artroplasty patients	
Total diz artroplastisi uygulanan hastalarda postoperatif tramadol etkinliğinin CYP2D6*17 genomu ile ilişkisi	237-242
Nusret Ök, Muhammed Erdi Gürbüz, Aylin Köseler	
Potential effects of parietin on apoptosis and cell cycle related genes in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells	
Parietinin SH-SY5Y nöroblastom hücrelerinde apoptoz ve hücre döngüsü ile ilgili genler üzerindeki potansiyel etkileri	243-253
Yavuz Dodurga, Mücahit Seçme, Levent Elmas, Gülşah Gündoğdu, Ayşe Çekin, Nur Selvi Günel	
Investigation of DNA damage and inflammatory marker profile in patients after bariatric surgery	
Obezite ameliyatı sonrası hastaların DNA hasarı ve inflamatuar marker profilinin araştırılması	255-263
Tuğba Sarı, Sevda Yılmaz, Muhammed Raşid Aykota, Selda Şimşek, İbrahim Açıkbaş, Ayşen Buket Er Urgancı	
Evaluation of final heights in patients with congenital adrenal hyperplasia	
Konjenital adrenal hiperplazili hastalarda final boyun değerlendirilmesi	265-276

Fatma Burçin Kurtipek, Elvan Bayramoğlu, Melikşah Keskin, Zehra Aycan

Vol/17 Issue/2 April 2024

Secondary pseudotumor cerebri in the pediatric population: clinical features, treatment, and prognosis	279-284
Pediatrik popülasyonda sekonder psödotümör serebri: klinik özellikler, tedavi ve prognoz	
Olcay Güngör, Emine Şeker Ün, Beste Kıpçak Yüzbaşı, Osman Parça	
Changes in structure during the corpus luteum's formation	
Korpus luteum oluşumu sırasında meydana gelen yapısal değişiklikler	285-301
Murat Serkant Ünal, Semih Tan, Mücahit Seçme	
Complications of imaging-assisted port catheters and factors affecting complications	
Görüntüleme eşliğinde takılan port kateterlerinin komplikasyonları ve komplikasyonlara etki eden faktörler	303-312
Muhammed Tekinhatun, Muhammet Arslan, Halil Serdar Aslan, Hüseyin Gökhan Yavaş, Mahmut Demirci, Başak Ünver Koluman, Kadirhan Alver	
Effect of anticoagulation on infarct volume and NIHSS score in patients with atrial fibrillation and ischaemic stroke	
Atriyal fibrilasyon ve iskemik inme hastalarında antikoagülasyonun infarkt hacmi ve NIHSS skoru üzerine etkisi	315-323
Gökhan Aydoğan, Alper Eren	
Pediatric pineal and tectal region tumors: the use of neuroendoscopy	
Pediatrik pineal ve tektal bölge tümörleri: nöroendoskopi kullanımı	325-335
Pelin Kuzucu, Alp Özgün Börcek	525-555
Determining the levels of serum Heat Shock Protein B7 (HSPB7) and tetranectin in patients undergoing hemodialysis	
Hemodiyaliz tedavisi alan hastalarda serum Isı Şok Proteini B7 (HSPB7) ve tetranektin düzeylerinin belirlenmesi	337-345
Özgen Kılıç Erkek, Gülşah Gündoğdu, Davut Akın, Mehmet Alpua, Dilek Sayın, Melek Bor Küçükatay	
Effect of quercetin on perirenal adipose tissue adiponectin and resistin levels in rats with metabolic syndrome induced by high fructose-diet	347-357
Yüksek fruktozlu diyet ile metabolik sendrom oluşturulmuş sıçanlarda quercetinin perirenal yağ dokusu, adiponektin ve resistin düzeyleri üzerine etkisi	
Emine Kılıç Toprak, Melek Tunç Ata	
Descriptive characteristics of spinal traumas in the Eastern Anatolia region of Türkiye: a 3-year retrospective analysis	359-368
Türkiye'de Doğu Anadolu bölgesinde spinal travmaların tanımlayıcı özellikleri: 3 yıllık retrospektif analiz	

Effects of boric acid on oxidant-antioxidant, proinflammatory cytokine levels, and biochemical parameters in aged rats

Yaşlı sıçanlarda borik asidin oksidan-antioksidan, proinflamatuar sitokin seviyeleri ve 369-379 biyokimyasal parametreler üzerine etkisi

Mehmet Başeğmez, Muhammed Fatih Doğan

Repair of vesicovaginal fistula with transvaginal and abdominal technique: Pamukkale University Urology Clinic's results

381-387

Vezikovajinal fistülün transvajinal ve abdominal teknik ile onarımı: Pamukkale Üniversitesi Üroloji Kliniği sonuçları

Kürşat Küçüker, Alper Şimşek, Mesut Berkan Duran, Salih Bütün, Sinan Çelen, Yusuf Özlülerden

Case Report

Transient neonatal diabetes mellitus: a case report	
Geçici neonatal diyabetes mellitus: bir olgu sunumu	389-393
Gülay Sönmez Demir, Didem Yıldırımçakar, Murat Öcal, Özmert M.A. Özdemir, Selda Ayça Altıncık, Gökhan Ozan Çetin, Hacer Ergin	
Malignancy smell in the air: widespread eroded, hemorrhagic, and lichenified plaques in an older man	395-398
	395-398

Letter to Editor

Traumatic knee dislocation "about" <i>Travmatik diz çıkıkları "hakkında</i> " Uğur Ertem	399-400
Traumatic knee dislocation "author's response"	
Travmatik diz çıkıkları "yazarın yanıtı"	401
Mert Bektaş, Harun Reşit Güngör, Kadir Gem	

Expression of sialic acid binding receptors (siglecs) in human trophoblast cell line

İnsan trofoblast hücre hattinda sialik asit bağlayici reseptörlerin (siglecs) ekspresyonu

Nazlı Çil, İbrahim Veysel Fenkçi, Gülçin Abban Mete, Doğukan Mutlu, Cihan Kabukçu, Ümit Çabuş

Posted date:21.08.2023

Acceptance date:01.11.2023

Abstract

Purpose: Cell surface proteins known as Siglecs exhibit a specific affinity for sialic acid. Primarily located on the surface of immune cells, Siglecs belong to the subset of lectins called I-type lectins. Siglecs have important roles in maternal-fetal immune tolerance. We aimed to analyze the expression of Siglecs on Human Villous Trophoblasts (HVT) cells.

Materials and methods: Total RNA was extracted from the HVT cell line, cDNA was synthesized, and realtime quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) was performed the determine the changes in Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -8, -9, -10, -11, and -16 mRNA levels. In addition, Siglec levels were assessed by using immunohistochemical staining. Immunoreactivity against Siglec-6 and Siglec-9 was evaluated separately according to the intensity of brown color.

Results: Expression levels of Siglec genes by qRT-PCR and melting curve analyses were performed using RNA extracted from the HVT cell line. Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -9, -10, -11, and -16 genes were found to be expressed in the HVT cell line. Differently, Siglec-8 results were undetected after cycle 40, which was considered a negative result. The immunocytochemical examination of the HVT cell line revealed that Siglec-6 expression was moderate in the cytoplasm (Score:2). Siglec-9 expression was prominent in the cytoplasm (Score:3).

Conclusion: The results showed that Siglec-6 and Siglec-9 were expressed more than other Siglec proteins in the human trophoblast cells. Immunocytochemistry results also support these findings. Our study is the first to show Siglec-9 expression in human trophoblast cells.

Keywords: Siglecs, human villous trophoblasts, sialic acid.

Cil N, Fenkci IV, Abban Mete G, Mutlu D, Kabukcu C, Cabus U. Expression of sialic acid binding receptors (siglecs) in human trophoblast cell line. Pam Med J 2024;17:195-203.

Öz

Amaç: Siglecler olarak bilinen hücre yüzeyi proteinleri, sialik asit için özel bir afinite sergilemektedir. Öncelikle bağışıklık hücrelerinin yüzeyinde bulunan Siglec'ler, I-tipi lektinler adı verilen lektin alt kümesine aittir. Siglecler maternal-fetal immün toleransta önemli rollere sahiptir. Bu çalışmada İnsan Villöz Trofoblast (HVT) hücre hatlarında Siglec tiplerinin belirlenmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve yöntem: HVT hücre hattından total RNA ekstrakte edildi, cDNA sentezlendi ve Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -8, -9, -10, -11 ve -16 gen ekspresyonu Gerçek Zamanlı Kantitatif Ters Transkripsiyon Polimeraz Zincir Reaksiyonu (qRT-PCR) ile analiz edildi. Ek olarak, Siglec seviyelerini belirlemek için immünohistokimyasal boyamalar yapılmıştır. Siglec-6 ve Siglec-9' a karşı immünoreaktivite kahverengi rengin yoğunluğuna göre ayrı ayrı değerlendirilmiştir.

Bulgular: HVT hücre hattından ekstrakte edilen RNA kullanılarak Siglec genlerinin qRT-PCR ile ekspresyon seviyeleri ile erime eğrisi analizleri yapıldı. Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -9, -10, -11 ve -16 genlerinin HVT hücre hattında ifade edildiği bulundu. Farklı olarak, Siglec-8 sonuçları 40. döngüden sonra tespit edilemedi ve bu da negatif bir sonuç olarak kabul edildi. HVT hücre hattının immünositokimyasal incelemesinde Siglec-6 ekspresyonunun sitoplazmada orta düzeyde olduğu ortaya çıkmıştır (Skor:2). Siglec-9 ekspresyonu sitoplazmada belirgindi (Skor:3).

Sonuç: Sonuçlar Siglec-6 ve Siglec-9'un HVT hücre hattında diğer Siglec proteinlerinden daha fazla ifade edildiğini göstermiştir. İmmünositokimya sonuçları da bu bulguları desteklemektedir. Çalışmamız insan trofoblast hücrelerinde Siglec-9 ekspresyonunu gösteren ilk çalışmadır.

Nazlı Çil, Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ncil@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2164-8688) (Corresponding Author)

İbrahim Veysel Fenkçi, Prof, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: veyselfenkci@yahoo.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4929-5252)

Gülçin Abban Mete, Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: gabban@pau. edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6794-3685)

Doğukan Mutlu, PhD Student, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Science, Department of Biology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dogukanmutlu@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3259-5822)

Cihan Kabukçu, Assoc. Prof, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: cihankabukcu@yahoo.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3331-5714)

Ümit Çabuş, Assoc. Prof, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: umitcabus@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5478-5673)

Anahtar kelimeler: Siglecs, insan villöz trafoblast, sialik asit.

Çil N, Fenkçi İV, Abban Mete G, Mutlu D, Kabukçu C, Çabuş Ü. İnsan trofoblast hücre hattinda sialik asit bağlayici reseptörlerin (siglecs) ekspresyonu. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:195-203.

Introduction

Infertility is the absence of conception following one year of unprotected and regular sexual intercourse [1]. The causes of infertility can be categorized simply as female only, male only, both male and female and unexplained causes. However, infertility is a complex, multifactorial condition. Therefore a more detailed evaluation for a definitive diagnosis is important to determine the most appropriate treatment for couples [2-4]. With the development of new treatment protocols in ovulation induction, the success rates in infertility treatment with assisted reproductive techniques have increased, considering the high rate of high-quality oocytes obtained and advances in fertilization and embryo development. Nevertheless, the desired level of embryo implantation, especially after highquality embryo transfer, has not yet been achieved [5]. Although several parameters have been proposed to determine endometrial receptivity, no positive results have been obtained for clinical use [6]. Endometrial factors that increase endometrial receptivity and improve implantation rate may be new therapeutic targets [7].

Sialic acids are nine-carbon sugars synthesized in vertebrates. They are the last sugars complementing various glycosylation structures [8]. Some bacteria have developed to synthesize "Sialic acids mimic", de-novo synthesize, and take up them or sialyl-coated structures from the host to provide a survival advantage. Cancer cells use a similar strategy to evade the immune system. There is extensive immunological suppression through sialylated mucins produced by the tumor. Indeed, sialic acids associated with abnormal glycosylation and increased sialylation have been demonstrated in many tumors, such as colon cancer, renal cell carcinoma, prostate cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, breast cancer, oral cancer, and have been shown in the progression and metastasis of cancer [9-14]. The primary role of sialic acids in the immune system is thought to be due to the fact that they contain ligands for Selectin or calcium-dependent C-type leukocyte motility regulating lectins [8]. Activation of immune cells seems to be related to decrease sialic acids in cell surface [15]. Sialic acids are ligands for cell adhesion molecules in the sialic acid binding immunoglobulin-like lectins (Siglecs) family, which regulate the immune response [8]. Monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells contain largely the same Siglec profile. Synthesis of Siglec-3, -7, -9 are high and synthesis of Siglec-1 and Siglec-10 are low after stimulation with IFN-α [16-23]. An intracellular "immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif (ITIM)" is present in most Siglecs. ITIM stimulates inhibitory signal when it binds Sialic acids [24]. Siglec-5 to Siglec-11 carrying ITIM in their cytoplasma are called inhibitory Siglecs [25]. In contrast, Siglec-4 and Siglec-16 do not contain an ITIM. Therefore they are called activating Siglecs. Siglec-14 may be an inducer of an inflammatory response through activation of the MAPK pathway [26]. Siglecs are ligands expressed primarily on macrophages and dendritic cells that are involved in cell adhesion and the internalisation of sialic acidexpressing pathogens. In innate cells, most Siglec-associated ITIMs are thought to protect against the development of autoimmunity by attenuating inflammatory responses in various cell types, mainly through their cisinteracting with sialoglycoconjugates. However, pathogens and tumors can subvert these inhibitory responses for their own purposes. While immune stimulation is important for the treatment process in cancers, the overactive immune system in allergies and autoimmune diseases needs to be suppressed in some way [27].

It has been suggested that Sialic acids and Siglecs have important roles in maternal-fetal immune tolerance and, therefore, may have positive or negative effects on the implantation success of the embryo, depending on whether this system is functioning properly or not. In this context, it is essential to demonstrate the presence of Siglecs in trophoblast cells. Evaluating the Siglec relationship may be clinically significant in women diagnosed with infertility, recurrent pregnancy loss, and recurrent implantation failure in assisted reproductive techniques treatments. In this study, we aimed to determine Siglec types in trophoblast cells.

Material and methods

Cell culture

Human Villous Trophoblasts (HVT) (Cat#910958, Innoprot) cell lines were obtained Cells cultured in DMEM/F12 (Sigma) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (GIBCO), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (GIBCO) mix and were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ [28].

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted using the innuPREP RNA Mini Kit 2.0 (Analytik Jena, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. A total of 2.5 µg RNA was reverted to cDNA by using an A.B.T.™ cDNA Synthesis Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. gRT-PCR was performed by using A.B.T.™ 2X qPCR SYBR-Green MasterMix (Atlas Biyoteknoloji, Türkiye) in an Applied Biosystems™ StepOnePlus™ Real-Time PCR System (Thermo, USA). The samples underwent two-step amplification with an initial step at 95°C (10 min), followed by 95°C (15s), 72°C (30s), and 60°C (30s) for 40 cycles. The melting curve was analyzed. Each sample was performed in triplicate independently. GAPDH was used as an internal control (Table 1).

Table 1. Primer s	sequences of the genes used in this study

Gene Names	Primer Sequences		
Gene Names	Forward	Reverse	
GAPDH	GTCTCCTCTGACTTCAACAGCG	ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAA	
SIGLEC-3	GTGACTACGGAGAGAACCATCC	GCTGTAACACCAGCTCCTCCAA	
SIGLEC-5	CTCACCTGTCAGATGAAACGCC	CCGTTCCTGAAGATGGTGATGG	
SIGLEC-6	TTTCACCTGCCGTGCTCAGCAT	ACCAGGGTTGTGATGCTAGCTC	
SIGLEC-7	CTGGTCTTCCTCTCCTTCTGTG	GCATCCTTCATGCCTATGTCTCC	
SIGLEC-8	TGACTGTCTTCCAAGGAGATGCC	CTGTTGACAGCACAGACCAGGC	
SIGLEC-9	CCACGAACAAGACCGTCCATCT	TCTGGGAGTGACAGAGATGAGC	
SIGLEC-10	AACGGAGCGTTTCTGGGAATCG	TCTGAGTCCGTCTCTTCGGTAG	
SIGLEC-11	AGAGTGGCTCTGTCTTCCAGCT	CTGAAGACGACAAGGCAGGAAC	
SIGLEC-16	CAACCAGAGTCGAGAGGTGGAA	CACCCGAAAGAAGTACCATGCC	

Immunocytochemistry

HVT cells were thawed by adding DMEM/F-12 medium containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin mixture. Thawed cells were monitored every day. Cells reaching 80-90% confluency were passaged the following days. The replicated cells were seeded on chamber slides with 40.000 cells in each well. After the inoculated cells adhered, the medium was removed and fixed with methanol (-20°C). H_2O_2 was added to the dried cells, protecting them from light. After 30 minutes, they were washed with Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) (CAPRICORN). Secondary kit A solution was applied for 10 minutes. *Siglec 6* and *Siglec 9* (1:100) primary antibodies were applied and

incubated at 4°C for one night. After washing with PBS, secondary kit B solution was applied for 1 hour. The chamber slide was rewashed with PBS and exposed to secondary kit C solution for 30 minutes. Stained with 3.3 diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hematoxylin as counterstaining, the chamber slide was covered with entellan. Immunoreactivity against Siglec-6 and Siglec-9 was evaluated separately according to the intensity of brown color. HVT cells were scanned at 40X magnification. Siglec-6 and Siglec-9 expression was evaluated in the cell nucleus and cytoplasm. Samples were evaluated by light microscopy according to the extent of coloured cells (0%=score 0, 1-10%=score 1, 11-50%=score 2; >51%=score 3) [29, 30].

Statistical analysis

Data are given as Mean \pm Standard Deviation (for each data). The difference between the groups were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA test with GraphPad Prism 9 software.

Results

qRT-PCR findings

We observed the melting curves by qRT-PCR amplification targeting Siglec genes using RNA extracts from the HVT cell line. The amplicons specificity was verified by analysis (60 to 95°C) after 40 cycles, except for *Siglec-8* (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Melting curve profile of Siglec genes

The cycle threshold (Ct) values were obtained from each reaction with primer pairs. *Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -9, -10, -11*, and *-16* genes were found to be expressed in the HVT cell line. Differently, *Siglec-8* results were undetected after cycle 40, which was considered a negative result (Figure 2).

Immunocytochemical findings

In the immunocytochemical examination of the HVT cell line revealed that Siglec-6

expression was moderate in the cytoplasm (Score:2), nuclear staining was weak, and there was no staining in some areas. Along with moderate staining in the cytoplasm and intense staining in some areas, moderate staining in the nuclear membrane in some areas was striking (Figure 3). In The immunocytochemical examination of the HVT cell line, *Siglec-9* expression was prominent in the cytoplasm (Score:3). Nucleus staining was weak, and some areas showed no staining. Nuclear membrane staining was moderate (Score:2) (Figure 3).



Figure 2. qRT-PCR Ct values for reference genes. Expression data is displayed as Ct values for each reference gene in HVT cells. Error bars represent the mean \pm standard error of three replicates * indicates statistical difference (*p*<0.05, one-way ANOVA)



Figure 3. Immunocytochemical demonstration of Siglec-6 and Siglec-9 expression in HVT cells A1, B1: 20X; B2, B2: 40X; A3, B3: 100X, Immunoperoxidase & Hematoxylin

Discussion

The sialic acid-Siglec axis has been partially explored in reproductive system function and embryo implantation. Sialic acids are found in circulating glycoprotein hormones (FSH, LH, hCG). The N-glycans of FSH and hCG are coated with sialic acid, whereas in LH, a different modification occurs with the addition of sulfate. The fate of circulating LH is determined by these glycosylation changes; a specialized receptor in the liver clears the sulfated molecules. This clearance determines the halflife of the hormones in circulation. As a result, the reproductive cycle is optimized [27]. Sialic acids affect fertilization during sperm-egg contact [31]. It has been shown that these glycans contribute to fertilization during interactions with the surfaces and various fluids of the female reproductive system before the sperm arrives the ovum [32]. The endometrium has an agglutinin that detects sialic acids [33]. Sialic acids appear to be affect fertilization [34]. Sialic acids also affect embryogenesis. Although cells in culture can survive and divide without sialic acids, early embryonic death occurred in mice that were genetically engineered to eliminate sialic acid production [35]. Tecle et al. [36] investigated the expression of various Siglecs in pre-menopausal human uterine tissues. They showed that the epithelium primarily expressed Siglec-10. They investigated Ishikawa and HEC-1B, for the expression of Siglec on the cell surface. Their analysis revealed that HEC-1B and Ishikawa express Siglec-10 and Siglec-11 and activate other Siglecs. Importantly, these two cell lines were found to express Siglec-16 highly [36]. In a study, despite Siglec-11 and Siglec-16 being expressed by endometrial cell lines, Siglec-11-Fc and Siglec-16-Fc proteins did not bind to human semen [37]. In our study, the presence of Siglec-10, -11, and -16 in HVT was demonstrated in gene analysis using the Real-Time PCR method.

Siglec-8 is expressed on human mast cells and eosinophils and has low expression on basophils. These cells contribute to allergic and non-allergic diseases. They contribute to the inflammatory response by releasing mediators that attract other cells and activate inflammation. Early studies found that *Siglec-8* binds to monoclonal antibodies or selective sialoglycan ligands, ultimately inducing cell death by eosinophils and inhibiting degranulation of the mast cells. In vivo administration of anti-*Siglec-8* antibodies to the in vitro results were confirmed by transgenic mice expressing *Siglec-8* on eosinophils and mast cells [38]. We did not demonstrate Siglec-8 expression in trophoblast cells in our study.

Siglec-6 is expressed in syncytiotrophoblasts, cytotrophoblasts and extravillous trophoblasts in the human placenta. It is expressed in B cells of primates. However, placental expression of human is specific. Overexpression of Siglec-6 was observed in placentas with preeclampsia (PE) patients [39]. Another study showed that expression of Siglec-6 was higher in PE placentas compared to controls at preterm period. Siglec-6 expression was approximately twice as high in PE samples in the basal plate and chorionic villi. With this study, Siglec-6 was thought to have a role in trophoblast differentiation defects. Therefore, it was concluded that overexpression of Siglec-6 in PE placentas may be a marker of PE [40]. Another study was reported that while Siglec-6 is expressed in the immune cells of both humans and great apes, its expression in the placenta is human-specific. In the monkey placenta, its expression is either very low or absent. Natural ligands for Siglec-6 are expressed in the human placenta. Ligands have also been located in the uterine endometrium and trophoblastic or endometrial-origin cell lines. As a result of the immunohistochemical analysis for Siglec-6 localization in human placentas, a wide expression range was recorded in placentas obtained with normal delivery, with the highest expression [41]. Our study supports these studies, as shown both by Real-Time PCR results and immunocytochemically. In the images obtained immunocytochemically, a prominent reaction was observed in the cytoplasm and nuclear membrane.

Myeloid cells, B cells, NK cells, T cells express Siglec-9. It is a cell surface transmembrane receptor. When Siglec-9 binds to its sialic acid-containing ligands, it initiates a negative signaling cascade that inhibits the function of immune cells. Siglec-9-mediated inhibition of the immune response is independent of MHC. Therefore, cancer cells can use this mechanism to evade the host immune response. These results indicate that Siglec-9 is an important glycoimmune negative checkpoint against cancer and virally infected cells [42]. In a metaanalysis, it was reported that expression of Siglec-9 is altered in cancers and is associated with patient survival. The study revealed a correlation between Siglec-9 expression and clinical characteristics of tumor patients. Siglec-9 is strongly associated with the tumor immune microenvironment. Siglec-9 expression levels have been shown to be highest in blood, spleen, and lung tissues and lowest in muscle and bone marrow [43]. Another study showed that Siglec-9 was expressed in mesothelial cells and connected with glycan epitopes in endometrial cells. Inhibition of Siglec-9 function decreases the connection between the endometrium and mesothelium [44]. According to Real-Time PCR results, Siglec 9 expression was found to be considerably higher than other Siglecs, such as Siglec 6 in our study. Immunologically, it was supported significantly by cytoplasm and nuclear membrane staining.

In conclusion, *Siglec -3, -5, -6, -7, -9, -10, -11*, and *-16* genes were found to be expressed in the HVT cell line in the study. The results showed that *Siglec-6* and *Siglec-9* were expressed more than other Siglec proteins in the HVT cell line. Immunocytochemistry results also support these findings. Our study is the first to show *Siglec-9* expression in human trophoblast cells. Experimental and human placental studies are needed to elucidate the effects of Siglec genes, which are thought to promote cell-cell interactions and regulate the immune system through glycan recognition, on these mechanisms.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- World Health Organization. Recommendations. In: Vayena E, Rowe PJ, Griffin PD. Current practices and controversies in assisted reproduction: report of a meeting on "Medical, Ethical and Social Aspects of Assisted Reproduction" held at WHO Headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization 2002;381-396.
- Vander Borgh M, Wyns C. Fertility and infertility: definition and epidemiology. Clin Biochem 2018;62:2-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.03.012
- Stephen EH. Projections of impaired fecundity among women in the United States: 1995 to 2020. Fertil Steril 1996;66:205-209. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0015-0282(16)58439-8

- Wilkes S, Chinn DJ, Murdoch A, Rubin G. Epidemiology and management of infertility: a population-based study in UK primary care. Fam Pract 2009;26:269-274. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmp029
- Dekel N, Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Mor G. Inflammation and implantation. Am J Reprod Immunol 2010;63:17-21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.2009.00792.x
- Horcajadas JA, Pellicer A, Simón C. Wide genomic analysis of human endometrial receptivity: new times, new opportunities. Hum Reprod Update 2007;13:77-86. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dml046
- Salamonsen LA, Nie G, Findlay JK. Newly identified endometrial genes of importance for implantation. J Reprod Immunol 2002;53:215-225. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0165-0378(01)00087-0
- Varki A. Glycan-based interactions involving vertebrate sialic-acid-recognizing proteins. Nature 2007;446:1023-1029. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05816
- Bronikowska I, Świętochowska E, Oleksiak M, Czecior E. Sialic acids in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 2016;70:1300-1308. https://doi.org/10.5604/17322693.1227410
- RodrÍguez E, Schetters STT, van Kooyk Y. The tumour glyco-code as a novel immune checkpoint for immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2018;18:204-211. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2018.3
- Borzym Kluczyk M, Radziejewska I, Cechowska Pasko M, Darewicz B. Reduced expression of E-cadherin and increased sialylation level in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Acta Biochim Pol 2017;64:465-470. https:// doi.org/10.18388/abp.2015_1215
- Pihikova D, Kasak P, Kubanikova P, Sokol R, Tkac J. Aberrant sialylation of a prostate-specific antigen: electrochemical label-free glycoprofiling in prostate cancer serum samples. Anal Chim Acta 2016;31;934:72-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2016.06.043
- Zhang Z, Wuhrer M, Holst S. Serum sialylation changes in cancer. Glycoconj J 2018;35:139-160. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10719-018-9820-0
- Adams OJ, Stanczak MA, von Gunten S, Läubli H. Targeting sialic acid-Siglec interactions to reverse immune suppression in cancer. Glycobiology 2018;28:640-647. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/ cwx108
- Nan X, Carubelli I, Stamatos NM. Sialidase expression in activated human T lymphocytes influences production of IFN-gamma. J Leukoc Biol 2007;81:284-296. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1105692
- Li N, Zhang W, Wan T, et al. Cloning and characterization of Siglec-10, a novel sialic acid binding member of the Ig superfamily, from human dendritic cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276:28106-28112. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M100467200

- Higuchi H, Shoji T, Iijima S, Nishijima K. Constitutively expressed Siglec-9 inhibits LPS-induced CCR7, but enhances IL-4-induced CD200R expression in human macrophages. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2016;80:1141-1148. https://doi.org/10.1080/09168451 .2016.1146070
- Lock K, Zhang J, Lu J, Lee SH, Crocker PR. Expression of CD33-related siglecs on human mononuclear phagocytes, monocyte-derived dendritic cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Immunobiology 2004;209:199-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. imbio.2004.04.007
- Bull C, Collado Camps E, Kers Rebel ED, et al. Metabolic sialic acid blockade lowers the activation threshold of moDCs for TLR stimulation. Immunol Cell Biol 2017;95:408-415. https://doi.org/10.1038/ icb.2016.105
- De Saint Jean A, Lucht F, Bourlet T, Delézay O. Transforming growth factor beta 1 up-regulates CD169 (sialoadhesin) expression on monocytederived dendritic cells: role in HIV sexual transmission. AIDS 2014;28:2375-2380. https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAD.00000000000431
- 21. Angata T, Varki A. Siglec-7: a sialic acid-binding lectin of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Glycobiology 2000;10:431-438. https://doi.org/10.1093/ glycob/10.4.431
- Angata T, Varki A. Cloning, characterization, and phylogenetic analysis of siglec-9, a new member of the CD33-related group of siglecs. Evidence for coevolution with sialic acid synthesis pathways. J Biol Chem 2000;275:22127-22135. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M002775200
- Zhang JQ, Nicoll G, Jones C, Crocker PR. Siglec-9, a novel sialic acid binding member of the immunoglobulin superfamily expressed broadly on human blood leukocytes. J Biol Chem 2000;275:22121-22126. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M002788200
- Avril T, Attrill H, Zhang J, Raper A, Crocker PR. Negative regulation of leucocyte functions by CD33related siglecs. Biochem Soc Trans 2006;34:1024-1027. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0341024
- Poe JC, Hasegawa M, Tedder TF. CD19, CD21, and CD22: multifaceted response regulators of B lymphocyte signal transduction. Int Rev Immunol 2001;20:739-762. https://doi.org/10.3109/08830180109045588
- Ali SR, Fong JJ, Carlin AF, et al. Siglec-5 and Siglec-14 are polymorphic paired receptors that modulate neutrophil and amnion signaling responses to group B Streptococcus. J Exp Med 2014;211:1231-1242. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20131853
- Roseman DS, Baenziger JU. The Man/GalNAc-4-SO4-receptor: relating specificity to function. Methods Enzymol 2003;363:121-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0076-6879(03)01048-6

- Mutlu D, Cakir C, Ozturk M, Arslan S. Anticancer and apoptotic effects of a polysaccharide extract isolated from lactarius chrysorrheus Fr. in HepG2 and PANC-1 cell lines. Archives of Biological Sciences 2022;74:315-324. https://doi.org/10.2298/ABS220803030M
- Kim M, Suh DH, Choi JY, et al. Mutually exclusive antiproliferative effect of cell line-specific HOX inhibition in epithelial ovarian cancer cell lines: SKOV-3 vs RMUG-S. J Cell Mol Med 2020;24:3246-3251. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.14993
- Yang J, Zhou Y, Xie S, et al. Metformin induces Ferroptosis by inhibiting UFMylation of SLC7A11 in breast cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2021;40:206. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-02012-7
- Mengerink KJ, Vacquier VD. Glycobiology of spermegg interactions in deuterostomes. Glycobiology 2001;11:37-43. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/11.4.37r
- Brayman M, Thathiah A, Carson DD. MUC1: a multifunctional cell surface component of reproductive tissue epithelia. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2004;2:4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-2-4
- Chatterji U, Sen AK, Schauer R, Chowdhury M. Paracrine effects of a uterine agglutinin are mediated via the sialic acids present in the rat uterine endometrium. Mol Cell Biochem 2000;215:47-55. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026582715752
- Velásquez JG, Canovas S, Barajas P, et al. Role of sialic acid in bovine sperm-zona pellucida binding. Mol Reprod Dev 2007;74:617-628. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mrd.20619
- Schwarzkopf M, Knobeloch KP, Rohde E, et al. Sialylation is essential for early development in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:5267-5270. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.072066199
- Tecle E, Reynoso HS, Wang R, Gagneux P. The female reproductive tract contains multiple innate sialic acidbinding immunoglobulin-like lectins (Siglecs) that facilitate sperm survival. J Biol Chem 2019;294:11910-11919. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.008729
- Razi N, Varki A. Cryptic sialic acid binding lectins on human blood leukocytes can be unmasked by sialidase treatment or cellular activation. Glycobiology 1999;9:1225-1234. https://doi.org/10.1093/ glycob/9.11.1225
- Youngblood BA, Leung J, Falahati R, et al. Discovery, function, and therapeutic targeting of siglec-8. Cells 2020;10:19. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10010019
- Stefanski AL, Renecle MD, Kramer A, et al. Siglec-6 signaling uses src kinase tyrosine phosphorylation and SHP-2 recruitment. Cells 2022;11:3427. https://doi. org/10.3390/cells11213427
- Rumer KK, Uyenishi J, Hoffman MC, Fisher BM, Winn VD. Siglec-6 expression is increased in placentas from pregnancies complicated by preterm preeclampsia. Reprod Sci 2013;20:646-653. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1933719112461185

- Brinkman Van der Linden ECM, Hurtado Ziola N, Hayakawa T, et al. Human-specific expression of Siglec-6 in the placenta. Glycobiology 2007;17:922-931. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwm065
- Choi H, Ho M, Adeniji OS, et al. Development of Siglec-9 blocking antibody to enhance anti-tumor immunity. Front Oncol 2021;11:778989. https://doi. org/10.3389/fonc.2021.778989
- Wu Y, Huang W, Xie Y, et al. Siglec-9, a putative immune checkpoint marker for cancer progression across multiple cancer types. Front Mol Biosci 2022;9:743515. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2022.743515
- Choi HJ, Chung TW, Choi HJ, et al. Increased α2-6 sialylation of endometrial cells contributes to the development of endometriosis. Exp Mol Med 2018;50:1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-018-0167-1

Acknowledgment: This work was supported by The Pamukkale University Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit (grant 2022HZDP003).

Ethics committee disclosure: In the our study "Expression of Sialic Acid Binding Receptors (Siglecs) in Human Trophoblast Cell Line", human first trimester trophoblast cells (Human Trophoblast Cell Line) that we have in stock were used. Cells are cultured in medium. Cells that become confluent between 2 and 3 days are multiplied by changing the medium, and experimental groups of cells that have reached sufficient density are formed. Ethics committee approval is not required for cell culture studies and cells are in our stock.

Contributions of the authors to the article

I.V.F. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. I.V.F., N.C. and D.M. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. D.M. evaluated the data of qRT- PCR in the results section. G.A.M. and N.C. contributed to the histological and immunohistochemical evaluation of the results. The article written by I.V.F., N.C., U.C., C.K. and D.M.

I.V.F. and G.A.M. reviewed the article and made the necessary corrections and approved it. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Impact of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on periodontal status in obese patients

Obez hastalarda laparoskopik tüp mide ameliyatının periodontal duruma etkisi

Aysan Lektemür Alpan, Gizem Torumtay Cin, Muhammed Raşid Aykota

Posted date:15.10.2023

Acceptance date:28.11.2023

Abstract

Purpose: This study aimed to determine the effects of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy surgery on clinical periodontal parameters at 6 months in the postoperative period.

Materials and methods: Fifty-four obese patients with periodontitis between 18 and 70 years of age were evaluated for obesity-related parameters and periodontal status before and 6 months after bariatric surgery. Correlations of the changes in periodontal parameters and the total weight loss and body mass index (BMI) loss at 6 months after bariatric surgery were determined with Spearman correlation analysis. *P*<0.05 was considered as the statistical significance value.

Results: Significant improvements were achieved at 6-month follow-up compared to baseline in BMI values and several systemic health-related serum biomarkers such as C-reactive protein, high-density lipoprotein, low-density lipoprotein, and albumin levels. Periodontal parameters; plaque index (p=0.000), gingival index (p=0.004), and bleeding on probing (p=0.007) were decreased significantly at 6 months after surgery. However, no significant changes in probing depth and clinical attachment level values were observed. The changes in plaque index values were positively correlated with the percent of total weight loss (r=0.301, p=0.027). Also, there was a positive significant correlation between the changes in the percent of bleeding on probing levels and the percent of total weight loss and the percent excess BMI loss (r=0.637, p=0.000 and r=0.370, p=0.006 respectively).

Conclusion: Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy surgery resulted in a reduction in periodontal inflammation in parallel with the decrease in BMI levels and obesity-related biochemical markers during the 6-month follow-up period.

Keywords: Bariatric surgery, body mass index, obesity, periodontitis, prospective studies.

Lektemur Alpan A, Torumtay Cin G, Aykota MR. Impact of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on periodontal status in obese patients. Pam Med J 2024;17:205-212.

Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmada, laparoskopik tüp mide ameliyatının operasyon sonrası 6. ayda klinik periodontal parametreler üzerindeki etkilerinin belirlenmesi amaçlandı.

Gereç ve yöntem: Yaşları 18 ile 70 arasında değişen, periodontitisli 54 obez hasta, obezite ile ilişkili parametreler ve bariatrik cerrahi öncesi ve sonrasındaki periodontal durumları açısından değerlendirildi. Obezite cerrahisi sonrası 6. ayda periodontal parametrelerdeki değişiklikler ile toplam kilo kaybı ve vücut kitle indeksi (VKİ) kaybı arasındaki korelasyonlar Spearman korelasyon analizi ile belirlendi. *P*<0,05 istatistiksel anlamlılık değeri olarak kabul edildi.

Bulgular: 6 aylık takipte VKİ değerlerinde ve C-reaktif protein, yüksek yoğunluklu lipoprotein, düşük yoğunluklu lipoprotein ve albümin seviyeleri gibi sistemik sağlıkla ilgili çeşitli serum biyobelirteçlerinde başlangıca kıyasla önemli iyileşmeler elde edildi. Plak indeksi (p=0,000), gingival indeks (p=0,004) ve sondlamada kanama (p=0,007) gibi periodontal paramatreler ameliyattan 6 ay sonra anlamlı derecede azaldı. Ancak sondlama derinliği ve klinik ataçman seviyesi değerlerinde anlamlı bir değişiklik gözlenmedi. Plak indeksi değerlerindeki değişiklikler toplam kilo kaybı yüzdesi ile pozitif korelasyon gösterdi (r=0,301, p=0,027). Ayrıca sondlamada kanama yüzdesindeki değişiklikler ile toplam kilo kaybı yüzdesi ve aşırı VKİ kaybı yüzdesi arasında pozitif anlamlı bir korelasyon tespit edildi (sırasıyla r=0,637, p=0,000 ve r=0,370, p=0,006).

Sonuç: Laparoskopik tüp mide ameliyatı, 6 aylık takip döneminde VKİ seviyelerinde ve obezite ile ilişkili biyokimyasal belirteçlerde azalmaya paralel olarak periodontal inflamasyonda da azalma sağlamıştır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Bariatrik cerrahi, vücut kitle indeksi, obezite, periodontitis, prospektif çalışmalar.

Lektemür Alpan A, Torumtay Cin G, Aykota MR. Obez hastalarda laparoskopik tüp mide ameliyatının periodontal duruma etkisi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:205-212.

Aysan Lektemür Alpan, Assoc. Prof. Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dentistry, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ysnlpn@gmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5939-4783) (Corresponding Author)

Gizem Torumtay Cin, Asst. Prof. Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dentistry, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: gyaprak_dt@ hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5362-4146)

Muhammed Raşid Aykota, Assoc. Prof. Department of General Surgery, Tekden Hospital, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: muhammedaykota@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1862-6186)

Introduction

Obesity is a condition that is a significant global health concern with increasing prevalence rates [1] characterized by excess body fat. Body Mass Index (BMI) which is used to define obesity of 30 or higher is considered indicative of obesity [2]. Obesity is related to many health risks and can have a significant impact on a person's overall well-being. The pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cancer, cardiovascular disease, and osteoporosis is linked with obesity [3, 4].

Periodontitis is a chronic inflammatory oral disease that involves a complex interplay between oral bacteria and the person's immune response, resulting in the irreversible destruction of the periodontium [5]. The 2017 periodontal disease classification of the link between these two conditions underscores the idea of comorbidity, where the presence of obesity increases the risk and severity of periodontitis [6]. The relationship between obesity and periodontitis is multifaceted and can involve various mechanisms, including inflammation, altered immune response, and systemic factors [7, 8].

Bariatric surgery (BS), is a set of surgical procedures performed to help individuals with severe obesity lose weight by reducing their BMI. The principal types of BS are laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG), adjustable gastric band, biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch, and Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass (RYGB) [9]. LSG is a procedure that allows the stomach to be turned into a narrow tube or sleeve by completely removing the fundus part of the stomach with a vertical incision along the larger curvature (outer curve) of the stomach [10]. LSG has an additional benefit beyond its restrictive effect. It reduces the production of an appetitestimulating hormone called ghrelin produced in the fundus of the stomach and plays a role in regulating hunger [11]. Research related to the effects of BS on periodontal conditions has produced conflicting results [12-16]. While some studies have stated that BS has a negative effect on periodontal status [12, 13], others have emphasized that the periodontal condition becomes better [15]. Therefore, our study aims to evaluate the 6-month changes

in periodontal parameters in obese individuals undergoing LSG. Our study hypothesizes that obesity decreases due to weight loss after LSG and this may lead to improvement in periodontal parameters at the follow-up at 6 months.

Materials and methods

Study population

This prospective observational study evaluated a total of 54 obese patients diagnosed with periodontitis (AAP/EPF classification) [17] who were being monitored in the obesity clinic at the Faculty of Medicine in Pamukkale University and eligible for LSG surgery, during the preoperative and 6-month postoperative period. The indication for BS was made by the experienced bariatric surgeon (MRA) if a patient had a BMI >40 kg/m² or BMI >35 kg/m² and obesity-related comorbidity [18].

The ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine at Pamukkale University with the protocol number 2018/19 and was carried out by the Declaration of Helsinki. Each participant was asked to provide written informed consent. Patients were excluded if they were <18 or >70 years of age, pregnant, underwent periodontal treatment within a 6-month period, and had <15 teeth. After detailed periodontal examination, individuals who underwent sleeve gastrectomy surgery were followed up for a 6-month period after the operation.

Demographic and metabolic variables

Demographic characteristics such as age, sex, education level, and smoking habits were collected from each subject at the baseline of the study. Participants' medical conditions were determined from their medical records. The history of hypertension (systolic blood pressure (SBP) ≥140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure (DBP) ≥90 mmHg or receiving treatment for hypertension), dyslipidemia (high-density lipoprotein level (HDL): female, <50 mg/dL and males, <40 mg/dL; triglyceride level ≥150 mg/dL or receiving treatment for dyslipidemia) and diabetes (fasting plasma glucose ≥126 mg/dl or receiving treatment for diabetes) was defined according to the related criteria. C reactive protein (CRP), HDL, lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL), triglyceride, albumin, glycated hemoglobin (HBA1c) levels, aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT) and gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), levels were recorded at baseline and 6 months after surgery.

BMI was calculated by taking the weight, in kilograms divided by the height in meters squared. According to the Edmonton Obesity Staging System, participants were categorized according to BMI, such as obesity class I (30 to 34.9), obesity class II (35 to 39.9), obesity class III (\geq 40) [19]. Weight was measured at baseline and 6th month after the surgery. The percentage of original weight loss and the percent excess BMI loss (EBMIL%) were calculated [20].

Periodontal examinations

Full-mouth periodontal measurements of the patients were made by the same clinician. Intra-examiner calibration was calculated with the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient. The intra-examiner ICC values were 0.90 (PD) and 0.88 (CAL). The number of existing teeth in the patients was recorded. Plaque index (PI) [21], gingival index (GI) [22], the presence of bleeding on probing (BOP) [23], probing depth (PD), and clinical attachment level (CAL) were measured using the Williams periodontal probe (Hu-Friedy, Chicago IL). PD and CAL were calculated at six surfaces per tooth, whereas PI and GI were evaluated at four surfaces per tooth. The periodontitis severity of patients was determined based on the Classification of Periodontal and Peri-Implant Diseases and Conditions stated in the 2017 World Workshop.

Sample size calculation

Power analysis was performed to calculate the sample size of the study. Sample size was calculated using the G*Power statistical program for α =0.05 and d=0.4. The analyses revealed that a total of 52 subjects achieved a power of 80% with 95% confidence.

Statistical analyses

The data were analyzed using a statistical program (SPSS 21 Inc., Chicago, IL). Continuous variables were presented as mean

± standard deviation and categorical variables as numbers and percentages. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to detect data's normality. Wilcoxon test was applied to compare the differences in metabolic and periodontal parameters at baseline and 6 months postoperatively. Spearmen correlation analysis was applied to investigate the associations between periodontal changes within a 6-month period and total weight loss and BMI loss. The statistical significance value was considered as p<0.05.

Results

A total of 54 patients who indicated to undergo LSG surgery completed the study throughout the 6-month follow-up period. The baseline demographic characteristics of the study population were presented (Table 1). The majority of patients were female (66.7%), and the mean age of the study population was 41.1 ± 8.89 . The prevalence of obesity level III was observed in 68.5% of all participants. While stage 2 periodontitis was diagnosed in 40.7% of participants, the percentage of stage 3 periodontitis was 29.6%.

The metabolic and periodontal parameters were compared between the preoperative period of sleeve gastrectomy and post-operative 6th months after the surgery and were indicated in Table 2. BMI values, CRP, HDL, LDL, and albumin levels were significantly decreased 6 months later compared to the baseline. Regarding periodontal parameters, while there were no significant changes in PD and CAL measurements, PI, GI, and BOP% levels significantly decreased in the 6th month.

The correlations between changes in periodontal parameters, the percent of total weight loss, and the percent excess BMI loss in the 6-month post-operative period of sleeve gastrectomy were shown in Table 3. A positive significant correlation was observed between the changes in PI and the percent of total weight loss (r=0.301, p=0.027). Also, the changes in BOP% levels showed a positive significant correlation both with the percent of total weight loss and the percent excess BMI loss (r=0.637, p=0.000 and r=0.370, p=0.006 respectively).

Baseline characteristics	Number (n)	Percent (%)
Age (mean ± SD)	41.1±8.89	
Sex		
Female	36	66.7
Male	18	33.3
Education level		
Elementary	6	11.1
High school	24	44.4
Collage and PhD	24	44.4
Smoking status		
Smoker	22	40.7
Non-smoker	32	59.3
Obesity level		
II (35 to 39.9)	17	31.5
III (≥40)	37	68.5
The number of present teeth (mean ± SD)	25.17±3.48	
Periodontitis severity		
Stage I	16	29.6
Stage II	22	40.7
Stage III	16	29.6
Presence of hypertension	21	38.9
Presence of diabetes mellitus	22	40.7
Presence of dyslipidaemia	18	33.3

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the study population

Table 2. Metabolic and periodontal parameters of sleeve gastrectomy patients before and 6 months after the surgery

Metabolic Parameter	Pre-op	Post-op	p value
BMI kg/m ²	41.58±5.25	32.15±4.38	0.000
CRP (mg/L)	7.54±6.21	3.91±3.94	0.048
AST (U/L)	23.30±15.03	20±8.38	0.661
ALT (U/L)	23.59±14.25	22.63±11.77	0.201
GGT (U/L)	27.44±16.37	25.50±14.28	0.067
HDL (mg/dL)	46.24±10.14	47.97±9.43	0.003
LDL (mg/dL)	116.65±26.08	111.72±24.86	0.022
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	135.20±55.9	128.22±42.03	0.112
Albumin (g/L)	44.88±6.61	41.69±3.44	0.000
HBA1c (%)	6.22±0.76	6.10±0.54	0.063
Periodontal Parameter			
PI	1.27±0.57	1.07±0.41	0.000
GI	1.37±0.49	1.33±0.44	0.004
BOP (%)	76.80±15.80	74.93±14.81	0.007
PD	2.67±0.85	2.65±0.84	0.104
CAL	3.16±1.02	3.16±1.02	0.482

BMI: body mass index, CRP: C-reactive protein, AST: aspartate transaminase, ALT: alanine transaminase

GGT: gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HBA1c: glycated haemoglobin PI: plaque index, GI: gingival index, BOP: bleeding on probing, PD: probing depth, CAL: clinical attachment level

All variables did not present normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test p<0.001) Wilcoxon test, Statistically significant differences are indicated in bold (p<0.05 and p<0.001)

Periodontal variables	Total weight loss (%)	The percent excess BMI loss (% EBMIL)
PI		
р	0.027	0.057
r	0.301*	0.261
GI		
p	0.797	0.845
r	0.036	-0.027
BOP (%)		
р	0.000	0.006
r	0.637**	0.370**
PD		
р	0.355	0.924
r	0.128	0.013
CAL		
р	0.487	0.187
r	0.097	0.182

Table 3. Correlations of the changes in periodontal parameters and the total weight loss and BMI loss at 6 months after bariatric surgery

PI: plaque index, GI: gingival index, BOP: bleeding on probing, PD: probing depth, CAL: clinical attachment level p: p value, r: correlation coefficient value, * statistical significance at p<0.05, ** statistical significance at p<0.001

Discussion

Obesity and periodontitis are prevalent and significant health issues that affect populations worldwide [24]. Both conditions are associated with low-grade inflammation and can have systemic effects on overall health. Additionally, there is emerging evidence suggesting a bidirectional relationship between obesity and periodontitis, meaning that obesity can increase the risk of periodontitis, and periodontal inflammation can contribute to obesity-related complications [7, 25].

LSG is primarily viewed as a restrictive weight loss procedure, but it has also been found to have significant benefits in treating metabolic derangements and improving metabolic health, beyond its role in achieving weight loss [26]. LSG can have a significant and often more effective impact on the management and treatment of T2DM and its associated complications when compared to the best available medical therapies [26].

CRP is an acute-phase reactant, which is a protein produced by the liver in response to various inflammatory signals, including interleukin-6 (IL-6). CRP is a sensitive inflammation marker in the body, and its levels can increase rapidly in response to inflammation or tissue damage [27]. Increased CRP levels have been associated with central obesity, which, in turn, is related to various health concerns, including atherosclerosis and other macrovascular disorders [28]. Also, many systematic reviews indicated elevated CRP levels in patients with periodontitis [29]. During the 6-month observation period of our study, it was observed that serum CRP levels decreased to almost half of the baseline levels. This decrease in CRP levels indicates that systemic inflammation has decreased. The decrease in circulating CRP levels may have led to improvements in periodontal inflammation.

Dyslipidemia refers to a group of lipid metabolism disorders characterized bv abnormalities in the levels of various lipids in the blood, particularly lipoproteins such as high levels of total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL, and decreased levels of HDL [30]. The suggestion of a two-way relationship between dyslipidemia and periodontal disease highlights the potential bidirectional influence of these two conditions on each other [31]. Possible mechanisms play roles such as a direct effect of oral bacteria or an indirect effect on the elevation of proinflammatory mediators, promoting lipolysis and the subsequent elevation of circulating TG and consequently the development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases [32, 33]. In our study, an increase in HDL levels and a decrease in LDL and triglyceride levels were observed in the patients. This result may be another factor that causes a decrease in periodontal inflammation and an improvement in periodontal parameters. According to our findings, LSG caused a reduction in BMI resulting in a decrease in PI, GI, and BOP which represents periodontal inflammation. Furthermore, no changes were observed in CAL and PD. Consistent with our study, BMI, PI, BOP, and PD were found to decrease significantly according to the results of the 1-year follow-up cohort study. As a difference, the decrease in PD levels was not significant in our study. The reason for this may be that the 6-month follow-up period is not sufficient for PD reduction [34]. In contrast with our study results; de Moura Grec et al. [13] observed an improvement in clinical systemic conditions 6 months after BS, nevertheless, PD and CAL increased after surgery significantly compared to baseline. They associated this situation with nutritional deficiencies caused by bariatric surgery, changes in eating habits, or inadequate periodontal status of the patients before surgery. According to the results of a study, a decrease in BMI caused an increase in BOP for 12 months. The authors stated that at least 2 years are required after surgery for the stabilization of physiological processes and inflammatory profile, and that the nutritional imbalance that occurs after the surgical process may cause this result. Additionally, unlike our study, this study focused on patients who had laparoscopic RYGB. Postoperative recovery of these patients develops differently from LSG. In concordance with our study Jaiswal et al. [15] found a significant decrease in bleeding score, plaque, and gingival index as a result of 6-month follow-up of patients with BS, they did not find a significant change in PD and CAL levels.

Ghrelin is a peptide hormone and has roles in various physiological processes, including growth hormone secretion regulation, energy metabolism, and food intake [35]. With the help of LSG, the fundus region of the stomach, that is, the area where the ghrelin hormone is predominantly secreted, is removed LSG provides a decrease in ghrelin concentrations [36] compared to other restrictive techniques [37] or RYGB [38]. Two different forms of ghrelin (des-acylated ghrelin and acylated ghrelin), have been studied for their distinct roles in these processes [35]. Serum total ghrelin concentration was positively correlated with pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and IL-6 [39]. Total and acylated ghrelin levels in serum were elevated in chronic periodontitis patients [40]. The levels of ghrelin in gingival crevicular fluid in patients with both periodontitis and T2DM, ghrelin levels in GCF were higher compared to periodontally healthy individuals with T2DM [41]. The observation that levels of TNF- α and IL-6, tend to decrease at 6 months after BS [42]. The increase in circulating levels of adiponectin is known to have antiinflammatory and insulin-sensitizing properties that have been demonstrated after BS [43]. The observed decrease in GI and BOP may be due to a decrease in inflammatory cytokines and decreased ghrelin concentration after LSG. The acknowledgment of the inability to determine which specific factor or factors contributed to the improvements in periodontal status following LSG is an important limitation of the present study. This limitation underscores the complexity of the interactions between systemic health, lifestyle, and oral health.

The reduction of body fat causes a decrease in systemic inflammation and a decrease in the progression of all diseases linked to obesity (hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases). According to our findings in this present study, a reduction in BMI led to a decrease in periodontal inflammation but no changes were observed in terms of CAL.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- 1. Blüher M. Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019;15:288-298. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8
- Who. Obesity and overweight. Available at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesityand-overweight. Accessed October 16, 2023
- Kim CM, Lee S, Hwang W, et al. Obesity and periodontitis: a systematic review and updated metaanalysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2022;13:999455. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.999455
- 4. Kopelman PG. Obesity as a medical problem. Nature 2000;404:635-643. https://doi.org/10.1038/35007508
- Kwon T, Lamster IB, Levin L. Current concepts in the management of periodontitis. Int Dent J 2021;71:462-476. https://doi.org/10.1111/idj.12630

- Albandar JM, Susin C, Hughes FJ. Manifestations of systemic diseases and conditions that affect the periodontal attachment apparatus: case definitions and diagnostic considerations. J Clin Periodontol 2018;45:171-189. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpe.12947
- Jepsen S, Suvan J, Deschner J. The association of periodontal diseases with metabolic syndrome and obesity. Periodontol 2000 2020;83:125-153. https://doi. org/10.1111/prd.12326
- Ganesan SM, Vazana S, Stuhr S. Waistline to the gumline: relationship between obesity and periodontal disease-biological and management considerations. Periodontol 2000 2021;87:299-314. https://doi. org/10.1111/prd.12390
- Buchwald H, Williams SE. Bariatric surgery worldwide 2003. Obes Surg 2004;14:1157-1164. https://doi. org/10.1381/0960892042387057
- Popescu AL, Ionita Radu F, Jinga M, Gavrila AI, Savulescu FA, Fierbinteanu Braticevici C. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and gastroesophageal reflux. Rom J Intern Med 2018;56:227-232. https://doi.org/10.2478/ rjim-2018-0019
- Langer FB, Reza Hoda MA, Bohdjalian A, et al. Sleeve gastrectomy and gastric banding: effects on plasma ghrelin levels. Obes Surg 2005;15:1024-1029. https:// doi.org/10.1381/0960892054621125
- Marsicano JA, Sales Peres A, Ceneviva R, de C Sales Peres SH. Evaluation of oral health status and salivary flow rate in obese patients after bariatric surgery. Eur J Dent 2012;6:191-197.
- de Moura Grec PG, Yamashita JM, Marsicano JA, et al. Impact of bariatric surgery on oral health conditions: 6-months cohort study. Int Dent J 2014;64:144-149. https://doi.org/10.1111/idj.12090
- de Carvalho Sales HC, de Carvolho Sales Peres M, Ceneviva R, Bernabe E. Weight loss after bariatric surgery and periodontal changes: a 12-month prospective study. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2017;13:637-642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2016.08.007
- Jaiswal GR, Jain VK, Dhodapkar SV, et al. Impact of bariatric surgery and diet modification on periodontal status: a six month cohort study. J Clin Diagn Res 2015;9:43-45. https://doi.org/10.7860/ JCDR/2015/14663.6489
- Weinberg G, Bilder L, Horwitz J, et al. Oral health status of patients before and after bariatric surgery. Dentistry Oral Health Care 2018;1:1-8.
- Tonetti MS, Greenwell H, Kornman KS. Staging and grading of periodontitis: framework and proposal of a new classification and case definition. J Periodontol 2018;89:159-172. https://doi.org/10.1002/JPER.18-0006

- 18. Mechanick JI, Apovian C, Brethauer S, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the perioperative nutrition, metabolic, and nonsurgical support of patients undergoing bariatric procedures - 2019 update: cosponsored by American association of clinical endocrinologists/American college of endocrinology, the obesity society, American society for metabolic & bariatric surgery, obesity medicine association, and American society of anesthesiologists - executive summary. Endocr Pract 2019;25:1346-1359. https:// doi.org/10.4158/GL-2019-0406
- WHO. The World Health Organization warns of the rising threat of heart disease and stroke as overweight and obesity rapidly increase. Available at: https://www. cmaj.ca/content/cmaj/suppl/2020/07/27/192.31.E875. DC2/191707-guide-1-at.pdf. Accessed October 16, 2023
- 20. Deitel M, Greenstein RJ. Recommendations for reporting weight loss. Obes Surg 2003;13:159-160. https://doi.org/10.1381/096089203764467117
- Silness J, Loe H. Periodontal disease in pregnancy. II. correlation between oral hygiene and periodontal condition. acta odontol scand 1964;22:121-135. https:// doi.org/10.3109/00016356408993968
- Loe H, Silness J. Periodontal disease in pregnancy. I. prevalence and severity. Acta Odontol Scand 1963;21:533-551. https://doi. org/10.3109/00016356309011240
- 23. Ainamo J, Bay I. Problems and proposals for recording gingivitis and plaque. Int Dent J 1975;25:229-235.
- 24. Linden GJ, Lyons A, Scannapieco FA. Periodontal systemic associations: review of the evidence. J Clin Periodontol 2013;40:8-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpe.12064
- 25. Zhao P, Xu A, Leung WK. Obesity, bone loss, and periodontitis: the interlink. Biomolecules 2022;12:865. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12070865
- Hayes K, Eid G. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: surgical technique and perioperative care. Surg Clin North Am 2016;96:763-771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. suc.2016.03.015
- 27. Ridker PM, Morrow DA. C-reactive protein, inflammation, and coronary risk. Cardiol Clin 2003;21:315-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0733-8651(03)00079-1
- Chen JY, Chou CH, Tsai WC, et al. Effects of increased systemic inflammation and central obesity on arterial stiffness in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Am Soc Hypertens 2012;6:253-260. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jash.2012.04.003
- Paraskevas S, Huizinga JD, Loos BG. A systematic review and meta-analyses on C-reactive protein in relation to periodontitis. J Clin Periodontol 2008;35:277-290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.2007.01173.x

- Lee JB, Yi HY, Bae KH. The association between periodontitis and dyslipidemia based on the Fourth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J Clin Periodontol 2013;40:437-442. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jcpe.12095
- 31. Awartani F, Atassi F. Evaluation of periodontal status in subjects with hyperlipidemia. J Contemp Dent Pract 2010;11:33-40.
- Schenkein HA, Papapanou PN, Genco R, Sanz M. Mechanisms underlying the association between periodontitis and atherosclerotic disease. Periodontol 2020;83:90-106. https://doi.org/10.1111/prd.12304
- 33. Gomes Filho IS, Freitas TOB, da Cruz SS, et al. Periodontitis in individuals with few remaining teeth and a high gingival bleeding index increases the probability of dyslipidemia. J Periodontol 2023. https:// doi.org/10.1002/JPER.23-0091
- Arboleda S, Pianeta R, Vargas M, Lafaurie GI, Aldana Parra F, Chaux CF. Impact of bariatric surgery on periodontal status in an obese cohort at one year of follow-up. Med Int (Lond) 2021;1:4. https://doi. org/10.3892/mi.2021.4
- Kojima M, Kangawa K. Ghrelin: structure and function. Physiol Rev 2005;85:495-522. https://doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.00012.2004
- Goitein D, Lederfein D, Tzioni R, Berkenstadt H, Venturero M, Rubin M. Mapping of ghrelin gene expression and cell distribution in the stomach of morbidly obese patients --a possible guide for efficient sleeve gastrectomy construction. Obes Surg 2012;22:617-622. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-011-0585-9
- Wang Y, Liu J. Plasma ghrelin modulation in gastric band operation and sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 2009;19:357-362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-008-9688-3
- Peterli R, Steinert RE, Woelnerhanssen B, et al. Metabolic and hormonal changes after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: a randomized, prospective trial. Obes Surg 2012;22:740-748. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-012-0622-3
- Mafra D, Farage NE, Lobo JC, et al. Relationship between total ghrelin and inflammation in hemodialysis patients. Peptides 2011;32:358-361. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.peptides.2010.11.023
- Yilmaz G, Kirzioglu FY, Doguc DK, Kocak H, Orhan H. Ghrelin levels in chronic periodontitis patients. Odontology 2014;102:59-67. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10266-012-0100-3
- 41. Mohamed HG, Idris SB, Mustafa M, et al. Impact of chronic periodontitis on levels of glucoregulatory biomarkers in gingival crevicular fluid of adults with and without Type 2 Diabetes. PLoS One 2015;10:e0127660. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127660

- Miller GD, Nicklas BJ, Fernandez A. Serial changes in inflammatory biomarkers after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2011;7:618-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2011.03.006
- Illan Gomez F, Gonzalvez Ortega M, Orea Soler I, et al. Obesity and inflammation: change in adiponectin, C-reactive protein, tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 after bariatric surgery. Obes Surg 2012;22:950-955. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-012-0643-y

Consent of publication: Additional informed consent was obtained from all individual participants for whom identifying information is included in this article.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank participants in this study.

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee dated 2018 and numbered 19 for the study.

Author contributions

A.L.A. was responsible for drafting the manuscript. A.L.A., G.T.C. and M.R.A. were responsible for Data collection and Interpretation and for drafting the manuscript. A.L.A. was responsible for conceptualization, funding acquisition, design of the study, supervision, and drafting of the manuscript. M.R.A. was responsible for surgical intervention. A.L.A. and G.T.C. were responsible for data analysis and interpretation. All authors reviewed the article critically for important intellectual content and approved the final version to be submitted.

Evaluation of children with dysfagia

Disfajisi olan çocukların değerlendirilmesi

Sevinç Garip

Posted date:15.08.2023

Acceptance date:12.12.2023

Abstract

Purpose: Difficulty in swallowing; It is a symptom that occurs as a result of mechanical inhibition of the transfer of ingested food from the mouth to the stomach. It can be due to acute and chronic diseases. It is presented because of the limited number of studies comparing the characteristics of both types of oropharyngeal and esophageal dysphagia in healthy and chronically ill children in the pediatric population.

Materials and methods: 201 pediatric patients admitted with dysphagia between May 2019 and November 2020 were included. They were grouped according to the types of dysphagia.

Results: Group 1 consisted of 80 pediatric patients with oropharyngeal dysphagia, while Group 2 consisted of 121 pediatric patients with esophageal dysphagia. 51.7% of the patients were female, mean age was 9.4 years. While all patients in Group 2 had solid food dysphagia, Group 1 had 27% liquid and 53% solid-liquid dysphagia. Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube for 50 pediatric patients who could not be fed safely; a nasogastric feeding tube was placed in 4 children. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy was performed in 72.6% of the patients, and esophageal pathology was detected in 55.4%.

Conclusions: Although the incidence of dysphagia is high in children with chronic diseases, it should not be forgotten that it can also be seen in healthy children and may be associated with treatable.

Keywords: Child, dysphagia, gastroenterology, swallowing.

Garip S. Evaluation of children with dysfagia. Pam Med J 2024;17:215-224.

Öz

Amaç: Yutma güçlüğü; alınan gıdanın ağızdan mideye transferinin mekanik olarak engellenmesi sonucu oluşan semptomdur. Akut ve kronik hastalıklara bağlı olabilir. Pediatrik popülasyonda sağlıklı ve kronik hastalığı olan çocuklarda, orofarengeal ve özofageal her iki tip disfajiyi kapsayan, özelliklerini karşılaştıran çalışma sayısı az olması nedeniyle sunulmuştur.

Gereç ve yöntem: Mayıs 2019 ve Kasım 2020 arasında disfaji şikayeti ile başvuran 201 çocuk hasta dahil edildi. Disfaji tiplerine göre gruplandırıldı.

Bulgular: Grup 1 orofarengeal disfaji olan 80 çocuk hastadan oluşurken Grup 2 özofageal disfaji olan 121 çocuk hastadan oluşmaktaydı. Hastaların %51,7 kız, ortalama yaş 9,4 yıldı. Grup 2'de tüm hastalarda katı gıda disfajisi varken, Grup 1'de %27 sıvı %53 katı-sıvı disfaji vardı. Güvenli oral beslenemeyen 50 çocuk hastaya perkütan endoskopik gastrostomi tüpü; 4 çocuk hastaya nazogastrik beslenme tüpü yerleştirildi. Hastaların %72,6 özofagogastroduodenoskopi yapıldı, %55,4'ünde özefagus patolojisi saptandı.

Sonuç: Disfajinin kronik hastalığı olan çocuklarda görülme sıklığı yüksek olsa da sağlıklı çocuklarda da görülebileceği ve tedavi edilebilir hastalıklarla ilişkili olabileceği unutulmamalıdır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Çocuk, disfaji, gastroenteroloji, yutma.

Garip S. Disfajisi olan çocukların değerlendirilmesi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:215-224.

Sevinç Garip, M.D. Clinic of Pediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition, Department of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences, Adana City Training, Practice and Research Hospital, Adana, Türkiye, e-mail: drsevincgarip@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2512-6924) (Corresponding Author)

Introduction

Swallowing is a complex function made possible by the coordinated work of the oral cavity, pharynx, larynx and esophagus. For safe swallowing, the oral cavity, pharynx muscles, cranial nerves, upper and lower esophageal sphincter, esophageal muscles and stomach must work in coordination. Dysphagia, which means difficulty in swallowing, is a symptom that occurs as a result of mechanical inhibition of the transfer of ingested food from the mouth to the stomach, decreased strength of the muscles that provide the swallowing movement, or deterioration of coordination [1].

There are 3 stages of swallowing; oral, pharyngeal and esophageal. Oral stage; is the transfer of food to the pharynx by chewing and breaking it into small pieces. The pharyngeal stage is involuntary. Food is safely passed into the esophagus in less than a second. In the esophageal stage; the bite is transmitted to the stomach by primary and secondary peristaltic movements of the esophagus. All three components of swallowing in infants are reflex and involuntary, and the oral stage becomes controlled over time [2]. Transfer dysphagia occurs in the oropharyngeal stage and results from neurological, myopathic and metabolic causes. Nontransfer dysphagia, on the other hand, is often caused by intrinsic diseases of the esophagus, mechanical or motility disorders in the esophageal stage [3]. Dysphagia in children can be seen at any age, and it can adversely affect growth and development, most commonly with feeding and/or respiratory problems. It is necessary to define and manage appropriately in a multidisciplinary manner. There are few studies comparing the characteristics of both types of oropharyngeal and esophageal dysphagia in the pediatric population. Therefore, we aimed to present the common causes, types, clinical features, laboratory, imaging techniques and results of dysphagia in patients with neuromuscular, neurometabolic, allergic or syndromic abnormalities and healthy children, together with the current literature.

Material and methods

201 pediatric patients who applied to the Pediatric Gastroenterology outpatient clinic of Health Sciences University Adana City Training and Research Hospital between May 2019 and November 2020 with the complaint of dysphagia were included. They were grouped according to the types of dysphagia. Group 1 consisted of 80 patients with oropharyngeal dysphagia and group 2 consisted of 121 patients with esophageal dysphagia. Age, gender, type, characteristics and duration of dysphagia, respiratory system and gastrointestinal system complaints, accompanying allergic, neurological, metabolic diseases, height and weight percentiles were evaluated. To detect the presence of iron deficiency anemia, hemogram, serum iron, iron binding capacity, ferritin; Vitamin B12 levels and folic acid levels for vitamin deficiency, thyroid function tests, total Ig E for allergic diseases, and food and respiratory tract-specific antigen test results were examined retrospectively. Esophagography was performed to detect anatomical abnormalities. Multiple biopsies were taken by esophagogastroduodenoscopy. Since there is no study in the literature that includes both oropharyngeal and esophageal type dysphagia in the pediatric age group, all data were evaluated in the light of the current literature. The study was approved by the scientific research ethics committee of our university.

The parametric descriptive statistics of the numerical data in the study group were calculated as the mean, standard deviation, and the median (min-max) of the non-parametric ones, and categorical data were given as percent (%). Chi-square test was used for comparison between groups. The limit of significance was accepted as p<0.05.

Results

Two hundred and one pediatric patients were included in the study, 51.7% of them were women and the mean age was 9.4 years. The rate of dysphagia in pediatric patients was 40% for oropharyngeal and 60% for esophageal. The characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1. Eighty percent (64 patients) of 80 patients with oropharyngeal dysphagia were followed by pediatric neurology and metabolism clinics. Those with hemoglobin and hematocrit levels below 2 age-appropriate standard deviations in the complete blood count were defined as iron deficiency anemia. Those with vitamin B12 levels below 200 pg/ ml were defined as vitamin B12 deficiency. Of 121 patients with esophageal dysphagia, 55.4% had esophageal pathology. There was

no neurometabolic disease in the esophageal dysphagia group. Esophageal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting and pyrosis were 91% in the esophageal dysphagia group. Of the 85 patients with respiratory system symptoms such as cough, hoarseness, cyanosis while feeding, wheezing, and frequent lung infection, were children with neurometabolic 74% disease in the oropharyngeal dysphagia group. Fourteen percent of those with dysphagia were accompanied by odynophagia. When pediatric patients with odynophagia are examined; Reflux esophagitis was detected in 8 pediatric patients, a history of drinking corrosive substances in 6 pediatric patients, foreign body ingestion in 3 pediatric patients, ulcers in 3 pediatric patients, candida esophagitis in 2 pediatric patients, and eosinophilic esophagitis in 2 pediatric patients. When the growth of the patients was evaluated, the weight was below the 3rd percentile in 33% of 201 patients. The percentiles of cases with acute dysphagia, which developed especially after ingestion of foreign bodies and ingestion of corrosive substances, were normal. Nutritional support was provided by placing a percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube in 50 pediatric patients who could not be fed safely due to chronic dysphagia, and a nasogastric feeding tube was placed in 4 pediatric patients. In the esophageal dysphagia group, patients with a weight below the 3rd percentile had esophageal taste and ulcers due to different reasons. Pathology was detected in 30 of 160 patients who underwent contrast-enhanced esophagography. Esophageal stricture was found in 12 of 18

pediatric patients with esophageal pathology, gastroesophageal reflux stage two in 5, and hiatal hernia in 1 patient. Esophageal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting and pyrosis were 91% in the esophageal dysphagia group. Respiratory system symptoms such as cough, hoarseness, cyanosis when feeding, wheezing and frequent lung infections were present in 85 patients. Of these, 74% were children with neurometabolic disease in the oropharyngeal dysphagia group. The accompanying complaints according to the type of dysphagia are presented in Figure 1. 14% of those with swallowing difficulties were accompanied by odynophagia. Eight patients with odynophagia had reflux esophagitis, 6 patients had corrosive substance ingestion, 3 patients had foreign body, 3 patients had ulcers due to stenosis due to achalasia, 2 patients had candida esophagitis, 2 patients had eosinophilic esophagitis. High resolution monometry was performed in 3 pediatric patients who could adapt to manometry, which was thought to be achalasia due to esophageal stenosis, and a diagnosis of type 2 achalasia was made. Peroral endoscopic myoromy was performed in 3 patients diagnosed with type 2 achalasia. Dilation was performed on young patients with cricopharyngeal achalasia and other stenoses such as Shatzki ring. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy was performed under anesthesia in 72.6% of 201 patients with dysphagia. The diagnoses of the patients according to the groups are shown in Table 2; concomitant diseases are presented in Table 3.

	All patients	Group 1 (Oropharyngeal)	Group 2 Esophageal)
Number of patients (n)	201	80	121
Gender (M / F)	97/104	44/36	53/68
Age (months)	112	66	144
Type of dysphagia			
Solid	107	14	93
Liquid	30	27	3
Solid+Liquid	64	42	22
Dysphagia Duration (months)	11.3	13.8	9.4
Extraesophageal Symptoms	85	63	22
Esophageal Symptoms	183	76	107
Allergic Disease	24	0	27
Neurometabolic Disease	64	64	0
Weight <3 p	67	48	19

Table 1. Characteristics of the patients

Orop	naryngeal Dysphagia (n:80) Esophageal Dysphagia (n:121)		hageal Dysphagia (n:121)
64	Neurometabolic Disease	31	Reflux esophagitis
4	Cleft Palate	13	Heterotopic gastric mucosa
2	Crichopharyngeal Achalasia	13	Gastroesophageal reflux
2	Shatszki Rings	13	Vitamin B12 deficiency
2	Esophageal Ulcer	13	Vitamin B12 deficiency+ Iron deficiency
2	Globus hysterical	7	Eosinophilic esophagitis
1	Bicuspid Aorta	6	Pulmunary Winson Syndrome
1	Reflux esophagitis	6	Ccorrosive substances
1	Iron deficiency anemia	5	Gastritis
1	B12 vitamin deficiency	3	Foreign body ingestion
		3	Type 2 Achalasia
		2	Candida esophagitis
		1	Scleroderma
		1	Congenital Heart Disease
		1	Esophageal polyp
		1	Hypothyroidism
		1	Pyloric stenosis

Table 2. Diagnosis of patients by groups

Table 3. Concomitant diseases

Neurometabolic Genetic Diseases Associated with	Concomitant Diseases in Esophageal
Oropharyngeal Dysphagia (n)	Dysphagia (n)
Down Syndrome (2)	Scleroderma
Syndromic Patient (2)	Familial Mediterranean Fever
Nieman Pcik Type B (1)	Celiac Disease (1)
Cerebral palsy+ Epilepsy (34)	Crohn's Disease (2)
Pontocerebellar hypoplasia type10 (1)	
West Syndrome (5)	
Sandorff Syndrome (3)	
MSUD	
Cri de Cat Syndrome	
Neurometabolic (3)	
SMA (3)	
Canavan Syndrome	
Propionic Acidemia	
Jaberi elahi syndrome	
Trisomy 18	
Glutaric Acid type	
Gikohen Warehouse type 1b	
Bochledek Syndrome	

Discussion

Dysphagia is seen in every age group for very different reasons. Oropharyngeal and esophageal distinction should be made accurately and quickly, and life-threatening conditions should be controlled and treated. Children with neurometabolic or neuromuscular disorders and chronic gastrointestinal disease are at higher risk of dysphagia than healthy children. Swallowing problems can prevent development by preventing adequate energy and nutrient intake. In necessary patients, feeding should be done with a gastrostomy tube.

In a study by Bhattacharyya [4], in the United States, the annual incidence of pediatric swallowing problems was found to be 0.9%. In different studies, swallowing disorders are seen at a rate of 20-40% in healthy children, while the rate increases to 80% in children with neuromuscular, neurometabolic disease, traumatic brain injury or airway malformations [5-7]. Of the 201 children in our study, 55.2% (111 patients) were healthy and 44.7% (90 patients) had neuromuscular, neurometabolic, genetic, allergic and rheumatological diseases. When past studies on children with oropharyngeal and esophageal swallowing difficulties are examined; Svystun et al. study [8] 54% male, 46% female (128 patients), Lefton Greif et al. study [9] 68.5% male 32.5% female (19 patients), Sheikh et al. study [10] 69.3% were male and 30.7% were female (13 patients). Differently, our study consisted of 51.7% female patients. The number of female patients in the esophageal dysphagia group was 68 and 36 in the oropharyngeal dysphagia group. Female gender was 1.8 times higher in the esophageal dysphagia group. History of eating and swallowing, motor and language developmental stages, medical history in a child presenting with dysphagia; especially respiratory system history, presence of gastroesophageal reflux disease, medications used, history of surgery, presence of allergy, communication of the feeder, nutritional environment should be questioned in detail, body weight and weight gain should be recorded [6, 11]. In our study, the number of patients in group 1 consisting of oropharyngeal dysphagia patients was 80, and group 2 consisting of esophageal dysphagia patients was 121. In group 1; 80%, 64 patients, were followed by pediatric neurology and pediatric metabolism clinics, and their neuromotor development was slower than their age. Due to the structure of oropharyngeal dysphagia, liquid foods cannot be advanced to the esophagus despite chewing and repeated swallowing [12].

Laryngeal penetration occurs when food enters the laryngeal vestibule. Aspiration occurs when the food fall below the level of the vocal cords. Asphyxiation occurs when a bolus physically blocks the airway and can be life-threatening [13]. Cough, drooling, increased secretion, regurgitation, apnea, unexplained respiratoryproblems, and vomiting may ocur [14]. Consistent with the study of Steele and Cichero [12], especially in our oropharyngeal group there was dysphagia to liquid foods. Eighty percent of the patients in this group were children who could not take solid food due to chewing and swallowing problems and were fed only liquid or blenderized foods. In our study, Lefton Greif et al. [14] similar to the studies, laryngeal penetration and aspiration findings such as choking, coughing attacks, increased secretion, drooling, regurgitation, cyanosis while feeding, and frequent respiratory tract infections were present in 79% of our patients, but they could not be demonstrated by swallowing tests. In our study, it was performed in only 3 patients, since the swallowing center was not located in our city in pediatric patients with oropharyngeal dysphagia. It was one of the shortcomings of our study, it shows the need for studies with more VFYC and FEES.

In esophageal dysphagia; during the passage of food into the esophagus, the upper esophageal sphincter cannot relax. There may be coughing, throat clearing, pyrosis, burping, vomiting, abdominal pain, and unexplained weight loss [7]. The rate of solid food dysphagia was 86.7% in the esophageal dysphagia group. Esophageal symptoms such as vomiting, abdominal pain and pyrosis were accompanying 9% of 121 patients. In group 2, 23% of the patients who developed ulcers in the esophagus as a result of ingestion of corrosive substances, foreign body ingestion, candida esophagitis and type 2 achalasia stricture were accompanied by odynophagia.

When the growth of the patients was evaluated, in 201 patients, the weight was 33.3% below the 3rd percentile and 10% was in the 3-10th percentile. In the literature, Svystun et al. [8] 9%, Sheikh et al. [10] 10%; Lefton Greif et al. [9] 10% found growth retardation due to malnutrition. Weight percentiles were found to be significantly lower in patients with oropharyngeal dysphagia. It was thought that the nutritional problems related to the primary disease were related to the long-term duration. Height percentiles of the patients were also found below the 3% percentile. On the other hand, height and weight percentiles were normal in patients with swallowing complaints after acute ischemic events such as traffic accident, falling and drowning. Patients with a weight below the 3rd percentile who could not be fed safely due to dysphagia were fed with a percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube. Examining the studies, Sheikh et al. [10] placed a gastrostomy tube at a rate of 30.8% and Svystun et al. [8] at a rate of 12.6%. In our study, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube was placed in 24.8% of the patients, and feeding was provided safely by inserting a nasogastric feeding tube in 4 pediatric patients.

The most commonly used swallowing evaluation methods in the analysis of oral, pharyngealand esophageal phases in the evaluation of pediatric feeding and swallowing disorders; videofluoroscopic swallowing study (VFYC) and fiberoptic endoscopic swallowing study (FEES) [15]. In the literature, there are many pediatric nutrition and swallowing assessment tools developed for use in certain age ranges. VFYC and FEES developed by Benfer et al. [16] are both accepted as the gold standard in diagnosis when applied and interpreted by experienced clinicians. However, the lack of sufficient and experienced personnel to implement and interpret it, and the patient's inability to cooperate at a level to fulfill simple eating-swallowing instructions reduces its use [7]. In our study, only 3 patients underwent videofluoroscopic swallowing study, and they were trained because of the difficult accessibility in our city. Oropharyngeal dysphagia is more common in neuromuscular and neurometabolic diseases because neuromuscular communication is not intact. My center is in the region where the rate of consanguineous marriage is common, this type of swallowing

problem is common, but there is no center that evaluates swallowing. It again emphasizes the inadequacy of the necessary devices and the number of researchers and centers with appropriate knowledge and experience for the assessment of swallowing.

In iron deficiency and vitamin B12 deficiency, cytokine expression is impaired, oxidative enzymes are decreased, white matter myelination is impaired, webs are formed in the pharyngeal muscles as a result of atrophy and myopathy. Neurogenic difficulty in swallowing, nausea, and vomiting develop [17, 18]. Plummer-Vinson syndrome (PVS); a clinical condition characterized by dysphagia, upper esophageal web, and iron deficiency anemia [19]. Webs, a rare cause of upper cervical dysphagia, are seen in 5-15% of patients with dysphagia [20]. The webs may be multiple, and if the lumen is narrower than 2 cm, dysphagia is observed, so most of them are asymptomatic [21]. The diagnosis is clinically made with intermittent dysphagia to solid foods associated with chronic iron deficiency anemia, and esophageal webs are observed only in 10% of patients radiologically and endoscopically. For the diagnosis of PVS, esophageal web is not always necessary in a patient with iron deficiency, but dysphagia must be present. The first stage of treatment is the correction of iron deficiency and vitamin B12 deficiency. Although webs persist after iron therapy in non-obstructive PVS patients, esophageal motility returns to normal, resulting in significant improvement in dysphagia [21]. In our study, 201 pediatric patients with dysphagia were found to have 3% iron deficiency anemia, 6.5% vitamin B12 deficiency, 6% iron deficiency and vitamin B12 deficiency. All of the patients were in the esophagealdysphagia group and had no accompanying pathologies. In our study, similar to the Godino and Wong [20] study, no web was detected radiologically or endoscopically. Unlike the study of Novacek [22]. The rate of female patients was 71.5%, which was approximately three times higher than that of men. A different theory in its development is that it develops after an immunological process that triggers the formation of autoantibodies against the esophagus [21]. The reason why the rate of female patients was 3 times higher in our study suggested that it may be due to autoimmune etiopathogenesis. In our study,

other autoimmune diseases were not evaluated in patients diagnosed with PVS, leading to more comprehensive and larger studies to test these possibilities.

Another cause of dysphagia is muscular or mucosal rings in the lower part of the esophagus that narrow the lumen. Schatzki [23] ring is the most common type, its incidence is 0.2-15% in the literature; in children, it is 0.2%. Etiopathogenesis includes fibrotic changes in the distal esophagus due to acid reflux, Barrett's esophagus, and eosinophilic esophagitis [24]. Although patients are mostly asymptomatic, episodic dysphagia and food retention, especially against solid foods, occur. Diagnosis is made by barium radiography or upper endoscopy [25]. In our study, Schatzki [23] ring was detected with a rate of 1.5%, patients had difficulty in swallowing against solid foods, vomiting and pain when passing food in the distal esophagus. The stenosis of the distal esophagus was also detected in the esophagogastroscopy in barium X-ray. In two patients, biopsies were taken and dilatation was performed in the treatment in patients who could not progress to the stomach due to stenosis. Although Schatzki [23] ring is very rare in children, it should definitely be considered because it is an important treatable cause of dysphagia.

Dysphagia; can be oropharyngeal or esophageal after corrosive substance ingestion. Solid and powdery ones stick to the mouth, pharynx and larynx and cause oropharyngeal dysphagia, while those with liquid consistency due to esophageal damage; cause esophageal dysphagia [26, 27]. In the study of Kutlu et al. [28] 48% of children who underwent endoscopy after ingestion of corrosive substances were stage 1, 20% stage 2, 5.7% stage 3 esophagitis, in the study of Previtera et al. [29] 28% stage 1, 9.2% stage 2, 4.8% stage 3 esophagitis, only 2.5% esophageal stenosis was detected. In our study, the rate of dysphagia due to corrosive substance intake was 3%, while 50% of the patients were women, the mean age was 84 months. Similar to the study of Moulin et al. [27], all patients had complaints of esophageal dysphagia and odynophagia was accompanied by vomiting. In esophagogastroduodenoscopy, stage 3 esophagitis with esophageal stenosis in 50% of patients, stage 1 in 33%, and stage 2 esophagitis in 17% were detected. It was thought that the high rate of stenosis and esophagitis patients was due to the low number of patients and the fact that the patients came after taking corrosive substances for a long time and had severe feeding and swallowing problems.

Achalasia; develops due to primary motility disorders of the esophagus and is rarely seen in children. According to the region where the dysfunction originates; It is defined as cricopharyngeal achalasia above and thoracic achalasia distally [30]. Cricopharyngeal achalasia is a relaxation problem due to spasm in the cricopharyngeal muscle during swallowing, ganglion cell loss is absent in this type. It can occur for many reasons. Partial relaxations, premature contractions, or failures in upper sphinter relaxation cause dysphagia. In the esophageal passage graphy taken for diagnostic purposes, narrowing in the esophagus passage is detected at the level of the cricopharyngeal muscle [31]. In our study, cricopharyngeal achalasia was found in only 2 patients, and both patients were children with neurological disease, which is consistent with the literature. Patients with narrowing of the esophageal passage at the level of the cricopharyngeal muscle in the esophageal passage X-ray were referred to pediatric surgery for treatment.

Thoracic achalasia is a motility disease of the esophagus that occurs as a result of high resting pressure in the lower esophageal sphincter (LES) and insufficient relaxation of the LES during swallowing. The etiopathogenesis is not clear. The most common reason for admission is the difficulty in swallowing against solids and liquids, which has been increasing for several years. Regurgitation of undigested food, nocturnal cough due to microaspiration, recurrent pneumonia, chest pain, retrosternal burning and weight loss can be observed [32]. Domingeus et al. [33] detected progressive substernal dysphagia with solid and liquid foods, and Zhang et al. [34] and Hussain et al. [35] reported dysphagia as the most common symptom in pediatric patients with achalasia. In our study, 1.5% of the patients were diagnosed with achalasia. In accordance with the literature, all patients had esophageal dysphagia against solids and liquids, which increased over time for about a year. It was accompanied by retrostenal burning, vomiting, and weight loss. In the esophageal passage X-ray, which is the

first diagnostic test, a narrowing in the shape of a bird's beak at the extreme megaesophagus and esophagocardiac junction is diagnostic. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy may reveal enlargement of the esophagus, esophagitis due to food residues in the esophageal lumen, and ulcers. High-resolution impedance manometry is the gold standard diagnostic method, enabling its typing [36]. Zhang et al. [34] detecting goush-beak appearance in patients, performed esophagogastroduodendoscopy in 61.5% of the patients, and the diagnosis was confirmed by manometry. In our study, esophageal radiography was performed in 3 patients with distal achalasia, and distal stenosis, bird's beak appearance and megaesophagus were detected in accordance with the literature. Esophagogastroduodenoscopy revealed stenosis hyperemia and ulcer covered with white membrane in the distal esophagus. The diagnosis of type 2 achalasia was confirmed by high resolution monometry.

Inlet patch was first described by Schmidt in 1805. It is a heterotopic gastric mucosa located in the proximal esophagus as a result of a problem in the transformation of the esophageal mucosa from columnar epithelium to squamous epithelium or healing of the esophageal epithelium due to infection, trauma, and regurgitation [37]. It can be separated by sharp borders, varying in size from 2-3 mm to 4-5 cm, on the posterior or lateral wall, in single or multiple pieces [38]. In our study, 71% of 201 pediatric patients with dysphagia were treated with esophagogastroduodenoscopy and 13 children 1 to 3 HGM with diameters ranging from 10 mm to 25 mm were detected in the patient, located in the upper esophagus. Its frequency in pediatrics is 1.4-6%, and the frequency in our study was found to be 6.4% in line with the literature. Inlet patch is usually asymptomaticand dysphagia is seen in 15-39% of cases [39]. Other complaints are sore throat due to laryngopharyngeal reflux, globus sensation, retrosternal burning, regurgitation, chest pain, and symptoms due to acid production and colonization of Helicobacter pylori. In our study, the main complaint of all patients with HGM was dysphagia, which was against solids and liquids. Abdominal pain, vomiting, bad breath and stomach pain accompanied by the feeling of being stuck were other complaints. Although it is rarely seen in pediatric patients presenting with dysphagia, HGM should be remembered, therefore, it should be performed by experienced endoscopists, and it should be passed slowly and carefully when entering the upper esophagus with the endoscope.

Eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE); As a result of eosinophilic inflammation in the esophagus, it causes esophageal dysfunction and dysphagia [40]. Its frequency varies between 1% and 37% [41]. Cheung et al. [42] 88%; Desai et al. [43] 54.8% detected EoE. In our study, the rate of patients diagnosed with EoE was 3.4%, with more than 20 eosinophils, basal cell hyperplasia, and eosinophilic micro-abscesses detected only in esophageal biopsy samples in the histopathological examination. There are different clinical findings in eosinophilic esophagitis. Food refusal, vomiting, restlessness, and developmental delay are seen in young children. In older children, dysphagia against solid foods, food insertion, chest pain, pyrosis, abdominal pain, vomiting, chewing a lot, keeping food in the mouth are detected most frequently. In our study, 4 patients had esophageal dysphagia to solids and liquids, and 3 patients to liquids only. Gastrointestinal complaints such as abdominal pain, vomiting and pyrosis were accompanied by 57%. Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy should be performed for EoE in allergy patients with dysphagia. In the endoscopy, red lines, white exudates, hyperemic fragile mucosa, ringing are detected in the esophagus [44]. Liacouras et al. [40] and Prasad et al. [45] studies, one out of three patients with histological EoE was found to be normal by endoscopy. In our study, ring formation, white dot lesions and grooves in the esophagus were detected in 57.1 %. Hyperemic fragile mucosa was seen in 71%. Esophageal mucosa was normal in 28.5%. As in the studies of Liacouras et al. [40] and Prasad et al. [45], although the endoscopic appearance is normal, it supports the necessity of taking multiple biopsies for histopathological examination.

In conclusion, a comprehensive evaluation should be performed in children with dysphagia. Under the leadership of pediatric gastroenterologists, pediatric neurology, child metabolism, otolaryngology, swallowing-speech therapists should work in cooperation.

This study is retrospective. It would be useful to perform swallowing tests in patients

with difficulty swallowing. However, test can be performed on a limited basis due to the difficulty of performing tests in the pediatric age group and the small number of experienced specialists who will perform and interpret them. It could be performed on a limited number of patients in our study.

We believe that our series will contribute to the literature by being one of the few studies in the literature that includes both types of dysphagia in childhood, conducted in a single center with 201 patients. It will shed light on a well-designed study with prospective limitations.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Cho SY, Choung RS, Saito YA, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for dysphagia: a USA community study. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2015;27:212-219. https://doi. org/10.1111/nmo.12467
- Dodrill P, Gosa MM. Pediatric dysphagia: physiology, assessment, and management. Ann Nutr Metab 2015;66:24-31. https://doi.org/10.1159/000381372
- Kuo P, Holloway RH, Nguyen NQ. Current and future techniques in the evaluation of dysphagia. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;27:873-881. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1440-1746.2012.07097.x
- Bhattacharyya N. The prevalence of pediatric voice and swallowing problems in the United States. Laryngoscope 2015;125:746-750. https://doi. org/10.1002/lary.24931
- Manikam R, Perman JA. Pediatric feeding disorders. J Clin Gastroenterol 2000;30:34-46. https://doi. org/10.1097/00004836-200001000-00007
- Kakodkar K, James W. Schroeder Jr. Pediatric dysphagia. Pediatr Clin N Am 2013:60:969-977. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2013.04.010
- Arvedson JC. Assessment of pediatric dysphagia and feeding disorders: clinical and instrumental approaches. Dev Disabil Res Rev 2008;14:118-127. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.17
- Svystun O, Johannsen W, Persad R, Turner JM, Majaesic C, El Hakim H. Dysphagia in healthy children characteristics and management of a consecutive cohort at a tertiary centre. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2017;99:54-59. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2017.05.024
- Lefton Greif MA, Okelo SO, Wright JM, Collaco JM, McGrath Morrow SA, Eakin MN. Impact of children's feeding/swallowing problems validation of a new caregiver instrument. Dysphagia 2014;29:671-677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00455-014-9560-7

- Sheikh S, Allen E, Shell R, et al. Chronic aspiration without gastroesophageal reflux as a cause of chronic respiratory symptoms in neurologically normal infants. Chest 2001;120:1190-1195. https://doi.org/10.1378/ chest.120.4.1190
- Duffy Kimberly LMA. Dysphagia in children. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care 2018;48:71-73. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2018.01.003
- Steele CM, Cichero JA. Physiological factors related to aspiration risk: a systematic review. Dysphagia 2014;29:295-304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00455-014-9516-y
- Lefton Greif MA. Pediatric dysphagia. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2008;19:837-851. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pmr.2008.05.007
- Lefton Greif MA, Carroll JL, Loughlin GM. Long-term follow-up of oropharyngeal dysphagia in children without apparent risk factors. Pediatr Pulmonol 2006;41:1040-1048. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppul.20488
- Hiorns MP, Ryan MM. Current practice in paediatric videofluoroscopy. Pediatric Radiology 2006;36:911-919. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00247-006-0124-3
- Benfer KA, Weir KA, Boyd RN. Clinimetrics of measures of oropharyngeal dysphagia for preschool children with cerebral palsy and neurodevelopmental disabilities a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2012;54:784-795. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04302.x
- Stabler SP, Allen RH, Savage DG. Lindenbaum J. Clinical spectrum and diagnosis of cobalamin deficiency. Blood 1990;76:871-881.
- Rasmussen SA, Fernhoff PM, Scanlon KS. Vitamin B12 deficiency in children and adolescents. J Pediatr 2001;138:10-17. https://doi.org/10.1067/ mpd.2001.112160
- Lawlor CM, Choi S. Diagnosis and management of pediatric dysphagia a review. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2020;146:183-191. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaoto.2019.3622
- 20. Godino J, Wong PW. A triad of troubling findings. Postgrad Med 2000;108:109-110. https://doi. org/10.3810/pgm.2000.08.1198
- Dantas RO, Villanova MG. Esophageal motility impairment Plummer-Vinson syndrome. Correction by iron treatment. Dig Dis Sci 1993;38:968-971. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF01295930
- Novacek G. Plummer-Vinson syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2006;1:36. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-1-36
- Schatzki R. The lower esophageal ring. Long term follow-up of symptomatic and asymptomatic rings. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med 1963;90:805-810.
- Müller M, Gockel I, Hedwig P, et al. Is the Schatzki ring a unique esophageal entity? World J Gastroenterol 2011;17:2838-2843. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v17. i23.2838
- Akın M. Schatzki's ring (Lower esophageal mucosal ring). Turkiye Klinikleri J Gen Surg Special Topics 2012;5:116-120.
- 26. Mutaf O. Caustic esophageal burns in children. Journal of Pediatric Surgery 1988;2:69-85.
- Moulin D, Bertrand JM, Buts JP, Nyakabasa M, Otte JB. Upper airvay lesions in children after accidental ingestion of caustic substances. J Pediatr 1985;106:408-410. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(85)80665-x
- Kutlu T, Çullu F, Erkan T, Aji D, Tümay G.T. Korozif madde içen çocukların değerlendirilmesi. Türk Pediatri Arşivi 1998;33:92-98.
- Previtera C, Giusti F, Guglielmi M. Predictive value of visible lesions (cheeks, lips, oropharynx)in suspected caustic ingestion may endoscopy reasonably be omitted in completely negative pediatric patients? Pediatr Emerg Care 1990;6:176-178. https://doi. org/10.1097/00006565-199009000-00002
- Zaninotto G, Bennett C, Boeckxstaens G, et al. The 2018 ISDE achalasia guidelines. Diseases of the Esophagus 2018;31:1-29. https://doi.org/10.1093/dote/ doy071
- Huoha KC, Messner AH. Cricopharyngeal achalasia in children indications for treatment and management options. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013;21:576-580. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. moo.0000436789.29814.62
- Franklin AL, Petrosyan M, Kane TD. Childhood achalasia acomprehensive review of disease, diagnosis and therapeutic management. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2014;6:105-111. https://doi.org/10.4253/wjge. v6.i4.105
- Domingues GR, Lemme EM. Differential diagnosis of esophageal motor disorders based in characteristics of dysphagia. Arq Gastroenterol 2001;38:14-18. https:// doi.org/10.1590/s0004-28032001000100004
- Zhang Y, Xu CD, Zaouche A, Cai W. Diagnosis and management of esophageal achalasia in children: analysis of 13 cases. World J Pediatr 2009;5:56-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12519-009-0010-9
- Hussain SZ, Thomas R, Tolia V. A review of achalasia in 33 children. Dig Dis Sci 2002;47:2538-2543. https:// doi.org/10.1023/a:1020572328777
- Kahrilas PJ. Esophageal motor disorders in terms of high-resolution esophageal pressure topography: what has changed? Am J Gastroenterol 2010;105:981-987. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajg.2010.43
- Truong LD, Stroehlein JR, Mc Kechnie JC. Gastric heterotopia of the proximal esophagus and review of literature. Am J Gastroenterol 1986;81:1162-1166.

- Chong VH. Clinical significance of heterotopic gastric mucosal patch of the proximal esophagus. World J Gastroenterol 2013;19:331-338. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v19.i3.331
- Von Rahden BH, Stein HJ, Becker K, Liebermann Meffert D, Siewert JR. Heterotopic gastric mucosa of the esophagusliteraturereview and proposal of a clinicopathologic classification. Am J Gastroenterol 2004;99:543-551. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2004.04082.x
- Liacouras CA, Furuta GT, Hirano I, et al. Eosinophilic esophagitis: updated consensus recommendations for children and adults. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;128:3-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2011.02.040
- Dalby K, Nielsen RG, Kruse Andersen S, et al. Eosinophilic oesopha gitis in infants and children in the region of southern Denmarka prospective study of prevalence and clinical presentation. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010;51:280-282. https://doi. org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e3181d1b107
- Cheung KM, Oliver MR, Cameron DJ, Catto Smith AG, Chow CW. Esophageal eosinophilia in children with dysphagia. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2003;37:498-503. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005176-200310000-00018
- Desai TK, Stecevis V, Chang CH, Goldstein NS, Badizadegan K, Furuta GT. Association of eosinophilic inflammation with esophageal food impaction in adults. Gastrointest Endosc 2005;61:795-801. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0016-5107(05)00313-5
- Guajardo JR, Plotnick LM, Fende JM, Collins MH, Putnam PE, Rohegberg ME. Eosinophil associated gastrointestinal disordersa world-wide-web based registry. J Pediatr 2002;141:576-581. https://doi. org/10.1067/mpd.2002.127663
- Prasad GA, Talley NJ, Romero Y, et al. Prevalence and predictive factors of eosinophilic esophagitis in patients presenting with dysphagia: a prospective study. Am J Gastroenterol 2007;102:2627-2632. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01512.x

This study was presented as an oral presentation at the 13th National Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition Congress, which was held as an E-Congress between May 19-22, 2021.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Health Sciences University, Faculty of Medicine, Adana City Training and Research Hospital (approval date: November 18, 2020, meeting number: 70, decision no: 1143).

Complications in digital subtraction angiography: initial three years of experience

Dijital substraksiyon anjiografide komplikasyonlar: ilk üç yıllık deneyim

Serkan Civlan, Berk Burak Berker, Fatih Yakar, Eylem Teke, Mehmet Erdal Coşkun

Posted date:13.12.2023

Acceptance date:20.12.2023

Abstract

Purpose: In this study, we describe the complications we encountered during digital subtraction angiographies (DSA) in our initial three years of experience and evaluate the risk factors in our patient population.

Materials and methods: A series of 507 patients with different pathological processes were diagnosed via DSA in our institution from April 2019 through May 2022 and were retrospectively evaluated. During DSA, the date of the procedure, patient age, gender, comorbidities, catheter types, number of catheters used, and all procedure-related complications were recorded, even if they did not cause any neurological sequelae. Complications were categorized as neurological, non-neurological, or local.

Results: Our study included a total of 507 patients. Of these, 256 (50.5%) were male, and 251 (49.5%) were female. The mean age of patients was 49.2 years (range 5-91). The most preexisting comorbidity in patients was hypertension (22.5%). Of 507 patients, a total of 10 patients had either a neurological complication, radiological complication, or angio-site-related complication, and the overall rate of complications was 0.02%. In 6 patients with neurological complications, 3 (0.6%) had permanent neurological deficits, and 3 (0.6%) had transient deficits. In 4 patients with non-neurological complications, asymptomatic vasospasms were encountered in two cases; internal carotid artery (ICA) dissection was experienced in one case, and scrotal hematoma was observed in one case.

Conclusion: Complications following DSA are rare but must be minimized with knowledge of the characteristics of the patients and determining the proper indication. Although the risk is low, complications such as thromboembolism can cause permanent neurological deficits and even death.

Keywords: Digital subtraction angiography, neurological complication, non-neurological complication, catheter, vasospasm.

Civlan S, Berker BB, Yakar F, Teke E, Coskun ME. Complications in digital subtraction angiography: initial three years of experience. Pam Med J 2023;16:227-235.

Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmada ilk üç yıllık deneyimimiz boyunca dijital substraksiyon anjiyografilerde (DSA) karşılaştığımız komplikasyonlar anlatılmış olup, hasta popülasyonumuzdaki risk faktörleri değerlendirilmiştir.

Gereç ve yöntem: Kurumumuzda Nisan 2019'dan Mayıs 2022'ye kadar farklı patolojilere sahip 507 hastaya DSA işlemi uygulandı ve sonuçlar retrospektif olarak değerlendirildi. Anjiyografi sırasında herhangi bir nörolojik sekel saptanmasa bile işlem tarihi, hastanın yaşı, cinsiyeti, yandaş hastalıkları, kateter tipleri, kullanılan kateter sayısı ve işleme bağlı tüm komplikasyonlar kaydedildi. Komplikasyonlar nörolojik, nörolojik olmayan veya lokal olarak kategorize edildi.

Bulgular: Çalışmamıza toplam 507 hasta dahil edildi. Hastaların 256'sı (%50,5) erkek, 251'i (%49,5) kadın olmakla beraber, ortalama yaşı 49,2 (5-91 arası) olarak saptandı. Primer patolojilere en çok eşlik eden hastalığın hipertansiyon olduğu görüldü (%22,5). 507 hastadan toplam 10 hastada nörolojik komplikasyon, radyolojik komplikasyon veya anjiyo bölgesine bağlı komplikasyon görüldü ve genel komplikasyon oranı %0,02 olarak bulundu. Nörolojik komplikasyon gelişen 6 hastanın 3'ünde (%0,6) kalıcı nörolojik defisit, 3'ünde (%0,6) ise geçici nörolojik defisit saptandı. Nörolojik olmayan komplikasyon gelişen 4 hastada iki olguda asemptomatik vazospazm, bir olguda internal karotid arter (İKA) diseksiyonu, bir olguda skrotal hematom gözlendi.

Sonuç: Dijital substraksiyon anjiografi esnasında komplikasyonlarla nadir olarak karşılaşılsa bile hastaların özelliklerinin bilinmesi ve uygun endikasyonun belirlenmesi ile komplikasyon oranı en az seviyeye indirilebilir. Risk oranının düşük olmasına ragmen tromboembolizm gibi komplikasyonlar kalıcı nörolojik defisitlere ve hatta ölüme neden olabilir.

Mehmet Erdal Coşkun, Prof. Pamukkale University, School Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ercoskun@yahoo. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2816-0722)

Serkan Civlan, Asst. Prof. Pamukkale University, School Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: serkancivlan@hotmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8915-8186) (Corresponding Author)

Berk Burak Berker, M.D. Pamukkale University, School Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: bburakberker@gmail. com (https://orcid.org/0009-0007-9178-3758)

Fatih Yakar, Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University, School Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: yakarneurosurgery@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7414-3766)

Eylem Teke, Prof. Pamukkale University, School Medicine, Department of Neurology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: edegirmenci20@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0009-0002-1398-5753)

Anahtar kelimeler: Dijital substraksiyon anjiografi, nörolojik komplikasyon, nörolojik olmayan komplikasyon, kateter, vazospazm.

Civlan S, Berker BB, Yakar F, Teke E, Coşkun ME. Dijital substraksiyon anjiografide komplikasyonlar: ilk üç yıllık deneyim. Pam Tıp Derg 2023;16:227-235.

Introduction

Efforts to visualize the vessels in the human body began with the discovery of X-rays by Roentgen [1]. In 1895, Haschek and Lindenthal obtained radiographs of blood vessels in cadavers. Afterward, Barberish and Hirsh began to visualize the arterial and venous system of the arm in 1923. Later, using a similar technique to Barberish and Hirsh, Brooks envisioned the blood circuit of legs [2, 3]. Finally, human intracranial circulation was successfully visualized by Egas Moniz in 1927 by using a radiopaque contrast agent [4]. Since then, with the improvements in catheterization techniques, injectors, subtraction, magnification and techniques, cerebral digital subtraction angiography (DSA) has been widely used to diagnose vascular abnormalities and cerebral pathologies and has become the gold standard imaging method to assess vascular pathologies [1, 5-11]. Although DSA was accepted as a safe way to visualize the cerebral vascular system, it is an invasive diagnostic tool and can cause complications [12].

The most severe complications caused by DSA are related to the neurological system. Although most neurological complications are transient, permanent neurological deficits can be seen because of cerebral infarction, and even death can be seen [13-17]. Large prospective series shows that permanent neurological complication rates change between %0.1-1.3 [18, 19]. Besides neurological complications, systemic and local complications such as contrast-induced allergy, contrast nephropathy, entrance side hematoma, amnesia, femoral artery occlusions, arterial dissections, or infections may seriously affect patients [15, 20-22].

In this study, we describe the complications we encountered during diagnostic cerebral angiographies during our initial three years of experience and evaluate the risk factors in our patient population.

Materials and methods

Patient data and outcome assessment

A series of 507 patients with different pathological processes were diagnosed via DSA in our institution from April 2019 through May 2022 and were retrospectively evaluated. The study did not include patients undergoing angiography as a part of interventional therapeutic procedures.

All patients underwent a detailed neurological examination at admission, during the DSA procedure, discharge, and follow-up. During the angiography, the date of the procedure, patient age, gender, comorbidities, and all procedure-related complications were recorded, even if they did not cause any neurological sequelae. Complications were evaluated as follows: neurological complications such as thromboembolism, intracranial hemorrhage, or ischemia, which generates new neurological signs or symptoms or worsening of preexisting deficit after the procedure; non-neurological complications which are radiologically revealed, such as asymptomatic vasospasm or dissection and local complications such as groin hematoma which are related to the puncture site.

Written informed consent was obtained from patients, implying that their medical records and images could be used for research in the future. The study was approved according to the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki.

DSA technique

All angiographies were performed with the patient under local anesthesia or sedation via the femoral approach using Siemens Artis Zee monoplane angiography unit. Oxygen saturation and blood pressure levels were measured continuously. In our daily practice, internal carotid and vertebral arteries were selectively catheterized. Common carotid artery injections were performed before the selective catheterization. Selective catheterization was not performed in the presence of severe arterial stenosis or plaque. 5F catheters were routinely used for adult patients and 4F catheters for children.

A non-ionic contrast agent (Omnipaque 300, GE Healthcare) was used in all procedures. Two-dimensional diagnostic images were obtained using hand injections, but three-dimensional DSA images were obtained with pump injections. Catheters were intermittently flushed by hand with heparinized saline. At the end of the procedure, hemostasis was achieved by manual compression for 15-20 minutes. A 5 kg sandbag placed over the femoral artery puncture site in the leg and remain there for 6 hours. The patients were followed immobile for 6 hours.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed to identify relations between preexisting comorbidities, indications for DSA, number of catheters, catheter types, and complications. SPSS 25.0 program (IBM SPSS statistics 25 software (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) was used for analyses. Mann Whitney U test was used to compare the ages of patients. The Spearman Chi-Square test evaluated the distribution among the categorical variables. A statistically significant value was taken as p<0.05.

Results

Our study included a total of 507 patients. Of these, 256 (50.5%) were male, and 251 (49.5%) were female. The mean age of patients was 49.2 years (range 5-91). The most preexisting comorbidity in patients diagnosed with DSA was hypertension (22.5%), followed by diabetes mellitus (8.1%). Demographic features and systemic disease of the patients are listed in Table 1.

Of the 507 patients, the most common indication for the diagnostic DSA procedure was subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) (21.7%), and to confirm and evaluate the aneurysms detected in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computerized tomography angiography (CTA) (21.7%). In 15 patients, a Simmons 1 catheter (SIM 1); in 277 patients, a Simmons 2 catheter (SIM 2); in 329 patients, a vertebral catheter; and in 20 patients, a head-hunter catheter was used. Single catheters were used in 393 patients (77.5%), and more than one catheter was used in 114 patients (22.5%).

Number of patients Rate of comorbidities in all Demographic data with comorbidities patients (%) 49.2±17.49 Age Male 256 50.5 Gender Female 251 59.1 **Diabetes Mellitus** 41 8.1 114 22.5 Hypertension **Thyroid Dysfunction** 3.2 16 **Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease** 6 1.2 **Cardiovascular Disease** 22 4.3 Hypercholesterolemia 2.0 10 Malignity 11 2.2 Others 12 2.4

Table 1. Demographic data and comorbidities of the population

Procedural complications

Of 507 patients, a total of 10 patients had either a neurological complication, radiological complication, or angio-site-related complication, and the overall rate of complications was 0.02%. Complications were seen in five males and five females. The mean age of the patients who encountered complications was 48.90±9.06. Only 30% of the patients with complications have comorbidities, which are mostly hypertension (30%), and the SIM 2 catheter was used in 80% of the patients with complications.

In 6 patients, neurological complications occurred. Of those six patients, 3 (0.6%) had permanent neurological deficits, and 3 (0.6%) had transient deficits. One patient had aphasia, which was improved 2 hours later; one had generalized tonic-clonic seizure; and one had left hemiparesis, which was dissolved one week later. Permanent neurological deficits were caused by thromboembolism, and one patient with MCA thromboembolism died 21 days after the procedure.

with non-neurological In 4 patients complications, three were included in complications shown radiologically. Asymptomatic vasospasms were encountered in two cases, and vasospasms were resolved after nimotop injection. In one patient, internal carotid artery (ICA) dissection was encountered (Figure 1). However, the flow was not limited due to dissection. Aspirin was given to the patient, and no neurological symptom was seen. In one case, scrotal hematoma was observed after DSA, which was included in angio-site-related complications. One month later, it was observed that the hematoma had resolved. SIM 2 catheter was used in 80% of the patients with complications. Detailed information regarding the characteristics of the patients with complications is summarized in Table 2.



Figure 1. Following common carotid artery injection (A), internal carotid artery (ICA) was catheterized selectively. No pathology was detected following selective ICA injection, but a dissection in the cervical segment of ICA (B) was noticed during rotational imaging performed with the automatic injector. Since it did not cause any neurological deficit, no additional intervention was planned for the patient. The dissection site was indicated by an arrow

Case							No. CI		Tvne of
No	Age	Gender	Age Gender Comorbidity Anesthesia Indication	Anesthesia	Indication	Catheter Type	Catheter Used	Catheter Complication Used	Complication
-	63	ш	HT	Sedation	ICH	Vertebral	.	MCA thromboembolism	Permanent
5	52	ш		Local	Aneurysm on MRI or CTA	SIM1, SIM 2, vertebral	т	ICA posterior communication segment hromboembolism	Transient
e	54	Σ	片	Local	ICH	Vertebral, SIM2	7	MCA thromboembolism	Permanent (exitus)
4	41	ш		Local	SAH	SIM 2	~	GTC seizure	Transient
5	48	Σ		Local	ICH	SIM 2	. 	Vasospasm	Radiological
9	53	Z		Local	Aneurysm clip check	SIM 2	~	Scrotal hematoma	Transient
4	31	Σ		Local	ICA stenosis on MRI or CTA	SIM 2	. 	Aphasia	Transient
œ	57	Σ		Local	Stroke etiology	SIM2	. 	MCA thromboembolism	Permanent
6	47	ш	НТ	Local	Aneurysm on MRI or CTA	SIM2, vertebral	7	ICA dissection	Radiological
10	43	ш	ı	Local	ICA stenosis detected on MRI or CTA	Vertebral	~	Vasospasm	Radiological

Table 2. Characteristics of patients with complications

Evaluation of the risk factors for complications

There were differences in the complication rates when they were analyzed for an association type, with age, anesthesia preexisting comorbidities, indication for DSA, and type of catheter used. The complication rate was similar in males (5 of 256, 1.96%) and females (5 of 251, 1.95%), and only hypertension was detected in patients with complications as preexisting morbidity. Gender (p=0.612), age (p=734), and comorbidities were not found to be statistically significant. The patients who underwent DSA to investigate the intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) had the highest complication rate (9.1%), followed by the ICA stenosis detected on CTA or MRI (6.1%). ICH was associated with an increased risk in the DSA procedure (p=0.024). Although the P-value was insignificant for carotid stenosis (0.099), it can also be associated with an increased risk. Clinical indications for DSA and the rate of all complications are listed in Table 3.

In 5 patients with complications, only SIM2 catheters were used. In 3 patients, multiple catheters were used, including SIM2. In 2 patients, only vertebral catheters were used. Although the relationship of SIM2 catheters with complications is insignificant, its *p*-value is 0.093.

		Total number		
Indication for DSA	Number of complications	of angiograms for specified indication	Complication rate (%)	p value
ICH	3	33	9.1	0.024
SAH	1	110	0.91	0.324
Aneurysm on MRI-CTA	2	110	1.82	0.374
AVM on MRI-CTA	-	20	0	
Check after GKRS for AVM	-	18	0	
Check after the AVM operation	-	11	0	
Venous Angioma on MRI-CTA	-	17	0	
AVF on MR-CTA	-	4	0	
Vasculitis	-	3	0	
ICA dissection on MRI-CTA	-	10	0	
ICA stenosis on MRI or CTA	2	33	6.1	0.099
Check after Aneurysm clipping	1	32	3.1	0.482
Check after EVT	-	34	0	
Transient ischemic attack	1	27	3.7	0.424
Planning for GKRS	-	24	0	
Tumor Evaluation	-	5	0	
Others	-	16	0	
Total	10	507	1.97	

Table 3. Indications for DSA and rate of all complications and P values

MRI: Magnetic Resonance Image, CTA: Computerized Tomography Angiography, AVM: Arteriovenous Malformation, AVF: Arteriovenous fistula ICA: Internal Carotid Artery, EVT: Endovascular Treatment, GKRS: Gamma Knife Radiosurgery, DSA: Digital Subtraction Angiography ICH: Intraparenchymal hematoma, SAH: Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Discussion

DSA is essential for diagnosing and evaluating intracranial vascular pathologies and tumors [18, 23]. Advancements in the catheter designs, contrast media, technical experience, and injection methods, complication rates continued to decrease [12, 24]. Although noninvasive imaging modalities such as MRI or CTA have reduced the use of DSA, these modalities had limitations as primary diagnostic tools in patients with SAH. Since the studies demonstrate that DSA can identify the lesion that causes SAH, in 4%-14% of patients with negative findings in CTA [6, 7] and the small vascular abnormalities cause intraparenchymal hematoma can be masked by the mass effect and hyperintensity of the hematoma [25], we performed diagnostic DSA for all patients with the suspected vascular pathologies which were detected on CTA or MRI.

In our series, the rate of neurologic complications associated with DSA was 1.2% (0.6% permanent; 0.6% transient). Our rate of permanent neurological disability is slightly higher than the other studies [12, 14, 19, 20]. This finding was expected as the numbers in this single-center experience need to be more significant to show similar results for the other studies and because of initial experiences in DSA. Dawkins et al. [15] show that ICH and SAH were associated with an increased risk of complications. In our study, the indication for DSA was ICH for the three patients with complications. Specific clinical and procedural factors are associated with an increased risk of complication. Studies define that patients with older age, coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, or hypertension were also at high risk of complications during DSA procedures [19, 20, 26, 27]. Although the patient's age, gender, and comorbidities were not found significant, hypertension was the most common comorbidity, which was seen in our patients with complications.

Ischemic stroke and carotid stenosis were reported as risk factors in cerebral angiography [20, 26, 27]. Cloft et al. [28] defined that the neurological complication rate is higher for the patients investigated due to ischemic stroke compared to patients with SAH, aneurysm, or arteriovenous malformation (AVM). In our study,

one patient with stroke etiology was evaluated with DSA, and MCA thromboembolism occurred as a complication with permanent neurological deficit. Besides being a risk factor, acute ischemic stroke is one the most severe complications that occur during DSA and is primarily caused by thromboembolism. It may be caused by multiple attempts to visualize stenotic vessels due to atherosclerotic plaque and plaque disruption by catheter or wire [12, 14, 26]. Also, a thrombus can form inside the catheters, or a hydrophilic coating can be formed over the catheter or wire [15, 29, 30]. Thromboembolism was the most devastating complication in our study-three permanent neurological deficits caused by thromboembolism.

Arterial dissections can also cause ischemic symptoms by limiting flow secondary to severe stenosis or occlusion or acting as a source of thromboembolism in DSA procedures. The intima layer of the vessel can be damaged by the manipulation of the catheter or the guidewire, and enlargement of the damaged intima can be seen because of injecting the contrast material under the intima [14, 23, 31]. Besides the interventionist's experience level, the catheter tip applying tension with cardiovascular pulsation against the arterial wall is important because it may damage the intima with the continuous pulsation [15, 31]. We encountered one carotid dissection during DSA procedure. In addition to catheter type, the number of catheters used for patients is important in evaluating the complications. Our study used more than one catheter in three patients with complications. Earnest et al. [13] found a higher correlation between neurological complications and the number of catheters used. Studies define that using smaller, softer catheters may decrease the risk of neurological complication rate [20, 32, 33]. Since only the SIM 2 catheter was used in 50% of our complicated patients, it was observed that this catheter type increased the risk of complications.

We realize that there were potential limitations in our study. Diffusion-weighted images (DWI) were not performed routinely after the DSA procedure. Therefore, subclinical events and silent thromboembolism were missed in our research and not counted as complications. However, subclinical events detected by DWI are much higher than expected, as shown in the studies [34-36]. Another limitation of the study is that the significance of risk factors could not be demonstrated statistically due to the small sample size. Furthermore, the data analysis and accuracy depended on our clinical followup and retrospective evaluations.

In conclusion, complications following DSA are rare but must be minimized with knowledge of the characteristics of the patients and determining the proper indication. Although the risk is low, complications such as thromboembolism can cause permanent neurological deficits and even death. As we know, using non-invasive imaging modalities has decreased the use of DSA, endovascular treatments, and therapeutic catheter-based procedures continuously increasing. In our initial 3-year experience in DSA, we found a 1.2% rate of complications leading to neurological deficits (0.6% permanent; 0.6% transient).

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Hoeffner EG, Mukherji SK, Srinivasan A, Quint DJ. Neuroradiology Back to the Future: Brain Imaging. Am J Neuroradiol 2012;33:5-11. https://doi.org/10.3174/ ajnr.A2936
- Antunes JL. Egas Moniz and cerebral angiography. J Neurosurg 1974;40:427-432. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1974.40.4.0427
- Doby T, Moniz E. Angiography and Egas Moniz. 1995:1992. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.1974.40.4.0427
- Artico M, Spoletini M, Fumagalli L, et al. Egas Moniz: 90 years (1927–2017) from cerebral angiography. Front Neuroanat 2017;11:1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnana.2017.00081
- Alakbarzade V, Pereira AC. Cerebral catheter angiography and its complications. Pract Neurol 2018;18:393-398. https://doi.org/10.1136/ practneurol-2018-001986
- Bechan RS, van Rooij SB, Sprengers ME, et al. CT angiography versus 3D rotational angiography in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neuroradiology 2015;57:1239-1246. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00234-015-1590-9
- Heit JJ, Pastena GT, Nogueira RG, et al. Cerebral angiography for evaluation of patients with CT angiogram-negative subarachnoid hemorrhage: an 11year experience. Am J Neuroradiol 2016;37:297-304. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A4503

- Arıcı M, Civlan S, Yakar F. Diagnostik Serebral Anjiografi. Durmaz r, Editör. Subaraknoid Kanama ve Serebral Anevrizmalar. 1. Baskı. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2022. Available at: https://www.turkiyeklinikleri.com/ article/en-diagnostik-serebral-anjiografi-101573.html. Accessed December 12, 2022
- Civlan S, Yakar F, Coskun ME, Sato K. Endovascular occlusion of giant serpentine aneurysm: a case report and literature review. J Cerebrovasc Endovasc Neurosurg 2022;24:51-57. https://doi.org/10.7461/ jcen.2022.E2021.06.003
- Egemen E, Yakar F, Civlan S, Güngör O, Akçay G. Spontaneous intracranial internal carotid artery dissection in an adolescent after heavy exercise. Child's Nerv Syst 2021;37:2959-2961. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00381-021-05334-1
- Yakar F, Elbir Ç, Civlan S, et al. Flow diverter stent treatment for unruptured supraclinoid segment internal carotid artery aneurysms: a Turkish multicenter study. Neurosurg Focus 2023;54:e1-7. https://doi. org/10.3171/2023.2.FOCUS22649
- Kaufmann TJ, Huston J, Mandrekar JN, Schleck CD, Thielen KR, Kallmes DF. Complications of diagnostic cerebral angiography: evaluation of 19 826 consecutive patients 1. Radiology 2007;243:812-819. https://doi. org/10.1148/radiol.2433060536
- Earnest F, Forbes G, Sandok BA, et al. Complications of cerebral angiography: prospective assessment of risk. Am J Roentgenol 1984;142:247-253. https://doi. org/10.2214/ajr.142.2.247
- Olivecrona H. Complications of cerebral angiography. Neuroradiology 1977;14:175-181. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00496981
- Dawkins AA, Evans AL, Wattam J, et al. Complications of cerebral angiography: a prospective analysis of 2,924 consecutive procedures. Neuroradiology 2007;49:753-759. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00234-007-0252-y
- Feild JR, Robertson JT, Desaussure RL. Complications of cerebral angiography in 2,000 consecutive cases. J Neurosurg 1962;19:775-781. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1962.19.9.0775
- Fifi JT, Meyers PM, Lavine SD, et al. Complications of modern diagnostic cerebral angiography in an academic medical center. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2009;20:442-447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvir.2009.01.012
- Hoffman CE, Santillan A, Rotman L, Gobin YP, Souweidane MM. Complications of cerebral angiography in children younger than 3 years of age: clinical article. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2014;13:414-419. https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.12.PEDS13172
- Mani RL, Eisenberg RL, McDonald EJ, Pollock JA, Mani JR. Complications of catheter cerebral arteriography: analysis of 5,000 procedures. 1. Criteria and incidence. Am J Roentgenol 1978;131:861-865. https://doi.org/10.2214/ajr.131.5.861

- Dion JE, Gates PC, Fox AJ, Barnett HJ, Blom RJ. Clinical events following neuroangiography: a prospective study. Stroke 1987;18:997-1004. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.18.6.997
- Waugh JR, Sacharias N. Arteriographic complications in the DSA era. Radiology 1992;182:243-246. https:// doi.org/10.1148/radiology.182.1.1727290
- Oneissi M, Sweid A, Tjoumakaris S, et al. Accesssite complications in transfemoral neuroendovascular procedures: a systematic review of incidence rates and management strategies. Oper Neurosurg 2020;19:353-363. https://doi.org/10.1093/ons/opaa096
- Thiex R, Norbash AM, Frerichs KU. The safety of dedicated-team catheter-based diagnostic cerebral angiography in the era of advanced noninvasive imaging. Am J Neuroradiol 2010;31:230-234. https:// doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A1803
- Grzyska U, Freitag J, Zeumer H. Selective cerebral intraarterial DSA. Complication rate and control of risk factors. Neuroradiology 1990;32:296-299. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00593048
- 25. Wong GKC, Siu DYW, Ahuja AT, et al. Comparisons of DSA and MR angiography with digital subtraction angiography in 151 patients with subacute spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. J Clin Neurosci 2010;17:601-605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2009.09.022
- Willinsky RA, Taylor SM, TerBrugge K, Farb RI, Tomlinson G, Montanera W. Neurologic complications of cerebral angiography: prospective analysis of 2,899 procedures and review of the literature. Radiology 2003;227:522-528. https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiol.2272012071
- Heiserman JE, Dean BL, Hodak JA, et al. Neurologic complications of cerebral angiography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 1994;15:1401-1411.
- Cloft HJ, Joseph GJ, Dion JE. Risk of cerebral angiography in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage, cerebral aneurysm, and arteriovenous malformation: a meta-analysis. Stroke 1999;30:317-320. https://doi. org/10.1161/01.str.30.2.317
- Kim DY, Park JC, Kim JK, et al. Microembolism after endovascular treatment of unruptured cerebral aneurysms: reduction of its incidence by microcatheter lumen aspiration. Neurointervention 2015;10:67-73. https://doi.org/10.5469/neuroint.2015.10.2.67
- Hu YC, Deshmukh VR, Albuquerque FC, et al. Histopathological assessment of fatal ipsilateral intraparenchymal hemorrhages after the treatment of supraclinoid aneurysms with the Pipeline Embolization Device. J Neurosurg 2014;120:365-374. https://doi. org/10.3171/2013.11.JNS131599
- Cloft HJ, Jensen ME, Kallmes DF, Dion JE. Arterial dissections complicating cerebral angiography and cerebrovascular interventions. Am J Neuroradiol 2000;21:541-545.

- Kerber CW, Cromwell LD, Drayer BP, Bank WO. Cerebral ischemia. I. Current angiographic techniques, complications, and safety. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1978;130:1097-1103. https://doi.org/10.2214/ ajr.130.6.1097
- Eisenberg RL, Bank WO, Hedgcock MW. Neurologic complications of angiography in patients with critical stenosis of the carotid artery. Neurology 1980;30:892-895. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.30.8.892
- 34. Krings T, Willmes K, Becker R, et al. Silent microemboli related to diagnostic cerebral angiography: a matter of operator's experience and patient's disease. Neuroradiology 2006;48:387-393. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00234-006-0074-3
- 35. Bendszus M, Koltzenburg M, Burger R, Warmuth Metz M, Hofmann E, Solymosi L. Silent embolism in diagnostic cerebral angiography and neurointerventional procedures: a prospective study. Lancet 1999;354:1594-1597. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(99)07083-X
- Chuah KC, Stuckey SL, Berman IG. Silent embolism in diagnostic cerebral angiography: detection with diffusion-weighted imaging. Australas Radiol 2004;48:133-138. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1673.2004.01273.x

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (permission date:10.10.2023, permission number:16).

Authors' contributions to the article

S.C. and F.Y. have constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. S.C. and B.B.B. developed the theory and arranged/ edited the material and method section. S.C., E.T. and M.E.C. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article was written by S.C., F.Y., E.T. and M.E.C. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

The relationship of postoperative tramadol activity with the CYP2D6*17 genome in total knee artroplasty patients

Total diz artroplastisi uygulanan hastalarda postoperatif tramadol etkinliğinin CYP2D6*17 genomu ile ilişkisi

Nusret Ök, Muhammed Erdi Gürbüz, Aylin Köseler

Posted date:28.08.2023

Acceptance date:26.12.2023

Abstract

Purpose: In our study, we examined the effect of tramadol maintenance on the VAS score in geriatric patients. We observed them until the postoperative 60th minute. We investigated the incidence of pain in patients who underwent knee arthroplasty in the study. Our aim was to examine the effect of the *17 allele of the CYP2D6 genome on postoperative tramadol activity.

Materials and methods: In our study we examined 110 patients who underwent total knee arthroplasty in the Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology at our facility, along with 100 healthy individuals without complaints who served as the control group. Each patient received a 100 mg dose of intravenous tramadol (Contramal). The postoperative VAS scores of the patients were recorded at 0-15-30-45-60 minutes.

Results: The average age of the patients was 62.36 years. In our study, 86.4% of the patients were female, while this rate was 46% in the control group. We found that 3.65% of individuals (*17 carriers) possessed the *17 allele in both the patient group (n=7) and the control group (n=7). At the postoperative 0th minute, the VAS score for patients in the *1/*1 group was 91.07, while for the *1/*17 group, it measured 95.0. There was no statistically significant difference between the genomes (p>0.050). Likewise, no statistically significant difference was found between the genomes at the postoperative 15th, 30th, 45th, and 60th minutes (p>0.050). However, we observed a statistically significant decrease in the postoperative VAS score between 0-60 minutes in both groups, indicating time-dependent variation (p=0.000).

Conclusion: When examining diverse literature on tramadol classification as intermediate metabolizer (IM) or extensive metabolizer (EM) concerning the *17 allele, our study indicates that the *17 allele should be regarded as both extensive metabolizer (EM) and normal metabolizer (NM).

Keywords: Total knee arthroplasty CYP2D6, Tramadol, CYP2D6*1/*17, postoperartive pain.

Ok N, Gurbuz ME, Koseler A. The relationship of postoperartive tramadol activity with the CYP2D6*17 genome in total knee artroplasty patients. Pam Med J 2024;17:237-242.

Öz

Amaç: Geriatrik hastalarda tramadol idamesinin VAS skoruna etkisini incelediğimiz çalışmamızda ameliyat sonrası 60. dakikaya kadar gözlem yaptık. Çalışmada diz artroplastisi uygulanan hastalarda ağrı insidansını araştırdık. Ameliyat sonrası tramadol etkinliğine CYP2D6 genomunun *17 alelinin etkisini incelemeyi amaçladık. **Gereç ve yöntem:** Bu çalışmaya Pamukkale Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Ortopedi ve Travmatoloji Anabilim Dalı'nda servisimize total diz antroplastisi uygulanan 110 hasta ve kontrol grubu olarak şikâyeti olmayan sağlıklı 100 kişi dahil edildi. Her hastaya intravenöz yoldan 100 mg Tramadol (contramal) uygulandı. Hastaların post-op 0-15-30-45-60. dk VAS skorları kaydedildi.

Bulgular: Hastalar ortalama 62,36 yaşındaydı. Çalışmamızdaki hastaların %86,4'ü kadınken kontrol grubunda bu oran %46 olarak bulundu. *17 alelinin varlığı hasta (n=7) ve kontrol grubunda (n=7) toplamda %3,65 oranında (n=14) *17 taşıyıcısına rastladık. VAS postoperartive 0. dakikada *1/*1 grubundaki hastaların VAS skoru 91,07 ve *1/*17 genomunun VAS skoru 95,0 şeklindeydi ve genomlar arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir farklılık yoktu (p>0,050). Benzer şekilde ameliyat sonrası 15., 30., 45. ve 60. dakikada da genomlar arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir farklılık yoktu (p>0,050). Zamana bağlı değişimde her iki gruptada post-op VAS skorunun 0-60 dakika arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı şekilde düştüğünü gördük (p=0,000).

Sonuç: Tramadolun *17 aleli ile ilişkisinde IM veya EM olarak sınıflandırıldığı literatürdeki farklı sonuçlar alınmış çalışmaları incelediğimizde bizim çalışmamızın sonuçlarına göre: *17 aleli EM ile NM şeklinde değerlendirilmesi gerektiğini düşünüyoruz.

Nusret Ök, Assoc. Prof. Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: oknusret@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3811-1884)

Muhammed Erdi Gürbüz, M.D. Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: gurbuzerdi@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0009-0003-7405-7472) (Corresponding Author)

Aylin Köseler, Prof. Department of Biophysics, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: aylinkoseler@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4832-0436)

Anahtar kelimeler: Total diz artroplastisi, CYP2D6, Tramadol, CYP2D6*1/*17, ameliyat sonrası ağrı.

Ök N, Gürbüz ME, Köseler A. Total diz artroplastisi uygulanan hastalarda postoperartive tramadol etkinliğinin CYP2D6*17 genomu ile ilişkisi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:237-242.

Introduction

Tramadol is rapidly and nearly entirely absorbed after oral administration [1]. After a single oral dose, tramadol has an average bioavailability of around 68%, which escalates to over 90% following multiple doses [2, 3]. IV administration reports a single dose with 90% bioavailability [1]. Although CYP2D6 accounts for only about 2-4% of hepatic CYP enzymes, as one of the most extensively researched CYPs, it metabolizes approximately 25% of drugs processed in the human liver [4]. The liver metabolizes tramadol through O- and N-demethylation processes, alongside conjugation reactions that result in the production of glucuronides and sulfate metabolites. Cytochrome P450-2D6 mediates the (O-) demethylation of dexmethitramadol [5-7].

While tramadol is generally categorized as 'opioid-like,' previous studies have often included it indiscriminately with other opioids when describing the effects of opioids on postoperative outcomes [8-10]. It's commonly tramadol reaches that accepted peak effectiveness approximately 180 minutes after total knee arthroplasty (TKA) [10]. However, in some reports, this timeframe has been reported to decrease to 60 minutes, with patients experiencing a reduction in their VAS score to zero [11, 12]. In a study examining tramadol's efficacy after 60 minutes, the VAS score showed an average decrease of 70 units [12]. This study explores the effect of tramadol maintenance on the VAS score in geriatric patients, observed until the postoperative 60th minute. The aim of this study is to investigate the occurrence of pain in patients who underwent knee arthroplasty, examining the impact of the *17 allele of the CYP2D6 gene on postoperative tramadol efficacy.

Materials and methods

The study was conducted at Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, specifically within the orthopedics and traumatology service. The study group consisted of patients who had undergone total knee arthroplasty, a procedure recognized for its association with elevated levels of postoperative pain. For this study, we selected 110 patients who had undergone total knee arthroplasty, and the control group comprised 100 healthy individuals without pain. A total of 210 individuals participated in the study, and their CYP2D6 genes were analyzed through DNA isolation. Pain assessment was conducted using the Visual Analog Scale (VAS), which employed a scale ranging from 0 to 100 (no pain: 0, excruciating severe pain: 100).

We performed genomic DNA isolation from blood samples obtained from the study participants using the standard phenolchloroform method. We utilized the Polymerase Chain Reaction method to amplify specific genomic regions from the isolated DNA genomes. We examined the presence of the *1/1 and *1/17 alleles within the isolated CYP2D6 genomes.

The drug doses administered were as follows: Tramadol (Contramal) 100 mg was diluted in 150 ml of saline and intravenously administered over 20 minutes at the onset of the postoperative period. We recorded pain scores during the initial 60 minutes and closely monitored patients for any potential side effects. Thankfully, no complications were noted, and the study concluded at the 60-minute postoperative interval. The patient group excluded individuals who had taken analgesics within the past 6 hours, those with kidney or liver diagnoses, individuals sensitive to Tramadol, and those who declined to participate.

Research Termination Criteria: No drugrelated side effects were noted throughout the study. The study concluded upon reaching the specified number of participants.

Statistical analysis

IBM SPSS for Windows version 25 statistical package program was used for analysis. Number(n) and percentage (%) were used for categorical data, mean and standard deviation were used for numerical variables. Since the ratio of the number of patients between alleles did not support the normal distribution, it was analyzed with the Mann Whitney U test. *P*<0.05 was considered significant.

Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study 18/01/2022 date and 2022TIPF006 permission number.

Results

The average age of the patients was 62.36 ± 13.62 years. In our study, 86.4% of the patients were women, while this percentage was 46% in the control group. Upon examining the presence of the *17 allele, we identified a total of 7% carriers of the *17 allele in both the patient and control groups (Table 1).

The comparison of the *17 allele with the normal metabolizer *1 allele in the CYP2D6 genome is given in the Table 2. At the 0th minute postoperative VAS assessment, patients with the *1/*1 genotype had a VAS score of 91.07, whereas those with the *1/*17 genotype scored 95.0. Notably, there was no statistically significant difference observed between the genomes (p>0.050). Likewise, no statistically significant difference was observed between the genomes at the 15th, 30th, 45th, and 60th minutes postoperatively (p>0.050). We observed a statistically significant decrease in the postoperative VAS score between 0 and 60 minutes in both groups, indicating a timedependent variation (p=0.000).

Table 1. Demographic and clinical data

		Patient (n=110)	Control (n=100)
Gender	Female	95 (86.4%)	46 (46%)
	Male	15 (13.6%)	54 (54%)
CYP2D6	*1/*1	103 (93.6%)	93 (93%)
	*1/*17	7 (6.4%)	7 (7%)

Table 2. VAS score variation of CYP2D6 *1/*1 and *1/*17 alleles

VAS score	*1/*1 (n=103)	*1/*17 (n=7)	p
Postoperative 0. min	91.07±9.31	95.0±5.0	0.306
Postoperative 15. min	70.92±16.87	78.57±8.99	0.144
Postoperative 30. min	52.04±23.47	42.86±17.04	0.198
Postoperative 45. min	37.33±20.81	27.14±18.00	0.207
Postoperative 60. min	29.47±19.28	22.86±14.96	0.369
p*	0.000	0.000	

*Change between 0-60 minutes, VAS: Visual Analog Scala

Discussion

In our study, 86.4% of the patients who underwent knee osteoarthritis prosthesis were predominantly women. The average age of these patients, 67.19, aligns with the geriatric patient population. While investigating the influence of the CYP2D6 genome on the population, including healthy individuals, the average age of the healthy participants was 57.05, notably lower than that of the patients. Given the stability of the CYP2D6 genome in patient genetics and its independence from age-related changes, we excluded the age difference between the groups from the statistical analysis.

The IM phenotype is characterized by a combination of a null allele and an allele with reduced function (*10, *14, *17, *18, *36, *41, *47, *49, *50, *51, *54, 55, and 57). Reduced enzymatic activity can stem from factors such as diminished protein stability, alterations in

substrate recognition, or reduced substrate affinity [4]. A multicenter study demonstrated a 93.1% reduction in tramadol clearance among individuals with CYP2D610, whereas those with CYP2D617 exhibited a 64% reduction in tramadol sensitivity [13]. Remarkably, the diminished substrate-enzyme affinity observed with other CYP2D6 substrates interacting with the *10 and *17 variants was absent in this case [13].

Dagostino et al. [14] compiled the association between CYP2D6 alleles and metabolizer classification, categorizing the *1/*17 and *2/*17 alleles as extensive metabolizers (EM), while *3, *4, *5, *6, *7, *8, *9, *10, *11, *15, *17, *29, *35, and *41 haplotypes were considered intermediate metabolizers (IM). In their metaanalysis, Magarbeh et al. [15] designated the *17 allele as an extensive metabolizer and compared it to other studies. These studies encompassed two investigations examining the *17 allele's involvement in codeine toxicity and tramadol activity, suggesting that the *17 allele might exhibit greater efficacy compared to the *1/*1 genotype in these scenarios [15-17]. Nevertheless, due to the relatively lower frequency of studies focusing on CYP2D6 compared to other alleles in its group, it is frequently compared in the literature. It's important to note that it doesn't enjoy the same level of prominence as other alleles such as *2, *3, *4, *6, *10, and *41, for which extensive data on the mechanism of action is available.

According to a study conducted by Aynacioglu et al. [18] in Türkiye with 404 participants, the incidence rate of the *17 allele in the Turkish population is 1.11%. Even in the Indian population, where the *17 allele is most prevalent globally, it has been reported to occur in 3.3% of the population [19]. Its prevalence was reported to be 0.8% in the African population [20]. In our study, we identified a higher occurrence of the *17 allele, present in 14 patients (3.65%) out of a total of 210 participants, which contrasts with the frequencies commonly reported in the literature.

The activation and metabolism of tramadol's primary active metabolite are largely mediated by CYP2D6 [21, 22]. Therefore, CYP2D6 plays

a crucial role in tramadol pharmacokinetics [5]. Previous studies have investigated the influence of the CYP2D6 genotype on plasma levels of tramadol and its metabolites, as well as on the efficacy and adverse reactions associated with tramadol (such as nausea, vomiting, sweating, pruritus, constipation, and headache) [21, 23, 24]. Oscarson et al. [19] observed that the *17 allele alone did not exhibit any effect on enzyme activity. However, their findings indicated that the CYP2D6*17 allele had a distinct impact, as it represents a polymorphic variant of cytochrome P450. This variant requires a combination of substitutions to modify the catalytic properties of the enzyme.

In conclusion, our study revealed that patients possessing the *17 allele reported less pain compared to those without it. However, all patients who received tramadol after total knee arthroplasty had pain scores below 50, considered the pain threshold at 60 minutes. We hypothesize that the absence of a statistically significant difference could be attributed to the limited number of patients carrying the *17 allele in our study. Nonetheless, our observed carrier rate of 3.65% was notably higher than the rates commonly reported in the literature.

At the 30th minute, patients with the *17 allele exhibited a VAS score below 50, while patients with the *1/*1 genotype maintained a VAS score above 50.

Upon reviewing literature studies categorizing tramadol as IM or EM concerning the *17 allele, our study's findings suggest that the *17 allele should be regarded as both EM and NM.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Grond S, Sablotzki A. Clinical pharmacology of tramadol. Clin Pharmacokinetics 2004;43:879-923. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200443130-00004
- Scott LJ, Perry CM. Tramadol: a review of its use in perioperative pain. Drugs 2000;60:139-176. https://doi. org/10.2165/00003495-200060010-00008
- Lintz W, Barth H, Osterloh G, Schmidt Böthelt E. Bioavailability of enteral tramadol formulations. 1st communication: capsules. Arzneimittelforschung 1986;36:1278-1283.

- Zhou SF. Polymorphism of human cytochrome P450 2D6 and its clinical significance. Clin Pharmacokinet 2009;48:761-804. https://doi.org/10.2165/11318070-000000000-00000
- Stamer UM, Musshoff F, Kobilay M, Madea B, Hoeft A, Stuber F. Concentrations of tramadol and O-desmethyltramadol enantiomers in different CYP2D6 genotypes. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2007;82:41-47. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.clpt.6100152
- Payne K, Roelofse J, Shipton E. Pharmacokinetics of oral tramadol drops for postoperative pain relief in children aged 4 to 7 years--a pilot study. Anesth Prog 2002;49:109-112.
- Gong L, Stamer UM, Tzvetkov MV, Altman RB, Klein TE. Pharm GKB summary: tramadol pathway. Pharmacogenet Genomics 2014;24:374-380. https:// doi.org/10.1097/FPC.00000000000057
- Bell KL, Shohat N, Goswami K, Tan TL, Kalbian I, Parvizi J. Preoperative opioids increase the risk of periprosthetic joint infection after total joint arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2018;33:3246-3251. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.arth.2018.05.027
- Ben Ari A, Chansky H, Rozet I. Preoperative opioid use is associated with early revision after total knee arthroplasty: a study of male patients treated in the veterans affairs system. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2017;99:1-9. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.16.00167
- Goplen CM, Verbeek W, Kang SH, et al. Preoperative opioid use is associated with worse patient outcomes after total joint arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2019;20:234. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2619-8
- Bravo L, Mico JA, Berrocoso E. Discovery and development of tramadol for the treatment of pain. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2017;12:1281-1291. https:// doi.org/10.1080/17460441.2017.1377697
- April KT, Bisaillon J, Welch V, et al. Tramadol for osteoarthritis. CDSR 2019: CD005522(e1-102). https:// doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005522.pub3
- Shen H, He MM, Liu H, et al. Comparative metabolic capabilities and inhibitory profiles of CYP2D6.1, CYP2D6.10, and CYP2D6.17. Drug Metab Dispos 2007;35:1292-1300. https://doi. org/10.1124/dmd.107.015354
- Dagostino C, Allegri M, Napolioni V, et al. CYP2D6 genotype can help to predict effectiveness and safety during opioid treatment for chronic low back pain: results from a retrospective study in an Italian cohort. Pharmacogenomics and personalized medicine. Pharmgenomics Pers Med 2018;11:179-191. https:// doi.org/10.2147/PGPM.S181334

- Magarbeh L, Gorbovskaya I, Le Foll B, Jhirad R, Müller DJ. Reviewing pharmacogenetics to advance precision medicine for opioids. Biomed Pharmacother 2021;142:112060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2021.112060
- Lopes GS, Bielinski SJ, Moyer AM, et al. Sex differences in associations between CYP2D6 phenotypes and response to opioid analgesics. Pharmgenomics Pers Med 2020;13:71-79. https://doi.org/10.2147/PGPM. S239222
- Kirchheiner J, Schmidt H, Tzvetkov M, et al. Pharmacokinetics of codeine and its metabolite morphine in ultra-rapid metabolizers due to CYP2D6 duplication. Pharmacogenomics J 2007;7:257-265. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.tpj.6500406
- Aynacioglu AS, Sachse C, Bozkurt A, et al. Low frequency of defective alleles of cytochrome P450 enzymes 2C19 and 2D6 in the Turkish population. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1999;66:185-192. https://doi. org/10.1053/cp.1999.v66.100072001
- Oscarson M, Hidestrand M, Johansson I, Ingelman Sundberg M. A combination of mutations in the CYP2D6* 17 (CYP2D6Z) allele causes alterations in enzyme function. Mol. Pharmacol 1997;52:1034-1040. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.52.6.1034
- Masimirembwa C, Persson I, Bertilsson L, Hasler J, Ingelman Sundberg M. A novel mutant variant of the CYP2D6 gene (CYP2D6 17) common in a black African population: association with diminished debrisoquine hydroxylase activity. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996;42:713-719. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2125.1996.00489.x
- Hua Gan S, Ismail R, Adnan WAW, Zulmi W. Impact of CYP2D6 genetic polymorphism on tramadol pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Mol Diagn Ther 2007;11:171-181. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF03256239
- Subrahmanyam V, Renwick AB, Walters DG, et al. Identification of cytochrome P-450 isoforms responsible for cis-tramadol metabolism in human liver microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos 2001;29:1146-1155.
- 23. Halling J, Weihe P, Brosen K. CYP2D6 polymorphism in relation to tramadol metabolism: a study of faroese patients. Ther Drug Monit 2008;30:271-275. https://doi. org/10.1097/FTD.0b013e3181666b2f
- Kirchheiner J, Keulen JTH, Bauer S, Roots I, Brockmöller J. Effects of the CYP2D6 gene duplication on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of tramadol. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2008;28:78-83. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.0b013e318160f827

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study 18/01/2022 date and 2022TIPF006 permission number.

Authors' contributions to the article

M.E.G. and N.O. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. M.E.G. and A.K. developed the theory and arranged the material and method section. N.O. and A.K. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article written by N.O. and M.E.G.

A.K. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Potential effects of parietin on apoptosis and cell cycle related genes in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells

Parietinin SH-SY5Y nöroblastom hücrelerinde apoptoz ve hücre döngüsü ile ilgili genler üzerindeki potansiyel etkileri

Yavuz Dodurga, Mücahit Seçme, Levent Elmas, Gülşah Gündoğdu, Ayşe Çekin, Nur Selvi Günel

Posted date:17.11.2023

Acceptance date:26.12.2023

Abstract

Purpose: Ingredients obtained from natural products have been used in cancer treatments for years. High diversity and non-toxicity compared to chemotherapeutic agents are the main reasons for their preference. Lichens having potential for treatment of cancer consist of fungus and 1-2 species of algae. Under the name of lichen substances, many of them have also been synthesized as specific substances. The secondary metabolites in lichens are generally insoluble in water, and have many biological activities such as antiviral, antitumor, antibacterial, and antioxidant; they store in the fungal cell or on the surface of the hyphae and can only be extracted with organic solvents. Parietin extracted from lichen species such as xanthoria parietina is an anthraquinone pigment and a secondary metabolite. In our study, the effects of parietin on cytotoxicity, gene expression, migration, invasion, and colony formation in neuroblastoma cells treated with parietin were investigated. SH-SY5Y cell line without parietin was used as the control group.

Materials and methods: The IC₅₀ value of the parietin was determined using XTT assay. The total RNA extractions were performed from the cells using the Tri-Reagent kit. The expressions of BAX, CASPASE3, CASPASE3, CASPASE3, CASPASE9, P53, PUMA, NOXA, TIMP1, TIMP2, BCL2, BCL-XL, CASPASE10, BID, CYCLIND1, CDK6, P21, MMP2, MMP9, TRADD and FADD genes were investigated by Lightcycler 480 (Roche) using SYBR Green dye. Migration analysis of the control and the dose group cells were performed in accordance with the Wound-healing assay protocol. Invasion activities were determined using the "Invasion Chamber" (BD Biosciences) protocol. Colonies were treated with crystal violet and observed under the light microscope.

Results: The IC₅₀ value of the parietin used for 48-hour treatment on the cells was determined as 35 μ M. It was found that the expression levels of BCL-XL, BCL-2, MMP2, MMP9, P21, and CYCLIN D1 mRNA were downregulated, and it was also shown to be upregulated the expression levels of CASPASE3, CASPASE9, BAX, P53, PUMA, and NOXA to be upregulated. It was determined that parietin suppressed both cell invasion and migration, and colony formation in the neuroblastoma cells.

Conclusions: Thus, it can be possible parietin to be used as an alternative, complementary, and supportive agent together with the other drugs in the treatment of neuroblastoma. However, more comprehensive studies supporting these significant effects of parietin will increase its potential in the application.

Keywords: Parietin, neuroblastoma, cell culture, gene expression, migration.

Dodurga Y, Secme M, Elmas L, Gundogdu G, Cekin A, Gunel NS. Potential effects of parietin on apoptosis and cell cycle related genes in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. Pam Med J 2024;17:243-253.

Öz

Amaç: Doğal ürünlerden elde edilen bileşenler yıllardır kanser tedavisinde kullanılmaktadır. Kemoterapötik ajanlara göre çeşitliliğinin fazla olması ve toksik olmaması tercih edilmelerinin başlıca nedenleridir. Kanser tedavisi potansiyeli olan likenler mantar ve 1-2 tür algden oluşmaktadır. Liken maddeleri adı altında birçoğu spesifik maddeler olarak da sentezlenmiştir. Likenlerdeki sekonder metabolitler genellikle suda çözünmez ve antiviral, antitümör, antibakteriyel ve antioksidan gibi birçok biyolojik aktiviteye sahiptir; mantar hücresinde veya hifanın yüzeyinde depolanırlar ve yalnızca organik çözücülerle ekstrakte edilebilirler. Xanthoria parietina gibi liken türlerinden ekstrakte edilen parietin, bir antrakinon pigmenti ve ikincil bir metabolittir. Çalışmamızda parietin ile tedavi edilen nöroblastoma hücrelerinde parietin'in sitotoksisite, gen ekspresyonu, migrasyon, invazyon ve koloni oluşumu üzerine etkileri araştırılmıştır. Parietin tedavisi uygulanmayan SH-SY5Y nöroblastom (NB) kontrol grubu olarak uygulanmıştır.

Yavuz Dodurga, Prof., Pamukkale University, School of Medicine, Medical Biology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ydodurga@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid. org/0000-0002-4936-5954)

Mücahit Seçme, Asst. Prof., Ordu University, School of Medicine, Medical Biology, Ordu, Türkiye, e-mail: mehtersecme@gmail.com (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-2084-760X)

Levent Elmas, Asst. Prof., Izmir Bakircay University, School of Medicine, Medical Biology, Izmir, Türkiye, e-mail: levent.elmas@bakircay.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6865-6466)

Gülşah Gündoğdu, Assoc. Prof., Pamukkale University, School of Medicine, Physiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ggundogdu@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9924-5176)

Ayşe Çekin, M.S., Ege University, School of Medicine, Medical Biology, Izmir, Türkiye, e-mail: aysecekiin@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7442-4661)

Nur Selvi Günel, Assoc. Prof., Ege University, School of Medicine, Medical Biology, Izmir, Türkiye, e-mail: selvi.nur@gmail.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0003-0612-2263) (Corresponding Author)

Gereç ve yöntem: Parietin'in IC₅₀ değeri XTT testi kullanılarak belirlendi. Total RNA ekstraksiyonları, Tri-Reaktif kiti kullanılarak hücrelerden gerçekleştirilmiştir. BCL-XL, BCL-2, MMP2, MMP9, P21, CYCLIN D1, CA3, CASAPASE-9, BAX, P53, PUMA ve NOXA genlerinin ekspresyonları Lightcycler 480 (Roche) ile SYBR Green boyası kullanılarak araştırılmıştır. Kontrol ve doz grubu hücrelerinin invazyon, yara iyileşmesi testi protokolüne uygun olarak gerçekleştirilmiştir. İnvazyon, "İnvazyon odacıkları" (BD Biosciences) protokolü kullanılarak belirlenmiştir. Koloni testi için hücreler kristal viyole ile muamele edilmiş ve ışık mikroskobu altında gözlenmiştir. **Bulgular:** Hücrelerde 48 saatlik tedavide kullanılan parietin'in IC₅₀ değeri 35 μM olarak belirlenmiştir. BCL-XL, BCL-2, MMP2, MMP9, P21 ve CYCLIN D1 mRNA'nın ekspresyon seviyelerinin downregüle edildiği; CASPASE3, CASPASE9, BAX, P53, PUMA ve NOXA'nın upregüle edildiği tespit edilmiştir. Parietin'in nöroblastoma hücrelerinde hem hücre invazyonu ve migrasyonu hem de koloni oluşumunu baskıladığı belirlenmiştir. **Sonuç:** Böylece parietin'in nöroblastom tedavisinde diğer ilaçlarla birlikte alternatif, tamamlayıcı ve destekleyici bir ajan olarak kullanılması mümkün olabilir. Ancak parietin'in bu önemli etkilerini destekleyen daha kapsamlı çalışmalar uygulamadaki potansiyelini artıracaktır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Parietin, nöroblastoma, hücre kültürü, gen ekspresyonu, migrasyon.

Dodurga Y, Seçme M, Elmas L, Gündoğdu G, Çekin A, Günel NS. Parietinin SH-SY5Y nöroblastom hücrelerinde apoptoz ve hücre döngüsü ile ilgili genler üzerindeki potansiyel etkileri. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:243-253.

Introduction

Neuroblastomas (NB), malignant solid tumors that arise from out-of-control primitive cells of the sympathetic nervous system, are often seen in early childhood; It is believed these tumors to stem from primitive neural crest cells. Some of the primitive cells undergo changes and form tumors, and the reason for the changes is genetic or environmental factors. The disease usually occurs at an early age. The reason for this is that the cells are of embryonal origin and the faulty development in nerve cells starts before the baby is born. Chromosomal changes and/or faulty gene regulation cause this faulty development in nerve cells [1]. Interestingly, the occurrence of neuroblastoma does not vary across different racial groups.

Neuroblastoma develops mainly in the adrenal medulla or paravertebral sympathetic ganglia at any level from the neck to the pelvis [2]. It can occur anywhere along the sympathetic nervous system and the most common primary site is an adrenal mass [3]. Compared with other tumors; The primary tumor may show different clinical manifestations of metastatic disease and paraneoplastic syndromes. Spontaneous regressions and differentiation into benign disease can be given as examples of different behaviors of neuroblastoma. It may be more aggressive in older children [4]. The SH-SY5Y NB cells are a triple cloned sub-colony of the SK-N-SH cell line (SK-N-SH-> SH-SY-> SH-SY5-> SH-SY5Y-CRL-2266). SH-SY5Y, showing dopamine-β-hydroxylase activity, can convert glutamate to the neurotransmitter GammaAminobutyric acid (GABA). GABA, or Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid, is widely recognized as a key presynaptic inhibitor in both the central nervous system and the retina. This neurotransmitter holds significant importance in regulating brain metabolism and functioning. For these reasons, the SH-SY5Y cell line was chosen.

In our study, the expression levels of apoptosis, cell cycle and tumor suppressor genes were investigated. Many genes are involved in the orientation of the cell to apoptosis. The first of these is the Bcl2 family. The Bcl2 family is divided into two groups as proapoptotic and antiapoptotic members, and the excess of proapoptotic members increases the apoptosis tendency of the cell. Bad, Bax, Noxa, and Puma genes are proapoptotic genes and cause programmed death of cells by inducing apoptosis. Bcl-XL and Bcl2 are antiapoptotic genes. These genes suppress apoptosis and cancer cells affected by suppression continue to proliferate uncontrollably [5].

Caspases are essential proteins required for apoptosis. It consists of two pathways, intrinsic and extrinsic. While the intrinsic pathway starts with caspase 9 activation, the extrinsic pathway starts with caspase 8 activation and both pathways converge in caspase 3 [6].

The studies carried out in recent years shows that natural compounds have been used in the treatment of cancer as well as chemotherapeutic agents due to their non-toxicity.

Since time immemorial, plants and lichens have been used as drugs for medicinal

purposes in many countries within the scope of traditional treatment. There are studies that lichens are used as therapeutic agents in some diseases such as cancer, arthritis, diabetes, eczema, respiratory and circulatory tract and have a therapeutic effect thanks to secondary metabolites such as cystic acid, gyrophoric acid, and norstic acid from lichen species. Anthraquinones (AQs) are the predominant type of quinones found in nature and are abundant in various sources [7]. Parietin, an anthraguinone pigment, is located in the upper part of the upper cortex of lichens. They are localized as small extracellular crystals and play a protective role against sunlight, giving them a strong orangebrown color.

The antifungal and antibacterial activities of parietin were investigated in various studies. It has been reported that parietin exhibits significant antiangiogenic activity in breast cancer by inhibiting subcytotoxic concentrations, migration of endothelial cells and tube formation [8].

The objective of this study is to investigate the anticancer effects of parietin on SH-SY5Y cells. In addition, it was also aimed to reveal the molecular mechanisms such as therapeutic activity, cell proliferation, invasion, colony formation, cell cycle and apoptosis.

Material and methods

Cell Culture-Cytotoxicity Test (XTT)

SH-SY5Y cells were obtained from ATCC (American Type Culture Collection, USA). The cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) containing 2mM L-Glutamine, Penicillin-streptomycin (20 units/mL-20 μ g/mL), and 10% Fetal Calf Serum under 5% CO₂ and 37°C conditions. The cytotoxicity assays were performed when the cells multiplied with DMEM reached a sufficient number. The cytotoxicity assays were made using 1×10⁴ cells. Cytotoxicity experiments and the determination of IC₅₀ of Parietin were done by XTT method in accordance with the protocol. The cells were seeded into 96-well plates using the DMEM being prepared.

In order for the cells to adhere to the bottom of the plate, they were incubated in the oven for 24 hours under appropriate conditions. At the end of the incubation, certain doses (10-250 μ M) of parietin were added to the wells. 24 and 48 hours after the addition of parietin, 10 μ L of XTT Reagent was added per well in accordance with the XTT protocol and incubated for 2 hours in an oven with 5% CO₂ and 37°C conditions.

At the end of the incubation period, absorbance detections at a wavelength of 450 nm were performed by a microplate reader (Reference wavelength=630 nm). The percentage of the cell viability was determined using the equation below:

The measured mean optical densities (MOD) of the sample was used in the equation below to determine the percentage of viable cells: % viability = [(MOD of sample) / (MOD of control)] x100

Total RNA isolation and PCR

Total RNA was extracted from the SH-SY5Y cells and exposed to the IC_{50} dose of parietin from the 5×10⁶ cell flasks, so as to be 1000 µl per flask, the cells were removed from the base using Trizol, and cell scrapers and transferred to eppendorf tubes (1 mL).

After adding 200 µL of chloroform to each eppendorf tube, the tubes were incubated for 15 min at 25°C. Centrifugation was performed at 15,000 rpm and 4°C for 20 minutes with a refrigerated centrifuge; after that, the collected supernatants were placed to new eppendorf tubes.

After adding 500 μ L of isopropanol to the collected supernatant, this mixture was incubated at 25°C for 10 minutes. After that, the resultant mixture was centrifuged at 15,000 rpm, 4°C for 30 minutes. After adding 70% ethanol to the pellet, centrifugation was performed at 12,000 rpm and 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatants were discarded, and the pellet was dissolved with 40 μ L of RNase-DNase free water. The concentration and purity of total RNAs were measured using the Thermo Nanodrop device.

The process of cDNA synthesis was carried out utilizing the First-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit. Gene expressions of BAX, BCL-2, BCL-XL, CASPASE3, -8, -9, -10, BID, TRADD, CYCLIND1, CDK6, P53, P21, FADD, PUMA, NOXA, MMP-2, MMP-9, TIMP-1, and TIMP2 were analyzed using specific primers and the Real-Time RT-PCR Applied Step One Plus instrument following the SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix protocol. The obtained expression results were compared with the expression levels of the GAPDH gene, which served as the housekeeping gene in the study.

Cell migration, invasion, colony analysis

a. Migration

Migration analysis of the control and the experiment group cells were performed in accordance with the wound-healing assay protocol. Its working principle is based on the Culture-Insert 2 Well placed on the surface of the petri dish, which provide two cell culture reservoirs separated by a 500 µm wall, and thus the migration was observed [9, 10].

Adding the cell suspension to the reservoirs allowed the cells to grow only in the designated growth areas. $3x10^5$ cells/mL per reservoir were seeded and 24 hours later after seeding, the inserts were first removed, and then the determined IC₅₀ dose of Parietin was applied to the cells.

Only medium with serum was given to the control group. A gap of approximately 500 μ m formed after the insert was removed. An inverted microscope was used to evaluate the migration process. The images at different times (0h and 24h) were compared during the evaluation.

b. Invasion

Percent invasion ratio of the control and the experiment group cells were determined using 2.5 x10⁵ cells/mL on 24-well culture plates in accordance with the "Invasion Chamber" (BD Biosciences) protocol. According to the kit protocol, the filters were established with methanol for 10 minutes and dyed with crystal violet dye. The cells reaching the lower surface of the filter were counted under a light microscope. Migration analysis was confirmed using analysis of the wound healing assay. Percent invasion formula was calculated using the following equation:

Invasion (%) = (Number of cells in matrigel matrix basement membrane) / (Number of cells in control membrane) x 100.

c. Colony analysis

The cells were seeded in 6-well culture dishes for colony formation analysis. The parietintreated cell group and the control group cells were incubated in incubators, and in a humid environment containing 5% CO₂ at 37°C. The cells were kept under constant observation and checked with a light microscope. The medium was removed by an aspirator and washed with 1X PBS at the end of the 48th hour and this process was repeated 3 times. The cells were detached with trypsin and centrifugation was used at 500 g for 5 min to collect the cells and the parietin - treated cell group and the control group cells were inoculated into 24-well plates at 2x10⁵ cells/mL per well and incubated in a 37°C incubator, and a humid environment containing 5% CO_2 for 1-2 weeks.

When the incubation period concluded, the cells fixed by 100% methanol for 20 min were treated with crystal violet for 5 min. After staining, the cells washed with 1X PBS were allowed to dry overnight. After all these procedures, the cells were observed under the light microscope.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of the results was performed by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT calculation method. The comparison of the two groups, and the evaluation of the expression changes were performed by the "Volcano Plot" analysis from "RT²ProfilesTMPCR Array Data Analysis". The student t-test was used to analyze the results, and to determine statistical significance; the p-value that meets the condition of *p*<0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

Since our study is an *in vitro* study, ethics committee approval is not required.

Results

Cytotoxicity analysis with XTT method

Parietin was implanted to the SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells at the doses of 10-20-35-50-75-100-200-250 μ M. The cells without parietin were considered as the controls. The IC₅₀ dose of the parietin in the 48th hours were determined as 35 μ M by the XTT assay. The dose and the time graph of percentage cell viability are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. The effect of parietin on the viability of SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells was studied. The cells were exposed to various concentrations of parietin over different time intervals, and their growth was evaluated using the XTT assay. The presented data represents the averaged outcomes from three separate experiments

Invasion

In the SH-SY5Y cells treated with the IC_{50} dose of parietin, the invasion rate was reduced three times compared to the control group; the % invasion rates are shown in Figure 2. The percentage invasion rate of 70% in the control group decreased to 40% in the cells in the parietin-treated group. 10 representative fields were used to count the cells passing through the membrane.

Migration

Migration analysis was performed on the SH-SY5Y cells treated with 35 μ M Parietin. The results obtained were compared with that of the control group. Inverted microscope images, taken at the 0 and the 24 hours, are shown in Figure 3. It was found that the parietin-treated SH-SY5Y cells suppressed migration compared to the control group.

Colony formation

Parietin decreased colony- forming ability of neuroblastoma cells. The effect of parietin on neuroblastoma cells is shown in Figure 4. While an average of 82 colonies were counted in the control group, this number decreased to an average of 40 in the parietin group (Figure 5).

It was shown parietin to reduce colony formation in the SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells.

Real-Time PCR

Based on the Real-Time PCR results, it was revealed that the mRNA expression levels of BCL-XL, BCL-2, MMP2, MMP9, P21 and CYCLIN D1 were downregulated in the parietintreated groups of the cells. Conversely, it was revealed the expression levels of CASPASE3, CASPASE9, BAX, P53, PUMA and NOXA to upregulate in the same group.

The mRNA expression levels of PUMA and NOXA were doubled compared to the control group; BAX, CASPASE9 triple; p53 about four times; CASPASE3 increased fivefold. The mRNA expression level of BCL-2 was observed to decrease twofold when compared to the control group.

The effect of parietin on fold changes in mRNA level of genes in neuroblastoma cells is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 2. The invasion ratio of SH-SY5Y cells in the control group and the dose group was calculated as the percentage of cells that successfully passed through the membrane. The counting was conducted in 10 specific areas chosen as representatives



Figure 3. The findings from the wound-healing assay indicated that parietin effectively decreased cell migration. Images from both the control and dose groups were captured at 0 hours and 24 hours to observe the progression of the wound closure over time



Parietin

Figure 4. Parietin decreases colony formation. The colonies were stained with crystal violet



Figure 5. The number of colonies were significantly decreased in the cells treated with ferulic acid compared with the control cells





Figure 6. *mRNA* expression changes in parietin treated SH-SY5Y dose group * *p*<0.05

Discussion

Cancer consists of cells that are unlimited and capable of dividing very rapidly. Cells have a certain number of divisions under normal conditions, but muscle and nerve cells do not have this feature. Normal cells may turn into tumor cells over time due to genetic or environmental factors. When tumor cells come together, first a bulk and then cancer occurs. Neuroblastoma is malignant solid tumor originating from the sympathetic nervous system. It usually occurs in early childhood. In a study, by isolating parietin from Rheum ribes L, it was obtained in different concentrations ranging from 1-100 μ M and the cytotoxic effect of Parietin on Human Dermal Fibroblast cells was determined by MTT method. Concentrations in the range of 5-250 μ M were chosen for parietin, and doses higher than 50 μ M at 24 hours were found to have cytotoxic effects [11]. In our study, however, we found the IC₅₀ value of parietin in the SH-SY5Y NB cells at a lower concentration to be 35 μ M at the 48th hour.

In another study, the cytotoxic effect of parietin on cisplatin-resistant BRCA2-mutated human breast cancer (HCC1428), human breast ductal carcinoma (T-47D), and (HUVEC) cells were investigated and its effect on ROS accumulation and caspase 3 activation were determined.

Cell viability assays were performed by AlamarBlue method. The experiments, performed with parietin the calculated IC_{50} values of which for 48 hours treatment on the cells were higher than 600 µM, showed parietin to have less cytotoxic effects on healthy HUVEC cells than HCC1428 and T-47 D cells depending on concentration and time. Parietin showed significant anti-angiogenic and apoptotic activity at low concentrations, which are less or equal to 100 µM [12]. This result is in direct proportion to our study result.

Based on the results obtained from this study, it can be stated that it has been proven that parietin can be used in cancer treatment.

In the one study, the cytotoxic effect of Parietin isolated from Rheum ribes L. plant on the HepG2 cell line was examined. HepG2 liver cancer cells were cultured under appropriate conditions and incubated for 24 to 48 hours by applying parietin at concentrations ranging from 25-1000 µM to the cells. The cell viability rate was determined as 25 µM at 48th hour by XTT method depending on dose and time [13]. The results are also in direct proportion to those obtained in the present study. We determined IC50 value of parietin in the SH-SY5Y cells as 35 µM using XTT viability assay. In another study, parietin was isolated from Xanthoria Parietina (L.). The effect of parietin ethanolic extract (XpE) on mouse skin fibroblast cells L929 was investigated. The cell viability test was performed using the XTT method and the IC50 value in the L929 cell lines was determined to be 768.01 mg/mL [14].

In another study, the anti-proliferative and cytotoxic effects of the lichen compounds (parietin, atranorin, usnic acid, and gyrophoric acid) on nine human cancer cell lines (A2780, HeLa, MCF-7, SK-BR-3, HT-29, HCT-116 p53(+/+), HCT-116 p53(-/-), HL-60 and Jurkat) were evaluated. Parietin was obtained from Xanthoria Parietina.

The cell viability was tested by MTT analysis. In the cytotoxicity analysis performed depending on the dose and time, the IC50 value of the parietin was determined as 50 µM. Other cell lines were found to be parietin-resistant [15]. Excessive glutamate release causes prolonged activation of glutamate receptors, leading to excitotoxicity. Excitotoxicity is a process by which nerve cells are damaged due to their overstimulation. In another study, the neuroprotective effects of parietin in primary cortical neuron cultures against glutamate toxicity were investigated. It was shown that parietin increases cell viability/ migration and speed up wound healing [16]. The most significant increase was observed at 5-10 µM parietin concentrations by 92% and 96.87%, while the least increase was observed at 500 µM parietin concentration by 67% [16].

In a study, the neurotoxicity and molecular mechanism of Difenoconozal in the SH-SY5Y cell line were evaluated in vitro. Difenoconozal is a triazole fungicide. The IC50 value of Difenoconozal in SH-SY5Y NB cells was found to be 55.41 μ M at the 24 h exposure. Difenoconozal has been shown that it can cause apoptosis of SH-SY5Y cells [17].

The cytotoxic effects of vulpinic acid, one of the lichen metabolites, on CaCo2, HepG2, Hep2C, RD Wehi cancer lines and normal cells and the gene expression levels were investigated. It was shown that the IC50 value of vulpinic acid changed the mRNA levels of Bax, Bcl2, and P53 genes in the cancer cells being examined, and the increase in Bax gene expression was more than the Bcl-2 and P53 genes in all cell lines [18]. Usnic acid is a secondary metabolite of lichens like parietin, and it has been used in many studies. The effects of usnic acid on lung cancer cell lines A549 were investigated. The expression levels of the genes (1-10-50 μ g/L) in usnic acid at different concentrations were evaluated by Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction method.

ß-actin was used as a control while determining the expression levels of APOPT1, cytochrome C, APAF1, CASPASE3, CASPASE9, TNF, BCL2, BCL2L1, and AIFM1 genes.

It was obtained from the analysis that usnic acid at concentration of 1 μ g/mL showed no significant effect compared to ß-actin, except for CASPASE3. APOPT1, cytochrome C, APAF1, CASPASE3. CASPASE9 genes were found to have higher gene expression results at 10 μ g/ mL and 50 μ g/mL concentrations of usnic acid compared to ß-actin. It was observed that there were no significant differences in the RT-PCR analyzes of TNF, BCL2, BCL2L1 and AIFM1 [19].

In another study, it was found that olivetol at the doses of 50 and 100 μ M decreased MMP2 and MMP9 gene expressions of SH-SY5Y NB cell line [20]. ß-actin has been used as a control to compare data from the experimental groups and gene expression analysis evaluated by RT-PCR method.

Considering the gene expression studies, it is understood that there is limited information about Parietin. Considering the results of the studies related to parietin-like lichen metabolites, significant differences have been observed in the results regarding BAX, BCL-2, P53, MMP2, MMP9, CASPASE3, and CASPASE9 genes in direct proportion to our study results.

Usnic Acid, atranorine, physodic acid, ramalin, and physciosporin are secondary metabolites obtained from lichens such as Parietin. The migration and invasion analyze of these metabolites were performed on various cell lines. The results from the experiments results, performed on lung, liver, colon, breast, and prostate cancer cell lines, have shown that the metabolites suppress migration and invasion in these cancer lines [21].

Parietin is also a secondary metabolite and we showed it to likewise suppress migration,

invasion formation when compared with our results on the SH-SY5Y NB cells.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- YiallourosM.Nöroblastom(KısaBilgiler).(Neuroblastom) 2013. Avaliable at: https://doi.org/10.1591/poh.neurobl. patinfo.kurz.1.20120611. Accessed May, 2023
- Hoehner JC, Gestblom C, Hedborg F, Sandstedt B, Olsen L, Pahlman S. A developmental model of neuroblastoma: differentiating stroma-poor tumors' progress along an extra-adrenal chromaffin lineage. Lab Invest 1996;75:659-675.
- Proleskovskaya IV, Bydanov OI, Konoplya NE. Epidemiology of neuroblastoma in children in the Republic of Belarus. Russian J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2021;8:35-42. https://doi.org/10.21682/2311-1267-2021-8-1-35-42
- Maris JM. The biologic basis for neuroblastoma heterogeneity and risk stratification. Curr Opin Pediatr 2005;17:7-13. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. mop.0000150631.60571.89
- Adams JM, Cory S. Life-or-death decisions by the Bcl-2 protein family. Trends Biochem Sci 2001;26:61-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0968-0004(00)01740-0
- Gökhan A, Kılıç KD, Gülle K, Uyanıkgil Y, Çavuşoğlu T. Apoptotik yolaklar ve hedefe yönelik tedaviler. SDÜ Tıp Fak Derg 2020;27:565-573. https://doi.org/10.17343/ sdutfd.619417
- Müller K. Pharmaceutically relevant metabolites from lichens. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2001;56:9-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530100684
- Ulus G. Antiangiogenic properties of lichen secondary metabolites. Phytother Res 2021;35:3046-3058. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.7023
- Ashby WJ, Zijlstra A. Established and novel methods of interrogating two-dimensional cell migration. Integr Biol (Clamb) 2012;4:1338-1350. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c2ib20154b
- Jonkman JEN, Cathcart JA, Xu F, et al. An introduction to the wound healing assay using live-cell microscopy. Cell Adh Migr 2014;8:440-451. https://doi.org/10.4161/ cam.36224
- Gundogdu G, Gundogdu K, Nalci KA, et al. The effect of parietin isolated from rheum ribes I on in vitro wound model using human dermal fibroblast cells. Int J Low Extrem Wounds 2019;18:56-64. https://doi. org/10.1177/1534734618819660
- Varol M. Parietin as an efficient and promising anti-angiogenic and apoptotic small-molecule from Xanthoria parietina. Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia 2020;29:728-734. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bjp.2019.04.012

- Demirkaya AK, Gündoğdu G, Dodurga Y, Seçme M, Gündoğdu K. Determination of cytotoxic and genotoxic effects of parietin in HepG2 hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Atatürk Üniversitesi Vet Bil Derg 2019;14:29-37. https://doi.org/10.17094/ataunivbd.387311
- Çıracı G. Xanthoria Parietina (L.) Th. Fr. Liken ekstraktının fare deri fibroblast hücre kültürlerinde uv ışınlarına karşı önleyici etkilerinin araştırılması. Yüksek Lisans Tezi. Bursa Uludağ Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Biyoloji Anabilim Dalı, Bursa, 2019.
- Bačkorová M, Backor M, Mikes J, Jendzelovsky R, Fedorocko P. Variable responses of different human cancer cells to the lichen compounds parietin, atranorin, usnic acid and gyrophoric acid. Toxicol In Vitro 2011;25:37-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tiv.2010.09.004
- Gündoğdu G, Taghizadehghalehjoughi A, Çiçek B, et al. Investigation of protective effect of parietin against glutamate excitotoxicity in primary cortical neuron culture. Atatürk Üniversitesi Vet Bil Derg 2018;13:165-173. https://doi.org/10.17094/ataunivbd.363858
- Wang X, Ni H, Xu W, et al. Difenoconazole induces oxidative DNA damage and mitochondria mediated apoptosis in SH-SY5Y cells. Chemosphere 2021;283:131160. https://doi.org/0.1016/j. chemosphere.2021.131160
- Kılıç N, Derici MK, Büyük İ, Soydam Aydın A, Aras S, Cansaran Duman D. Evaluation of in vitro anticancer activity of vulpinic acid and its apoptotic potential using gene expression and protein analysis. IJPER 2018;52:626-634. https://doi.org/10.5530/ijper.52.4.73
- Çoban ZD, Karaer T, Atmaca B, Kaya Demir H, Güran Ş. Usnic acid uses mitochondrial apopitotic pathway in it's antitumoral role. Cumhuriyet Med J 2017;39:539-545. https://doi.org/10.7197/223.v39i31705.347452
- Ün H, Ugan RA. Olivetol'ün SHSY-5Y nöroblastoma hücrelerinin proliferasyonu ve invazyonu üzerindeki inhibe edici etkileri. Kafkas Tıp Bilimleri Dergisi 2021;11:57-62.
- Solárová Z, Liskova A, Samec M, Kubatka P, Büsselberg D, Solar P. Anticancer potential of lichens' secondary metabolites. Biomolecules 2020;10:87. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10010087

Acknowledgements: We would like to express our gratitude for the support provided during this research. We acknowledge that this study did not receive funding from any specific grant or funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors. Additionally, we confirm that no studies involving human participants or animals were conducted by any of the authors for this article. **Ethics committee approval:** Since our study is an in vitro study, ethics committee approval is not required.

Authors' contributions to the article

Y.D. have constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. M.S. and L.E. developed the theory and edited the material and method section. M.S. and G.G. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. A.C. and N.S.G. have done the evaluation of the Discussion section of the article written by Y.D., A.C., N.S.G. and G.G. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Investigation of DNA damage and inflammatory marker profile in patients after bariatric surgery

Obezite ameliyatı sonrası hastaların DNA hasarı ve inflamatuar marker profilinin araştırılması

Tuğba Sarı, Sevda Yılmaz, Muhammed Raşid Aykota, Selda Şimşek, İbrahim Açıkbaş, Ayşen Buket Er Urgancı

Posted date:26.12.2023

Acceptance date:18.01.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Obesity is a significant risk factor in the development of many serious diseases. The most prominent ones among them are diabetes and coronary heart disease. Elevated blood sugar levels in obese individuals lead to increased susceptibility to infections due to the suppression of the immune response. Moreover, fatty skin folds can cause topical infections, ulcers, and delayed/impaired wound healing. Therefore, inflammatory and pro-inflammatory markers in the serum have gained importance in diseases such as diabetes and obesity. Furthermore, in obesity, reactive oxygen species (ROS) lead to DNA damage. 8-oxo-dG, which is the primary product of DNA oxidation, can be detected in the serum, saliva, and urine, making it an ideal biological marker for DNA damage in large population-based studies. The Comet assay analysis is a method used to demonstrate the double-strand breaks in DNA. Induction of γ-H2AX in tissue indicates the initiation of a well-regulated mechanism to reverse double-strand breaks in DNA. Potential benefits of monitoring the genomic health in obesity include creating a sense of urgency for personalized intervention measures and evaluating their progress. DNA damage in obesity is believed to be a reversible condition. Chronic inflammation is an etiological factor known to support DNA damage and neoplastic transformations in cells. Cytokines secreted from adipose tissue, especially TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1β, promote the accumulation of various cells, including neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells, and it indicates the initiation of an inflammatory process. In this project, it was aimed to investigate possible changes in inflammation markers and DNA damage in individuals undergoing bariatric surgery, who were beginning to improve endocrine and metabolic syndrome markers.

Materials and methods: For this purpose, blood and urine samples were collected from 45 obese patients, who had undergone bariatric surgery and 45 healthy volunteers matched for age and gender. The levels of inflammatory markers (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α) and the DNA damage marker γ -H2AX in serum, as well as the amount of 8-oxo-dG in urine, were determined using ELISA. Additionally, the percentage of DNA damage was determined using the Comet assay analysis.

Results: Weight control achieved through bariatric surgery and the subsequent reduction in fat tissue resulted in a significant decrease in the levels of γ -H2AX and 8-oxo-dG, as well as a parallel significant reduction in the percentage of DNA damage in the Comet assay results. The significant decrease in inflammatory markers IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α levels indicated that bariatric surgery also affects inflammation indirectly.

Conclusion: Although there are numerous studies in the literature on individual parameters related to DNA damage in various diseases and obesity, it is believed that the present study determining DNA damage, oxidation, and repair mechanisms simultaneously with inflammatory marker levels serves as a guiding example for comparing genomic health and stability in pre-obese, post-obese, and non-obese individuals.

Keywords: Obesity, DNA damage, inflammation, bariatric surgery.

Sari T, Yilmaz S, Aykota MR, Simsek S, Acikbas İ, Er Urganci AB. Investigation of DNA damage and inflammatory marker profile in patients after bariatric surgery. Pam Med J 2024;17:255-263.

Öz

Amaç: Obezite, birçok ciddi hastalığın gelişmesinde önemli bir risk faktörüdür. Bunlar arasında en büyük payı diyabet ve koroner kalp hastalıkları oluşturmaktadır. Yüksek kan şekeri immün yanıtı baskıladığından obezlerde enfeksiyona yatkınlık artmaktadır. Ayrıca yağlı deri katlantıları topikal enfeksiyon, ülser ve gecikmiş-bozulmuş

Tuğba Sarı, Department of Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: tsari@pau.edu.tr (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-9902-9879) (Corresponding Author)

Sevda Yılmaz, Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: sevday@pau.edu.tr (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-1309-0805)

Muhammed Raşid Aykota, Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: may@pau.edu. tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1862-6186)

Selda Şimşek, Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: seldas@pau.edu.tr (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-1585-7379)

İbrahim Açıkbaş, Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: iacikbas@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7483-1147)

Ayşen Buket Er Urgancı, Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: aber@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5339-3835)

yara iyileşmesi sorunlarına neden olmaktadır. Bu nedenle diyabet ve obezite gibi hastalıklarda serumdaki inflamatuar ve pro-inflamatuar markerlar önem kazanmıştır. Ayrıca obezitede reaktif oksijen türleri (ROS), DNA hasarına neden olur. DNA oksidasyonunun başlıca ürünü olan 8-oxo-dG serum, tükürük ve idrarda tespit edilebilir, bu da büyük popülasyon bazlı çalışmalar için ideal bir DNA hasarı biyolojik belirleyicisidir. Komet assay analizi DNA çift zincir kırıklarının gösterilmesi için kullanılan bir yöntemdir. Dokuda γ-H2AX indüksiyonu, DNA'nın çift iplik kırıklarının tersine çevrilmesi için iyi düzenlenmiş bir mekanizmanın başladığını göstermektedir. Obezitede genom sağlığını izlemenin potansiyel faydaları, kişiselleştirilmiş müdahale önlemlerinin aciliyetini oluşturmak ve ilerlemelerini değerlendirmek için önemlidir. Obezitedeki DNA hasarının, geri dönüşümlü bir durum olduğu düşünülmektedir. Kronik inflamasyon, DNA hasarı ve hücrelerde neoplastik dönüşümlerin destekleyicisi olarak bilinen bir etiyolojik faktördür. Adipoz dokudan salgılanan sitokinler, özellikle TNF-alfa, IL-6 ve IL-1β, nötrofiller, makrofajlar ve dendritik hücreler dahil olmak üzere çeşitli hücrelerin toplanmasını teşvik eder ve bu da inflamatuar bir sürecin başladığını göstermektedir. Biz bu proje ile obezite operasyonu ile endokrin ve metabolik sendrom belirteçleri düzelmeye başlayan bireylerde inflamasyon markerları ve DNA hasarı üzerine olası değişimlerini araştırmayı amaçladık.

Gereç ve yöntem: Bu amaçla 45 adet obezite ameliyatı geçirmiş hasta ve bu hastalarla yaş ve cinsiyet açısından uyumlu olan 45 adet sağlıklı gönüllüden kan ve idrar örnekleri alınmıştır. İnflamatuar marker IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 ve TNF- α ve DNA hasar markerı γ -H2AX'in serum miktarı ve ayrıca idrarda 8-oxo-dG miktarı ELISA ile tespit edilmiştir. Komet assay analizi ile de DNA hasar yüzdesi tespit edilmiştir.

Bulgular: Obezite ameliyatı ile sağlanan kilo kontrolü ve dolayısı ile yağ dokusundaki azalma, DNA hasarı üzerinde γ-H2AX ve 8-oxo-dG miktarının azalması ve buna paralel olarak komet assay sonuçlarında da DNA hasar yüzdesinin anlamlı derecede azalması ile sonuçlanmıştır. İnflamasyon markerları IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8 ve TNF-α miktarlarının anlamlı derecede azalması obezite ameliyatının dolaylı olarak inflamasyon üzerine de etkili olduğunu göstermiştir.

Sonuç: Literatürde DNA hasarına ilişkin tekil parametrelerle ilgili birçok hastalıkta ve obezitede çalışma bulunmakla birlikte, DNA hasarının, oksidasyonunun ve tamir mekanizmasının belirlenmesi ve inflamasyon markerlarının da eş zamanlı seviyelerinin belirlenmesi sayesinde genom sağlığı ve stabilitesinin obezite öncesi, sonrası ve non-obez bireylerde karşılaştırılması açısından çalışmamızın yol gösterici olduğunu düşünmekteyiz.

Anahtar kelimeler: Obezite, DNA hasarı, inflamasyon, obezite ameliyatı.

Sarı T, Yılmaz S, Aykota MR, Şimşek S, Açıkbaş İ, Er Urgancı AB. Obezite ameliyatı sonrası hastaların DNA hasarı ve inflamatuar marker profilinin araştırılması. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:255-263.

Introduction

Obesity arises from the disparity between calorie intake and expenditure, leading to the accumulation of excess fat when more food is consumed than the energy consumed in the body [1]. Obesity is a serious health issue in today's world. It is estimated that there are approximately 700 million obese individuals in the world. It is projected that, as of the year 2030, 2.16 billion individuals (38%) will be overweight, and 1.12 billion individuals (10%) will be considered obese [2].

Obesity is a significant risk factor for the development of several serious diseases. Diabetes and coronary heart disease have the largest share among them. The treatment of obesity, especially for patients with morbid obesity (BMI >40), is often more costly and time-consuming than expected. Bariatric surgery is offered as a preferred treatment due to its long-lasting effects and low risk. Various surgical techniques with varying efficiency levels have been developed for this purpose [3].

Individuals with a BMI of 40 kg/m² or a BMI of 35 kg/m² with comorbidities (such as diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular disease, and respiratory diseases) despite the diet and exercise can be treated with bariatric surgery [4]. Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy (LSG) and Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass are currently the most widely preferred surgical methods nowadays [5]. In the LSG method, the procedure starts with the dissection of the omentum attached to the greater curvature of the stomach. Starting from 2.5 to 4 cm proximal to the pylorus, the greater curvature is resected up to the angle of His at the cardioesophageal junction. The gastrocolic and gastrosplenic ligaments are cut first. To completely resect the stomach fundus, where ghrelin, also known as the hunger hormone, is secreted, the omentum is freed up to the left diaphragmatic crus. With an average calibration of 36 French (1.2 cm), the orogastric tube is inserted into the stomach by the anesthesia team. Resection is performed by using cutting and stapling devices, ensuring that there is neither stricture nor excessive volume in the remaining stomach portion [6].

In obesity, the disruption of the balance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediated signaling mechanism and antioxidant defense causes comorbid diseases. ROS are known to be mutagenic, and they cause DNA damage and altered protein expression, as well as interfering with signaling pathways that support tumor formation [7]. 8-oxodeoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) is a product of free radical-induced oxidation of guanosine. 8-oxodG can be detected in serum, saliva, and urine; this makes it an ideal biological marker for DNA damage in large population-based studies [8]. The comet assay analysis is a method used to demonstrate double-strand breaks in DNA. Tail length and the percentage of DNA within the tail are considered measures of DNA damage [9].

The induction of nuclear γ -H2AX foci indicates the initiation of a significant repair process potentially following a carcinogenic DNA lesion. The induction of γ -H2AX in tissues suggests the initiation of a well-regulated mechanism for reversing double-strand DNA breaks [10].

Previous studies reported a positive correlation between BMI and DNA damage. The potential benefits of monitoring "genomic health" in obesity are important in order to emphasize the urgency of personalized intervention measures and assess their progress. It is believed that DNA damage in obesity is a reversible condition [11].

Since high blood sugar suppresses the immune response, obese individuals are more susceptible to infections. Moreover, fatty skin folds can lead to topical infections, ulcers, and delayed/impaired wound healing. Therefore, in diseases such as diabetes and obesity, inflammatory and pro-inflammatory markers in the serum have gained importance. Bariatric surgery has become a widely preferred method for individuals with reduced responsiveness to medical treatment, compromised vital functions, and affected vital organs, leading to decreased mobility [12].

Chronic inflammation is an etiological factor known to support DNA damage and neoplastic transformations in cells. In the case of obesity, the release of pro-inflammatory molecules from adipose tissue, including CRP, TNF- α , and IL-

8, was reported in previous studies [13]. It is known that plasma levels of IL-6, TNF- α , and TNF receptors increase in obese individuals [14]. Cytokines released from adipose tissue, especially TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1 β , promote the accumulation of various cells, such as neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells, which indicates the initiation of an inflammatory process [15].

With this project, it was aimed to examine potential changes in inflammatory markers and DNA damage among individuals, in whom endocrine and metabolic syndrome markers started improving with bariatric surgery.

Material and methods

Sample collection

In the present study, 45 obese patients, who had undergone bariatric surgery, and 45 healthy volunteers matching with these patients in terms of age and sex were included. Approximately 5 ml of peripheral venous blood samples were collected from both healthy controls and obese patients before the surgery and one year after the surgery by using biochemical tubes (yellow cap), 3 ml of peripheral blood samples were collected into hemogram tubes (purple cap), and approximately 3 ml of urine samples were obtained.

DNA damage detection with the comet method

A 3 ml blood sample from the hemogram tube was added to a sterile 15 ml falcon tube after gently pipetting it following the addition of 3 ml histopaque. Following the centrifugation performed at 3000 rpm for 30 min. at 12°C, the intermediate phase containing lymphocytes was transferred to a new sterile 15 ml falcon tube. Subsequently, 3 ml of PBS was added, followed by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes at 12°C. The isolated lymphocytes were then stored at -80°C until the completion of other study samples.

DNA damage in lymphocytes was detected by using the classic alkaline comet assay method. In this method, lymphocytes were seeded on coverslips coated with agarose solution with a low melting temperature after being covered with agarose solution with a high melting temperature. After treatment with a lysis solution, electrophoresis was performed in the electrophoresis solution at +4°C. After the electrophoresis process, neutralization was performed. Then, the coverslips treated with methanol were prepared for staining. Ethidium Bromide dye was used to stain the coverslips, and imaging was performed using a fluorescent microscope. DNA damage was evaluated based on parameters such as head length, head intensity, tail length, tail intensity, and tail moment of cells using a fluorescent microscope.

Detection of the serum levels of inflammatory markers IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and DNA damage marker γ -H2AX by using ELISA

Blood samples in the biochemical tube obtained from patient and control groups were centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 10 min. at $+4^{\circ}$ C to obtain serum. The sera obtained were stored at -80° C until the completion of the samples.

The quantities of inflammatory markers IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α , as well as the DNA damage marker y-H2AX, were determined by using the ELISA (BT Lab, China) method in all serum samples. In this system that is based on the biotin double-antibody (sandwich) principle, the wells were coated with specific antibodies. Standards were prepared in serial dilutions, starting from the stock standard, with concentrations of 1x, 1/2, 1/4, 1/8, 1/16, and 1/32. To the standard well, 50µl of standard and 50µl of Streptavidin-HRP were added. For the sample wells, 40µl of sample + 10µl of antibody + 50µl of Streptavidin-HRP were added. After incubation at 37°C for 60 minutes, washing process was performed with the washing solution. Then, 50µl of chromogen solution A and 50µl of chromogen solution B were added to the wells sequentially. After incubating in the dark at 37°C for 10 minutes, 50µl of stop solution was added (the blue color will turn yellow). The absorbance changes were measured at 450 nm wavelength with the resulting color change.

Detection of the level of 8-oxo-dG in urine by using ELISA

Urine samples obtained from patient and control groups were transferred to sterile 15 ml falcon tubes and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was transferred to sterile Eppendorf tubes and stored at -80°C until the completion of samples.

The amount of 8-oxo-dg indicating DNA damage due to oxidative stress was determined in all urine samples using the same ELISA (BT Lab, China) procedure.

Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study.

Statistical analyses

A strong effect size (dz=1.6) was observed in the reference study. Considering that a lower effect size could be obtained (dz=0.4), a power analysis was performed, indicating that a 95% confidence level with 80% power could be achieved when at least 41 participants were included in the study. In order to make comparisons with the control group, a similar number of participants were included in the patient group (minimum n=41). Data were analyzed by using SPSS 25.0 software. Continuous variables were presented as mean ± SD, whereas categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages. Independent group differences were compared with the Two-Sample t-test when parametric test assumptions were met, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used when parametric test assumptions were not met. For dependent group comparisons, the Two-Sample Paired t-test was used when parametric test assumptions were met, and the Wilcoxon test was used when parametric test assumptions were not met. Moreover, correlations between continuous variables were examined by using Spearman or Pearson correlation analyses, while differences between categorical variables were examined using the Chi-Square analysis.

Results

DNA damage between groups

Examining the results of comet analysis for DNA damage detection among groups, it was observed that the DNA damage of patients had significantly decreased at the post-surgery control performed 1 year after the surgery (p=0.0081). When evaluated in terms of head length, tail length, head intensity, tail intensity, and tail moment at the 1-year follow-up, a statistically significant difference was found in head length (the median value before surgery was 69.05 with an interquartile range of 14.37, while the median value was 84.35 with an

interquartile range of 23.74 in the 1st year control, p=0.010). No statistically significant difference was observed between the control group and the post-surgery group (median value for the control group was 89.35 with an interquartile range of 21.74, p=0.285) (Figure 1).

Serum levels of inflammatory markers IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and the DNA damage marker γ -H2AX among the groups

Comparing the IL-1 β levels of the groups, it was observed that the IL-1 β levels of patients significantly decreased at the 1st-year follow-up

after bariatric surgery (p=0.003). No significant difference was determined between the control group and the 1st-year post-surgery control group (p=0.763) (Table 1).

Examining the IL-6 levels of the groups, significant differences in IL-6 levels of patients were observed at the 1st-year follow-up after bariatric surgery (p=0.001). No significant difference was observed between the control group and the 1st-year post-surgery control group (p=0.873) (Table 2).



Figure 1. Comet images of control group, pre surgery and 1st year follow up

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	р
Pre-surgery	498.96	352.91	52.64	0.003
1 st year follow-up	333.58	207.31	30.902	0.763
Control	303.165	180.7	23.44	

Table 1. Pre-surgery, 1st year postop, and control groups' IL-1β levels (pg/ml)

Table 2. Pre-surgery, 1st year follow-up, and control groups' IL-6 levels (ng/L)

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	р
Pre-surgery	60.45	37.56	5.59	0.001
1 st year follow-up	31.42	7.63	1.138	0.070
Control	28.23	6.75	1.03	0.873
Analyzing the IL-8 levels of the groups, it was determined that there was a statistically significant difference in IL-8 levels of patients at the 1st-year follow-up after bariatric surgery (p=0.001). While there was a significant difference in IL-8 levels between the control group and pre-surgery IL-8 levels, no significant difference was observed at the 1st-year post-surgery follow-up (p=0.6996) (Table 3).

Examining TNF- α levels of the groups, significant differences in TNF- α levels of patients were observed at the 1-year follow-up after bariatric surgery (*p*=0.000). While a statistically significant difference was found TNF- α levels of the control group and pre-surgery group, no significant difference was observed at the 1styear post-surgery follow-up (0.723) (Table 4). Considering the γ -H2AX levels of the groups, a significant difference was found in γ -H2AX levels of patients at the 1st-year followup after bariatric surgery (*p*=0.000). Although a significant difference was determined between γ -H2AX levels of the control group and presurgery γ -H2AX levels, no significant difference was observed at the 1st-year post-surgery follow-up (*p*=0.124) (Table 5).

Urinal 8-oxo-dG levels of the groups

Examining the 8-oxo-dG levels of the groups, there was a significant difference in 8-oxodG levels of patients at the 1st-year follow-up after bariatric surgery (0.002). Even though a significant difference was found between 8-oxodG levels of the control group and pre-surgery 8-oxo-dG levels, there was no significant difference in the 1st-year post-surgery follow-up (p=0.378) (Table 6).

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	р
Pre-surgery	233.2966	104.18029	15.53028	0.001
1 st year follow-up	106.5141	31.60977	4.71211	0.0000
Control	90.85	22.03	2.36	0.6996

Table 4. Pre-surgery, 1st year follow-up, and control groups' TNF-α levels (ng/L)

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	р
Pre-surgery	98.50	57.14	8.51	0.000
1 st year follow-up	63.50	9.76	1.45	0.700
Control	61.25	10.85	2.43	0.723

Table 5. Pre-surgery, 1st year follow-up, and control groups' γ-H2AX levels (ng/ml)

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	p
Pre-surgery	7.35	5.81	0.866	0.001
1 st year follow-up	2.87	1.52	0.227	0.404
Control	3.23	2.13	0.452	0.124

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	р
Pre-surgery	7.2	4.8	0.763	0.002
1 st year follow-up	4.85	2.22	0.492	0.070
Control	3.12	1.73	0.397	0.378

Table 6. Pre-surgery, 1st year follow-up, and control groups' 8-oxo-dG levels (ng/ml)

Discussion

The relationship between obesity and genotoxic damage is a relatively new research subject, and previous studies reported an accumulation of DNA damage among individuals with obesity and its association with obesity-related diseases [16, 17]. The results of a previous study carried out on the potential effects of weight loss on DNA damage by using the single-cell gel electrophoresis technique showed that weight loss can lead to a decrease in DNA damage levels in the body [18]. Furthermore, weight loss was shown to reduce inflammation markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP), Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha (TNF- α), and interleukin-6 (IL-6), as well as a decrease in oxidative stress [19]. In addition, high levels of proinflammatory cytokines, including prostaglandin E2, TNF-α, IL-2, IL-8, IL-10, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, were associated with increased levels of body fat. It was claimed that inflammation triggered by the activation of the nuclear factor kappa light chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFκB) complex may promote cancer development. Inflammation and immunological changes can also cause malignancy and progression by affecting DNA repair mechanisms, gene functions, and cellular mutation rates [20, 21]. In addition to endogenous antioxidant systems, a diet rich in antioxidants can protect DNA and enhance cellular resistance to oxidative stress [22, 23]. Consuming a diet rich in fruits and vegetables was shown to reduce the risk of metabolic diseases and cancer [24]. Furthermore, the quality and quantity of dietary fat were shown to be correlated with DNA stability and a diet rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids might reduce DNA damage [25].

It is known that obesity alters the DNA double-strand break repair mechanism caused by genotoxic chemicals [26]. Previous scientific studies have revealed that individuals with obesity have double-strand breaks, singlestrand breaks, oxidized bases, and DNA damage that are twice as high as in normalweight individuals [27, 28]. Obesity can lead to an increase in DNA damage or disruptions in DNA repair mechanisms, resulting in the accumulation of DNA damage in cells, leading to inflammation, changes in gene expression, and disruptions in cellular metabolism [26]. Studies carried out on experimental animals reported an increase in genotoxic damage to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) in animals fed a high-fat diet [29, 30]. During the development of obesity, the accumulation of T lymphocytes and macrophages in adipose tissue promotes the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by NADPH oxidase and nitric oxide 2 protein [31-33]. ROS formation can lead to increased insulin levels, fatty acids, and glucose levels, and indirectly contribute to inflammation [34]. Disruptions in the oxidant/antioxidant balance can negatively affect cellular biomolecules, including DNA [35]. According to the results of a previous study, obesity was associated with inflammation and oxidative stress, which induce DNA damage, and the prevention of DNA repair results in the accumulation of DNA damage in adipocytes [26]. A study carried out on young adults aged between 18 and 30 years revealed a negative correlation between BMI and nucleotide excision repair (NER) capacity [36]. The results of a study comparing the evaluation of DNA damage in peripheral lymphocytes of obese and normal-weight adolescents in cell culture environments indicated that obesity can alter the repair mechanism of DNA doublestrand breaks caused by genotoxic agents [37].

In this study, comparing the preoperative and postoperative results of DNA damage markers, γ -H2AX, and 8-oxo-dG, in both whole blood and serum, it was demonstrated that there was a reduction in the amount of DNA damage among obese patients after bariatric surgery. In addition, comparing the levels of inflammation

markers, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α , before and one year after the surgery, a decrease was observed in inflammation markers after surgery, reaching similar levels to the control group.

In conclusion; weight control achieved through sleeve gastrectomy, which is a restrictive method in morbidly obese individuals, resulted in a reduction in DNA damage and inflammation. Although there are many studies carried out on individual parameters related to DNA damage in various diseases and obesity, it is believed that the present study provides valuable insights into genome health and stability, both before and after obesity, and in non-obese individuals, by determining DNA damage, oxidation, and repair mechanisms simultaneously, as well as evaluating inflammation markers.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Hall JE. Guyton & Hall physiology review. Elsevier Health Sciences, 2020.
- WHO. Obesity and Overweight. 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ obesity-and-overweight. Accessed December 26, 2023
- Colquitt JL, Pickett K, Loveman E, Frampton GK. Surgery for weight loss in adults. Cochrane Database Of Systematic Reviews 2014:8. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD003641.pub4
- Karnak İ. Obezite tedavisinde cerrahinin yeri. Katkı Pediatri Dergisi 2000;21:554-573.
- Sungurtekin U. Obezitenin cerrahi tedavisi. Cerrahinin ilkeleri. Branicordi FC, et al. (Eds. Çev. Geçim İE, Demirkan A). İstanbul: Tarlan Ltd. Şti, 2008:1040-1045.
- Menenakos E, Stamou KM, Albanopoulos K, Papailiou J, Theodorou D, Leandros E. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy performed with intent to treat morbid obesity: a prospective single-center study of 261 patients with a median follow-up of 1 year. Obes Surg 2010;20:276-282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-009-9918-3
- Wiseman H, Halliwell B. Damage to DNA by reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: role in inflammatory disease and progression to cancer. Biochem J 1996;313:17-29. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3130017
- Monzo Beltran L, Vazquez Tarragón A, Cerdà C. Oneyear follow-up of clinical, metabolic and oxidative stress profile of morbid obese patients after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. 8-oxo-dG as a clinical marker. Redox Biology 2017;12:389-402. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.02.003

- Hofer T, Karlsson H L, Möller L. DNA oxidative damage and strand breaks in young healthy individuals: a gender difference and the role of life style factors. Free Radic Res 2006;40:707-714. https://doi. org/10.1080/10715760500525807
- Kobayashi J. Molecular mechanism of the recruitment of NBS1/hMRE11/hRAD50 complex to DNA doublestrand breaks: NBS1 binds to gamma-H2AX through FHA/BRCT domain. J Radiat Res 2005;45:473-478. https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.45.473
- Eyluel Bankoglu E, Seyfried F, Arnold C. Reduction of DNA damage in peripheral lymphocytes of obese patients after bariatric surgery-mediated weight loss. Mutagenesis 2017;33:61-67. https://doi.org/10.1093/ mutage/gex040
- Usman M, Volpi E V. DNA damage in obesity: Initiator, promoter and predictor of cancer. Mutation Research-Reviews in Mutation Research 2018;778:23-37. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2018.08.002
- Lee BC, Lee J. Cellular and molecular players in adipose tissue inflammation in the development of obesity-induced insulin resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1842:446-462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbadis.2013.05.017
- Jeong SKI, Seo MW, Kim YH, Kweon SS, Nam HS. Does waist indicate dyslipidemia beter than BMI in Korean adult population?. J Korean Med Sci 2005;27:7-12. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2005.20.1.7
- Askarpour M, Khani D, Sheikhi A, Ghaedi E, Alizadeh S. Effect of bariatric surgery on serum inflammatory factors of obese patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity Surgery 2019;29:2631-2647. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-019-03926-0
- Wlodarczyk M, Jablonowska Lietz B, Olejarz W, Nowicka G. Anthropometric and dietary factors as predictors of DNA damage in obese women. Nutrients 2018;10:578. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10050578
- Zaki M, Basha W, El Bassyouni HT, El Toukhy S, Hussein T. Evaluation of DNA damage profile in obese women and its association to risk of metabolic syndrome, polycystic ovary syndrome and recurrent preeclampsia. Genes Dis 2018;5:367-373. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gendis.2018.03.001
- Heilbronn LK, de Jonge L, Frisard MI, et al. Effect of 6-month calorie restriction on biomarkers of longevity, metabolic adaptation, and oxidative stress in overweight individuals: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006;295:1539-1548. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.295.13.1539
- Puglisi MJ, Fernandez ML. Modulation of C-reactive protein, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and adiponectin by diet, exercise, and weight loss. J Nutr 2008;138:2293-2296. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.108.097188

- Chen J. Multiple signal pathways in obesity-associated cancer. Obes Rev 2011;12:1063-1070. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00917.x
- Harvey AE, Lashinger LM, Hursting SD. The growing challenge of obesity and cancer: an inflammatory issue. Ann NY Acad Sci 2011;1229:45-52. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06096.x
- Riso P, Pinder A, Santangelo A, Porrini M. Does tomato consumption effectively increase the resistance of lymphocyte DNA to oxidative damage? Am J Clin Nutr 1999;69:712-718.
- Nemzer B, Chang T, Xie Z, Pietrzkowski Z, Reyes T, Ou B. Decrease of free radical concentrations in humans following consumption of a high antioxidant capacity natural product. Food Sci Nutr 2014;2:647-654. https:// doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.146
- Boeing H, Dietrich T, Hoffmann K, et al. Intake of fruits and vegetables and risk of cancer of the upper aero-digestive tract: The prospective EPIC-study. Cancer Causes Control 2006;17:957-969. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10552-006-0036-4
- Mullner E, Brath H, Pleifer S, et al. Vegetables and PUFA-rich plant oil reduce DNA strand breaks in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Mol Nutr Food Res 2013;57:328-338. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mnfr.201200343
- Włodarczyk M, Nowicka G. Obesity, DNA damage, and development of obesity-related diseases. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20:1146. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20051146
- Bukhari SA, Rajoka MI, Ibrahim Z, Jalal F, Rana SM, Nagra SA. Oxidative stress elevated DNA damage and homocysteine level in normal pregnant women in a segment of Pakistani population. Mol Biol Rep 2011;38:2703-2710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-010-0413-7
- Sancar A. Excision repair in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 1995;270:15915-15918. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.270.27.15915
- Yuzefovych LV, Musiyenko SI, Wilson GL, Rachek LI. Mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction, and oxidative stress are associated with endoplasmic reticulum stress, protein degradation and apoptosis in high fat diet-induced insulin resistance mice. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e54059. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0054059
- Pazmandi K, Agod Z, Kumar BV, et al. Oxidative modification enhances the immunostimulatory effects of extracellular mitochondrial DNA on plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Free Radic Biol Med 2014;77:281-290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.09.028
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Investig 2003;112:1796-1808. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI19246

- 32. Gao CL, Zhu C, Zhao YP, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction is induced by high levels of glucose and free fatty acids in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2010;320:25-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mce.2010.01.039
- Heo JW, No MH, Park DH, et al. Effects of exercise on obesity-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 2017;21:567-577. https://doi.org/10.4196/kjpp.2017.21.6.567
- Setayesh T, Nersesyan A, Mišík M, et al. Impact of obesity and overweight on DNA stability: Few facts and many hypotheses. Mutat Res Rev Mutat 2018;777:64-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2018.07.001
- Andreassi MG, Barale R, Iozzo P, Picano E. The association of micronucleus frequency with obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Mutagenesis 2011;26:77-83. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geq077
- Tyson J, Spiers A, Caple F, et al. Effects of age, body mass index and genotype on nucleotide excision repair in healthy adults. P Nutr Soc 2006;114. https://doi. org/10.1017/S002966510600526X
- 37. Azzarà A, Pirillo C, Giovannini C, Federico G, Scarpato R. Different repair kinetic of DSBs induced by mitomycin C in peripheral lymphocytes of obese and normal weight adolescents. Mutat Res Fund Mol M 2016;789:9-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2016.05.001

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to our colleagues from Pamukkale University.

Funding: This study was supported by BAP of Pamukkale University (2020BSP010).

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non- Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (date: 05.11.2019, and number: 19).

Author contributions to the article

Conceptualization, A.B.E.U.; methodology, S.S., I.A., A.B.E.U.; software, I.A., A.B.E.U.; validation, S.Y., M.R.A.; formal analysis, T.S.; investigation, T.S., S.Y., M.R.A.; resources, I.A., A.B.E.U.; data curation, S.S., I.A., A.B.E.U.; writing, A.B.E.U. original draft preparation, T.S., A.B.E.U.; writing, review and editing, T.S., B.E.U.; project administration, T.S., S.Y., M.R.A., S.S., I.A., A.B.E.U.; funding acquisition, All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Evaluation of final heights in patients with congenital adrenal hyperplasia

Konjenital adrenal hiperplazili hastalarda final boyun değerlendirilmesi

Fatma Burçin Kurtipek, Elvan Bayramoğlu, Melikşah Keskin, Zehra Aycan

Posted date:27.09.2023

Acceptance date:23.01.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) is an autosomal recessive disease that occurs as a result of a deficiency of any of the enzymes required for the synthesis of glucocorticoids, mineralocorticoids and sex steroids from cholesterol in the adrenal cortex. In this study, we have aimed both to evaluate the final heights in patients with CAH secondary to 21-hydroxylase and 11β- hydroxylase deficiency and also to investigate the factors affecting the final heights.

Material and methods: The anthropometric, clinical, and laboratory findings of patients diagnosed with CAH in the Pediatric Endocrinology Clinic were evaluated retrospectively. Among patients who reached their final heights and adhered to their regular control visits, a total of 39 CAH patients without precocious puberty, and any additional disease diagnosed during their follow-up were included in the study.

Results: Among cases with 21- hydroxylase deficiency, mean final heights of female, and male patients with classic simple virilizing CAH were 158.2 ± 5.46 cm, and 168.8 ± 11.67 cm, while in salt-wasting CAH the corresponding final heights were 152.2 ± 5.94 cm, and 156.5 ± 6.2 cm, respectively. In the group with non-classic CAH, mean final heights of female, and male patients were 155.9 ± 7.59 cm, and 157 cm, respectively. The final height SD of all classic CAH cases was - 1.41 ± 1.45 , and it was calculated as - 0.81 ± 1.12 (-2.30-0.80) in cases with simple virilizing type classic CAH and - 1.79 ± 1.53 (-3.70-0.70) in cases with salt-wasting type classic CAH. In non-classic CAH cases, the final height SD was calculated as - 1.65 ± 1.69 . When patients with salt-wasting CAH and simple virilizing CAH were compared in terms of final height SDs and genetically adjusted height SDs, the final heights of patients with simple virilizing CAH were significantly higher (p<0.05), and the final heights of cases with 11 β - hydroxylase deficiency were significantly shorter than all groups (p<0.05). In CAH, both hyperandrogenism resulting from inadequate treatment and high-dose glucocorticoid treatment may result in a comparatively shorter final height. For this reason, patients should be evaluated at regular intervals in terms of early recognition of CAH through CAH screening programs, administration of glucocorticoid therapy in appropriate doses (10-15 mg/m²/day), and metabolic control monitoring.

Conclusion: In our study, the best average final height was found in the group using hydrocortisone dose of 10-15 mg/m²/day. We have revealed that when daily doses ranging between 5-10 mg/m² were used, androgens were not suppressed sufficiently and the epiphyses closed prematurely, and in cases where daily doses exceeding 15 mg/m² were administered, the final heights were relatively shorter due to the use of excess doses of glucocorticoids.

Keywords: Congenital adrenal hyperplasia, 21-OH deficiency, final height, corticosteroid treatment.

Kurtipek FB, Bayramoglu E, Keskin M, Aycan Z. Evaluation of final heights in patients with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Pam Med J 2024;17:265-276.

Öz

Amaç: Konjenital adrenal hiperplazi (KAH), adrenal kortekste kolesterolden glukokortikoid, mineralokortikoid ve seks steroidinin sentezi için gerekli olan enzimlerden herhangi birinin eksikliği sonucu ortaya çıkan otozomal resesif bir hastalıktır. Bu çalışmada 21-hidroksilaz ve 11 Beta hidroksilaz eksikliğine bağlı KAH hastalarında son boy uzunluğunun değerlendirilmesi ve bunu etkileyen faktörlerin araştırılması amaçlandı.

Gereç ve yöntem: Çocuk Endokrinoloji Kliniğinde KAH tanısı konulan hastaların antropometrik, klinik ve laboratuvar bulguları retrospektif olarak değerlendirildi. Çalışmaya düzenli kontrolleri olan, takiplerinde erken puberte geçirmeyen, takiplerinde ek hastalığı olmayan ve son boya ulaşan 39 KAH hastası dahil edildi.

Bulgular: 21 hidroksilaz eksikliğine bağlı klasik basit virilizan KAH'lı kadın olgularda final boy 158,2±5,46 cm, erkek olgularda final boy 168,8±11,67 cm, tuz kaybettiren tip kadın olgularda final boy 152,2±5,94 cm, tuz kaybettiren erkek olgularda final boy ise 156,5±6,2 cm idi. Non-Klasik kadın olgularda final boy 155,9±7,59 cm, 1 erkek olguda ise final boy 157 cm olarak tespit edildi. Klasik tip KAH olgularının tamamının final boy SD-1,41±1,45 SD olup, basit virilize tip klasik KAH olgularında -0,81±1,12 (-2,30-0,80), tuz tüketen tip klasik

Fatma Burçin Kurtipek, M.D. Department of Pediatric Hematology Oncology, Bilkent City Hospital of Ankara Health Sciences University, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: burcindogan86@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9382-3927) (Corresponding Author)

Elvan Bayramoğlu, Assoc. Prof. Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Istanbul University Cerrahpasa School of Medicine, Istanbul, Türkiye, e-mail: elvanbayramoglu@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6732-8823)

Melikşah Keskin, Assoc. Prof. Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Etlik City Hospital of Ankara Health Sciences University, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: meliksah.keskin@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2713-3618)

Zehra Aycan, Prof. Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: zehraaycan67@ gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4584-2976)

KAH vakalarında -1,79 \pm 1,53 (-3,70-0,70) olarak hesaplandı. Klasik olmayan KAH vakalarında son boy SD'si -1,65 \pm 1,69 SD olarak hesaplandı. Tuz kaybettiren KAH ve basit virilize KAH'lı hastalar final boy SD'si ve genetiğe göre düzeltilmiş boy SD'si açısından karşılaştırıldığında, basit virilize KAH'lı hastaların final boyları anlamlı derecede yüksek (*p*<0,05) ve 11 Beta hidroksilaz eksikliği olan hastaların final boyları ise vakaları tüm gruplara göre anlamlı olarak daha kısaydı (*p*<0,05).

KAH'ta hem yetersiz tedaviden kaynaklanan hiperandrojenizm, hem de yüksek doz glukokortikoid tedavisi boy kısalığına neden olabilir. Bu nedenle KAH tarama programları ile KAH'ın erken tanınması, uygun dozlarda (10-15 mg/m²/gün) glukokortikoid tedavisinin uygulanması ve metabolik kontrol takibi açısından hastaların düzenli aralıklarla değerlendirilmesi gerekmektedir.

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda en iyi ortalama final boy uzunluğu 10-15 mg/m²/gün hidrokortizon dozu kullanan grupta bulundu. 5-10 mg/m²/gün kullanıldığında androjenlerin yeterince baskılanmadığını ve epifizlerin erken kapandığını, >15 mg/m²/gün kullanıldığında ise glukokortikoid fazlalığına bağlı olarak son boyun kısaldığını saptadık.

Anahtar kelimeler: Konjenital adrenal hiperplazi, final boy, 21-OH eksikliği, kortikosteroid tedavisi.

Kurtipek FB, Bayramoğlu E, Keskin M, Aycan Z. Konjenital adrenal hiperplazili hastalarda final boyun değerlendirilmesi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:265-276.

Introduction

Congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) is an autosomal recessive disease that occurs as a result of deficiency of any of the enzymes required for the synthesis of glucocorticoids, mineralocorticoids, and sex steroids from cholesterol in the adrenal cortex [1-7]. While CAH due to 21-hydroxylase enzyme deficiency constitutes 90-95% of all cases, 11 β hydroxylase deficiency is the second common cause of CAH. Clinical findings vary depending on the type and degree of enzyme deficiency. In our treatment, we have aimed to replace the unsynthesized cortisol, as well as to prevent the increase in androgen secretion by suppressing the adrenocorticothyropic hormone (ACTH) secretion. The gap between the doses used in undertreatment and overtreatment is extremely narrow, and the risk of complications increases if the doses used are not individualized. In cases where inadequate doses used for the treatment of CAH, excessive androgen exposure causes bone age progression and precocious puberty, increasing the adult final heights. On the other hand, treatment with higher doses of glucocorticoid also suppresses linear growth by adversely affecting the growth hormone-IGF-1 axis. As a result, final heights may remain short in those receiving low or high doses of glucocorticoids. The glucocorticoid dose that is used for treatment should be high enough to suppress the excessive production of sex steroids and low enough to minimize the side effects that may develop due to hypercortisolism [8, 9].

The dose of glucocorticoids required to normalize ACTH levels in patients with CAH may be much higher than used in other forms of adrenal insufficiency. Therefore, when planning treatment in classic CAH, a balance should be maintained between avoiding overtreatment, which may cause many negative side effects on growth rate, metabolic, cardiovascular status and bone health, or undertreatment, which carries the risk of life-threatening adrenal crisis and virilization [10].

In this study, we have aimed to evaluate the final heights in patients with CAH due to 21-hydroxylase or 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency and to investigate the factors affecting the final heights.

Materials and method

The anthropometric, clinical and laboratory findings of patients diagnosed with CAH in the Pediatric Endocrinology Clinic of our university hospital were evaluated retrospectively. Among patients who reached their final heights and adhered to their regular control visits, a total of 39 CAH patients without precocious puberty, and any additional disease diagnosed during their follow-up were included in the study. Based on patients' complaints on admission (suspicious genitalia, signs of salt wasting CAH, pubic hair growth, accelerated somatic development, early puberty), genotypic sex determination by karyotype analysis, levels of basal or ACTH-stimulated serum 17-OHP, adrenal androgens (DHEAS, androstenedione), serum testosterone and ACTH, results of genetic tests performed to diagnose CAH due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency, patients were grouped as follows: Classic CAH due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency (13 salt-wasting and 7 simple virilizing CAH patients), non-classical CAH (n:13) and 11 β -hydroxylase-deficient group (n:6). The diagnosis of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency is based on raised serum 11-deoxycortisol and 11- deoxycorticosterone levels together with increase in the levels of adrenal androgens.

All patients received hydrocortisone treatment. The treatment doses received by the patients and their stages of puberty were recorded.

Anthropometric evaluations (height, body weight, BMI, waist circumference, growth rate) of the patients were made at each control visit. Body mass indices were calculated according to the formula: BMI=weight(kg)/height(m)}². The SD value of the relevant anthropometric value for each case was calculated by taking into account the standards of our country. Final height was defined as bone age \geq 15 years in girls, and \geq 16 years in boys, or growth rate of <1cm/year.

For metabolic monitoring, serum basal 17-OHP, ACTH, testosterone, androstenedione, and in salt-wasting CAH patients' plasma renin activity levels were measured. During the followup, serum 17-OHP and ACTH measurements were made at least 3 times a year to check whether the desired levels were achieved. The desired level was accepted as <10 nmol/ It (3.3 ng/ml) for 17-OHP and <70 pg/ml for ACTH. In all control visits, the patients who achieved the desired metabolic control values of 70% or higher for ACTH and 17-OHP levels were interpreted as having good metabolic control, while the others were interpreted as having poor metabolic control. In salt wasting CAH patients, serum Na and K and plasma renin levels were measured at each followup visit, and subtle signs of salt wasting were investigated. In addition, care was taken to ensure that testosterone and androstenedione levels remained within normal ranges in patients with good metabolic control. In routine controls, blood samples were taken from the patients between 08:00 and 09:00 AM, following an 8-hour fasting period. Glucose, cortisol, 17-OHP, ACTH, aldosterone, PRA, DHEAS, androstenedione and testosterone levels were studied from the blood samples taken. Glucose levels were examined using an Architect c16000 autoanalyzer. Total testosterone and DHEAS levels were measured by a chemiluminescent immunoassay method (Advia Centaur[®] XP). ACTH measurement was also performed with the chemiluminescence method (Immulite[®] 2000XPI). Serum androstenedione, 17-OHP, and plasma renin levels were examined by radioimmunoassay method.

The mean daily hydrocortisone (HC) or HC-equivalent glucocorticoid doses (mg/m²) used during the whole follow-up period were also calculated. Bone age assessment was done annually according to the Greulich Pyle radiographic atlas of skeletal development of the hand and wrist.

Target heights (THs) of the study participants were calculated by the sum of the average heights of the parents as follows: Boys: Sum of mother's and father's heights+13 cm)/2, Girls: (Sum of mother's and father's heights - 13 cm)/2. TH SDs were calculated as follows: For girls (target height-163 cm)/5.93, and for boys (target height-176 cm)/6.3 was used. Adjusted height SD ≥0 was interpreted as appropriate height according to genetic height potential, and <0 as height below genetic height potential. The height of the patients who reached the final height was also evaluated considering that their target height was within ±5 cm of their final heights. Based on our assessments, patients whose final heights were at least 6 cm shorter than their target heights did not reach their target heights Approval for the study was received from the Educational Planning Board of Dr. Sami Ulus Gynecology, Child Health and Diseases Training and Research Hospital.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS for Windows Version 22.0 package program. Numerical variables were summarized as mean ± standard deviation, and median [minimum-maximum] values. Categorical variables were shown in numbers and percentages. Differences between both groups in terms of numerical variables (if any) was investigated with the Mann-Whitney U test. Spearman correlation coefficient was used to examine the correlation between different variables. According to Pearson correlation analysis, correlation coefficients (r) of 0.25, 0.26-0.50, 0.26-0.50, and 0.76-1 indicated the presence of weak, moderate, strong, and very strong correlations between different variables The level of statistical significance level was accepted as p<0.05.

Results

Our study population consisted of 30 (76.9%) female, and 9 (23.1%) male patients. The average age at diagnosis of all cases was 3.0±5.46 years (0-17 years) and 13 of them were diagnosed in the neonatal period. Mean ages at diagnosis of cases with classic type 21-hydroxylase deficiency (1.7±2.7 years), non-classic type 21-hydroxylase deficiency (11.3 \pm 3.8 years,) and 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency (2.4±1.4 years) were as indicated cases diagnosed with CAH had 21-hydroxylase deficiency (n:33; 84.6%), 11 β- hydroxylase deficiency (n:6; 15.4%), while patients with 21-hydroxylase deficiency had salt-wasting classic CAH (n:13; 33.3%), simple virilizing classic CAH (n:7; 17.9%), and non-classic CAH (n:13; 33.3%).

The mean final heights were 158.2±5.46 cm in female and 168.8±11.67 cm in male cases with classic simple virilizing CAH due to 21hydroxylase deficiency. Female, and male cases with salt-wasting classic CAH had mean final heights of 152.2±5.94 cm and 156.5±6.2 cm, respectively. In female cases cases with nonclassic CAH mean final height was 155.9±7.59 cm. and 157 cm in 1 non-classic male case. The final height of all classic type CAH cases was - 1.41±1.45 SD, and they were -0.81±1.12 (-2.30-0.80) in cases with simple virilizing type classic CAH and -1.79±1.53 (-3.70-0.70) in cases with salt-wasting type classic CAH. In non-classic CAH cases, final height SD was calculated as -1.65±1.69. When patients with salt-wasting CAH and simple virilizing CAH were compared in terms of final height SD scores and genetically adjusted height SD scores, the final heights of patients with simple virilizing CAH were significantly higher (p < 0.05), and the final heights of 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency cases were significantly shorter than all groups (p<0.05). Graph 1 shows the final height SDS and target height SDS by CAH types.



Graph 1. Final height SDs and target height SDs by CAH types SW: Salt wasting, NC: Non-classic, SV: Simple Virilizating

The average daily hydrocortisone doses used were $13.14\pm5.06 \text{ mg/m}^2$ in all cases. While average daily hydrocortisone doses used were $15.06\pm3.78 \text{ mg/m}^2$ in the classic CAH, $14.42\pm3.49 \text{ mg/m}^2$, in the simple virilizing CAH, $15.40\pm4.02 \text{ mg/m}^2$ in the salt-wasting type CAH, $7.90\pm2.74 \text{ mg/m}^2$ in o non-classic CAH and $18.08\pm2.59 \text{ mg/m}^2/\text{g}$ in 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency groups. The average daily HC doses were 5-10 mg/m² in 11 (28.2%), 10-15 mg/ m² in 12 (30.8%), and \geq 15 mg/m² in 16 (41%) patients. Among all groups the highest dose of hydrocortisone was used for patients with 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency (p<0.05).

Table 1 shows the distribution of patients' characteristics at diagnosis and clinical follow-up.

Indicated numbers of cases reached their target heights in groups of classic salt-wasting type CAH (n:10; 76.8%) simple virilizing classic type CAH (n:7; 100%), non-classic CAH (n:10; 76.8%), and 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency (n:3; 50%). Table 2 shows the clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients who could not achieve their target heights.

When final height SDs of the cases were evaluated in consideration of average hydrocortisone doses used, we have noticed that respective mean final height SDs, and

genetically adjusted height SDs of the cases who used average daily hydrocortisone doses of 5-10 mg/m² (n:11) (-1.72±1.58, and -0.55±1.3) or 10-15 mg/ m² (n:12) (0.75±0.98, and -0.22±1.0) or \geq 15 mg/m² (n:16) (-2.18±1.29, and 1.17±0.8) were as indicated in parentheses (Graph 2). Final height SD was found to be significantly lower in those using daily hydrocortisone doses of \geq 15 mg/m². The final height of the patients whose daily HC doses were in the range of 10-15 mg/m²/day reached a statistically significantly higher average final height compared to the other patients (p<0.05). In addition, the patients using daily hydrocortisone doses of 10-15 mg/m² had a statistically significantly higher genetically adjusted mean height than the patients using daily hydrocortisone doses of 15 mg/m^2 (p < 0.05).

Nineteen (48.7%) of our cases had achieved good and 20 (51.3%) cases had poor metabolic control. The mean final height, and genetically adjusted height SD SDs of the patients with good metabolic control were -1.15 SD and -0.34 SD, respectively, while the corresponding SDs for patients with classic CAH with poor metabolic control were -2.25 SD and -1.08 SD, respectively (Graph 3). The final height SD and genetically adjusted height SD of patients with CAH with good metabolic control were significantly higher when compared to those with classic CAH with poor metabolic control (p<0.05).

Table 1. Diagnosis and follow-up	data of patients
----------------------------------	------------------

Gender	
Famele	30 (76.9%)
Male	9 (23.1%)
Age at diagnosis	3.0±5.46 years (yd-17 years)
Newborn	13 (33.3%)
>1 month	26 (66.7%)
CAH type	
21 OH	33 (84.6)
Salt-wasting	13(33.3%)
Simple virilizing	7 (17.9%)
Non-classic	13 (33.3%)
11B	6 (15.4)
Average HC dose (mg/m²/day)	
All cases	13.14±5.06 (5.1-27.0)
21 OH (n:33)	12.25±4.89 (5.1-27.0)
Classic CAH (n:20)	15.06±3.78 (10.1-27.0)
Simple-virilizing (n:7)	14.42±3.49 (10.1-18.3)
Salt-wasting (n:13)	15.40±4.02 (10.3-27.0)
Non-Classic CAH (n:13)	7.90±2.74 (5.1-15.3)
11B (n:6)	18.08±2.59 (15.2-22.0)
HC dose (mg/m²/day)	
5-10	11 (28.2%)
10-15	12 (30.8%)
≥15	16 (41.0%)
Metabolic control	
Good	19 (48.7%)
Poor	20 (51.3%)
Final Height SDS (by diagnosis)	
All cases	-1.41±1.45 (-3.70-0.80)
21 OH (n:33)	-1.51±1.53 (-4.60-0.86)
Classic CAH (n:20)	-1.41±1.45 (-3.70-0.80)
Simple-virilizing (n:7)	-0.81±1.12 (-2.30-0.80)
Salt-wasting (n:13)	-1.79±1.53 (-3.70-0.70)
Non-Classic CAH (n:13)	-1.65±1.69 (-4.60-0.86)
11 β (n:6)	-2.86±1.53 (-5.401.30)
Final Height (by gender)	
Genotypic female (46, XX)	155.60±7.79 cm (139.7-168.0)
Genotypic male (46, XY)	160.36±7.52 cm (150.6-177.1)

CAH: Congenital adrenal hyperplasia, HC: Hydrocortisone, 21 OH: 21 Hydroxylase deficiency, 11 β: 11 Beta-hydroxylase deficiency SDS: Standard Deviation Score

Case	CAH type	Gender	Age at diagnosis (years)	Age at final height (years)	Calendar Age (years)	HC Dose (mg/m²/ day)	Final Height (cm)	Target Height (cm)	Final Height SD	Target Height SD	GGDB SD	Body weight (kg)	BMI (kg/m²)	BMI SD	Metabolic/ Control
1 ÖB	SW	46XX	NB	÷	18	15.3	148.0	154.2	-3.40	-1.50	-1.90	57.30	24.00	0.920	Poor
2 HU	SW	46XY	5	12	16	18.3	150.6	168.0	-3.70	-1.30	-2.40	63.00	27.60	1.500	Poor
3 TH	SW	46XY	0	16	20	12.2	155.9	165.0	-3.00	-1.78	-1.22	80.40	33.30	2.450	Poor
4 DY	NC	46XX	7	13.5	15	15.3	148.1	154.0	-3.40	-1.53	-1.87	43.05	19.60	-0.450	Good
5 FA	NC	46XY	10	15	20	5.1	157.0	166.5	-2.85	-1.54	-1.31	60.00	22.20	0.660	Good
6 FT	NC	46XX	15	15	19	7.5	144.7	158.5	-4.60	-0.78	-3.82	50.65	24.10	0.800	Poor
7 MS	11 B	46XX	3	14	18	19.0	140.6	156.2	-3.71	-1.20	-2.51	44.00	22.13	0.250	Good
8 HO	11 B	46XY	3	13.1	25	22.0	155.3	169.3	-3.00	66.0-	-2.01	65.00	26.60	-0.990	Good
9 MS	11 β	46XX	4	14	16	15.6	139.7	166.5	-5.40	-1.54	-3.86	45.10	23.30	0.330	Poor

Table 2. Clinical and demographic characte
--

heights



Final Height SDs
GCH SDS (Genetically corrected height standart deviation score)
Graph 2. Final height SDs and GCH SDs by hydrocortisone doses



Graph 3. Metabolic control-final height SDs

Discussion

In our study, the final heights of 39 patients followed up with the diagnosis of congenital adrenal hyperplasia and the factors affecting their final heights were evaluated, and 60% of the cases achieved their target heights. Although the best final height average was achieved in patients with simple virilizing CAH, and in 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency, the final height average of the former group was lower when compared with 21-hydroxylase deficiency cases. The age at diagnosis, hydrocortisone dose, and metabolic control were important factors affecting the achievement of final and target heights.

Congenital adrenal hyperplasia is an autosomal recessive disease that occurs as a result of the deficiency of any of the enzymes required for the synthesis of glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids from cholesterol in the adrenal cortex, causing glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid deficiency. However, the selection of metabolic criteria to be used as a parameter in monitoring the patients with good and poor metabolic control, and the determination of the ideal treatment dose are still controversial issues [8]. Recent studies have emphasized that metabolic status evaluated by serum 17-OHP levels lead to the use of higher doses of steroids, and attention is drawn to the use of serum testosterone and androstenedione levels as metabolic control measures. Despite all these suggestions, there is no consensus on the gold standard monitoring parameter to be used for the adjustment of the treatment dose in CAH.

In different studies, along with heart rate monitoring, anthropometric measurements, and bone age assessments, serum 17-OHP and/ or ACTH levels were measured [11]. Serum 17-OHP, ACTH and testosterone levels were evaluated in prepubertal patients [8], and serum 17-OHP and pregnanetriol and 17-ketosteroid were measured in 24-hour urine samples [12]. Although it is recommended to measure serum 17-OHP levels at 08:00 AM, considering the diurnal variations, it is emphasized that it is more appropriate to evaluate serum 17-OHP levels using the 17-OHP profile determined based on measurementa at different time points (08:00 AM, 12:00 AM, 05:00 PM, and 10:00 PM) [13]. The most important points to be emphasized in the treatment of CAH are to normalize ACTH secretion, inhibit the excessive secretion of adrenal androgens, and replace steroids that are not synthesized in the adrenal gland [1-4, 8]. Therefore, the dose of corticosteroid used should be kept in the dose range that will suppress adrenal androgens and at the same time minimize the negative effects of the long-term steroid treatment. If the patient has received excessive or insufficient treatment doses, relatively shorter final height may be achieved, and maintained due to the failure to control early pubertal findings, the acceleration in somatic development and the resulting epiphyseal closure [6]. Due to all these disadvantages encountered in the management

of the disease and the complications that may develop, it is extremely important to follow up CAH patients conscientiously. In our study, we evaluated serum ACTH, 17-OHP, testosterone and androstenedione levels, as well as anthropometric parameters, to evaluate metabolic control in CAH patients. If our patients' growth rate decreased and they became overweight during follow-up period, we reduced the steroid dose. On the other hand, rapid progression in growth rate and bone age was taken as an evidence of insufficient maintenance doses of steroids used, and increase in androgen levels urged us to increase the steroid dose. We meticulously adjusted and individualized the steroid doses of our patients during their followup, taking into account both anthropometric and hormonal changes. In our study population we used serum ACTH and 17-OHP levels as metabolic control measures. Therefore, during the follow-up of these patients, serum 17-OHP levels between 1-10 ng/ml and ACTH levels below 71 pg/ml were used as criteria for good metabolic control. Patients who achieved 70% of the desired values in all measurements were included in the good metabolic control group.

Accordingly, 52% of the cases were evaluated as having good metabolic control. Although the final height deviations of the cases in the good control group - though not statistically significantly-were better than those in the poor control group. When the metabolic controls and average heights of our cases were examined, it was seen that patients with good metabolic control reached a better final height than those with poor metabolic control.

The final height SDs of patients with good, and poor metabolic control were 0.15 ± 0.51 SD, and -2.25 ± 0.89 SD, respectively (*p*<0.05).

Wasniewska et al. [14] reported that hydrocortisone treatment did not significantly affect height outcomes in children without classic CAH. However, they commented that wide differences in the number of patients included in their study groups could affect the reliability of the results. In our study, we found that hydrocortisone treatment used in appropriate doses favorably affected final heights of the patients.

Although the required physiological daily doses of hydrocortisone range between 6-7

mg/m², in cases with CAH, hydrocortisone treatment should be given at daily doses of 10-15 mg/m² tid to suppress androgen production from the adrenal cortex [4, 7, 8]. In the literature, widely different average daily HC doses used in studies conducted in children and adolescent patient groups were reported by Cordeiro et al. [15]; (13.7 mg/m²), Volkl et al. [16]; (14.8±4.76 mg/m²), Ambroziak et al. [17] (18.55±4.8 mg/ m²), and Aycan et al. [18] (19.7±2.9 mg/m²). As expected in our study, the mean HC dose used was lower in the non-classic CAH group than in the classic CAH group. In the CAH group due to 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency, the mean HC dose was higher than in all other groups. The mean HC doses calculated in our study were consistent with the literature.

In the treatment of congenital adrenal hyperplasia, uncontrolled use of glucocorticoids exceeding the physiological doses is known to disrupt the growth process with its negative effects on both the growth hormone/IGF-1 axis and the bone cartilage [19-22]. Sarafoglou et al. [23] found that daily HC doses of 104 patients had negatively affected estimated adult height, with a 0.37cm decrease from the final height for each mg/m² increase in daily doses. In their retrospective study with 92 patients, Hargitai et al. [24] emphasized that the daily hydrocortisone doses should not exceed 17 mg/m² during puberty in order to optimize the final height of patients with classic adrenal hyperplasia. In a study performed with 31 cases with 21-hydroxylase deficiency Cordeiro et al. [15] used average daily HC dose of 13.7 mg/ m² (dose range: 10.9-40 mg/m²/day) and the final height SD of these patients achieved was -2.13±1.11 SD, without any significant difference between the final height, gender, clinical form of CAH and hormone control of the treated groups. However, they found a significant negative correlation between final height and hydrocortisone dose

The common conclusion of all these studies is that the most important factor affecting the increases in the heights of the patients in CAH is the high doses of steroid therapy. Girgis et al. [25] reported that 32 patients with CAH did not develop short stature after at least 4 years of treatment with hydrocortisone at daily doses of 10-15 mg/m². In our study, the effect of the hydrocortisone dose and target height on the final height was examined by linear regression analysis, and it was seen that the target height variable had a positive, while the HC dose had a negative effect on the final height, and optimal final height was achieved with daily HC doses ranging between 10-15 mg/m².

In a study on 124 patients with CAH, Hargitai et al. [24] found the height SD -1.55 in male and 1.25 SD in female patients. In our previous research we conducted in 2006, the average daily hydrocortisone dose was 17.64±3.60 mg/ m², and the average height SD was -1.77 SD [26]. In the study we conducted in 2009, final height and final height SD were 152.2±7.2 cm and -1.0±1.1 SD in girls; and 163.1±6.6 cm and -1.2±1.0 SD in boys, while the average daily hydrocortisone dose received by the patients was 19.7±2.9 mg/m² [18]. In this study, we reported that 79.1% of the cases could not achieve their target height, and obesity developed in 54% of the cases. In these studies, we attributed higher rates of inability to achieve final target heights and the development of obesity in these cases to the use of excessive doses of hydrocortisone used, and strongly suggested use of lower doses of hydrocortisone in these patients, as we applied in our clinical practice. As a matter of fact, our most recent study included the results of treatment with lower doses of hydrocortisone in which we observed better final height results relative to our previous studies. While only 20% of the cases with classic CAH in the previous study achieved the genetic height potential, in our current study 60% of the cases achieved their genetic height potential. Smaller number of our cases diagnosed with 11^β hydroxylase deficiency, who had to receive HC treatment at higher doses achieved their mean final and target heights compared to the cases with classic type 21-hydroxylase deficiency which demonstrated unfavorable effects of hydrocortisone overdose

In a multicenter study by Hargitai et al. [24], 341 of 598 CAH cases were followed longitudinally from birth to the time they reached their final heights. According to the data obtained from this study, it was determined that the final heights of all cases were shorter than both country references and target heights. In the longitudinal follow-up, it was emphasized that patients with simple virilizing CAH were taller in early childhood when compared to their gender- and age-matched groups, while those with salt-wasting CAH were shorter than their peers at 0-3 years of age. In this study, they attributed relative tallness of the patients with simple virilizing CAH in early childhood to delayed diagnosis and advanced bone age and suggested that earlier diagnosis and use of high doses of steroids in the salt-wasting CAH may negatively affect growth rate. In case of delayed treatment, advanced bone age should be taken into consideration as another factor that negatively affects height rate. Advanced bone age in cases of delayed diagnosis and steroid overload together with poor monitoring have the same negative effect. Hargitai et al. [24] suggested that short stature diagnosed especially in infancy is commonly related to poorly monitored steroid therapy. Similarly, in our study, the average final height and percentage of achieving the target height in cases with simple virilizing type CAH were higher than those with salt-wasting type CAH which may be due to the fact that patients with salt-wasting type CAH were exposed to highdose HC treatment in early infancy. Although the enzyme activity in patients with non-classic CAH is higher than the enzyme activity in simple virilizing patients, the shorter mean final height is associated with a longer exposure to hyperandrogenemia due to the delayed diagnosis. There is little data on the final height of patients with 11 β-hydroxylase deficiency. In our study, the mean final height SDS of 6 cases diagnosed with 11 β -hydroxylase deficiency who achieved their final heights was lower than the cases diagnosed with 21-hydroxylase deficiency (-5.40±1.30 vs -2.86±1.53) which was attributed to the delayed diagnosis of cases with 11 β-hydroxylase deficiency and the fact that these patients received higher doses of hydrocortisone.

In conclusion, in patients with CAH, both inadequate and high-dose glucocorticoid treatment may result in relatively shorter final height. For this reason, early recognition of CAH through CAH screening programs, application of glucocorticoid therapy in appropriate doses (10-15 mg/m²/day) and regular evaluation of patients for metabolic control monitoring can ensure achievement of adequate final height. In our study, the best average final target height was found in the group using daily hydrocortisone doses of 10-15 mg/m². Indeed, when daily doses of 5-10 mg/m² were used,

androgens were not suppressed sufficiently and the epiphyses closed prematurely, and in cases where daily doses of >15 mg/m² were used, the age-adjusted targeted final height was not achieved due to the excess glucocorticoid dose.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- New MI, Dupont B, Pang S, Pollack M, Levine LS. An update of congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Recent Prog Horm Res 1981;37:105-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/ b978-0-12-571137-1.50008-6
- Charmandari E, Chrousos GP. Metabolic syndrome manifestations in classic congenital adrenal hyperplasia: do they predispose atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and secondary polycystic ovary syndrome? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1083:37-53. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1367.005
- Speiser PW, Azziz R, Baskin LS, et al. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to steroid 21-hydroxylase deficiency: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:4133-4160. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2631
- Riepe FG, Sippell WG. Recent advances in diagnosis, treatment, and outcome of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2007;8:349-363. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11154-007-9053-1
- Levine LS. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Pediatr Rev 2000;21:159-70; quiz 171. https://doi.org/10.1542/ pir.21-5-159
- White PC, Speiser PW. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21- hydroxylase deficiency. Endocr Rev 2000;21:245-291. https://doi.org/10.1210/ edrv.21.3.0398
- Merke DP, Bornstein SR. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Lancet 2005,365:2125-2136. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66736-0
- Joint LWPES/ESPE CAH Working Group. Consensus statement on 21-hydroxylase deficiency from the Lawson Wilkins Pediatric Endocrine Society and the European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:4048-4053. https://doi. org/10.1210/jc.2002-020611
- Merke D, Kabbani M. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia: epidemiology, management and practical drug treatment. Paediatr Drugs 2001;3:599-611. https://doi. org/10.2165/00128072-200103080-00005
- Claahsen-van der Grinten HL, Speiser PW, Ahmed SF, et al. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia-current insights in pathophysiology, diagnostics, and management. Endocr Rev 2022;43:91-159. https://doi.org/10.1210/ endrev/bnab016

- Bode HH, Rivkees SA, Cowley DM, Pardy K, Johnson S. Home monitoring of 17 hydroxyprogesterone levels in congenitx127drenal hyperplasia with filter paper blood samples. J Pediatr 1999;134:185-189. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(99)70413-0
- Ercan O, Hatemi S, Kutlu E, Turan N. Effect of treatment on growth in congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Indian J Pediatr 2000;67:783-789. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02726219
- Erhardt E, Solyom J, Homoki J, Juricskay S, Soltesz G. Correlation of blood-spot 17-hydroxyprogesterone daily profiles and urinary steroid profiles in congenital adrenal hyperplasia. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000;13:205-210. https://doi.org/10.1515/ jpem.2000.13.2.205
- Wasniewska MG, Morabito LA, Baronio F, et al. Adrenal Diseases Working Group of the Italian society for pediatric endocrinology and diabetology. Growth trajectory and adult height in children with nonclassical congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Horm Res Paediatr 2020;93:173-181. https://doi.org/10.1159/000509548
- Cordeiro GV, Silva IV, Goulart EMA, das Chagas AJ, Kater CE. Final height in congenital adrenal hyperplasia: the dilemma of hypercortisolism versus hyperandrogenism. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 2013;57:126-131. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0004-27302013000200005
- Volkl TMK, Simm D, Beier C, Dörr HG. Obesity among children and adolescents with classic congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency. Pediatrics 2006;117:98-105. https://doi.org/10.1542/ peds.2005-1005
- Ambroziak U, Bednarczuk T, Ginalska Malinowska M, et al. Congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency—management in adults. Endokrynol Pol 2010;61:142-145.
- Aycan Z, Akbuğa S, Cetinkaya E, et al. Final height of patients with classical congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Turk J Pediatr 2009;51:539-544.
- 19. Van den Brande J. Postnatal growth and its endocrine regulation. Pediatric Endocrinology 1993;2:154-174.
- Mehls O, Tönshoff B, Kovacs G, Mayer C, Schurek J, Oh J. Interaction between glucocorticoids and growth hormone. Acta Paediatr Suppl 1993;388:77-82. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.1993.tb12850.x
- Stewart PM, Toogood AA, Tomlinson JW. Growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor-I and the cortisolcortisone shuttle. Horm Res 2001;56:1-6. https://doi. org/10.1159/000048126
- Mauras N. Growth hormone therapy in the glucocorticosteroid-dependent child: metabolic and linear growth effects. Horm Res 2001;56:13-18. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000048128

- Sarafoglou, K, Addo OY, Turcotte L, et al. Impact of hydrocortisone on adult height in congenital adrenal hyperplasia-the Minnesota cohort. J Pediatr 2014;164:1141-1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpeds.2014.01.011
- Hargitai G, Solyom J, Battelino T, et al. Growth patterns and final height in congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to classical 21-hydroxylase deficiency. Results of a multicenter study. Horm Res 2001;55:161-171. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000049990
- Girgis R, WinterJS. The effects of glucocorticoid replacement therapy on growth, bone mineral density, and bone turnover markers in children with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997;82:3926-3929. https://doi.org/10.1210/ jcem.82.12.4320
- Aycan Z, Ocal G, Berberoglu M, Cetinkaya E, Adiyaman P, Evliyaoglu O. Experience with long-term glucocorticoid treatment in congenital adrenal hyperplasia: growth pattern compared with genetic height potential. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2006;19:245-251. https://doi.org/10.1515/ jpem.2006.19.3.245

Ethics committee statement: Ethics committee approval was not received, because this is a thesis study performed before the year 2017.

Authors' contributions to the article

Z.A. and F.B.K. have constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. They developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. E.B. and M.K. have evaluated the data in the Results section. Discussion section of the article was written by F.B.K.

Z.A. reviewed, corrected and approved the final version of the manuscript. In addition, all authors critically reviewed the entire study and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Secondary pseudotumor cerebri in the pediatric population: clinical features, treatment, and prognosis

Pediatrik popülasyonda sekonder psödotümör serebri: klinik özellikler, tedavi ve prognoz

Olcay Güngör, Emine Şeker Ün, Beste Kıpçak Yüzbaşı, Osman Parça

Posted date:09.10.2023

Acceptance date:23.01.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Pseudotumor cerebri syndrome (PTCS) is characterized by elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) without intracranial mass, hydrocephalus, or abnormalities in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) composition. In secondary PTCS (sPTCS), there is a reason that increases the CSF pressure. The aim of this study is to evaluate the diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up of pediatric patients diagnosed with sPTCS.

Materials and methods: This is a retrospective study conducted in a single-center tertiary pediatric hospital. We included patients aged 1-17 years who were diagnosed with sPTCS in a tertiary hospital between 2018 and 2023 and met the current diagnostic criteria for PTCS. We evaluated the complaints, etiology, ophthalmological evaluations, and treatment results of the cases.

Results: Seventeen patients with a diagnosis of PTCS were included in the study. The mean age was 9.82 (\pm 4.6). Of the patients, 9 (56.2%) were male and 8 (43.7%) were female. The most common symptoms were headache in 10 patients (62.5%), nausea/vomiting in 6 patients (37.5%), and double vision in 5 patients (31.2%). All patients had papilledema and 7 (43.7%) patients had sixth nerve palsy. Recurrence was observed in 3 (16%) patients. Optic nerve fenestration was performed in three patients as a second-line treatment.

Conclusion: In cases that do not respond to medical treatment, optic nerve sheath fenestration may be a good treatment option.

Keywords: Optic nerve, pseudotumor cerebri, child.

Gungor O, Seker Un E, Kipcak Yuzbasi B, Parca O. Secondary pseudotumor cerebri in the pediatric population: clinical features, treatment, and prognosis. Pam Med J 2024;17:279-284.

Öz

Amaç: Psödotümör serebri sendromu (PTSS), intrakranyal kitle, hidrosefali veya beyin omurilik sıvısı (BOS) bileşiminde anormallikler olmadan yüksek kafa içi basıncı (KİB) ile karakterizedir. İkincil PTSS'de (sPTSS), BOS basıncını artıran bir neden vardır. Bu çalışmanın amacı sPTSS tanısı alan pediatrik hastaların tanı, tedavi ve takiplerinin değerlendirilmesidir.

Gereç ve yöntem: Bu çalışma tek merkezli üçüncü basamak bir pediatri hastanesinde gerçekleştirilen retrospektif bir çalışmadır. 2018 ile 2023 yılları arasında üçüncü basamak bir hastanede sPTSS tanısı konan ve PTSS için mevcut tanı kriterlerini karşılayan 1-17 yaş arası hastaları dahil ettik. Olguların şikayetleri, etiyolojisi, oftalmolojik değerlendirmeleri ve tedavi sonuçları değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Çalışmaya PTSS tanısı alan 17 hasta dahil edildi. Ortalama yaş 9,82 (±4,6) idi. Hastaların 9'u (%56,2) erkek, 8'i (%43,7) kadındı. En sık görülen semptomlar 10 hastada (%62,5) baş ağrısı, 6 hastada (%37,5) bulantı/ kusma, 5 hastada (%31,2) çift görme idi. Hastaların tamamında papilödem, 7 (%43,7) hastada ise altıncı sinir felci vardı. 3 (%16) hastada nüks görüldü. Üç hastaya ikinci basamak tedavi olarak optik sinir fenestrasyonu uygulandı.

Sonuç: Medikal tedaviye yanıt alınamayan durumlarda optik sinir kılıfı fenestrasyonu iyi bir tedavi seçeneği olabilir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Optik sinir, psödotümör serebri, çocuk.

Güngör O, Şeker Ün E, Kıpçak Yüzbaşı B, Parça O. Pediatrik popülasyonda sekonder psödotümör serebri: klinik özellikler, tedavi ve prognoz. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:279-284.

Olcay Güngör, Assoc. Prof. Department of Pediatric Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: drolcaygungor@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8665-6008) (Corresponding Author)

Emine Şeker Ün, Asst. Prof. Department of Ophthalmology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: eminesekerun@ gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2483-4435)

Beste Kıpçak Yüzbaşı, Asst. Prof. Department of Pediatric Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: mbes225@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9850-931X)

Osman Parça, Asst. Prof. Department of Ophthalmology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: osmanparca@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7297-773X)

Introduction

The definition of pseudotumor cerebri syndrome includes both primary and secondary PTCS. IIH (idiopathic intracranial hypertension) is synonymous with primary PTCS and its etiology is unknown. sPTCS has a known cause and its treatment may differ from PTCS [1, 2]. When all diagnostic criteria are met, PTCS is called definite primary/secondary PTCS. When all diagnostic criteria are not met, it is classified as possible primary/secondary PTCS. In the pediatric population, some of the most common causes of sPTCS are intracranial tumor, sinus venous thrombosis, intracranial hemorrhage, hydrocephalus, CNS (central nervous system) infection, severe anemia from drug use, discontinuation of chronic corticosteroids, use of antibiotics such as synthetic growth hormone and tetracycline [3]. There are cases of sPTCS occurring as a result of the discontinuation of corticosteroid therapy. Accordingly, it suggests that abnormal glucocorticoid metabolism plays a role in the pathophysiology of PTCS. Cortisol level may play a triggering role for PTCS by affecting the 11-β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 and 2 (HSD1 and HSD2) enzyme complex in the choroid plexus, which regulates the functions of cortisol. Headache is the most common symptom of primary and sPTCS. Acetolzamide, topiramate, prednol are given in medical treatment. Optic nerve sheath fenestration (ONSF) and ventriculoperitoneal shunt (VPS) are used in surgical treatment. Most importantly, lowering ICP and revealing its etiology requires a multidisciplinary approach [4, 5].

Materials and methods

Between January 2018 and 2023, 17 pediatric patients with sPTCS, aged 1-17 years, were included. The causes of secondary PTCS included in the study are infectious, endocrinological diseases and drug exposure, more rarely hematological diseases, trauma, arachnoid cyst rupture, some syndromic diseases, and chronic renal failure (CRF). The body mass index (BMI) of the patients was recorded. We classified the patients into age groups 0-14 years and 15-17 years. We evaluated the patients according to their phenotype, age, gender, comorbidities, and BMI status. IIH is diagnosed according to the ICHD-III criteria and revised Friedman criteria [6]. Papilledema scores were categorized as mild, moderate, and severe, respectively (mild degree 0-1), (moderate degree 2-3), (severe degree 4-5). Visual impairment was defined as mild (visual acuity 20/40-20/80) or severe (visual acuity <20/80). Patients who met the updated diagnostic criteria for PTCS and were found to have a cause for high ICP were included in the study [6]. Despite medical or surgical treatment, mild or severe visual impairment and optic atrophy were considered unresponsive to treatment. This study was approved by the Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee.

Statics

IBM SPSS 21.0 software was used for data analysis. Mean \pm standard deviation was calculated for continuous variables. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed to compare continuous variables among groups. Discrete variables were compared using the appropriate Pearson chi-square test or Fisher's test. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

There were 17 children with sPTCS in our study, 8 females and 9 males. The underlying causes were infection in 3 patients (17.6%), drug exposure in 3 patients (17.6%), endocrine disease in 4 patients (23.5%), and less common causes are summarized in Table 1. The median age of the cases is 10.7 (2.6 between 17.6). Headache was the most common symptom 10 (58.8%), nausea or vomiting in 6 patients (35.2%), diplopia in 5 patients (29.4%), blurred vision in 5 patients (29.4%), and the patient (11.7%) had tinnitus. Papillary edema was present in all patients. Opening CSF pressure was 38±4.7 H₂O. There was no difference in prognosis, incidence, and etiology between adolescent and non-adolescent children. Papilledema was detected in all patients at the time of diagnosis. There was 7 (41.1%) abducens paralysis (5 unilateral, 2 bilateral). All patients received primary and/or secondary treatment. Primary treatment was acetazolamide in 13 (76.4%) patients and topiramate in 4 (23.5%) patients. Secondary treatment was applied to 3 of the cases and ONSF was applied to all of these cases. No complications were observed

Case	Year/ gender	Etiology	Papil edema	Field of vision	Treatment	Comorbodite	Result
-	15/M	Mastoiditis	Severe	None	Acetazolamide	CVT	Normal
7	11/M	CRY (cystinosis)	Mild	None	Topiramate/optic nerve sheath fenestration IDA Hypertension	IDA Hypertension	Chronic papilledema
e	7/F	Head trauma	Mild	None	Acetazolamide	None	Normal
4	14/M	Mastoiditis	Severe	Mild visual field loss	Acetazolamide/ONSF	CVT	Normal
5	10/M	Pansinusitis	Mild	None	Acetazolamide	CVT	Normal
9	16/F	Andersen-Tawil Syndrome	Mild	Mild visual field loss	Acetazolamide	Pernicious anemia	Normal
7	4/F	Hypothyroid	Mild	None	Topiramate	Obesity	Normal
œ	15/F	Steroid stop	Mild	None	Topiramate	Obesity	Normal
6	7/F	Coats Plus Syndrome	Severe	Mild visual field loss	Acetazolamide/ ONSF	IDA	Normal
10	2/M	Achondroplasia	Moderate	None	Acetazolamide	None	Normal
7	8/M	Growth hormone treatment			Acetazolamide	None	Normal
12	16/M	Retinoic acid treatment	Mild	None	Topiramate	Obesity	Normal
13	5/F	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	Moderate	None	Acetazolamide	Steroid stop	Normal
14	15/F	Arachnoid cyst rupture	Mild	Mild visual field loss	Topiramate/ ONSF	Obesity	Normal
15	7/M	Hypothyroid	Mild	None	Acetazolamide	IDA	Chronic papilledema
16	5/M	Hypothyroid	Severe	None	Acetazolamide	IDA	
17	10/F	Turner syndrome	Mild	None	Acetazolamide	None	Normal

in the patients who received ONSF. VP shunt was not applied to any patient. Papilledema was completely resolved in 15 patients (88.2%) after a mean follow-up of 4.5 months (1.0 between 27.1 months). The other 2 patients (11.7%) had chronic papilledema that did not progress for 13 months and was not treated. There was no patient whose visual impairment continued after treatment. The most common comorbidity associated with sPTCS in our population was anemia 5 (29.4%).

Discussion

In infectious our study, diseases. endocrinological pathologies, and drug exposure were found more frequently in the etiology of PTCS. This finding shows similar results to the literature. Secondary pseudotumor cerebri can cause mortality and morbidity if not diagnosed and treated early. Especially in the treatment of sPTCS, the etiologic cause should be treated as well as reducing the ICP [1, 2]. In children, approximately 20% of cases of sPTCS have a poor long-term prognosis. These include visual impairment and optic atrophy. In our study, 4 of 17 patients had a mild visual loss. There was no patient whose vision loss continued at the end of primary and secondary treatment. In studies, mild long-term visual impairment was found in 9-10% of patients with primary and sPTCS. In addition, surgical treatment was not common in PTCS cases in these studies [2]. In our study, optic nerve fenestration was performed in 3 of 17 patients with secondary PTCS to lower ICP and the results were quite good. Because we followed up our patients very frequently (2 days a week) and in case of non-response to medical treatment, we thought that our results could be good due to surgical treatment without wasting time. Optic nerve sheath decompression is a surgical procedure performed to relax the optic nerves and relieve papilledema, which causes visual impairment due to increased intracranial pressure. A study investigated the efficacy and complications of ONSF. In this study, 525 ONSF procedures were performed on 341 patients during the follow-up period of 42.3 months. Accordingly, they concluded that ONSF could reduce papilledema and improve vision. Papilledema improved in 95% of patients, visual acuity improved in 67%, and visual fields improved in 64%. However, the effect of ONSF in relieving headache was insufficient (41%). A second fenestration operation was required in 11% of the cases [7]. Our patients did not require a second surgical procedure. It may be due to our continued medical treatment after surgical treatment. In another study, visual acuity and visual fields improved in 95% of patients who underwent ONSF without reporting any intraoperative complications.

The average follow-up period of the cases was 18.7 months. Among the postoperative complications, ocular deviation was detected (6%) and corneal Dellen was detected [8, 9]. In another retrospective study, unilateral ONSF showed papilledema and bilateral improvement in vision [8, 10]. In the literature, it has been found that ONSF in IHH cases, and especially in cases with acute papilledema, papilledema regresses in more than 90% of the patients. Repeated fenestrations have been shown to provide significant improvement in visual function. In a recent study, 13 of 53 IIH patients with acute papilledema and vision loss were treated with ONSF. However, 11 of them required secondary or tertiary decompression treatments. As a result, visual fields improved [8, 11]. Publications on the long-term outcomes of sPTCS in children are limited, and usually primary and secondary cases have been evaluated together. There is more work in primary PTCS. In one study, primary and secondary cases were evaluated together. While the vision of all 12 sPTCS patients was normal, 2 patients did not respond to medical treatment and VP shunt was applied to one patient [12]. In another study, moderate visual field loss was found in only 1 (4%) of 23 patients with sPTCS [13].

The comorbidities most common accompanying the causes of sIH in our cases were obesity and anemia. Obesity is a wellknown risk factor for both secondary and primary PTCS [2]. In a study evaluating obesity in the pediatric population, it was reported that the incidence of IIH was equal and there was no clear relationship with obesity [14]. In another study, obesity was evaluated as a risk factor [1]. In our study, we did not find a relationship with obesity in terms of prognosis. However, as the number of cases increases, there may be a significant difference between obesity. It is well-documented that corticosteroid withdrawal can induce sPTCS [15, 16]. In one study, eight of 15 subjects with sPTCS were induced after

discontinuation of corticosteroids. Anemia is thought to be a risk factor for sPTCS by increasing cerebral blood flow [17]. Anemia and tissue hypoxia alters cerebral hemodynamics, increasing cerebral capillary permeability and thus increasing ICP, which causes sPTCS [18]. The literature review did not find an answer to the question of how severe anemia should be, although anemia was considered a cause or possibly an additional risk factor for sPTCS. This is because there are different study methods and different criteria for anemia. Iron deficiency anemia and hemolytic anemia have been identified as the most common risk factors for PTCS, and we found anemia due to iron deficiency and B12 deficiency in our cases [2]. Cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT) can be seen in the comorbidity of patients with secondary PTCS. In their study on this subject, they reported that visual acuity decreased in 3 (7%) of 37 children with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis. Additionally, surgery was performed in 19% of children with decreased visual acuity [1, 19]. One of our patients with CVT underwent ONSF and vision loss was not permanent. Treatments for sPTCS and primary PTCS are different. Since the etiology is very diverse in the treatment of sPTCS, a multidisciplinary approach is essential. For example, anticoagulation therapy should be arranged by a pediatric stroke team for children with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis.

If sPTCS has developed due to drug use or exposure, once this agent is identified, necessary precautions should be taken. When treating the underlying cause of sPTCS, it is more important to lower ICP and monitor visual function and papilledema. If there are signs of advanced papilledema/visual impairment, direct treatment of ICP may be indicated. There are cases where papilledema does not subside despite treatment of the underlying etiology. For example, in some studies, 2 patients with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis required a VP shunt due to severe or chronic papilledema despite anticoagulation therapy [1].

Limitations, the small number of our cases, the lack of longer follow-up periods and the small number of patients who underwent surgical treatment may limit our evaluation of the prognosis. Since sPTCS has many different causes, classifying all causes into a single group reduces the reliability of the study. This was due to the low number of cases due to specific causes and insufficient risk factors and subgroup analyses. Due to the small number of cases in each sPTCS group in our study, we could not establish a strong association between different risk factors and sPTCS. It is thought that a multidisciplinary study for surgical options of patients who do not respond to medical treatment. Multidisciplinary work with clinicians will increase awareness of possible risk factors for sPTCS and provide better treatment of patients.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Chiu HH, Reginald YA, Moharir M, Wan MJ. Secondary pseudotumour cerebri syndrome in children: clinical characteristics and long-term outcomes. Can J Ophthalmol 2022;57:216-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcjo.2022.02.021
- Kilic K, Korsbæk JJ, Jensen RH, Cvetkovic VVJC. Diagnosis of idiopathic intracranial hypertensionthe importance of excluding secondary causes: a systematic review. Cephalalgia 2022;42:524-541. https://doi.org/10.1177/03331024211056580
- Paley GL, Sheldon CA, Burrows EK, Chilutti MR, Liu GT, McCormack SE. Overweight and obesity in pediatric secondary pseudotumor cerebri syndrome. Am J Ophthalmol 2015;159:344-352. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajo.2014.11.003
- Matthews YY, Dean F, Lim MJ, et al. Pseudotumor cerebri syndrome in childhood: incidence, clinical profile and risk factors in a national prospective populationbased cohort study. Arch Dis Child 2017;102:715-721. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2016-312238
- Sinclair AJ, Walker EA, Burdon MA, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid corticosteroid levels and cortisol metabolism in patients with idiopathic intracranial hypertension: a link between 11β-HSD1 and intracranial pressure regulation? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:5348-5356. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0729
- Friedman DI, Liu GT, Digre KB. Revised diagnostic criteria for the pseudotumor cerebri syndrome in adults and children. Neurology 2013;81:1159-1165. https:// doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a55f17
- Kalyvas AV, Hughes M, Koutsarnakis C, et al. Efficacy, complications and cost of surgical interventions for idiopathic intracranial hypertension: a systematic review of the literature. Acta Neurochir 2017;159:33-49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-016-3010-2

- Gilbert AL, Chwalisz B, Mallery R. Complications of optic nerve sheath fenestration as a treatment for idiopathic intracranial hypertension. Semin Ophthalmol 2018;33:36-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/08820538.2017. 1353810
- Moreau A, Lao KC, Farris B. Optic nerve sheath decompression: a surgical technique with minimal operative complications. J Neuroophthalmol 2014;34:34-38. https://doi.org/10.1097/ WNO.0000000000000065
- Banta JT, Farris BK. Pseudotumor cerebri and optic nerve sheath decompression. Ophthalmology 2000;107:1907-1912. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0161-6420(00)00340-7
- Spoor TC, Ramocki JM, Madion MP, Wilkinson MJ. Treatment of pseudotumor cerebri by primary and secondary optic nerve sheath decompression. Am J Ophthalmol 1991;112:177-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0002-9394(14)76698-x
- Per H, Canpolat M, Gümüş H, et al. Clinical spectrum of the pseudotumor cerebri in children: etiological, clinical features, treatment and prognosis. Brain Dev 2013;35:561-568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. braindev.2012.08.008
- Değerliyurt A, Teber S, Karakaya G, et al. Pseudotumor cerebri/idiopathic intracranial hypertension in children: an experience of a tertiary care hospital. Brain Dev 2014;36:690-699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. braindev.2013.09.007
- Distelmaier F, Göbel U, Vandemeulebroecke N, Mayatepek E, Rosenbaum T, Laws HJ. Secondary pseudotumor cerebri in pediatric oncology and hematology: an unpredictable condition of varying etiology. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2007;49:1029-1033. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.20783
- Walker AE, Adamkiewicz JJ. Pseudotumor cerebri associated with prolonged corticosteroid therapy: reports of four cases. JAMA 1964;188:779-784. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jama.1964.03060350005001
- Levine A, Watemberg N, Hager H, Bujanover Y, Ballin A, Lerman Sagie TL. Benign intracranial hypertension associated with budesonide treatment in children with Crohn's disease. J Child Neurol 2001;16:458-461. https://doi.org/10.1177/088307380101600617
- Katsuyama E, Sada Ke, Tatebe N, et al. Bilateral abducens nerve palsy due to idiopathic intracranial hypertension as an initial manifestation of systemic lupus erythematosus. Intern Med 2016;55:991-994. https://doi.org/10.2169/internalmedicine.55.5990
- Mollan SP, Ball AK, Sinclair AJ, et al. Idiopathic intracranial hypertension associated with iron deficiency anaemia: a lesson for management. Eur Neurol 2009;62:105-108. https://doi.org/10.1159/000222781

 Sébire G, Tabarki B, Saunders D, et al. Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis in children: risk factors, presentation, diagnosis and outcome. Brain 2005;128:477-489. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh412

Ethics committee approval: Approval was obtained from the Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine (date: 07/02/2023, and number: 03).

Authors' contributions to the article

O.G. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. O.G and E.S.U. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. O.G., B.K.Y. and O.P. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article written by O.G. and E.S.U. and, B.K.Y. and O.P. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Changes in structure during the corpus luteum's formation

Korpus luteum oluşumu sırasında meydana gelen yapısal değişiklikler

Murat Serkant Ünal, Semih Tan, Mücahit Seçme

Posted date:31.10.2023

Acceptance date:30.01.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Our study aims to investigate whether new follicles form among fibroblast-like cells in the region after the restructuring of the surface epithelium and tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum. Additionally, another goal is to demonstrate the structures developed from the follicles and the histological changes in the ovary.

Materials and methods: Histological sections of the corpus luteum, formed from the Graafian follicle after ovulation, were prepared from ovarian tissues of 12-14 months old Wistar albino rats.

Results: When the corpus luteum reaches a high volume, the number of fibroblast-like cells in the tunica albuginea is quite low. Subsequently, it has been observed that the number of fibroblast-like cells in the tunica albuginea rapidly increases, and these cells form concentric arrangements of collagen fibers. Additionally, the formation of primordial and primary follicles between the surface epithelium and the tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum has been observed.

Conclusion: Examining the ovary as a whole and investigating the developmental processes of structures can assist in gaining a better understanding of the dynamics of this organ.

Keywords: Corpus luteum, ovary, tunica albuginea, follicles.

Unal MS, Tan S, Secme M. Changes in structure during the corpus luteum's formation. Pam Med J 2024;17:285-301.

Öz

Amaç: Çalışmamız, korpus luteum'un bitişiğindeki yüzey epiteli ve tunika albugineanın yeniden yapılanmasından sonra bu bölgedeki fibroblast benzeri hücrelerin arasında yeni foliküllerin oluşup oluşmadığını araştırmayı amaçlamaktadır. Ayrıca, foliküllerden gelişen yapıları ve ovaryumdaki histolojik değişiklikleri göstermek de bir başka hedefimizdir.

Gereç ve yöntem: Ovulasyondan sonra graaf folikülünden oluşan korpus luteum'un histolojik kesitleri, 12-14 aylık Wistar albino tipi sıçanların ovaryum dokularından alınarak hazırlanmıştır.

Bulgular: Korpus luteum yüksek bir hacime ulaştığında, tunika albugineada bulunan fibroblast benzeri hücrelerin sayısı oldukça düşüktür. Daha sonrasında, tunika albuginea bulunan fibroblast benzeri hücrelerin sayısının hızla arttığı ve bu hücrelerin oluşturduğu kollajen liflerin konsantrik dizilim oluşturdukları gözlemlenmiştir. Ayrıca, korpus luteumun bitişiğindeki yüzey epiteli ve tunika albuginea tabakası arasında primordial ve primer foliküllerin oluştuğu izlenmiştir.

Sonuç: Ovaryumu bir bütün olarak ele almak ve yapıların gelişim süreçlerini incelemek, bu organın dinamiklerini daha iyi anlamamıza yardımcı olabilir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Korpus luteum, ovaryum, tunika albuginea, folikül.

Ünal MS, Tan S, Seçme M. Korpus luteum oluşumu sırasında meydana gelen yapısal değişiklikler. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:285-301.

Murat Serkant Ünal, Asst. Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: serkantunal72@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1992-7909)

Semih Tan, Asst. Prof. Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Ordu, Türkiye, e-mail: tansemih@ hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5609-9594)

Mücahit Seçme, Asst. Prof. Ordu University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biology, Ordu, Türkiye, e-mail: mehtersecme@gmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2084-760X) (Corresponding Author)

The ovary is an organ with endocrine and exocrine functions and is covered by an epithelium that varies from single-layered squamous epithelium to cuboidal epithelium. In the lower part of the basement membrane, there is a tight connective tissue called the tunica albuginea. Tunica albuginea is rich in collagen fibers and is restructured after ovulation. Follicles are structural units located in the stroma of the cortex layer in the ovary consisting of the cortex and medulla. In embryonic life, primordial germ cells appear in the endoderm of the dorsal wall of the embryonic yolk sac, migrate towards the gonad outline, and are called oogonium. After the formed oogoniums, the primordial follicle structures are formed. Folliculogenesis is regulated by some factors including endocrine, paracrine, and autocrine factors [1, 2].

The oocyte plays an active role in the growth of follicles by secreting paracrine growth factors (such as GDF9 and BMP15) and directing the differentiation of granulosa cells. On the other hand, granulosa cells regulate the development of oocytes by communicating between germ and somatic cells [3]. The outer surface of the follicle cells surrounding the oocyte is bounded by the basal lamina and surrounded by stromal cells. Type IV collagen is the main component of the basement membrane in the follicle. The oocyte formed in the primordial follicle is surrounded by a single layer of flat follicle cells. The number of primordial follicles in the ovaries determines how long the reproductive ability will continue, and these structures are considered reserves. After puberty, primordial follicles are selected and begin to grow. Since primordial follicles do not contain FSH receptors, FSH is not required for their activation. In each cycle, 6-12 follicles begin to develop and only one continues to develop as a mature follicle, while the others undergo atresia [4]. While atresia in preantral follicles generally occurs by autophagy, in antral follicles, atresia mostly occurs by apoptosis mechanism [5].

Follicles continue their development as primary, secondary, and Graaf follicles, respectively. It can also undergo atresia at any stage of its follicular development. In some atretic follicles, the granulosa layer degenerates and the theca interna layer expands, and these atretic follicles resembling the corpus luteum are called corpora lutea atretica [6]. Although there are views that there is a certain fixed number of oocytes in the ovary and no new follicle production occurs, there are also studies suggesting that postnatal oogenesis production occurs [6].

The endocrine functions of the corpus luteum and the hormones it secretes have been extensively researched. However, there are relatively few studies that focus on the changes in the adjacent tunica albuginea and the restructuring of the ovarian surface epithelium. The presence of capillary vessels in the tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum, along with the observation of primordial follicles, has raised suspicions regarding postnatal oogenesis. Therefore, a thorough examination of the morphological changes in the ovule, Graafian follicle, and corpus luteum is necessary [1, 7, 8]. The developing Graaf follicle changes its location towards the outer part of the ovarian cortex towards ovulation. The theca layer in the Graaf follicle is divided into two parts as theca interna and externa. Theca interna consists of secretory cells of epithelioid character and is rich in terms of vascularization. It contains fibroblasts and type III collagen fibers. In the theca externa layer, there are myofibroblasts, type I and type III collagen fibers. After ovulation, the theca externa layer of the Graaf follicle completely degenerates; significant morphological changes occur in the tunica albuginea and the surface epithelium. Collagen fibers found in the theca externa layer, collagen fibers and fibroblast-like cells in the tunica albuginea are broken down with proteolytic enzymes. Then, reconstruction occurs not only in the tunica albuginea and surface epithelium part where the oocyte-cumulus complex is separated, but also throughout the tunica albuginea and surface epithelium of the entire corpus luteum. The reconstructed surface epithelium is of the squamous epithelium type and the tunica albuginea is a thin layer consisting of fibroblast-like cells containing onetwo rows of concentrically arranged collagen fibers. Afterwards, the tunica albuginea thickens; fibroblast-like cells proliferate and become a layer containing five-six rows of concentrically

arranged collagen fibers. At this time, the surface epithelium also differentiates towards the cuboidal epithelium. New capillary vessels are formed in the thickened tunica albuginea [1, 7, 8].

The appearance of primordial follicles in the tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum in the sections suggests that VSELs cells, whose existence has been shown in previous studies, may come to this area from the bone marrow through capillary vessels and differentiate. VSELs cells in the bone marrow head towards the relevant organ by coming out to peripheral vessels in situations that cause tissue damage such as stroke, acute myocardial infarction, hypoxia where the inflammatory process is intense [9]. A similar inflammatory process emerges with the degeneration of collagen fibers and fibroblast-like cells in the theca externa and tunica albuginea as the Graaf follicle differentiates into the corpus luteum after ovulation. There are claims that VSELs cells coming out to peripheral vessels can reach the newly formed capillary vessels in the tunica albuginea of the corpus luteum and can turn into primordial follicles by receiving signals from the surrounding fibroblast-like cells. The finding supporting these views is that primordial follicles, which are densely located in the cortex and medulla of the ovary in the first four weeks after birth in rats, start to be seen mostly in the cortex region and the tunica albuginea during the reproductive period [10].

The aim of our study is to investigate the source of the primordial follicles seen in this region during the formation of the corpus luteum and the reconstruction of the tunica albuginea. On the other hand, we see it as a correct approach to examine the changes the structure undergoes, the cell types it contains, and its secretions with a holistic approach in order to better understand the functions of the corpus luteum.

Materials and methods

Ethical approval for our study was obtained from Pamukkale University Animal Experiments Ethics Committee with the decision no PAUHDEK. The ovaries of 6 Wistar albinotype rats (12-14 months old) in the ovarian

aging process were removed under sterile conditions and general anesthesia. The right ovaries of all rats were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formaldehyde for 72 hours. After fixation, the routine tissue follow-up protocol was applied and embedded in paraffin blocks (FFPE). Hematoxylin-eosin staining was performed by taking 5 µm sections from FFPE ovarian tissues. Masson's trichrome staining was performed according to manufacturer instructions (Bio-Optica, Milano, Italy). Images of the ovarian surface epithelium were taken under light microscopy (BX51 Olympus, Japan). Using the explant culture method, a mixed cell culture was produced from the left ovaries [11]. Surface epithelial cells that were proliferating alongside ovarian stromal cells in a mixed cell culture were locally tagged, and these cells were extracted by using local trypsinization. The adhering ovarian surface epithelial cells were removed using trypsin enzyme 0.25% (Hyclone, USA) and injected into two fresh culture dishes with full media after they had multiplied and reached confluence (70-80%). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Capricorn Scientific, Germany), Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Capricorn Scientific, Germany), and Penicillin-Streptomycin are all included in the complete medium (Pan Biotech, Germany).

Results

After ovulation, the basement membrane between the mural granulosa cells and theca layer was destroyed and it was observed that the mural granulosa cells rapidly hypertrophied and filled the entire structure. In the formed corpus luteum, initially, the number of granulosa lutein cells is high, but later the migrating theca lutein cells seem to provide the majority. With the formation of new vessels in the structure. blood supply also increases. The corpus luteum volume is at its highest when it is newly formed (Figure 1-2). In some areas, the ovarian surface epithelium transforms into pseudostratified epithelium. Primordial follicles were observed to form in this remodeled tunica albuginea (Figure 3-11). Meanwhile, the surface epithelium is squamous, few in number, and the underlying tunica albuginea is rather thin. Later, fibroblastlike cells in the surface epithelium and tunica albuginea proliferate. The squamous surface

epithelium increases in number and turns into cubic epithelium in places. The tunica albuginea thickens and restructures (Figure 12-15). In some sections, vascular structures were observed in atretic follicles. In the lumen of another atretic follicle, a primary follicle was observed (Figure 16). It was observed that while the structure regressed, the presence of granulosa lutein cells did not continue and the darker stained theca lutein cells filled the structure. In the late stage, the corpus luteum is formed by theca lutein cells, which are known to secrete progesterone and androgen hormones (Figure 17). In the sections, it was observed that the granulosa cells in the primary and secondary follicles, which were partially atresia, degenerated, and the theca interna cells continued their functions in the structures that turned into glandular structures (Figure 7).

We consider that VSELs cells found in the bone marrow reach the tunica albuginea adjacent to corpus luteum via newly formed capillary vessels, and these cells develop by receiving signals from fibroblast-like cells and sometimes differentiate by entering among proliferating surface epithelia. When we isolate and culture the ovarian surface epithelium, the observation of structures similar to primordial follicles among proliferating ovarian surface epithelia has increased our suspicions in this direction (Figures 18).



Figure 1. A- Graafian follicle B- (\rightarrow) Granulosa cells, (- - >) Invading theca interna cells C- Ovulated graafian follicle D- Ovulated graafian follicle in which granulosa cells that have begun to hypertrophy fill the antrum (Magnification: 200X)



Figure 2. A- Ovulated graafian follicle, in which the antrum is entirely filled with granulosa cells that have started to hypertrophy. B- A large-volume Graafian follicle. C- The corpus luteum's developing vascularization. D- The corpus luteum, where vascularization has significantly enhanced (Magnification: 200X)



Figure 3. A (Magnification: 200X) - B (Magnification: 400X) - C (Magnification: 1000X) - D (Magnification: 200X)- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle that occurs between the completely regenerated tunica albuginea and the surface epithelium after the Graafian follicle has ovulated. D- (\rightarrow) primary



Figure 4. A- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginae of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 200X) B- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginae of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 200X) C- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginae of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 400X) D- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginae of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 400X) D- (\rightarrow) Primordial



Figure 5. A (Magnification: 400X)- B (Magnification: 400X)-C (Magnification: 400X) - D (Magnification: 200X)- (→) Primordial follicles in the tunica albuginea (Masson trichrome staining)



Figure 6. A- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginea part of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 400X), B- (\rightarrow) Primary follicle in the tunica albuginea part of the corpus luteum (Magnification: 400X), C- (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle in the tunica albuginea part of the regressed corpus luteum (Magnification: 400X), D- (\rightarrow) atretic follicle in the tunica albuginea part of the corpus luteum (gland structures that develop with apoptosis of granulosa cells in primary-secondary follicles and proliferation of theca lutein cells, Magnification: 200X)



Figure 7. A-D- Primordial-primary follicles are seen just below the surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and in the tunica albuginea formed by fibroblast-like cells, (Magnification: 400X) (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, SE: Surface ephitelium)



Figure 8. A-D- Primordial-primary follicles are seen just below the surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and in the tunica albuginea formed by fibroblast-like cells, (Magnification: 400X) (TA: Tunica albuginea)



Figure 9. A-D- Primordial-primary follicles are seen just below the surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and in the tunica albuginea formed by fibroblast-like cells, (Magnification: 400X) (CL: Corpus luteum, SE: Surface ephitelium)



Figure 10. A- Primary follicles in the tunica albuginaea layer of the corpus luteum B- Primordialprimary follicles in the tunica albuginea C- Primordial follicles in the tunica albuginea formed by fibroblast-like cells just below the surface epithelium of the corpus luteum D- Primordial-primary follicles in the tunica albuginea, (Magnification: 400X) (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, V: Vessel)



Figure 11. (A-D)- Primordial-primary follicles are seen just below the surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and in the tunica albuginea formed by fibroblast-like cells, (Magnification: 400X) (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, SE: Surface ephitelium, V: Vessel)



Figure 12. A- (\rightarrow) Ovarian surface epithelium consisting of a single layer of squamous epithelium, (- - >) Fibroblast-like cell in the tunica albuginea B- Differentiation of surface epithelium into cubic epithelium C- (\rightarrow) Proliferation of fibroblast-like cells D- (\rightarrow) Thickening of the tunica albuginea Magnification (A,B,C:1000X, D:400X)



Figure 13. A-B- The surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and a thin layer of tunica albuginea are seen just below it. C-D- Fibroblast-like cells proliferate in the tunica albuginea and the layer thickens (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, SE: Surface ephitelium) (Magnification: 400X)



Figure 14. A-B- The surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and a thin layer of tunica albuginea are seen just below it. C-D- Fibroblast-like cells proliferate in the tunica albuginea and the layer thickens (Magnification: 400X), (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, SE: Surface ephitelium)



Figure 15. A (Magnification: 400X), B- The surface epithelium of the corpus luteum and a thin layer of tunica albuginea are seen just below it (Magnification: 1000X) C (Magnification: 400X), D- Fibroblast-like cells proliferate in the tunica albuginea and the layer thickens, (Magnification: 200X) (CL: Corpus luteum, TA: Tunica albuginea, SE: Surface ephitelium)


Figure 16. A (Magnification: 100X), B Atretic follicles C: Vascular formation in the lumen of the atretic follicle D: Primary follicle formed in the lumen of the atretic follicle, (B-D: Magnification: 400X) (AF: Atretic follicule)



Figure 17. A- Theca lutein cells begin to appear in the corpus luteum as well as granulosa lutein cells B- ($\bullet \rightarrow$) Tunica albuginea, (- - >) Theca lutein cells, (\rightarrow) Granulosa lutein cells C- ($\blacksquare \rightarrow$) Primary follicle formed in the tunica albuginea in the reconstructed corpus luteum, ($\bullet \rightarrow$) Theca lutein cells, (\rightarrow) Granulosa lutein cells D- ($\bullet \rightarrow$) Lumen of corpus luteum, (\rightarrow) Theca lutein cells, ($\blacksquare \rightarrow$) Granulosa lutein cells (A, B Magnification: 200X; C,D: Magnification: 400X)



Figure 18. A- Morphological appearance of ovarian surface epithelium proliferating in cell culture (B-D) (\rightarrow) Primordial follicle-like structures in ovarian surface epithelium (Magnification: 100X)

Discussion

The Graafian follicle is known as mature, and its wall consists of a granulosa cell layer and theca layer with basal lamina between them. In the region where it is associated with the oocyte, the cumulus granulosa cells form a mound called the cumulus oophorus [7]. In the theca interna layer adjacent to the mural granulosa cells, androstenedione, testosterone, dihydrotestosterone are synthesized. and Androstenedione is transported to granulosa cells and converted to estradiol (E2) by aromatase (CYP19A1). Mural granulosa cells do not have the enzymes necessary for the production of estrogens. The theca externa is a connective tissue containing collagen fibers and smooth muscle cells and is continuous with the stroma of the ovary. Granulosa cells in Graafian follicles acquire LH receptors as well as FSH receptors, which are necessary for the luteinization of the corpus luteum [4]. Ovulation is the process of expulsion of the secondary oocyte from the Graaf follicle. After ovulation, the basement membrane breaks down and the granulosa and theca interna cells are rearranged to form a gland called the corpus luteum. Blood vessels from the theca layer of the follicle invade the transforming granulosa cells. The cells of the epithelioid theca interna follow the blood vessels and become the theca lutein cells of the corpus luteum. Granulosa lutein cells are larger and centrally located. Theca lutein cells are smaller and located peripherally [1, 4, 12]. Immediately after ovulation, pericytes originating from the theca compartment are the first vascular cells invading the developing luteal parenchyma.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), endocrinederived (EG-VEGF), and angiopoietins (Ang) are required for molecular regulation of angiogenesis in the corpus luteum. All findings show that the functional life of the corpus luteum depends on paracrine and autocrine mechanisms [13]. Then, a rich vascular network forms in the corpus luteum, and the cells it contains begin to secrete estrogen and progesterone. During the luteal phase, theca lutein cells do not hypertrophy, while granulosa lutein cells undergo extensive hypertrophy and contribute significantly to the growth of the corpus luteum. In rodents, granulosa lutein cells and theca lutein cells differ in basal progesterone secretion rates, and granulosa lutein cells produce more progesterone than theca lutein cells [1, 13, 14].

Progesterone and estrogen hormones stimulate endometrial growth and differentiation to prepare for embryo implantation. In the case of pregnancy, the pregnancy corpus luteum is formed and degenerates after 4-5 months of existence. If pregnancy does not occur, the corpus luteum degenerates, and corpus Albicans is formed. Prostaglandin F2 alpha $(PGF2\alpha)$ secretion from the endometrium has an important role in the regression of the corpus luteum. Prostaglandin regresses the corpus luteum and stops the secretion of progesterone hormone. After the regression of the corpus luteum, the theca lutein cells released in the stroma can secrete corticosteroids and they are called interstitial glands [4, 15, 16].

The mesoderm-derived surface epithelium undergoes morphological changes due to cyclic changes, proliferates, and shows pseudostratification in some areas. Stem cell markers such as Oct 4, Stella, C-Kit, and Nanog are also expressed in the ovarian surface epithelium, along with epithelial (cytokeratin) and mesenchymal markers (vimentin). After ovulation, the ovarian surface epithelium helps repair damaged areas. The extracellular matrix also plays an important role in the development of the follicle and the formation of the corpus luteum [17-20]. The extracellular matrix (ECM) is a complex system consisting of a collagen network (types I, III, IV, VI) associated with proteoglycans and glycoproteins, elastic and reticular fibers, fibronectin, and laminin. It plays an important role in ovarian functions by participating in processes such as cell migration, proliferation, growth, and differentiation. The ECM provides structural support for the follicle, maintains cellular organization and connectivity, and provides signals that support follicle development and maturation [21-23].

Fibroblast-like cells in the externa layer of the graaf follicle have lysosome-like granules.

While type I collagen fibres are found in the theca externa layer, both type I and type III collagen fibres are found in the theca interna. In the tunica albuginea, type I and type III collagen fibres form bundles with concentric arrangement.

Type I collagen fibres are mostly seen in the superficial part of the tunica albuginea, while type III collagen fibres are found in deeper regions. During ovulation, collagen fibre bundles in the theca externa and tunica albuginea undergo collagenolysis. Proteolytic activity in the ovarian surface epithelium causes the breakdown of the ovarian surface epithelium and ovarian cortex during ovulation and also contributes to their reorganisation. The ovarian surface epithelium produces proteolytic enzymes such as urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) matrix metalloproteases 2 and 9 [7, 24, 25].

The corpus luteum is a temporary endocrine gland containing different cells such as granulosa cells, theca cells, endothelial cells, pericytes, fibroblasts, and macrophages [13, 15, 26]. These cells have different morphological, endocrine, and biochemical features. FSHRs play an important role during follicular development but have no function when follicular cells differentiate. Their expression decreases after the LH peak in the luteinization process. In rodents, both the estrogen receptor α (Er α) and estrogen receptor β (Er β) genes are expressed in the ovary as a single (6.5 kb) and multiple transcripts (1.0 kb to about 10 kb). $ER\beta$ is abundantly expressed in the follicle, especially in the granulosa cell layer. However, ERa is a receptor found at higher levels than ER β in the corpus luteum [13].

Angiogenesis is a crucial process that helps establish and maintain the normal structure and function of the corpus luteum. Luteal development can be considered as an inflammatory response. There are many activated leukocytes such as macrophages, neutrophils, and eosinophils in the corpus luteum, and these cells are commonly involved in neovascularization [27, 28]. Studies show that cytokines secreted by immune cells regulate both luteotropic and luteolytic processes [29].

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has been found to have an important role in the corpus luteum. VEGF is secreted by granulosa

cells in the antral follicle and granulosa lutein cells in the corpus lutem and has two receptors, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2. Since it cannot pass through the basement membrane of blood vessels in the theca layer of the follicle, it cannot reach the granulosa cell layer. After the destruction of the basement membrane, blood vessels invade the corpus luteum together with cells in the theca interna layer. Perivascular cells (pericytes) found in the follicle in the preovulatory phase and seen in the capillaries of the corpus luteum in the early stages of the luteal phase show a high proliferation rate [27]. Studies have shown that the administration of HCG to human granulosa lutein (hGL) cells increases VEGF expression. In the follicles of the ovary, TGF-β1 protein expression occurs in both granulosa and theca cells, while TGFβ2 occurs specifically in the theca cells of the follicles. VEGF is expressed by the stimulating effect of TGF-β1 on granulosa cells [30].

Theca lutein cells and granulosa lutein cells express progesterone receptors. Studies have shown that progesterone receptors are expressed in steroidogenic cells at all stages of the luteal phase. Among all steroidogenic cell types examined, progesterone expressions were found to be variable during the luteal phase [31]. Studies have shown that progesterone alpha receptors (PRA) are expressed in the theca lutein cells of the regressed corpus luteum and the interstitial gland cells proliferating from theca cells in atretic follicles [32]. In addition, membrane progesterone receptor expression, unlike nuclear progesterone receptor, has been described in the corpus luteum of rats and sheep. However, the function of this receptor in luteal cell formation and its signaling mechanism is unknown [13]. In some studies, mural granulosa cells obtained from IVF were isolated and cultured to form an in vitro corpus luteum model. Studies with these cells may lead to the identification of signaling pathways related to regulating the corpus luteum and developing new treatment strategies [33].

On the other hand, numerous studies have been conducted regarding postnatal oogenesis. Johnson et al. [34] proposed that bone marrow or peripheral blood serves as a reservoir for ovarian stem cells, which migrate towards the ovary and facilitate germ cell renewal in the adult mouse ovary. In their studies, they demonstrated that oocyte production was restored following bone marrow transplantation in mice that had undergone chemotherapy and had ataxia telangiectasia mutations, revealing the presence of donor-derived oocytes [34]. Bukovsky et al. [35], in their studies, demonstrated that human ovarian surface epithelial cells could differentiate into oocytes and granulosa cells in a culture environment. They maintained the cells derived from the ovarian surface epithelium in environments containing estrogenic stimulants such as phenol red for 5-6 days. They reported that cells cultured in the presence of phenol red directly differentiated into large oocyte-like cells (180 microns).

Virant Klun et al. [36] claimed to have isolated ovarian stem cells in postmenopausal women and women with premature ovarian insufficiency in their study. They isolated small round cells, ranging from 2 to 4 mm in diameter, from the material obtained by scraping. They determined that these cells expressed transcription factors such as SSEA-4, OCT4, NANOG, SOX2, and C-KIT. Bhartiya et al. [37], in their study with mouse ovaries, identified two different cell populations. They noted that VSEL cells were 3-5 µm in size and expressed nuclear OCT4, while OKH cells were larger than 8 µm and expressed cytoplasmic OCT4.

There are also some limitations in our study. The cells and structures developing in the tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum are observed to not always be fully stained due to their very small size and sometimes their locations. In addition, even in serial sections, while cells and structures are seen in one section, they could not be detected in the next section and most of the time they could only be observed at x400 and x1000 magnifications. Due to the rare encounter with these cells, the chance of imaging can be increased by conducting immunohistochemistry techniques in a multicentric manner and including a large number of samples.

The corpus luteum differentiates from the structure left behind as a result of the expulsion of the oocyte from the Graaf follicle. The collagen fibers and the cells they contain in the external theca layer of the ovulated Graaf follicle completely degenerate. After the collagen fibers and fibroblast-like cells in the tunica albuginea are broken down by proteolytic enzymes, this region is largely rebuilt. In the sections, new capillary vessels have been observed to form in the tunica albuginea, which was previously known to be avascular. It can be thought that VSEL cells such as monocytes, leukocytes, and mast cells, which pass from the bone marrow to the peripheral circulation, also reach the region via capillary vessels and develop by receiving signals from fibroblast-like cells located here. The appearance of primordial follicles in the tunica albuginea adjacent to the corpus luteum during reconstruction has increased suspicions towards neofolliculogenesis, and further studies are needed in this direction.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Ross MH, Pawlina W. Histology: a text and atlas with correlated cell and molecular biology, 6th ed. Philadelphia, United States: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2010.
- Junoquira LC, Carneiro J. Basic Histology, text-atlas, 11 th ed. Sao Paulo, Brasil:McGraw-Hill Companies; 2009.
- Porras Gomez TJ, Moreno Mendoza N. Interaction between oocytes, cortical germ cells and granulosa cells of the mouse and bat, following the dissociationre-aggregation of adult ovaries. Zygote 2020;28:223-232. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0967199420000052
- Kierszenbaum AL, Tres LL. Histology and Cell Biology: An Introduction to Pathology 5th ed. New York, United States: Elsevier 2019.
- Meng L, Jan SZ, Hamer G, et al. Preantral follicular atresia occurs mainly through autophagy, while antral follicles degenerate mostly through apoptosis. Biol Reprod 2018;99:853-863. https://doi.org/10.1093/ biolre/ioy116
- Gougeon A, Notarianni E. There is no neo-oogenesis in the adult mammalian ovary. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2011;12:270-273. https://doi.org/10.5152/ jtgga.2011.63
- Lind AK, Weijdegård B, Dahm Kähler P, Mölne J, Sundfeldt K, Brännström M. Collagens in the human ovary and their changes in the perifollicular stroma during ovulation. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2006;85:1476-1484. https://doi.org/10.1080/00016340601033741
- Ünal MS, Önder E, Çil N, et al. Explant culture of ovarian tissue. Van Med J 2022;29:421-427. https:// doi.org/10.5505/vtd.2022.90947
- Bhartiya D, Shaikh A, Anand S, et al. Endogenous, very small embryonic-like stem cells: critical review, therapeutic potential and a look ahead. Hum Reprod Update 2016;23:41-76. https://doi.org/10.1093/ humupd/dmw030

- Picut CA, Dixon D, Simons ML, Stump DG, Parker GA, Remick AK. Postnatal ovary development in the rat: morphologic study and correlation of morphology to neuroendocrine parameters. Toxicol Pathol 2015;43:343-353. https://doi. org/10.1177/0192623314544380
- Unal MS, Secme M. Does the ovarian surface epithelium differentiate into primordial follicle and primary follicle precursor structures? Cukurova Med J 2022;47:1256-1262. https://doi. org/10.17826/cumj.1134852
- Ünal MS, Kabukçu C. Isolation of human cumulus granulosa cells. Van Med J 2022;29:84-89. https://doi. org/10.5505/vtd.2022.20805
- Stocco C, Telleria C, Gibori G. The molecular control of corpus luteum formation, function, and regression. Endocr Rev 2007;28:117-149. https://doi.org/10.1210/ er.2006-0022
- Richards JA, Ren YA, Candelaria N, Adams JE, Rajkovic A. Ovarian follicular theca cell recruitment, differentiation, and impact on fertility: 2017 update. Endocr Rev 2018;39:1-20. https://doi.org/10.1210/ er.2017-00164
- Quirk SM, Cowan RG, Harman RM. Role of the cell cycle in regression of the corpus luteum. Reproduction 2013;145:161-175. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-12-0324
- Wen X, Liu L, Li S, et al. Prostaglandin F2α induces goat corpus luteum regression via endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagy. Front Physiol 2020;11:868. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00868
- Okamoto S, Okamoto A, Nikaido T, et al. Mesenchymal to epithelial transition in the human ovarian surface epithelium focusing on inclusion cysts. Oncol Rep 2009;21:1209-1214. https://doi.org/10.3892/ or_00000343
- Xu J, Zheng T, Hong W, Ye H, Hu C, Zheng Y. Mechanism for the decision of ovarian surface epithelial stem cells to undergo neo-oogenesis or ovarian tumorigenesis. Cell Physiol Biochem 2018;50:214-232. https://doi. org/10.1159/000494001
- Murdoch WJ, McDonnel AC. Roles of the ovarian surface epithelium in ovulation and carcinogenesis. Reproduction 2002;123:743-750. https://doi. org/10.1530/rep.0.1230743
- Gaytán M, Sánchez MA, Morales C, et al. Cyclic changes of the ovarian surface epithelium in the rat. Reproduction 2005;129:311-321. https://doi. org/10.1530/rep.1.00401
- 21. Devoto L, Fuentes A, Kohen P, et al. The human corpus luteum: life cycle and function in natural cycles. Fertil Steril 2009;92:1067-1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fertnstert.2008.07.1745
- Fraser HM, Wulff C. Angiogenesis in the corpus luteum. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2003;1:88 https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-7827-1-88

- Kinnear HM, Tomaszewski CE, Chang FL, et al. The ovarian stroma as a new frontier. Reproduction 2020;160:25-39. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-19-0501
- Okamura H, Takenaka A, Yajima Y, Nishimura T. Ovulatory changes in the wall at the apex of the human Graafian follicle. J Reprod Fertil 1980;58:153-155. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.0580153
- Ahmed N, Thompson EW, Quinn MA. Epithelialmesenchymal interconversions in normal ovarian surface epithelium and ovarian carcinomas: an exception to the norm. J Cell Physiol 2007;213:581-588. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21240
- Lu E, Li C, Wang J, Zhang C. Inflammation and angiogenesis in the corpus luteum. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2019;45:1967-1974. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jog.14076
- Walusimbi SS, Pate JL. Physiology and endocrinology symposium: role of immune cells in the corpus luteum. J Anim Sci 2013;91:1650-1659. https://doi.org/10.2527/ jas.2012-6179
- Fang L, Li Y, Wang S, et al. TGF-β1 induces VEGF expression in human granulosa-lutein cells: a potential mechanism for the pathogenesis of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. Exp Mol Med 2020;52:450-460. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0396-y
- Maybin JA, Duncan WC. The human corpus luteum: which cells have progesterone receptors? Reproduction 2004;128:423-431. https://doi. org/10.1530/rep.1.00051
- Abd Elkareem M, Abou Elhamd AS. Immunohistochemical localization of progesterone receptors alpha (PRA) in ovary of the pseudopregnant rabbit. Anim Reprod 2019;16:302-310. https://doi. org/10.21451/1984-3143-AR2018-0128
- Bagnjuk K, Mayerhofer A. Human luteinized granulosa cells-a cellular model for the human corpus luteum. Front Endocrinol 2019;10:452. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fendo.2019.00452
- Irving Rodgers HF, Rodgers RJ. Extracellular matrix of the developing ovarian follicle. Semin Reprod Med 2006;24:195-203. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-2006-948549
- Berkholtz CB, Lai BE, Woodruff TK, Shea LD. Distribution of extracellular matrix proteins type I collagen, type IV collagen, fibronectin, and laminin in mouse folliculogenesis. Histochem Cell Biol 2006;126:583-592. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-006-0194-1
- Johnson J, Bagley J, Skaznik Wikiel M, et al. Oocyte generation in adult mammalian ovaries by putative germ cells in bone marrow and peripheral blood. Cell 2005;122:303-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2005.06.031

- Bukovsky A, Svetlikova M, Caudle MR. Oogenesis in cultures derived from adult human ovaries. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2005;3:17 https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-3-17
- 36. Virant Klun I, Zech N, Rozman P, et al. Putative stem cells with an embryonic character isolated from the ovarian surface epithelium of women with no naturally present follicles and oocytes. Differentiation 2008;76:843-856. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.2008.00268.x
- Bhartiya D. Ovarian stem cells are always accompanied by very small embryonic-like stem cells in adult mammalian ovary. J Ovarian Res 2015;8:70. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13048-015-0200-0

Acknowledgment: Thanks to Barbaros Şahin and Abdullah Coğuplugil for their technical help in animal experiments.

Ethics committee approval: Ethical approval for our study was obtained from Pamukkale University Animal Experiments Ethics Committee with the decision no PAUHDEK (PAUHDEK-2022/36; E-60758568-020-303175).

Authors' contributions to the article

M.S.U. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. M.S. and S.T. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. M.S.U. and S.T. has/have done the evaluation of the data in the Results section. Discussion section of the article written by all authors reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Complications of imaging-assisted port catheters and factors affecting complications

Görüntüleme eşliğinde takılan port kateterlerinin komplikasyonları ve komplikasyonlara etki eden faktörler

Muhammed Tekinhatun, Muhammet Arslan, Halil Serdar Aslan, Hüseyin Gökhan Yavaş Mahmut Demirci, Başak Ünver Koluman, Kadirhan Alver

Posted date:30.09.2023

Acceptance date:13.02.2024

Abstract

Purpose: This research investigates complications associated with Imaging-Assisted Port Catheters (IAPCs) to provide insights for healthcare professionals involved in their usage. The study aims to optimize patient safety, implement preventive strategies, and guide evidence-based decision-making in the clinical use of IAPCs.

Materials and methods: A retrospective study comprising 1247 patients who underwent IAPC placement in the Interventional Radiology Unit between 01.09.2012-01.09.2020 was conducted. Data, including indications for port placement, complications, duration of port stay, and reasons for explantation, were extracted from electronic medical records. Comparative analysis with surgically implanted ports was performed, and the efficacy and safety of imaging-guided port implantation were assessed.

Results: The study predominantly involved right internal jugular vein placement (93.8%). Major complications did not occur during the 7 to 1330 days of port usage. The average usage period was 243 days, totaling 310,503 catheter-days. Infectious complications were the most common (4.8%), significantly higher (13.9%) in hematological malignancies. Multivariate analysis revealed a significantly increased complication rate in hematological malignancy patients (p<0.001).

Conclusion: The research reveals an 8.6% overall incidence of complications in IAPC usage, with hematologic malignancy identified as a significant independent risk factor. The low complication rate per 1000 catheter days (0.36) aligns with recent studies, emphasizing the benefits of image guidance and procedural expertise. Notably, infectious complications, especially in hematologic malignancy patients, underscore the need for further research to refine IAPC management for long-term intravenous access. The study contributes essential insights for healthcare professionals involved in the field, emphasizing ongoing efforts in advancing IAPC management for the benefit of patients.

Keywords: Cancer treatment, catheterization, complication, totally implantable access port, ultrasound guidance.

Tekinhatun M, Arslan M, Aslan HS, Yavas HG, Demirci M, Unver Koluman B, Alver K. Complications of imagingassisted port catheters and factors affecting complications. Pam Med J 2024;17:303-312.

Öz

Amaç: Bu araştırma, Görüntüleme Destekli Port Kateterler (IAPC'ler) ile ilişkili komplikasyonları araştırarak, bunların kullanımında yer alan sağlık çalışanlarına öngörü sağlamaktadır. Çalışma, hasta güvenliğini optimize etmeyi, önleyici stratejiler uygulamayı ve IAPC'lerin klinik kullanımında kanıta dayalı karar verme sürecine rehberlik etmeyi amaçlamaktadır.

Gereç ve yöntem: Girişimsel Radyoloji Ünitesinde 01.09.2012-01.09.2020 tarihleri arasında IAPC yerleştirilen 1247 hastayı içeren retrospektif bir çalışma yapıldı. Port yerleştirme endikasyonları, komplikasyonlar, portun kalış süresi ve eksplantasyon nedenleri dahil olmak üzere veriler elektronik tıbbi kayıtlardan elde edildi. Cerrahi olarak implante edilen portlarla karşılaştırmalı analiz yapıldı ve görüntüleme kılavuzluğunda port implantasyonunun etkinliği ve güvenliği değerlendirildi.

Muhammed Tekinhatun, Asst. Prof. Dicle University, Department of Radiology, Diyarbakir, Türkiye, e-mail: mtekinhatun@gmail.com (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-3240-6991) (Corresponding Author)

Muhammet Arslan, Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University, Department of Radiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dr.marslan@hotmail.com (https:// orcid.org/0000-0001-5565-0770)

Halil Serdar Aslan, Asst. Prof. Pamukkale University, Department of Radiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: draslan@outlook.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0002-5255-8618)

Hüseyin Gökhan Yavaş, Asst. Prof. Dumlupınar University, Department of Radiology, Kütahya, Türkiye, e-mail: huseyingokhanyavas@gmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4220-3482)

Mahmut Demirci, M.D. Denizli State Hospital, Department of Radiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dr.mahmutdemirci@gmail.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0001-8201-9618)

Başak Ünver Koluman, Asst. Prof. Pamukkale University, Department of Hematology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: basakunver@yahoo.com (https:// orcid.org/0000-0003-1106-5021)

Kadirhan Alver, M.D. Denizli State Hospital, Department of Radiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: kadirhanalver@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4692-2401)

Bulgular: Çalışmada ağırlıklı olarak sağ internal juguler ven yerleştirildi (%93,8). Portun 7 ila 1330 günlük kullanımı sırasında majör komplikasyon görülmedi. Ortalama kullanım süresi 243 gün ve toplam 310.503 kateter günü idi. En sık enfeksiyöz komplikasyonlar (%4,8) görülmüş olup hematolojik malignitelerde anlamlı derecede yüksektir (%13,9). Çok değişkenli analiz hematolojik malignite hastalarında komplikasyon oranının önemli ölçüde arttığını ortaya koymuştur (*p*<0,001).

Sonuç: Araştırma, IAPC kullanımında genel komplikasyon insidansının %8,6 olduğunu ve hematolojik malignitenin önemli bir bağımsız risk faktörü olarak tanımlandığını ortaya koymaktadır. Her 1000 kateter günü başına düşen düşük komplikasyon oranı (0,36), görüntü rehberliği ve prosedürel uzmanlığın faydalarını vurgulayan son çalışmalarla uyumludur. Özellikle hematolojik malignite hastalarında görülen enfeksiyöz komplikasyonlar, uzun süreli intravenöz erişim için IAPC yönetimini iyileştirmeye yönelik daha fazla araştırma yapılması gerektiğinin altını çizmektedir. Bu çalışma, hastaların yararına IAPC yönetimini ilerletmek için devam eden çabaları vurgulayarak, bu alanda çalışan sağlık profesyonelleri için önemli bilgiler sunmaktadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Kanser tedavisi, kateterizasyon, komplikasyon, tamamen implante edilebilir port kateter, ultrason rehberliği.

Tekinhatun M, Arslan M, Aslan HS, Yavaş HG, Demirci M, Ünver Koluman B, Alver K. Görüntüleme eşliğinde takılan port kateterlerinin komplikasyonları ve komplikasyonlara etki eden faktörler. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:303-312.

Introduction

The use of subcutaneously placed imagingassisted port catheters (IAPCs) has become increasingly common. They are preferred especially in patients receiving intermittent and long-term infusion therapy because of the patient comfort they provide and low infection rates [1]. The most common indication for port catheter is patients with malignancy requiring long-term chemotherapy [2]. In the past, venous port catheters were implanted in the operating room under general anesthesia by surgical departments. Venous port insertion in the angiography room with interventional radiology techniques was first described by Morris et al. [3] in 1992, and since then, radiological venous port insertion has been among the routine procedures of interventional radiology.

In adult patients, the port can be placed easily with local anesthesia. Existing radiological images should be examined before port placement, and the planned vein should be evaluated in detail with ultrasound (US). In order to reduce the risk of infection, the area where the port will be placed should be prepared and covered in a sterile manner. The procedure should be done under sterile conditions.

Central venous access complications are now seen rarely in imaging-guided interventions, however, complications can be seen due to the inadequate experience of the practitioner, the difficulty of venous anatomy, and the anatomicalmorphological structure of the patient. The occurrence of IAPC-related complications can be influenced by a variety of factors. Patient-related factors, such as age, underlying comorbidities, immunosuppression, and nutritional status may impact the susceptibility to infections and the overall healing process. Procedural factors, including catheter insertion technique, catheter tip position, and the experience of the healthcare professional performing the procedure can influence the immediate and long-term success of IAPCs. Moreover, devicerelated factors, such as catheter material, design, and the use of antithrombotic coatings may play a significant role in determining the occurrence of complications. Understanding the spectrum of IAPC-related complications and their determinants is essential for optimizing safety, implementing preventive patient strategies, and guiding evidence-based decision-making in the clinical use of IAPCs. This research aims to provide valuable insights to interventional radiologists, nurses, and other health professionals by understanding IAPCs' factors affecting complications.

Material and methods

Study design

This article is a retrospective study aiming to investigate the factors affecting complications of IAPCs. Ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board before the commencement of the study. Patients who underwent IAPC placement in our Interventional Radiology Unit between 01.09.2012-01.09.2020 were included in our study. Indications for port placement, early or late complications seen at the venous access and port placement site, duration of port stay, and reasons for explantation were reviewed from electronic medical records. The results obtained were compared with the data of surgically implanted ports in the literature and the efficacy and safety of imaging-guided port implantation were evaluated.

IAPC placement prosedure

All implantation procedures were performed under the guidance of US and angiography device. Implantations were performed under local anesthesia. During the procedure, the requirements of surgical sterility were absolutely fulfilled. Patients with high risk and/ or absolute neutropenia (WBC <500/mm3) were given antibiotic prophylaxis with 1 g IV cefazolin sodium (Sefazol®, Mustafa Nevzat ilaç Sanayi AŞ, Istanbul, Türkiye) 30 minutes before the procedure. Patients who were not hospitalized were followed up for 4-6 hours and sent home. A procedure note including the follow-up procedure was written for the hospitalized patients, and then they were followed up in the service and discharged under appropriate conditions. All patients were called for control one week after the procedure, and it was checked whether there was redness, swelling, temperature increase, hematoma, and separation at the suture site in the port-inserted area. The images of the process steps are given in Figure 1 as a summary.



Figure 1. Imaging-assisted port catheter placement steps: a-b) After providing the necessary asepsis conditions, local anesthesia application under ultrasound guidance and needle entry into the vein, c) Insertion of the guide wire through the needle, d) Placement of the peel away sheet over the guide wire, e) Local anesthesia application in the port pocket, f) Opening the port pocket, g) Opening the tunnel with a tunneler, h) Passing the catheter through the tunnel, i) Closing the port pocket with a suture

Complication assessment

Complications were identified from medical records, physician notes, nursing records, and radiological reports. Complications of central venous access were classified into two main groups as early complications (bleeding, haematoma development, catheter malposition, venous perforation, infection, arterial puncture, pneumothorax and air embolism) occurring between catheter placement and first use (<30 days) and late complications (infections, thrombotic and mechanical complications) occurring later (>30 days) (Table 1) [4].

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize patient demographics and clinical characteristics. Univariate and multivariate analyses were performed to identify factors associated with the occurrence of IAPCrelated complications. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was employed to assess the independent effect of each potential factor on the occurrence of complications, adjusting for confounding variables.

Results

A total of 1247 patients with imaging-guided ports were included in our study. Demographic information, diagnoses and reasons for port catheterization of our patients are given in Table 2. In our patients, it was observed that the right internal jugular vein was most preferred for port catheter placement (93.8%).

There were no major complications such as hemothorax, pneumothorax, arterial injury and nerve injury during port catheter placement. When the data were collected, the port usage period ranged from 7 to 1330 days, the average usage period was 243 days, and the total usage period was 310,503 catheter-days when all ports were taken into account. During follow-up, 213 patients died while their current port was functional. Also, 139 ports were removed for various reasons. The reasons for port removal in these patients are shown in Table 3. Of all complications, 37 were early (<30 days), 70 were late complications (>30 days). Early and late complications, incidence of complications according to 1000-day port catheter stay, and number of ports removed due to complications are shown in Table 4. Infectious complications were the most common complications, with a rate of 4.8% in all patients, while the incidence was significantly higher in hematological malignancies (13.9%). Figure 2 shows examples of venous thrombosis, catheter fracture, catheter misposition, and catheter pinc-off. Figure 3 shows pictures of malposed port catheters in different patients.

affecting Factors the occurrence of complications were assessed through multivariate logistic regression analysis. The complication rate was statistically significantly higher in patients with hematological malignancies (p<0.001). 21 of 62 patients (33.8%) with port infection had hematological malignancy. There was no significant increase in the incidence of complications related to IAPCs in those with head and neck malignancy (p=0.614), breast malignancy (p=0.366) and those without malignancy (p=0.259). In addition, age (p=0.705), gender (p=0.648), insertion of the catheter in the right or left jugular vein (p=0.129) were found to have no statistical significance on the occurrence of complications.

Table 1. Complications after port implantat	ion
---	-----

Early complications (<30 days)	Late Complications (>30days)
Malposition: intravenous, cardiac	Infection
Arrhythmia	Venous thrombosis, pulmonary embolism
Perforation and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade	Venous stenosis
Arterial malpositioning	Catheter pinch-off, fracture and migration
Pneumothorax	Catheter embolization
Thoracic duct injury	Air embolism
Air embolism	

Age (Years) Mean ± SD	59±13 (range 19-95)	
Sex (male/female)		
Male	685 (54.9%)	
Female	562 (45.1%)	
Background disease		
Non-malignant	10 (1%)	
Malignant	1237 (99%)	
Gastrointestinal malignancies	605	
Hematologic malignancies	151	
Breast carcinoma	144	
Genitourinary system malignancies	94	
Head and neck cancer	112	
Lung cancer	104	
Others	27	
Implantation side		
Right	1170	
Left	77	
Purpose of TIVAP		
Chemotherapy	1214	
Nutritional supplementation	25	
Both	8	

Table 2. The demographic data of the patients and the data regarding the catheters placed

TIVAP, totally implantable vascular access system

Table 3. Results of 1247 port implantations

Duration of catheter stay	For all patients	310503 (catheter-days)
	For a single patient	248 (mean catheter-days)
		7-1330 (range catheter-days)
Follow up	Still in use	895 catheters
	Exitus	213 catheters
	Removal before the end of therapy	82 catheters
	Removal after the end of therapy	57 catheters

complicationcomplicationscomplication(%)catheterMaposition: intravenous, cardiac (4) (230 days) (200 catheter) (200 catheter) Mathoria (230 days) (230 days) (200 catheter) (200 catheter) (200 catheter) Perforation and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0 0 0 Premothorax 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Interction and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0 0 Premothorax 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Interction 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Infection 0 0 0 0 0 <t< th=""><th>Complication</th><th>Patients</th><th>Early</th><th>Late</th><th>Incidence</th><th>Per 1000</th><th>Port</th></t<>	Complication	Patients	Early	Late	Incidence	Per 1000	Port
sittle 14 10 4 1.12 thmia 4 4 0 0.32 ration and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0.32 ration and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0 0 mothorax 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 acic duct injury 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 molism 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 nolism 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 nolism 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 nolism 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 nothorasis 10 10 10 10 0 0 ster thrombosis 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 ad			complications (<30 days)	complication (>30 days)	(%)	catheter days	removal
thmia 4 4 0 0.32 ration and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0 mothorax mothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade 0 0 0 0 0 mothorax mothoray 0	Malposition: intravenous, cardiac	14	10	4	1.12	0.05	6
ration and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade000mothoraxmothorax0000mothoraxacic duct injury0000motionmolism00000mbolism000000mbolism000000mbolism000000us thrombosis10440.64ster pinch-off, fracture and migration8440.64ster thrombosis3300.24of dehiscence2200.16dot dehiscence2200.1610737708.6	Arrhythmia	4	4	0	0.32	0.013	0
mothorax 0	Perforation and bleeding: hemothorax, mediastinal, cardiac tamponade	0	0	0	0	0	0
acic duct injury 0 0 0 0 0 nbolism 0 0 0 0 0 nbolism 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 0 tion 0 0 0 0 0 <	Pneumothorax	0	0	0	0	0	0
mbolism 0 0 0 0 tion 62 8 54 4.97 us thrombosis 10 4 6 0.64 ster pinch-off, fracture and migration 8 4 4 0.64 ster pinch-off, fracture and migration 8 4 2 0.32 other thrombosis 3 3 3 0 0.24 or dehiscence 2 2 0 0.24 of dehiscence 107 37 70 8.6	Thoracic duct injury	0	0	0	0	0	0
tion 62 8 54 4.97 us thrombosis 10 4 6 0.8 ster pinch-off, fracture and migration 8 4 4 0.64 ster thrombosis 3 3 3 0 0.32 orthage, hematoma 3 3 3 0 0.24 of dehiscence 107 37 70 8.6	Air embolism	0	0	0	0	0	0
us thrombosis 10 4 6 0.8 eter pinch-off, fracture and migration 8 4 4 0.64 eter thrombosis 3 3 3 3 0.32 orthage, hematoma 3 3 3 0 0.24 of dehiscence 2 2 0 0.16 107 37 70 8.6	Infection	62	8	54	4.97	0.21	59
ster pinch-off, fracture and migration 8 4 0.64 eter thrombosis 4 2 0.32 eter thrombosis 3 3 0 0.24 or hage, hematoma 2 2 0 0.24 of dehiscence 2 2 0 0.16 107 37 70 8.6	Venous thrombosis	10	4	9	0.8	0.02	9
ter thrombosis 4 2 2 0.32 orrhage, hematoma 3 3 3 0 0.24 or dehiscence 2 2 0 0.16 107 37 70 8.6	Catheter pinch-off, fracture and migration	8	4	4	0.64	0.026	80
orrhage, hematoma 3 3 0 0.24 od dehiscence 2 2 0 0.16 107 37 70 8.6	Catheter thrombosis	4	2	2	0.32	0.013	.
Id dehiscence 2 2 0 0.16 107 37 70 8.6	Hemorrhage, hematoma	3	3	0	0.24	0.01	0
107 37 70 8.6	Wound dehiscence	2	2	0	0.16	0.006	7
	Total	107	37	70	8.6	0.36	82

Table 4. Complications after port catheter placement



Figure 2. a) Port catheter line fracture, b-d) port catheter thrombosis, e and f) The port catheter line has been separated from the reservoir and has migrated The port catheter line was removed by catching it with a snare catheter



Figure 3. a-f) Pictures of malpositioned port catheters in different patients

Discussion

The present study, exploring the complications associated with IAPCs and their impact on patient outcomes, revealed an overall incidence of 8.6% complications, emphasizing the crucial role of underlying hematologic malignancy as an independent risk factor. The study further highlighted a low complication rate of 0.36 per 1000 catheter days, consistent with recent studies, attributable to the increasing use of image guidance and enhanced procedural expertise. Notably, infectious complications, particularly prevalent in hematologic malignancy patients, were significantly higher (13.9%) compared to other patient groups (3.5%). This underscores the importance of understanding factors influencing complication rates, such as chemotherapy-induced immunosuppression and prolonged neutropenia. The study's findings contribute valuable insights into optimizing the management of IAPCs for long-term intravenous access, emphasizing the need for ongoing research and refinement in this field.

The incidence of complications was significantly higher in hematologic malignancy patients. The higher incidence was strongly related to infectious complications. Hematologic malignancy patients' higher incidence may be attributable to more intense chemotherapy, resulting in prolonged neutropenia, and also to direct impairment of the immune system by the disease itself [5]. Several studies reported higher rates of infection in patients with hematological malignancy [6-9]. It is thought that immunosuppression and prolonged neutropenia increase the risk in these patients [6]. In this study, we found that the rate of infectious complications in patients with hematological malignancies (13.9%) was significantly higher than in other patients (3.5%). We did not see an increased risk of complications with patients with head and neck, and breast cancers. Wang et al. [6] and Bos et al. [10] found an increased risk of complications in head and neck cancers. However, they emphasized that no definite interpretation could be made about the cause and that studies are needed on this subject [6].

In a study conducted with 2713 patients, it was found that only the increase in "number of punctures" increased the risk of complications, while the use of US reduced the risk of complications [11]. While high age was seen as a risk factor in some studies [12, 13], it was not seen as a risk factor in some studies like ours [11, 14]. While body mass index (BMI) was a

risk factor in the study of Nagasawa et al. [15], it was not seen as a risk factor in the study of Bademler et al. [11] and Hourmodzi et al. [16]. We could not analyze BMI as a risk factor because we could not reach sufficient data in our study.

Infections of port catheters include pocket and/or tunnel cellulitis or the more common catheter-related bloodstream infections. Early infections were evaluated due to contamination during the procedure. In late infections, thrombus and fibrin sheath are thought to be biofilms for infection [17]. Therefore, it is thought that there is a relationship between thrombus and infection in catheter infections. In order to prevent infection, procedures such as sterile hand washing, shaving and disinfection of the treatment area are performed. Still, infections are the most common complication after implantation of a venous port system [17, 18]. Moreover, the study of Nezami et al. [8] suggests that a single dose of preprocedural single-dose intravenous prophylactic antibiotic before totally implantable venous access port placement does not prevent short-term procedure-related infections.

In a retrospective study published in 2023, a total of 1406 port catheters were evaluated, revealing a significantly higher prevalence of hematologic malignancies in the infection group compared to the non-infection group. Furthermore, multivariate logistic analysis identified hematoma, preoperative hospital stay, chemotherapy history, and infection history as independent risk factors for infection. Similarly, our study, employing comparable statistical analyses, identified hematologic malignancy as a significant risk factor for port complications [19].

In a study published in 2022, the presence of a history of surgery, inpatient treatment, and hematologic malignancy in patients has been identified as a risk factor for early-stage port catheter infection. Additionally, the inpatient setting has been reported as a risk factor for late-stage port catheter infection [20].

In a 2023 study investigating the predictability of port catheter infections, it is recommended to avoid port implantation, especially in patients under antibiotic treatment or those who have received antibiotic therapy within the last week, particularly in individuals with low serum total protein levels [21].

A strength of this study is the high number of patients in the sample and all procedures were undergone combined US and flouroscopy However, the study is not without guided. limitations. Being a retrospective analysis, it is subject to retrospective collection of data, lack of documents, inherent biases, and limited control over confounding variables. Additionally, the study was conducted at a single institution, potentially limiting the generalizability of the findings to broader patient populations and practice settings. Another limitation is that we could not separately evaluate patients with chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, which may cause increased complications.

In conclusion, this research study sheds light on IAPC complications and the factors affecting complications related to IAPC. IAPC has a significant role with low complication rates for long-term intravenous access. The underlying hematologic malignancy was the independent risk factors of complications associated with IAPCs. Further research and ongoing efforts in this field are essential to continually refine and advance the management of imaging-assisted port catheters for the benefit of patients requiring long-term intravenous access.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Krupski G, Fröschle GW, Weh FJ, Schlosser GA. Central venous access devices in treatment of patients with malignant tumors: venous port, central venous catheter and Hickman catheter. Cost-benefit analysis based on a critical review of the literature, personal experiences with 135 port implantations and patient attitude. Chirurg 1995;66:202-207.
- Gonda SJ, Li R. Principles of subcutaneous port placement. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 2011;14:198-203. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.tvir.2011.05.007
- Morris SL, Jaques PF, Mauro MA. Radiology-assisted placement of implantable subcutaneous infusion ports for long-term venous access. Radiology 1992;184:149-151. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.184.1.1609072
- Bhutta ST, Culp WC. Evaluation and management of central venous access complications. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 2011;14:217-224. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. tvir.2011.05.003

- Samaras P, Dold S, Braun J, et al. Infectious port complications are more frequent in younger patients with hematologic malignancies than in solid tumor patients. Oncology 2008;74:237-244. https://doi. org/10.1159/000151393
- Wang TY, Lee KD, Chen PT, et al. Incidence and risk factors for central venous access port-related infection in Chinese cancer patients. J Formos Med Assoc 2015;114:1055-1060. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jfma.2015.06.013
- Shim J, Seo TS, Song MG, et al. Incidence and risk factors of infectious complications related to implantable venous-access ports. Korean J Radiol 2014;15:494-500. https://doi.org/10.3348/kjr.2014.15.4.494
- Nezami N, Xing M, Groenwald M, Silin D, Kokabi N, Latich I. Risk factors of infection and role of antibiotic prophylaxis in totally implantable venous access port placement: propensity score matching. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2019;42:1302-1310. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00270-019-02255-0
- Pandey N, Chittams JL, Trerotola SO. Outpatient placement of subcutaneous venous access ports reduces the rate of infection and dehiscence compared with inpatient placement. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2013;24:849-854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jvir.2013.02.012
- Bos A, Ahmed O, Jilani D, Giger M, Funaki BS, Zangan SM. Dual-lumen chest port infection rates in patients with head and neck cancer. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015;38:651-656. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00270-014-0973-3
- Bademler S, Üçüncü M, Yıldırım İ, Karanlık H. Risk factors for complications in cancer patients with totally implantable access ports: a retrospective study and review of the literature. J Int Med Res 2019;47:702-709. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060518808167
- Ji L, Yang J, Miao J, Shao Q, Cao Y, Li H. Infections related to totally implantable venous-access ports: long-term experience in one center. Cell Biochem Biophys 2015;72:235-240. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12013-014-0443-1
- Maki DG, Kluger DM, Crnich CJ. The risk of bloodstream infection in adults with different intravascular devices: a systematic review of 200 published prospective studies. Mayo Clin Proc 2006;81:1159-1171. https:// doi.org/10.4065/81.9.1159
- Seok JP, Kim YJ, Cho HM, Ryu HY, Hwang WJ, Sung TY. A retrospective clinical study: complications of totally implanted central venous access ports. Korean J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;47:26-31. https://doi. org/10.5090/kjtcs.2014.47.1.26
- Nagasawa Y, Shimizu T, Sonoda H, et al. A comparison of outcomes and complications of totally implantable access port through the internal jugular vein versus the subclavian vein. Int Surg 2014;99:182-188. https://doi. org/10.9738/INTSURG-D-13-00185.1

- Hourmozdi JJ, Markin A, Johnson B, Fleming PR, Miller JB. Routine chest radiography is not necessary after ultrasound-guided right internal jugular vein catheterization. Crit Care Med 2016;44:804-808. https://doi.org/10.1097/CCM.000000000001737
- Machat S, Eisenhuber E, Pfarl G, et al. Complications of central venous port systems: a pictorial review. Insights imaging 2019;10:86. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13244-019-0770-2
- Teichgräber UKM, Kausche S, Nagel SN, Gebauer B. Outcome analysis in 3,160 implantations of radiologically guided placements of totally implantable central venous port systems. Eur Radiol 2011;21:1224-1232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-010-2045-7
- Guan X, Yan H, Zhang J, Li Y, Zhou Y. Risk factors of infection of totally implantable venous access port: a retrospective study. J Vasc Access 2023;24:1340-1348. https://doi.org/10.1177/11297298221085230
- Chang TC, Yen MH, Kiu KT. Incidence and risk factor for infection of totally implantable venous access port. Langenbeck's Arch Surg 2022;407:343-351. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00423-021-02328-0
- Chen H, Yamane T, Haruyama T, et al. Predictors of central line-associated bloodstream infections in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy through implanted venous access ports: a retrospective, observational study. Transl Cancer Res 2023;12:3538-3546. https:// doi.org/10.21037/tcr-23-1217

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (permission date 08.12.2020, 23/73335 file number).

Authors' contributions to the article

M.T. and M.A. have constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. H.S.A. and H.G.Y. developed the theory and arranged/ edited the material and method section. M.T., M.D. and K.A. have done the evaluation of the data in the Results section. Discussion section of the article written by M.T., H.S.A. and B.U.K. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Effect of anticoagulation on infarct volume and NIHSS score in patients with atrial fibrillation and ischaemic stroke

Atriyal fibrilasyon ve iskemik inme hastalarında antikoagülasyonun infarkt hacmi ve NIHSS skoru üzerine etkisi

Gökhan Aydoğan, Alper Eren

Posted date:25.09.2023

Acceptance date:14.02.2024

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of this study was to evaluate the use of oral anticoagulation (OAC) in patients with cardioembolic stroke due to non-valvular atrial fibrillation (NVAF). The NIHSS (National Institute of Healt Stroke Scale) score calculated by a neurologist at initial presentation and infarct volume measured semi-automatically in cm3 by Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI).

Materials and methods: A total of 101 NVAF patients with acute ischaemic stroke were included in this retrospective study. Patients were divided into 4 groups according to OAC drug use: Non-OAC users (Group 1), subtherapeutic dose warfarin users (under 70 years of age: INR≤2.0; over 70 years of age: INR≤1.6 Group 2), therapeutic dose warfarin users (under 70 years of age: INR≥2.0; over 70 years of age: INR≥1.6 Group 3) and therapeutic dose Non-vitamin K oral anticoagulant (NOAC) users Group 4.

Results: Infarct volume was calculated as 22.20 cm³ median (0.4-235 cm³ lowest-highest) for Group 1; 12.95 cm³ (1.3-129 cm³) for Group 2; 2.25 cm³ (0.3-89 cm³) for Group 3 and 4.40 cm³ (0.2-293 cm³) for Group 4 and the difference was statistically significant (p=0.039). The calculated NIHSS score was 9 (4-23) for the Group 1, 8.5 (3-18) for the Group 2, 6.5 (2-20) for the Group 3, 5 (1-22) for the Group 4 and the effect of anticoagulation use on NIHSS score was statistically significant (p=0.029).

Conclusion: Anticoagulant treatment holds importance in the primary and secondary prevention of stroke and in enhancing the NIHSS score and infarct volumes among stroke patients, as evidenced in the current study.

Keywords: Atrial fibrillation, cardioembolic stroke, ischemic stroke, infarct volume, NIHSS score.

Aydogan G, Eren A. Effect of anticoagulation on infarct volume and NIHSS score in patients with atrial fibrillation and ischaemic stroke. Pam Med J 2024;17:315-323.

Öz

Amaç: Bu çalışmada non-valvüler atrial fibrilasyona (NVAF) bağlı kardiyoembolik inme geçiren hastaların oral antikoagülasyon (OAK) kullanımının, ilk başvuruda nöroloji uzmanı tarafından hesaplanan NIHSS (National Institute of Healt Stroke Scale (Ulusal sağlık enstitüleri inme ölçeği) skoru ve çekilen diffüzyon manyetik rezonans görüntüleme (MRG) 'nin cm3 cinsinden semiotomatik olarak ölçülen infarkt volümünün değerlendirilmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve yöntem: Akut iskemik inme tanısı alan 101 NVAF hastası retrospektif olarak planlanan bu çalışmaya dahil edildi. Hastalar OAK ilaç kullanımına göre 4 gruba ayrıldı: OAK kullanmayanlar (Grup 1), subterapötik dozda warfarin kullanan (70 yaş altı: INR≤2,0; 70 yaş üzeri: INR≤1,6 Grup 2), terapötik dozda warfarin kullananlar (70 yaş altı: INR≥2,0; 70 yaş üzeri; INR≤1,6 Grup 3) ve terapötik dozda Non-vitamin K oral antikoagülan (NOAK) kullanan Grup 4 olmak üzere 4 gruba ayrıldı.

Bulgular: İnfarkt volümü 1. Grup için 22,20 cm³ medyan: $(0,4-235 \text{ cm}^3 \text{ en düşük-en yüksek})$, 2. Grup: 12,95 cm³ (1,3-129 cm³), 3. Grup: 2,25 cm³ 0,3-89 cm³) ve 4. Grup: 4,40 cm³ (0,2-293 cm³) olarak hesaplandı ve aradaki fark istatistiksel olarak anlamlıydı (*p*=0,039). Hesaplanan NIHSS skoru 1. Grup için 9 (4-23), 2. Grup: 8,5 (3-18), 3. Grup: 6,5 (2-20), 4. Grup 5 (1-22) olarak hesaplandı ve antikoagülasyon kullanımının NIHSS skoru üzerine etkisi istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bulundu (*p*=0,029).

Sonuç: Antikoagülan tedavi, bu çalışmada gösterildiği gibi inme hastalarında NIHSS skorunu ve enfarktüs hacimlerini iyileştirmenin yanı sıra inmenin birincil ve ikincil önlenmesinde önemlidir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Atrial fibrilasyon, kardioembolik inme, iskemik inme, infarkt volümü, NIHSS skoru.

Aydoğan G, Eren A. Atriyal fibrilasyon ve iskemik inme hastalarında antikoagülasyonun infarkt hacmi ve NIHSS skoru üzerine etkisi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:315-323.

Gökhan Aydoğan, Specialist, Mugla Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurology, Mugla, Türkiye, e-mail: gokhanaydoganma@ gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4249-6860) (Corresponding Author)

Alper Eren, Asst. Prof. Ataturk University, Medical Faculty, Department of Neurology, Erzurum, Türkiye, e-mail: alpereren25@gmail.com (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-3717-5272)

Introduction

Cardioembolic stroke is cerebral artery occlusion caused by a cardiac embolism. The rate of ischemic stroke due to cardioembolism is 15-25%, and this rate can reach up to 35% in young patients [1-3]. The presence of atrial fibrillation increases the risk of stroke by approximately five times. At least half of cardioembolic strokes are associated with Atrial fibrilasyon (AF), and NVAF is the most prevalent cardiac arrhythmia [4, 5]. The prevalence of AF increases by aging, and this rate rises to 24% over age of 80. AF is a significant risk factor for strokes in advanced ages [5]. As it is known, OAC agents are used in AF patients due to a possible risk of thromboembolism, and the CHA₂DS₂ (C:Congestive heart failure; H:Hypertension; A₂:Age 75 years or older; D:Diabetes mellitus; S2:Previous stroke, transient ischemic attack or thromboembolism) and CHA2DS2-VASc (C:Congestive heart failure; H:Hypertension; A2:Age 75 years or older; D:Diabetes mellitus; S2:Previous stroke, transient ischemic attack or thromboembolism; V:Vascular disease; A:Age 65-74 years; S:Sex category (female)) scales are used for thromboembolism risk in patients with NVAF [6-8]. One of the common stroke risk factors is summarized in the CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c score based on the clinical risk factor [9]. Vitamin K antagonists (warfarin) and oral anticoagulants not dependent on vitamin K (NOAC) used as OAC in the treatment highly protect atrial fibrillation patients against stroke [10]. Using warfarin in western countries, the target PT-INR value has been shown as 2.0-3.0 [7, 11]. However, in Japan, which also uses warfarin, it was kept lower in patients over age of 70 years and the ideal PT-INR level was determined as (1.60-2.6). Recently, NOAC have come into use and are now widely used in the treatment of NVAF with strong evidence levels. They have come to the forefront in reducing stroke due to atrial fibrillation in primary prophylaxis with their ability to cause significantly less bleeding compared to warfarin, to prevent stroke at an equal or greater rate, and to be easy to use [12, 13]. In the examination, the NIHSS scale, which evaluates the severity of stroke, is calculated. A high score indicates deteriorating [14].

Measuring the neurological deficit after stroke is very significant to demonstrate the

effectiveness of the drug, intervention or surgery used. For this reason, the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) used is an accepted disability scale [15]. In this context, the objective is to determine the usage of OAC in patients who have had a cardioembolic stroke due to NVAF, with the NIHSS score. The evaluation of infarct volume, measured semi-automatically in cm3 through MRI, is also planned.

Materials and methods

The data of 101 patients with or without OAC (newly diagnosed AF, discontinued or disrupted of using drug) among NVAF patients diagnosed with acute ischemic stroke at a Training and Research Hospital between 2014-2020 were retrospectively analysed. Permission was obtained from Atatürk University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee for the study. Patients older than age of 18 years, with diffusion MRI of sufficient quality for volumetric analysis, and with a NIHSS score (calculated by a neurologist) at presentation were included in the study. Exclusion criteria of the study; It was determined as the patient who used OAC for a reason other than AF and had a stroke, but the current neurological examination and death could not be explained by infarction. Within the framework of the current research, demographic data, including age, gender, personal and family medical history of the participants recruited for the study, were collected, vascular risk factors (HT, DM, AF, CAD, CHF, hyperlipidaemia, smoking, etc.), CHA2DS2 and CHA2DS2-VASC scores, systemic and neurological examination findings were analyzed and recorded. Stroke subtypes were determined by Bamford (TACI, PACI, POCI, LACI) classifications [16]. The patients were separated into four groups based on their OAC drug usage. According to this [17].

Group 1: Those who do not use OAC,

Group 2: Patients using subtherapeutic doses of warfarin ($INR \le 2.0$ in patients under age of 70 years, $INR \le 1.6$ in patients over age of 70),

Group 3: Patients using the rapeutic doses of warfarin (INR \ge 2.0 in patients under age of 70 years, INR \ge 1.6 in patients over age of 70 years),

Group 4: Consisted of patients using NOAC.

An anatomical classification was made by [16, 18] according to the arterial area, in which clinical features were prioritized. This classification was made according to the location of the lesion in terms of treatment; total anterior circulation infarcts (TACI), partial anterior circulation infarcts (PACI), posterior circulation infarcts (POCI), lacunar infarcts (LACI), and developing infarcts according to the usage of OAC status were compared.

The hemorrhagic transformation (HT) may occur as part of the natural history of ischemic stroke or may develop with the using of antiplatelet, anticoagulant or thrombolytic therapy [19], those with HT within the first 24 hours of the patients included in the study were identified and analyzed statistically.

Diffusion MRI imaging

All diffusion magnetic resonance imaging procedures were made by using a 1.5 T

MR scanner (Avanto, Siemens Healthcare Services, Erlangen, Germany). For diffusion weight imaging (DWI), echo-planar imaging was made in the transverse plane over the spinecho sequence, and imaging parameters were used as TR/TE:3100/100; matrix:192x192; NEX:3; section thickness:5 mm; inter-section gap:1.5 mm; examination time:4-5 minutes and FOV:230x230 mm. Diffusion gradients were taken in three planes perpendicular to one another and ADC maps were attained by using 2 different b values (500 and 1.000 sec/mm²).

The semiautomatic technique, which is a quantitative method and takes less time (less than 15 minutes) when compared to the manual technique, was used for the calculation of infarct volumes. Infarct volume in patient groups was evaluated semi-automatically by using DWI on a 3D volume measurement workstation (Figure 1) (Myrian Pro, Intrasense, France).



Figure 1. Measuring the infarct volume of a patient with a persistent lesion in the same arterial irrigation area using diffusion-weighted imaging with the Myrian Program

Statistical analysis

Analyses were carried out using IBM SPSS 20 statistical analysis software. Data were presented as mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum percentage. The normal distribution of continuous variables was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test when the sample size was less than 50, and with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test when the sample size exceeded 50. In the comparisons between two independent groups, the Independent Samples t test was used when the normal distribution condition was provided, and the Mann Whitney u test was used if it was not. In the comparison of continuous variables with more than two independent groups, the ANOVA test was used when the normal distribution condition was provided, and the Kruskal Wallis test was used max 1-23), discharge score was measured in 2 (0-6). Generally, 79

when it was not. Post-hoc tests after ANOVA test were made by using Tukey test when variances were homogeneous and Tamhane's T2 test when variances were not homogeneous. After Kruskal Wallis test, Kruskal Wallis 1-way ANOVA (k samples) test was used for post-hoc tests. n 2x2 comparisons between categorical variables, the expected value (>5) was calculated by using the Pearson Chi-square test, if the expected value is between (3-5), the Chi-square Yates test, and the expected value (<3) was made by using the Fisher's Exact test. If the comparisons are bigger than 2x2 between categorical variables, Pearson Chi-square test was used when expected value (>5) and Fisher-Freeman-Halton test was used when expected value (<5). Statistical significance level was taken as *p*<0.05.

Results

Within the study's scope, 101 patients who met the inclusion criteria were evaluated and the demographic data such as age and gender of stroke patients with NVAF were examined; 72.92±9.04 years, 64 (63.3%) women, 37 (36.6%) men, median NIHSS score of 8 (minmax 1-23), discharge mRS 3 (0-6.3), the mRS score was measured in third month of discharging 2 (0-6). Generally, 79 (79.7%) patients had AF known, and 22 (22.2%) patients had newly diagnosed AF; The using of VCA was detected in 24 patients (24.2%), of which 5 (25%) were in the therapeutic range, and 55 (55.5%) of them were using NOAC, and 30 (54.5%) of them were using the therapeutic dose. Age, CHA₂DS₂ and CHA2DS2-VASc score were similar in all four groups. The discharge mRS score did not differ significantly among the groups (p=0.387). In our study group, infarct volumes, measured by basing the reference of 101 NVAF patients and/or MRI imaging mainly with the diffusion, were compared according to the therapeutic status. The median measured infarct volume of patients who did not use OAC was 22.20 cm³, in patients using subtherapeutic VCA, it was measured at 12.95 cm³, in patients using VCA at the therapeutic dose, it was measured at 2.25 cm³, and in those using therapeutic NOAC, it was measured at 4.40 cm³ (Table1). The infarct volumes measured from patients who did not use OAC were significantly higher than those from other groups (p=0.039, Table 1).

Table 1. Basic and characteristic findings by anticoagulation status

Devementere	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	NOAC	n volue
Parameters	(n:47)	(n:18) (n:6)		(n:30)	<i>p</i> value
Age	73 (49-90)	69 (46-83)	77 (64-86)	71 (53-90)	0.2
Female Gender %	68	50	33	70	0.1
NIHSS score	9 (4-23)	8.5 (3-18)	6.5 (2-20)	5 (1-22)	0.029
Infarct Volume	22 (0.4-235)	12.9 (1.3-129)	2.25 (0.3-89)	4.4 (0.2-293)	0.039
Modified Rankin Scale	3 (0-6)	3 (1-6)	3 (1-6)	2 (0-6)	0.3
INR	1.2 (0.8-2)	1.09 (0.96-1.5)	2.1 (1.76-3.4)	1.3 (1-2.5)	0.00001
Hemorrhagic Transformation %	64.7	17.6	5.8	11.7	0.279
Hypertension %	87	83	83	90	0.8
Diabetes %	38	38	33	35	0.7
Hyperlipidemia %	53	33	50	56	0.4
Coronary Artery %	61	50	33	31	0.5
Chronic Heart Failure %	41	61	50	40	0.4
Carotid Artery Stenosis %	19	5.6	16.7	35.3	0.5
Cigarette %	34	38.9	50	27.8	0.8
Great Vessel Occlusion %	42.6	27.8	33	23	0.3
Disease of White Matter %	45	44	66	56	0.6
CHA ₂ DS ₂ score	3 (1-6)	3 (1-4)	3 (2-4)	3 (1-5)	0.2
CHA,DS,-VAS, score	5 (3-9)	5 (2-7)	4.5 (4-7)	6 (4-8)	0.1

NIHSS score: National Institute of Healt Stroke Scale; INR: Protrombin time

CHA2DS2, CHA2DS2-VASc score: Stroke risk score in patients with atrial fibrillation

Groups 1 and 2 were combined, Groups 3 and 4 were combined and then these two combined groups were compared. Infarct volume of Group 1+2; It was calculated as 16.9 (0.4 -235) cm³.

Group 3+4 infarct volume was measured as 3.5 (0.2-293) cm³, and the difference between the 2 groups was statistically significant (p=0.005) (Table 2).

Parameters	Group 1+2 (n:65)	Group 3+4 (n:36)	<i>p</i> value
Age	74 (46-90)	73 (53-90)	0.503
NIHSS score	9 (3-23)	5 (1-22)	0.004
Infarct Volume	17 (0.4-235)	3.5 (0.2-293)	0.005
Discharging mRS score	3 (0-6)	2 (0-6)	0.122
3 rd month mRS score	3 (0-6)	2 (0-6)	0.087
	NEC LE CLE ALL		

Table 2. Basic and characteristic findings by anticoagulation status

mRS: Modified Rankin Scale, NIHSS score: National Institute of Healt Stroke Scale

The patients in the current study group were classified according to the Bamford system [16] based on Diffusion MRI. The identified risk factors and the using of anticoagulation were compared with the infarct volumes and statistical analysis was performed (Table 3). At the Bamford classification of our patient group, the average age (TACI:74 (54-90), PACI:74 (46-90), POCI:68 (55-81), LACI:72 (53-86) p=0.2) were analyzed as close to each other. In the statistical analysis, CHA₂DS₂ (TACI:3 median (1-5), PACI:3 (1-6), POCI:3.5 (1-5), LACI:3 (1-5)) calculated with the identified risk factors

p=0.2) and CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c score (TACI:5 median (3-8), PACI:5 (2-9), POCI:6 (3-8), LACI:5 (2-7) *p*=0.2) and the involved artery area was not statistically significant. Furthermore, no significant difference was observed between the existing risk factors and the involved artery area. In comparison with the measured infarct volumes; TACI:74 median (0.4-293), PACI:14 (1.7-93), POCI:8.6 (0.2-76), LACI 1.3 (0.2-15), and it was found statistically significant that the infarct volumes measured in TACI infarcts had larger volumes (*p*=0.0001).

Group	TACI	PACI	POCI	LACI	p value
Group 1 %	30	40	9	21	0.0001
Group 2 %	6	67	6	22	0.6
Group 3 %	17	50	0	33	0.6
Group 4 %	17	30	23	30	0.69
Female %	25	42	9.3	23.4	0.4
Male %	14	43	16	27	0.4
Rate of Mortality %	53.8	30.7	7.6	7.6	0.028
Hemorrhagic Transformation %	47	29.4	17.6	5.8	0.011

Table 3. Quantitative and qualitative values according to OCSP classification

TACI: Total anterior circulation infarcts; PACI: Partial anterior circulation infarcts; POCI: Posterior circulation infarcts; LACI: Lacunar infarcts

Group 1 NIHSS score; 9 (4-23) Group 2; 8.5 (3-18), Group 3; 6.5 (2-20), Group 4; (1-22) and the using of OAC showed an improvement in the NIHSS score, and the difference was statistically significant (p=0.029 Tables 1-2). The stroke severity of patients was categorized into three groups based on the NIHSS score: mild (0-7), moderate (7-16), and severe (\geq 16) [20]. A positive correlation was found between the infarct volume and the NIHSS score, and it was statistically significant (p=0.001) (Table 4). Although the mRS score at the 3rd month after discharge was not statistically significant. Group 1 was found to be higher than the other groups (p=0.239).

NIHSS Score	1-7	8-15	≥16	Chi-square	<i>p</i> value
Age	74.50 (49-87)	74 (53-86)	74.5 (46-90	1.6	0.4
Infarct Volume	3.40 (0.20-200	14 (0.20-148)	49.4 (0.4-293)	16.4	0.001
PT-INR	1.29 (0.96-3.47)	1.19 (0.76-1.98)	1.08 (0.98-1.76)	8.9	0.001
Discharging mRS Score	2 (0-4)	3 (0-6)	5 (1-6)	14	0.0001
3 rd month mRS Score	2 (0-3)	2 (0-6)	5 (1-6)	14	0.0001
CHA ₂ DS ₂	3 (0-6)	3 (1-5)	3 (1-6	5.1	0.76
CHA2DS2-VASc	4.50 (1-8)	4 (3-8)	6 (2-8)	5	0.8

Table 4. Qualitative and quantitative values of stroke severity determined by NIHSS score

NIHSS score: National Institute of Healt Stroke Scale; INR: Protrombin time; mRs: Modified Rankin Scale

 $\mathsf{CHA}_2\mathsf{DS}_2, \mathsf{CHA}_2\mathsf{DS}_2\text{-}\mathsf{VAS}_{\mathsf{C}} \text{ score: Stroke risk score in patients with atrial fibrillation}$

Statistical analysis was analyzed bv considering the anticoagulation status in the Bamford classification: Group 1 TACI was calculated as 30%; PACI:40%; POCI:9%; LACI:21% (p=0.0001). TACI and PACI infarction were observed with a high rate in our patient group who did not use anticoagulant agents (Table 3). In female gender, TACI:25%; PACI:42; POCI:9.3; LACI:23.4% were observed, and TACI and PACI infarcts were detected at a high rate in the female group (Table 3 p=0.4). When the mortality rate was evaluated, it was observed that TACI:33%; PACI:7.6%; LACI:7.6%. The mortality rate for TACI infarction was determined to be high and statistically significant (p=0.0028, Table 3).

Discussion

It has been documented in the literature that AF increases the risk of stroke five times, and this risk varies depending on the presence of certain stroke risk factors [21, 22]. Common stroke risk factors are summarised in the clinical risk factor-based CHA_2DS_2 -VAS_c score [9]. The CHA_2DS_2 -VAS_c score performs only modestly in predicting high-risk patients in thrombo-embolic events, but low-risk patients (CHA_2DS_2 -VAS_c 0 (men) or score 1 (women)) have consistently low rates of ischemic stroke or death (<1%/ year) and do not require prophylactic treatment [23]. In the presence of a non-gender stroke risk factor, women with NVAF have a significantly higher risk of stroke [24, 25].

In this study, the mean age of 101 patients was 72.92±9.04 years, 64 (63.3%) female and 37 (36.6%) male. The fact that a high proportion of the patient population is female showed that female gender is riskier than male gender in the presence of risk factors in AF patients. In

the OCSP classification, it was observed that female gender (TACI:25% and PACI:42%, 9.3% p=0.469) of the patients who developed POCI. Infarct volume (TACI:median 105 cm³, PACI:median 14 cm³, POCI:median 8.6 cm³) and mortality rate (TACI:53.8%, PACI:30.7%, POCI:7.6% LACI:7.6% p=0.028) was analyzed (Table 3). Considering the mortality rate and infarct volume, this rate was found to be high in TACI and PACI infarcts, and it was found to be statistically significant (Table 3). It was observed that TACI and PACI infarcts constituted a large part of the female gender. The mortality and morbidity rates of female patients were high. In another study by [18] which included 1055 patients with ischemic stroke, stroke severity and prognosis at the 3rd and 12th months were evaluated. The findings of this study show that women stay in the hospital longer and have higher CHA, DS, score, NIHSS score, and mRS score. In a study conducted by Giralt Steinhauer et al. [26] on 439 stroke patients with AF, high of CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c scores, female gender and advanced age were found to be associated with increased stroke severity and a poor prognosis [26].

In the EAFT (European Atrial Fibrillation Trial) study conducted in patients with AF for secondary prevention, patients with nonvalvular AF who had a stroke or TIA in the last three months were examined. While the annual stroke rate was 10% in the group that used aspirin, it was 4% in the group that received oral anticoagulant therapy [2, 27]. Our study also evaluated 101 NVAF patients with ischaemic stroke according to their use of anticoagulation. The average age of these 4 groups was similar (Group 1:76 (median); Group 2:73; Group 3:78; Group 4:73). The median values of the CHA₂DS₂ score of the 4 groups (Group 1:3 (median); Group 2:3; Group 3:3; Group 4:3) were similar and it was observed that they were a high-risk patient group. The $CHA_2DS_2-VAS_c$ score of the 4 groups was calculated as (Group 1:5 (median); Group 2:5; Group 3:4.5; Group 4:6) and it was observed to be similar.

The NIHSS is used to determine the severity of acute ischaemic stroke [13]. On this scale, a high score indicates deterioration. The NIHSS score is significant in making decisions for treatment or interventional treatment, as well as evaluating the outcome of treatment [14]. When the groups were compared for stroke severity, the NIHSS score (Group 1: 9 (median); Group 2:8.5; Group 3:6.5; Group 4:5; p=0.029), the NIHSS score of the group using OAC was statistically significantly lower. In a study by [28], NVAF patients were grouped according to using of NOAC, and the NIHSS score (10 for those who did not use NOAC, 6; p=0.008 for those who used NOAC) was calculated and found to be statistically significant. The NIHSS score is a clinically significant parameter in measuring stroke severity, and the using of OAC has been shown to improve stroke severity in both studies.

Infarct volumes were measured according to the anticoagulation status of the patients (Group 1: (47) median 22.2 cm³; Group 2 (18):12.95 cm³, Group 3 (6):2.25 cm³, Group 4 (30):4.40 cm³; p=0.039) and patients using therapeutic dose OAC had significantly lower infarct volumes than the non-using patient population, and the improvement in infarct volume of anticoagulation using was statistically significant. In a similar study by Sakamoto et al. [17]; infarct volumes were compared according to the anticoagulation status and it was shown that the using of OAC resulted in improvements in infarct volume. When analyzed with OCSP classification according to the arterial areas that developed infarct, it was determined that Group 1 TACI 30% and PACI 40% are statistically significant (p=0.00001 Table 3).

In the present study, large vessel occlusion was found to be higher in the group that did not use OAC, which is not statistically significant (Group 1:42.5% p=0.3, Table 1). In a similar study Sakamoto et al. [17], 330 patients were grouped according to using of OAC and it was concluded that major vessel occlusion was observed at a higher rate in the group that did not use OAC. In the present study, the

correlation between stroke severity and INR value was examined and the statistics were recorded according to the NIHSS score of the patients (NIHSS score 0-7 INR:1.29 (median), min-max (0.96-3.47); NIHSS score 8-15 between INR:1.19 (median), min-max (0.76-1.98); NIHSS score \geq 16 INR:1.08 (median), min-max (0.98-1.76)). It was observed that the severity of stroke decreased as the INR value increased (*p*=0.012). In a study by [17] it was shown that a high INR value reduces the risk of major vessel occlusion and the severity of stroke (*p*=0.001).

The mRS score is a disability scale accepted after treatment [12]. In patients with high level stroke according to the NIHSS score, the mRS scores of discharge and of the third month after discharge were found high and statistically significant (p=0.001). There was a significant relationship between NIHSS score and diffusion MRI lesion volume, as seen in previous studies [29, 30], and the results were also similar in our study (infarct volume between NIHSS 0-7:3.4 cm³ (median); NIHSS Infarct volume between 8-15:14 cm³ (median); NIHSS \geq 16 infarct volume: 49.4 cm³ (median); p<0.001) and the difference was statistically significant [31].

A number of clinical factors have been associated with HT in stroke patients. Stroke severity and infarct size are the factors that best correlate with HT [31]. To determine the rate of HT in the patient groups in our study, a higher rate of HT developed in Group 1 according to the anticoagulation status (Group 1:64.7%; Group 2:17.6%; Group 3:5.8%; Group 4:11.7%; p=0.161) but the difference was not statistically significant. A study by [20], showed that the use of anticoagulants was effective in reducing the NIHSS score and infarct volume, and that the development of HT was less in the group of patients with an INR≥1.7.

In conclusion, in the management of patients with AF, especially stroke, in the prevention of embolic complications, anticoagulant therapy has a great importance. Anticoagulant therapy is not only important in the primary and secondary prevention of stroke, but also leads to a reduction in stroke severity and infarct volume in patients who have already suffered a stroke, as recent studies have shown. This study showed that stroke severity and infarct volume decreased, and mortality and morbidity rates were improved under anticoagulant treatment in AF patients presenting with acute ischemic stroke. In conclusion, oral anticoagulant treatment should be perceived as a contemporary necessity in terms of public health, both because it leads to a decrease in the general prevalence of stroke and because the severity of the previous stroke is milder.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Utku U, Çelik Y. Etiology, classification and risk factors in stroke. Cerebrovascular Diseases. 1st ed. Ankara: Güneş Medical Bookstores, 2009;51-71.
- Kaya E. Evaluation of atrial and ventricular functions with echocardiography in embolic stroke of undetermined source. Uzmanlık Tezi. Pamukkale Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimler Enstitüsü, Kardiyoloji Anabilim Dalı, Denizli, 2018.
- Fuster V, Rydén LE, Cannom DS. et al. Guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation. Executive summary. Rev Esp Cardiol 2006;59:1329.
- Fitzmaurice D. Atrial fibrillation and coagulation: who and when? Blood Rev 2009;23:241-244. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.blre.2009.07.006
- Marini C, de Santis F, Sacco S, et al. Contribution of atrial fibrillation to incidence and outcome of ischemic stroke: Results from a population-based study. Stroke 2005;36:1115-1119. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.0000166053.83476.4a
- Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. Jama 2001;285:2864-2870. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.22.2864
- January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS, et al. 2014 AHA/ ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a report of the American college of Cardiology/American heart association task force on practice guidelines and the heart rhythm society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64:1-76. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIR.00000000000000040
- Lip GYH, Frison L, Halperin JL, Lane DA. Identifying patients at high risk for stroke despite anticoagulation: a comparison of contemporary stroke risk stratification schemes in an anticoagulated atrial fibrillation cohort. Stroke 2010;41:2731-2738. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.590257
- Lip GY, Nieuwlaat R, Pisters R, Lane DA, Crijns HJ. Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation. Chest 2010;137:263-272. https://doi. org/10.1378/chest.09-1584

- Ruff CT, Giugliano RP, Braunwald E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of new oral anticoagulants with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. The Lancet 2014;383:955-962. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62343-0
- Camm AJ, Lip GYH, De Caterina R, et al. 2012 focused update of the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: an update of the 2010 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. Eur Heart J 2012;33:2719-2747. https:// doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs253
- Birman Deych E, Radford MJ, Nilasena DS, Gage BF. Use and effectiveness of warfarin in medicare beneficiaries with atrial fibrillation. Stroke 2006;37:1070-1074. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.0000208294.46968.a4
- Hylek EM, Evans Molina C, Shea C, Henault LE, Regan S. Major hemorrhage and tolerability of warfarin in the first year of therapy among elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. Circulation 2007;115:2689-2696. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.653048
- Josephson SA, Hills NK, Johnston SC. NIH Stroke Scale reliability in ratings from a large sample of clinicians. Cerebrovasc Dis 2006;22:389-395. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000094857
- Van Swieten JC, Koudstaal PJ, Visser MC, Schouten HJ, Van Gijn J. Interobserver agreement for the assessment of handicap in stroke patients. Stroke 1988;19:604-607. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. STR.19.5.604
- Bamford J, Sandercock P, Dennis M, Warlow C, Burn JJTL. Classification and natural history of clinically identifiable subtypes of cerebral infarction. Lancet 1991;337:1521-1526. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-6736(91)93206-O
- 17. Sakamoto Y, Okubo S, Sekine T, et al. Prior direct oral anticoagulant therapy is related to small infarct volume and no major artery occlusion in patients with stroke and non-valvular atrial fibrillation. JAHA 2018;7:e009507. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.009507
- Kim JS, Lee KB, Roh H, Ahn MY, Hwang HW. Gender differences in the functional recovery after acute stroke. J Clin Neurol 2010;6:183-188. https://doi.org/10.3988/ jcn.2010.6.4.183
- Berger C, Fiorelli M, Steiner T, et al. Hemorrhagic transformation of ischemic brain tissue: asymptomatic or symptomatic? Stroke 2001;32:1330-1335. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.32.6.1330
- Dietzel J, Piper SK, Ruschmann R, et al. Impact of preadmission oral anticoagulation on ischaemic stroke volume, lesion pattern, and frequency of intracranial arterial occlusion in patients with atrial fibrillation. EP Europace 2018;20:1758-1765, https://doi.org/10.1093/ europace/eux333

- Szymanski FM, Lip GY, Filipiak KJ, Platek AE, Hrynkiewicz Szymanska A, Opolski G. Stroke risk factors beyond the CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c score: can we improve our identification of "high stroke risk" patients with atrial fibrillation? The American Journal of Cardiology 2015;116:1781-1788. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.08.049
- Olesen JB, Fauchier L, Lane DA, Taillandier S, Lip GY. Risk factors for stroke and thromboembolism in relation to age among patients with atrial fibrillation: the loire valley atrial fibrillation project. Chest 2012;141:147-153. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.11-0862
- 23. Hindricks G, Potpara T, Dagres N, et al. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) The Task Force for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 2021;42:373-498. https://doi. org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa612
- Marzona I, Proietti M, Farcomeni A, et al. Sex differences in stroke and major adverse clinical events in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 993,600 patients. International Journal of Cardiology 2018;269:182-191. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.07.044
- 25. Nielsen PB, Skjøth F, Overvad TF, Larsen TB, Lip GYH. Female sex is a risk modifier rather than a risk factor for stroke in atrial fibrillation: should we use a CHA₂DS₂-VA score rather than CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c? Circulation 2018;137:832-840. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029081
- Giralt Steinhauer E, Cuadrado Godia E, Ois A, et al. CHA₂DS₂-VAS_c score and prognosis in ischemic strokes with atrial fibrillation. J Neurol 2012;259:745-751. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-6259-7
- Van Latum JC. European atrial fibrillation trial: secondary prevention in non-rheumatic atrial fibrillation. Erasmus University Rotterdam. Available at: http://hdl. handle.net/1765/21432. Accessed January 4, 1995
- Hoyer C, Filipov A, Neumaier Probst E, Szabo K, Ebert A, Alonso A. Impact of pre-admission treatment with non-vitamin K oral anticoagulants on stroke severity in patients with acute ischemic stroke. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2018;45:529-535. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11239-018-1634-1
- Beaulieu C, De Crespigny A, Tong DC, Moseley ME, Albers GW, Marks MP. Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of perfusion and diffusion in stroke: evolution of lesion volume and correlation with clinical outcome. Ann Neurol 1999;46:568-578. https:// doi.org/10.1002/1531-8249(199910)46:4<568::aidana4>3.0.co;2-r

- Löuvbld KO, Baird AE, Schlaug G, et al. Ischemic lesion volumes in acute stroke by diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging correlate with clinical outcome. Ann Neurol 1997;42:164-170. https://doi. org/10.1002/ana.410420206
- Terruso V, D'Amelio M, Di Benedetto N, et al. Frequency and determinants for hemorrhagic transformation of cerebral infarction. Neuroepidemiology 2009;33:261-265. https://doi.org/10.1159/000229781

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Atatürk University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (date: 28.05.2020 and number: B.30.2.ATA.0.01.00/1).

Author contribution

This study is a part of the first author's Ph. D. thesis. G.A. developed the theory and arranged/ edited the material and method section, has done the evaluation of the data in the results and Discussion sections. A.E. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study, provided editorial advice. All authors reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Pediatric pineal and tectal region tumors: the use of neuroendoscopy

Pediatrik pineal ve tektal bölge tümörleri: nöroendoskopi kullanımı

Pelin Kuzucu, Alp Özgün Börcek

Posted date:20.09.2023

Acceptance date:19.02.2024

Abstract

Purpose: In this article, we aimed to contribute to the literature by describing our approach to pediatric pineal and tectal masses treated with endoscopic interventions in our clinic.

Materials and methods: We retrospectively reviewed the records of 26 patients with lesions in the pineal and tectal regions who underwent endoscopic procedures between 2012 and 2023 at Gazi University Department of Pediatric Neurosurgery. Demographic data, blood tumor markers (alpha fetoprotein-BETA AFP, alpha fetoprotein-β-hCG), pathological diagnoses, reasons for clinical presentation, presence of hydrocephalus and additional interventions were analyzed.

Results: Of the 26 patients who underwent endoscopic procedure, 6 had lesions in the pineal region and 20 had lesions in the tectal region. The success rate for ETV was 75-80%. The success rate for ETV was 78.3% for patients with tumors in the pineal region and 84% for tectal tumors.

Conclusion: Pineal or tectal region tumors are a rare group of tumors. In addition, these regions are among the most heterogeneous regions in the central nervous system in terms of tumor type and histology. Endoscopic intervention through a single burr hole using rigid endoscopy is a comfortable and safe minimally invasive method for both pathologic sampling and management of hydrocephalus in indicated cases in the same session.

Keywords: Pediatric tumors, pineal tumors, tectal tumors, neuroendoscopy.

Kuzucu P, Borcek AO. Pediatric pineal and tectal region tumors: the use of neuroendoscopy. Pam Med J 2024;17:325-335.

Öz

Amaç: Bu yazıda kliniğimizde endoskopik girişimlerle tedavi edilen pediatrik pineal ve tektal kitlelere yaklaşımımızı anlatarak literatüre katkıda bulunmayı amaçladık.

Gereç ve yöntem: Gazi Üniversitesi Çocuk Nöroşirürji Bilim Dalı'nda 2012-2023 yılları arasında pineal ve tektal bölgede lezyonu olan ve endoskopik girişim uygulanan 26 hastanın kayıtları retrospektif olarak incelendi. Demografik veriler, kan tümör belirteçleri (alfa fetoprotein-BETA AFP, alfa fetoprotein-β-hCG), patolojik tanılar, klinik başvuru nedenleri, hidrosefali varlığı ve ek girişimler analiz edildi.

Bulgular: Endoskopik işlem uygulanan 26 hastanın 6'sında pineal bölgede, 20'sinde ise tektal bölgede lezyon vardı. ETV için başarı oranı %75-80 idi. ETV için başarı oranı pineal bölgede tümörü olan hastalar için %78,3 ve tektal tümörler için %84 idi.

Sonuç: Pineal veya tektal bölge tümörleri nadir görülen bir tümör grubudur. Ayrıca bu bölgeler tümör tipi ve histolojisi açısından santral sinir sistemindeki en heterojen bölgeler arasındadır. Rijit endoskopi kullanılarak tek bir burr deliğinden endoskopik girişim, endikasyonu olan vakalarda aynı seansta hem patolojik örnekleme hem de hidrosefali yönetimi için konforlu ve güvenli bir minimal invaziv yöntemdir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Pediatrik tümörler, pineal tümörler, tektal tümörler, nöroendoskopi.

Kuzucu P, Börcek AÖ. Pediatrik pineal ve tektal bölge tümörleri: nöroendoskopi kullanımı. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:325-335.

Pelin Kuzucu, M.D. Gazi University, Department of Neurosurgery, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: drpelinkuzucu@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0484-3753) (Corresponding Author)

Alp Özgün Börcek, Prof. Gazi University, Department of Neurosurgery, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: alpborcek@gazi.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6222-382X)

Introduction

Pineal or tectal region tumors are relatively rare [1]. Tumors in the pineal region represent 1.5% to 8.5% of pediatric brain tumors and 1.2% of all central nervous system tumors [2, 3]. Brainstem gliomas, on the other hand, account for 10% to 20% of childhood primary brain tumors [4]. Due to the anatomical location of lesions in this region and their mass effect, patients typically present with obstructive hydrocephalus symptoms such as headache, increased intracranial pressure, urinary incontinence, altered consciousness, and seizures [5]. Advances in neuroendoscopic techniques have allowed for the safe and effective management of these region lesions in terms of diagnosis and obstructive hydrocephalus, with the opportunity for cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) sampling and concurrent histopathology [6]. This article aims to contribute to the literature by describing our approach to the pediatric pineal and tectal region masses treated with endoscopic interventions in our clinic.

Material and method

Permission was obtained from the local Ethics Committee of Gazi University. Records of 26 patients with lesions located in the pineal and tectal regions who underwent endoscopic procedures were retrospectively reviewed between the years 2012 and 2023 within the Pediatric Neurosurgery Department at Gazi University. Demographic data of the patients, blood tumor markers (alfa fetoprotein-BETA AFP, alfa fetoprotein- β -hCG), pathological diagnoses, reasons for clinical presentation, presence of hydrocephalus, and additional interventions performed were examined.

The article was scanned by including pediatric-age (<18 years old) human studies published in English through the MEDLINE/ PubMed and EMBASE library electronic databases. The primary search was performed using the keywords "Endoscopy", "pineal," "Tectal," and "Hydrocephalus." The criteria for inclusion were: 1. Pediatric age group and who underwent endoscopic procedures with pineal and tectal region lesions in the cases 2. reports or case series in which sufficient clinical, histological, and surgical information specific to the patient is available. Studies in which pediatric patients could not be distinguished and mixed age groups were presented were not included.

Surgical procedure

Patients were positioned supine, with the head extended at approximately 20-25 degrees, to center the surgical table under the general anesthesia. The entry point was selected as 1 cm anterior to the coronal suture and 2-3 cm lateral to the sagittal suture on the nondominant side (Figure 1). After determining the incision site, the periosteum was visualized with a vertical incision of approximately 2-3 cm. When the dura was exposed, a linear incision was made using bipolar cautery. Advancement was achieved with a blunt-tipped trocar through inferoposterior and medial openings, descending into the ventricular cavity. During this process, the trocar's stylet was removed, allowing for the observation of pressurized CSF flow and the collection of CSF samples for cytological and microbiological analysis. In our clinic, controlled irrigation with Ringer's lactate or normal saline is used to fill the ventricular cavity, preventing the closure of the field of view. Additionally, this method assists in hemostasis for minor bleeding during the procedure while maintaining a clear field of vision.

Subsequently, a 0° camera is introduced through the trocar to ensure orientation. For orientation purposes, the foramen of Monro, thalamostriate vein, septal region, and choroid plexus are identified, and the advancement is guided such that the foramen of Monro is anterior, the choroid plexus is posterior, the septal vein is medial, and the thalamostriate vein is lateral [7]. Care should be taken not to damage the fornix, which forms the anterior and medial part of the foramen of Monro. The anatomical structures to be identified on the floor in the third ventricle include the bilateral mamillary bodies, basilar artery, dorsum sellae, and infundibular recess (Figure 1) [7]. After achieving orientation, if a biopsy is to be taken, 8-12 biopsy samples are obtained as long as the tumor's bleeding status allows. Suppose an endoscopic third ventriculostomy (ETV) is performed. In that case, the point farthest from the basilar artery, which is the central point between the two mamillary bodies extending from the infundibulum, dorsum sellae, and closest to the clivus, should be selected for stoma creation. Subsequently, the stoma is dilated with a double-balloon

neuro balloon or a 3F or 4F Fogarty catheter. The structures of the basilar artery and other interpeduncular cistern structures should be visualized in this area, and the presence of any additional membranes must be confirmed. After the procedure, the endoscope is slowly withdrawn, and the ventricular cavity is checked for potential bleeding. After removing the trocar, the cortical opening is closed with Spongostan or Surgicel, and the subcutaneous tissue and skin are sutured to conclude the operation.



Figure 1. A. Three-Dimensional Computed Tomography (3D CT) scan of the appropriate entry point to be selected in endoscopic surgery, B. The appearance of the surgical area and stoma endoscopically in intraoperative ETV surgery

Results

Among the 26 patients who underwent endoscopic procedures, 6 had lesions in the pineal region, while 20 had lesions in the tectal region. Of the patients, 17 were male and nine were female, with an average age at the time of surgery of 9.5 years (range: 1.1-17.9 years). The most common presenting symptom was headache (46.1% or 12/26), and the most common findings in patients were, in order, unsteadiness 23% (6/26), nausea-vomiting 19.2% (5/26), seizures 11.5% (3/26), visual loss 11.5% (3/26), and spasticity 7.6% (2/26). The follow-up period ranged from a minimum of 15 to a maximum of 126 months, and there were no fatalities among the patients.

All 26 patients had MR findings and clinical symptoms related to hydrocephalus, which led to the performance of ETV. Simultaneous endoscopic biopsies were performed in 6 patients (2 pineal and four tectal). The blood tumor markers of the patients we performed a pineal region-based biopsy were 1-AFP 8.4, β-hCG 2, 2- AFP 182, and β-hCG 135.6. Based on biopsy results, histopathological diagnoses for tectal tumors included Pilocytic Astrocytoma Grade 1 and subependymal astrocytoma, while pineal tumors were diagnosed as germ cell tumors (Figure 2). and pineoblastoma. For two patients with tectal tumors who underwent biopsy, a histopathological diagnosis could not be established. The diagnostic rate for patients who underwent endoscopic biopsy was 66.6% (4/6).





A. Preoperative axial T2 MRI image, B. Control axial and sagittal MRI images after eight years postoperative

Among patients who did not undergo simultaneous biopsy and only had ETV (4 pineal and one tectal tumor), subsequent open surgery was performed, resulting in histopathological diagnoses of papillary tumor grade 2-3 in one patient, pilocytic astrocytoma in two patients, oligodendroglioma grade 2 in one patient, and mature cystic teratoma in one patient. ETV was applied to all 26 patients (Figure 3). with 6 (6/11) receiving endoscopic diagnoses and 5 (5/11) undergoing open surgery for diagnosis and treatment. The success rate for ETV in patients was 75-80%. For patients with tumors in the pineal region, the ETV success rate was 78.3%, while it was 84% for tectal tumors. Two patients (2/26) had preexisting shunts before ETV, and two patients (2/26) had VP shunts placed within the first year after ETV (Figure 4). One patient, who initially underwent open tumor resection and did not experience tumor recurrence, developed urinary incontinence three years later, leading to repeat ETV.

No major complications were observed after endoscopic procedures. Two patients had fornix injury, and minor bleeding, which was controlled with irrigation, occurred in six patients after ETV. Long-term follow-up did not reveal radiological progression or clinical deterioration requiring surgical intervention for tumor-related issues.



Figure 3. Radiological images of the patient who had only ETV performed due to a tectal tumor A. Preoperative sagittal and axial MRI, B. Postoperative sagittal and axial MRI



Figure 4. MRI images of a patient with pilocytic astrocytoma pathology with ETB+ETV performed due to a tectal tumor

A. Preoperative Saggital CSF flow MRI and the appearance of tectal-located tumor and hydrocephalus, B. Preoperative Axial T2 MRI image, C. CT image of a VP shunt implanted after ETV in a postoperative patient

Discussion

The pineal and adjacent tectal regions represent the most heterogeneous area in the central nervous system in terms of tumor type and histology [1]. In particular, imaging fails to characterize tumor type accurately in pineal region tumors [8], and appropriate treatment planning depends on establishing a histopathological diagnosis. Additionally, due to the high incidence of concomitant obstructive hydrocephalus in this patient group, urgent treatment is often required. In such cases, minimally invasive surgery using endoscopic techniques, which have evolved parallel to technological advancements since their description in the 1970s [9], can be employed to establish a histological diagnosis and alleviate the symptoms of obstructive hydrocephalus.

However, especially for tectal region tumors, if typical radiological findings such as hyperintensity on T2 and FLAIR sequences, iso/ hypointensity on T1 sequences, and the absence of contrast enhancement on contrast-enhanced T1 sequences are present (Figure 5), many studies suggest that these tumors can remain stable for years without surgical debulking or radiotherapy [10, 11]. Tectal gliomas in children are often described as slow-growing, indolent tumors [12, 13]. However, it is emphasized that the management of concomitant hydrocephalus is necessary [14]. Some authors argue that a definitive histological diagnosis is crucial for tectal tumors [15]. In contrast, others suggest that biopsy is not necessary in cases where typical features of low-grade tectal gliomas are seen on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) [12] (Table 1). Despite numerous publications on these tumors in this region, there is still no universally accepted algorithm [16, 17].



Figure 5. MRI images of a tectal tumor hyperintensity on T2 with hydrocephalus

Study	Year	Number	Mean Age (in years)	ETB	ETV
		Of		Diagnostic	Success
		Patients		Rate	Rate
Al Tamini et al. [27]	2008	8	10	75%	88%
Wong et al. [28]	2011	25	13.5	84%	81%
Herrada Pineda et al. [29]	2015	28	8.5	96%	NA
Schulz et al. [30]	2021	28	12.4	96%	91.7%
Deopujari et al. [15]	2022	22	11	95.45%	85.7%
Present study	2023	4	6.8 (2.4,4.3,9.1,11.7 years-old)	50% (2/4)	82.5 %

Table 1. Literature r	review of ETV an	nd endoscopic tumor l	piopsy (ETE	B) studies on tectal tumors

In our study on ETV and ETB endoscopic treatment applied simultaneously to pediatric patients only, we found 6 cases series. According to these data, our diagnosis rate by biopsy for tectal regions was found to be low. The ETV success score in all studies was between 80-90%

In our patient follow-up, for pineal region tumors and similar cases, we initially perform blood tumor marker sampling like Deopujari et al. [15]. If the results are negative and there is no hydrocephalus, we proceed with CSF sampling through lumbar puncture. If tumor markers in the CSF are positive, we refer the patients for adjuvant treatment (Figure 6). If the results are negative, we oparete for simultaneous CSF management and CSF tumor marker sampling. Additionally, if the tumor location is suitable and the risk of bleeding is low, we plan an endoscopic biopsy during the same session [15]. Some authors advocate for performing a biopsy before conducting an ETV, particularly due to concerns like potential bleeding [18-20]. However, we support performing these procedures in a single session. Furthermore, we have not encountered scenarios in our cases that warrant an alternative approach, and minor intraoperative bleeding has not negatively affected the feasibility and outcomes of ETV.



Figure 6. Treatment algorithm for pineal tumors

For pineal region tumors, we perform blood tumor markers AFP and BHCG. If the results are negative and there is no hydrocephalus, we proceed with CSF sampling through lumbar puncture for markers. If tumor markers in the CSF are positive, we refer to adjuvant treatment. If the results are negative, we operate for CSF management and CSF tumor marker sampling. If the tumor location is suitable, we take endoscopic biopsy samples
For tectal region tumors, especially when typical radiological findings are present, we prioritize ETV surgery for hydrocephalus management (Figure 7). However, in cases where unstable conditions such as radiological changes and clinical progression occur during follow-up, we plan for a biopsy. Indeed, in two of our cases, we conducted biopsy surgeries following the development of such conditions after ETV. ETV can be performed using both flexible and rigid endoscopes through one or two burr hole openings. Studies by Morgenstern et al. [21] have shown that there is no significant difference between single and double burr hole approaches. On the other hand, Ahn and Goumnerova found in their study that when flexible endoscopes were used, the biopsy success rate (45.5%) was lower compared to rigid endoscopy (81%) [22]. They attributed this to the limited sampling capacity of biopsy forceps with flexible endoscopes. In our series, we performed all endoscopic surgeries using rigid endoscopes through a single burr hole.



Figure 7. Treatment algorithm of tectal tumors

Tectal region tumors: If there are specific MRI markers and hydrocephalus, we usually perform endoscopic treatment to manage hydrocephalus without biopsying the tumor

In 2010, Abhaya et al. [23] developed the ETV success score (patient's age, cause of hydrocephalus, and VPS history) to predict the prognosis of ETV. According to our cases, the success score for patients with pineal region tumors was 78.3%, while it was 84% for tectal tumors. This suggests that ETV is a suitable option for hydrocephalus management, especially in all cases, including those with tectal lesions.

Yamini et al. [24] mentioned that among 54 patients who underwent ETV and biopsy, a definitive histopathological diagnosis was

established in 89% of cases (Table 2). They also reported a 15% shunt placement rate after ETV [24]. Similarly, in a study conducted in 2013 by Mottolese et al. [25], they stated that the accuracy of endoscopic biopsy ranged from 61% to 100%, while the success rate of ETV ranged from 50% to 100%. In our series, the rate of histopathological diagnosis was 66.6%, and the rate of shunt placement after ETV was low, at 7.6%. Therefore, for patients with hydrocephalus due to pineal and tectal region tumors, treatment options include ETV and shunt placement [10].

Study	Year	Mean Age (in years)	Number Of Patients	Biopsy Positivity Rate
Robinson et al. [31]	1997	15.7	3	100% (3/3)
Pople et al. [32]	2001	14.5	10	100% (10/10)
Haw et al. [33]	2001	14	1	100% (1/1)
Yamini et al. [24]	2004	8.5	6	66.7% (4/6)
Choi et al. [34]	2007	13	1	100% (1/1)
Al-Tamimi et al. [27]	2008	9.9	8	62.5% (5/8)
Ahn et al. [22]	2010	11.3	20	65% (13/20)
Wong et al. [35]	2011	13.5	21	95.2% (20/21)
Zhu et al. [36]	2012	17	2	100% (2/2)
Ahmed et al. [37]	2015	NA	18	NA
Abbassy et al. [38]	2018	10.7	11	81.8% (9/11)
Liu et al. [39]	2021	10.5	34	100% (34/34)
Schulz et al. [30]	2021	12.4	28	95.8% (23/24)
Cartmill et al. [40]	2000	9	1	0% (0/1)
Present study	2023	4.9 (1.1,8.8)	2	100% (2/2)

Table 2. Literature review of ETB studies on pineal tumors

In general, ETV is considered to be the first choice for the treatment of hydrocephalus in cases with a tumor of the tectum [26]. Endoscopic aqueductoplasty (EAP) is thought to create a more physiologic state and provide long-term control. However, the long-term results of EAP have not been as successful as expected [27-31]. EAP has been shown to fail frequently. In addition, this procedure has a higher risk of damage to midbrain structures that may lead to neurologic deficits such as oculomotor or trochlear nerve palsy, Parinaud's syndrome, and periaqueductal syndrome [32]. Therefore, ETV, which has a higher long-term success rate and lower risk, is considered a better alternative for the occlusion of the aqueduct.

However, given that ETV is associated with minimal mortality and morbidity [33], we have concluded that neuroendoscopy is important in hydrocephalus management, especially for tumors in this region. Additionally, when a biopsy is indicated, endoscopy is a beneficial intervention that is safer than open microsurgical procedures in this region and facilitates radical resection.

In light of the recommendations seen in our clinical series' long-term results and literature review, as well as our clinical experience, we believe that endoscopic third ventriculostomy with simultaneous biopsy should be the first step in the management algorithm for pineal and tectal region tumors considering mortality and morbidity rates for indicated cases. Endoscopic intervention, performed through a single burr hole using rigid endoscopy, is a comfortable and safe minimally invasive method for both pathological sampling and hydrocephalus management in indicated cases during the same session.

In limitation the validation of this single-center study with a relatively small patient population with a multicenter and more extensive series in the future will be valuable in terms of contribution to the literature.

Conflict of interest: The authors declared no conflict of interest.

References

- Bruce JN, Ogden AT. Surgical strategies for treating patients with pineal region tumors. J Neurooncol 2004;69:221-236. https://doi.org/10.1023/ b:neon.0000041885.09226.2d
- Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Xu J, et al. CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and other central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the united States in 2009-2013. Neuro Oncol 2016;18:1-75. https://doi.org/10.1093/ neuonc/now207
- Ezzat S, Kamal M, El Khateeb N, et al. Pediatric brain tumors in a low/middle income country: does it differ from that in developed world? J Neurooncol 2016;126:371-376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-015-1979-7

- Hu J, Western S, Kesari S. Brainstem Glioma in Adults. Front Oncol 2016;6:180(e1-7). https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2016.00180
- Ahmed AI, Zaben MJ, Mathad NV, Sparrow OCE. Endoscopic biopsy and third ventriculostomy for the management of pineal region tumors World Neurosurg 2015;83:543-547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wneu.2014.11.013
- O'Brien DF, Hayhurst C, Pizer B, Mallucci CL. Outcomes in patients undergoing single-trajectory endoscopic third ventriculostomy and endoscopic biopsy for midline tumors presenting with obstructive hydrocephalus. J Neurosurg 2006;105:219-226. https://doi.org/10.3171/ped.2006.105.3.219
- Sahana D, Rathore L, Kumar S, Sahu RK. Endoscopic anatomy of lateral and third ventricles: a must know for performing endoscopic third ventriculostomy. Neurol India 2021;69:45-48. https://doi.org/10.4103/0028-3886.310075
- Tien RD, Barkovich AJ, Edwards MS. MR imaging of pineal tumors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1990;155:143-151. https://doi.org/10.2214/ajr.155.1.2162137
- Fukushima T. Endoscopic biopsy of intraventricular tumors with the use of a ventriculofiberscope. Neurosurgery 1978;2:110-113. https://doi. org/10.1227/00006123-197803000-00006
- Grant GA, Avellino AM, Loeser JD, Ellenbogen RG, Berger MS, Roberts TS. Management of intrinsic gliomas of the tectal plate in children: a ten-year review. Pediatr Neurosurg 1999;31:170-176. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000028857
- May PL, Blaser SI, Hoffman HJ, Humphreys RP, Harwood Nash DC. Benign intrinsic tectal "tumors" in children. J Neurosurg 1991;74:867-871. https://doi. org/10.3171/jns.1991.74.6.0867
- Squires LA, Allen JC, Abbott R, Epstein FJ. Focal tectal tumors: management and prognosis. Neurology 1994;44:953-956. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.44.5.953
- Pollack IF, Pang D, Albright AL. The long-term outcome in children with late-onset aqueductal stenosis resulting from benign intrinsic tectal tumors. J Neurosurg 1994;80:681-688. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1994.80.4.0681
- Bowers DC, Georgiades C, Aronson LJ, et al. Tectal gliomas: natural history of an indolent lesion in pediatric patients. Pediatr Neurosurg 2000;32:24-29. https://doi. org/10.1159/000028893
- Deopujari C, Shroff K, Karmarkar V, Mohanty C. Neuroendoscopy in the management of pineal region tumours in children. Childs Nerv Syst 2023;39:2353-2365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00381-022-05561-0
- Hirato J, Nakazato Y. Pathology of pineal region tumors. J Neurooncol 2001;54:239-249. https://doi. org/10.1023/a:1012721723387

- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Acta Neuropathol 2016;131:803-820. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- Song JH, Kong DS, Shin HJ. Feasibility of neuroendoscopic biopsy of pediatric brain tumors. Childs Nerv Syst 2010;26:1593-1598. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00381-010-1143-9
- Chibbaro S, Di Rocco F, Makiese O, et al. Neuroendoscopic management of posterior third ventricle and pineal region tumors: technique, limitation, and possible complication avoidance. Neurosurg Rev 2012;35:331-340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10143-011-0370-1
- Kinoshita Y, Yamasaki F, Tominaga A, et al. Pitfalls of neuroendoscopic biopsy of intraventricular germ cell tumors. World Neurosurg 2017;106:430-434. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.07.013
- Morgenstern PF, Souweidane MM. Pineal region tumors: simultaneous endoscopic third ventriculostomy and tumor biopsy. World Neurosurg 2013;79:18(e9-13). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2012.02.020
- Ahh ES, Goumnerova L. Endoscopic biopsy of brain tumors in children: diagnostic success and utility in guiding treatment strategies. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2010;5:255-262. https://doi.org/10.3171/2009.10. PEDS09172
- Abhaya V, Kulkarni AV, Drake JM, et al. Predicting who will benefit from endoscopic third ventriculostomy compared with shunt insertion in childhood hydrocephalus using the ETV Success Score. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2010;6:310-315. https://doi. org/10.3171/2010.8.PEDS103
- Yamini B, Refai D, Rubin CM, Frim DM. Initial endoscopic management of pineal region tumors and associated hydrocephalus: clinical series and literature review. J Neurosurg 2004;100:437-441. https://doi. org/10.3171/ped.2004.100.5.0437
- Mottolese C, Szathamari A, Beuriat PA, Grassiot B, Simon E. Neuroendoscopy and pineal tumors: a review of the literature and our considerations regarding its utility. Neurochirurgie 2015;61:155-159. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuchi.2013.12.008
- Oka K, Kin Y, Go Y, et al. Neuroendoscopic approach to tectal tumors: a consecutive series. J Neurosurg 1999;91:964-970. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1999.91.6.0964
- Cinalli G, Spennato P, Savarese L, et al. Endoscopic aqueductoplasty and placement of a stent in the cerebral aqueduct in the management of isolated fourth ventricle in children. J Neurosurg 2006;104:21-27. https://doi.org/10.3171/ped.2006.104.1.21

- da Silva LRF, Cavalheiro S, Zymberg ST. Endoscopic aqueductoplasty in the treatment of aqueductal stenosis. Childs Nerv Syst 2007;23:1263-1268. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00381-007-0393-7
- 29. Erşahin Y. Endoscopic aqueductoplasty. Childs Nerv Syst 2007;23:143-150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00381-006-0227-z
- Sagan LM, Kojder I, Poncyljusz W. Endoscopic aqueductal stent placement for the treatment of a trapped fourth ventricle. J Neurosurg 2006;105:275-280. https://doi.org/10.3171/ped.2006.105.4.275
- Schroeder HWS, Oertel J, Gaab MR. Endoscopic aqueductoplasty in the treatment of aqueductal stenosis. Childs Nerv Syst 2004;20:821-827. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00381-004-0937-z
- 32. Nishiyama K. Hydrocephalus in pineal and tectal tumors. Pediatric Hydrocephalus 2019;783-796. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27250-4_56
- Oka K, Kin Y, Go Y, et al. Neuroendoscopic approach to tectal tumors: a consecutive series. J Neurosurg 1999;91:964-970. https://doi.org/10.3171/ jns.1999.91.6.0964

Ethics committee approval: The study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee of Gazi University (date: 19.09.2023 and number: 2023-1117)

Authors' contributions to the article

P.K. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. P.K. and A.O.B. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. The article written by P.K. A.O.B. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Determining the levels of serum Heat Shock Protein B7 (HSPB7) and tetranectin in patients undergoing hemodialysis

Hemodiyaliz tedavisi alan hastalarda serum Isı Şok Proteini B7 (HSPB7) ve tetranektin düzeylerinin belirlenmesi

Özgen Kılıç Erkek, Gülşah Gündoğdu, Davut Akın, Mehmet Alpua, Dilek Sayın, Melek Bor Küçükatay

Posted date:03.01.2024

Acceptance date:19.02.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Heart damage may develop over time in patients with chronic renal disease (CKD), who are undergoing hemodialysis (HD) treatment. Serum levels of heat shock protein B7 (HSPB7) and tetranectin proteins change following damage to the heart muscle. This study aimed to determine HSPB7 and tetranectin levels in patients with CKD undergoing HD treatment.

Materials and methods: The patients aged 30-60 years old, healthy controls (n=30) and HD patients (n=30) participated in the study. Blood samples were taken from healthy subjects who applied to the hospital for checkup and from patients with kidney disease receiving HD treatment. Biochemical parameters were examined from the blood taken. HSPB7 and tetranectin levels from isolated serum samples were determined using measurement kits based on the solid phase sandwich (ELISA) principle.

Results: There was no significant difference between the groups in gender, age, glucose and iron (Fe) values of the subjects (p>0.05). Lymphocyte, platelet counts, hemoglobin and albumin values were found to be lower in patient group compared to the control group (p<0.05). Urea, creatine kinase (CK) and C-reactive protein (CRP) values were found to be higher in patient group than in the control group (p<0.05). A significant increase in HSPB7 levels and a significant decrease in tetranectin levels were detected in patient group compared to control group (p<0.001).

Conclusions: In this study, the changes detected in HSPB7 and tetranectin levels in with CKD undergoing HD treatment. May be early indicators of the possible development of cardiovascular diseases in patients with renal disease.

Keywords: Hemodialysis, chronic renal disease (CKD), HSPB7, tetranectin.

Kilic Erkek O, Gundogdu G, Akin D, Alpua M, Sayin D, Bor Kucukatay M. Determining the levels of serum Heat Shock Protein B7 (HSPB7) and tetranectin in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Pam Med J 2024;17:337-345.

Öz

Amaç: Kronik böbrek hastalığı olan ve hemodiyaliz (HD) tedavisi alan hastalarda zamanla kalp hasarı gelişebilmektedir. Isı şok proteini B7 (HSPB7) ve tetranektin proteinlerinin serum düzeyleri kalp kasında gelişen hasarı takiben değişmektedir. Bu çalışmada, HD tedavisi alan KBH hastalarında HSPB7 ve tetranektin düzeylerinin araştırılması amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve yöntem: Çalışmaya 30-60 yaş, sağlıklı ve HD hastası denekler katılmış olup iki grup oluşturulmuştur (n=60): Kontrol grubu (n=30) ve Hasta grubu (n=30). Hastaneye check-up için başvuran sağlıklı deneklerden ve böbrek hastalığı olup HD tedavisi alan hastalardan kan örnekleri alınmıştır. Alınan kanlardan biyokimyasal parametreler incelenmiştir. İzole edilen serum örneklerinden HSPB7 ve tetranektin düzeyleri solid faz sandwich (ELİSA) prensibine dayanan ölçüm kitleri kullanılarak belirlenmiştir.

Bulgular: Deneklerin cinsiyet, yaş, glukoz ve Demir (Fe) değerlerinde gruplar arasında anlamlı fark saptanmamıştır (p>0,05). Lenfosit, trombosit sayıları, hemoglobin ve albümin değerleri diyaliz hastalarında kontrol grubuna kıyasla düşük bulunmuştur (p<0,05). Diyaliz hastalarında üre, kreatin kinaz ve CRP değerleri sağlıklı kontrol grubuna göre yüksek saptanmıştır (p<0,05). Hastalarda sağlıklı deneklere kıyasla, HSPB7 düzeylerinde anlamlı artış ve tetranektin düzeylerinde ise anlamlı düşüş tespit edilmiştir (p<0,001).

Özgen Kılıç Erkek, Asst. Prof. Department of Physiology, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: oerkek@pau.edu. tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8037-099X) (Corresponding Author)

Gülşah Gündoğdu, Assoc. Prof. Department of Physiology, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ggundogdu@ pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9924-5176)

Davut Akın, Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dakin@pau.edu.tr (https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-9567-7940)

Mehmet Alpua, Asst. Prof. Department of Gastroentereology, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: malpua@pau. edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2359-007X)

Dilek Sayın, M.D. Department of Physiology, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dsayin@pau.edu.tr (https:// orcid.org/0000-0003-4022-874X)

Melek Bor Küçükatay, Prof. Department of Physiology, Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: mbor@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9366-0205)

Sonuç: Bu çalışmada, diyaliz tedavisi alan KBH hastalarında HSPB7 ve tetranektin düzeylerinde tespit edilen değişimler, böbrek yetmezliği olan hastalarda olası gelişebilecek kardiyovasküler hastalıkların gelişiminin erken göstergesi olabilir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Hemodiyaliz, kronik böbrek hastalığı (KBH), HSPB7, tetranektin.

Kılıç Erkek Ö, Gündoğdu G, Akın D, Alpua M, Sayın D, Bor Küçükatay M. Hemodiyaliz tedavisi alan hastalarda serum Isı Şok Proteini B7 (HSPB7) ve tetranektin düzeylerinin belirlenmesi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:337-345.

Introduction

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a pathology that arises from the irreversible loss of kidney functions affecting many organ systems [1]. In CKD, chronic and progressive deterioration is observed in the kidney's fluid-solute balance and metabolic-endocrine functions due to the decrease in glomerular filtration rate (GFR). When the GFR value decreases to 5-15 ml/ min/1.73m², it is referred to end-stage kidney failure (ESKF), and patients require renal replacement therapies such as dialysis or renal transplantation [2]. The life expectancy of patients has begun to increase, and their quality of life has started to improve with Dialysis technology. Hemodialysis (HD) is preferred in the treatment of ESKF, which is resistant to medical treatment, and when the GFR value falls below 10 ml/min [3]. HD is a therapeutic procedure where blood taken from the patient is filtered through a semi-permeable membrane using a device, homogenized with dialysate coming from the opposite direction, and then returned to the patient, regulating acid-base, electrolyte, and toxic substances [4].

Patients with CKD are at high risk for cardiovascular disease (CVD) even in the early stages of the disease. The risk of CVD in patients with ESKF is reported to be 10-20 times higher than the general population [5]. Clinically, in these patients, the risk of developing CVD, and early death increases with decreased kidney functions and the presence of albuminuria. Studies have shown a relationship between the decrease in GFR and CVD (congestive heart failure, myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, peripheral vascular disease, etc.). Moreover, a positive correlation between the progression of CKD and cardiovascular risk has been identified [6]. Therefore, more than 50% of HD patients develop CVD, increasing the risk of death [7, 8]. Thus, the development of CVD in patients with ESKF undergoing HD treatment becomes one of the main causes of morbidity and mortality [9].

Heat shock protein beta-7 (HSPB7) is a cardiovascular heat shock protein preserved α -crystalline in its C-terminal region [10]. The HSPB7 protein interacts with filamin C, playing a significant role in the formation of actinin in the cell skeleton and anchoring actin filaments to the cell membrane. In the absence of this protein, filamin C separates from its location in the cell, leading to structural damage in the cell membrane [11]. HSPB7 primarily functions as ATP-independent molecular chaperones that assist in the formation of the cell skeleton, suppress the accumulation of stress-resistant and denatured proteins [12]. It binds denatured proteins and facilitates their proteolytic degradation by transporting them to other heat shock proteins with ATPase activity, proteasomes, or autophagosomes [13]. The highest protein level of HSPB7 has been detected in heart tissue, and its mutations have been associated with heart diseases [14]. Therefore, serum HSPB7 levels increase when released from cardiomyocytes as a result of myocardial damage [15, 16].

Tetranectin, with the gene name CLEC3B, is a calcium-binding homotrimeric protein from the C-type lectin protein family [17]. It interacts with a range of cellular factors, including plasminogen, apolipoprotein A1, and heparin. It has a protective function in muscle, bone, and circulatory systems. Additionally, it is observed in serum and extracellular matrix (ECM) during tissue regeneration [18]. Tetranectin plays significant roles in binding ECM components (fibrin, plasminogen), stimulating the proteolytic activation of proteases and growth factors, and regulating ECM proteolysis during tissue reshaping [19]. A negative correlation has been shown between serum tetranectin levels and the development of CVD [20].

Although in the literature, there are various studies that demonstrated the association of HSPB7 and tetranectin with CVDs, there is no study in the literature evaluating the relationship between HSPB7 and tetranectin levels in patients with CKD that are at high risk of developing CVD. In this context, this study aims to determine the levels of HSPB7 and tetranectin in patients with CKD undergoing HD treatment.

Material and methods

Formation of experimental groups

Sample

A total of 60 subjects aged between 30-60 years participated in the study and were divided into two groups: control group (n=30) and patient group (n=30). The study included healthy volunteers with normal check-up results who visited the nephrology department of Pamukkale University Hospital for health screening purposes and patients diagnosed with CKD receiving hemodialysis treatment. Patients were selected from those routinely undergoing HD treatment at Pamukkale University Hospital, while patients receiving peritoneal dialysis or kidney transplant recipients were excluded from the study. In addition to these, patients have not been diagnosed with MI in the last 6 months, severe valve disease, chronic heart failure, coronary artery disease, atrial fibrillation, coronary bypass, and malignancy excluded from study. The control group for the study included subjects without any additional diseases and with CKD (GFR>60 ml/min/1.73 m²).

Collection and storage of blood samples from participants

In the study, serum samples of patients and healthy volunteers who visited the hospital simultaneously were collected at the time of hospital admission following a 12-hour fasting period. In both groups, parameters such as hemoglobin (Hb), glucose, urea, creatine kinase (CK). C-reactive protein (CRP), albumin, iron (Fe), leukocyte count, neutrophil count, lymphocyte count, neutrophil lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and platelet lymphocyte ratio (PLR) were requested from blood test results. A blood sample taken in a 2 ml biochemistry tube was used for the determination of serum tetranectin and HSPB7 levels. Within 15 minutes, it was centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature, and the obtained serums were stored at -80°C until the day of analysis.

Determination of serum tetranectin and HSPB7 levels by ELISA method

After allowing the serum samples to reach room temperature, serum tetranectin (E6262Hu, BT lab) and HSPB7 (E5380Hu, BT lab) levels were determined by comparing with reference samples using commercial kits and the ELISA method.

Statistical evaluation

The effect size obtained from reference study was found to be quite strong (d=0.957) [21]. Assuming that we could obtain a lower level of power, a power analysis was conducted, and it was calculated that when at least 60 individuals (at least 30 for each group) were included in the study for an effect size of d=0.8, a power of 80% could be achieved at a 95% confidence level. All calculations for power analysis were performed using the GPower package program (version 3.1.9.2. HeinrichHeine-Universitat, Dusseldorf, Germany).

For statistical comparison of demographic and laboratory parameters from patient and control groups. Shapiro wilk test were used for determination of normal distribution. If parametric test conditions were satisfied. Independent samples t test was used for comparisons among groups. If parametric test conditions were not satisfied, Mann Whitney U-Test was used and associations between categorical variables were evaluated using the chi-square test (χ^2 test). All analyses were performed using SPSS 24 software for statistical analysis. Results were presented as mean ± standard deviations and $p \le 0.05$ was considered as statistically significant. Ethical approval was obtained from the Pamukkale University Medical Ethics Committee.

Results

Evaluation of demographic and laboratory parameters of the participants

When the gender and age values of the participants were compared, no statistically significant differences were found between the control group and the dialysis patient group (p>0.05). There was no statistically significant difference between the patient and control groups in Fe values (p>0.05). However, Hb (p=0.001) and albumin (p=0.003) values were

lower, while glucose (p=0.003), urea (p=0.001), CK (p=0.001), and CRP (p=0.029) values were found to be higher in patient group compared to the control group (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographic and laboratory parameters of the subjects and control

	Control (n=20)	Dotiont (n=20)	Test St	atistics
	Control (n=30)	Patient (n=30)	Test value	p value
Men (%)	44.8%	55.2%	χ²=0.739	0.39
Age	44.76±1.83	44.54±0.87	t=0.106	0.916
Hemoglobin (Hb) (g/dL)	13.88±.47	11.14±0.42	t=4.340	0.001**
Glucose (mmol/L)	92.12±2.58	155.29±20.76	t=-3.080	0.001**
Urea (mg/dL)	25.72±1.52	125.83±6.16	t=-16.076	0.001**
Creatine Kinase (CK) (U/L)	0.80±0.033	8.27±0.49	t=-15.483	0.001**
C-reactive protein (CRP) (mg/L)	2.98±0.58	13.60±4.78	t=-2.249	0.029*
Albumin (g/L)	44.86±0.64	37.52±2.17	t=3.298	0.003*
Iron (Fe) (μg/dL)	77.06±6.13	69.54±5.29	t=0.926	0.359

Results are given as mean \pm standard deviation, n=30, t: Independent-samples t test, χ^2 : Chi-Square test statistics

*: *p*<0.05 indicates a significant difference from the control group, **: *p*<0.01 indicates a significant difference from the control group Hgb: Hemoglobin, CK: Creatine Kinase, CRP: C-reactive protein, Fe: Iron

Biochemical findings

Table 2 shows the biochemical parameters of the control and patient group. No statistically significant differences were detected between the groups in NLR, PLR, neutrophil, and leukocyte counts (p>0.05). Lymphocyte and platelet counts were statistically significantly lower in dialysis patients group compared to the control group (p=0.009 and p=0.001, respectively).

Table 2. Biochemical parameters of control and dialysis patients

	Control (n=20)	Datiant (n=20)	Test Sta	atistics
	Control (n=30)	Patient (n=30)	Test value	<i>p</i> value
Neutrophil count (K/µL)	4.28±0.21	3.92±0.30	t=0.972	0.336
Lymphocyte count (K/µL)	2.31±0.09	1.89±0.12	t=2.713	0.009**
NLR: Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio	1.89±0.090	2.29±0.21	t=-1.736	0.089
PLR: Platelet/Lymphocyte Ratio	126.30±8.054	116.06±12.37	t=0.699	0.488
Leukocyte count (K/µL)	7.22±0.273	6.98±0.37	t=0.498	0.621
Platelet count (Κ/μL)	281.24±14.99	195.12±11.38	t=4.547	0.001**

Results are given as mean ± standard deviation; n=30, t: Independent-samples *t* test , **: *p*<0.01 difference from the control group NLR: Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio, PLR: Platelet/Lymphocyte Ratio

Determination of serum tetranectin and HSPB7 concentrations

The serum tetranectin level was determined using an ELISA kit in ng/mL. The serum tetranectin level was found to be statistically significantly lower in the patient group (63.50±24.21) compared to the control group (84.17±42.45) (z=-2.764, p=0.006) (Figure 1). The serum HSPB7 level was determined using an ELISA kit in ng/mL. The serum HSPB7 level was found to be statistically significantly higher in the patient group (10.50±5.20) compared to the control group (5.90±1.39) (z=4.558, p=0.001) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Serum tetranectin levels in control group and dialysis patients (ng/mL) Mean ± standard deviation; n=30, Mann Whitney U-Test was used *: Significant difference from the control group at *p*<0.01 level



Figure 2. Serum HSPB7 levels in control group and dialysis patients (ng/mL) Mean ± standard deviation; n=30, Mann Whitney U-Test was used *: Significant difference from the control group at *p*<0.001 level

Discussion

In this study, our aim was to demonstrate the changes in the serum level of HSPB7 and tetranectin, cardiac-spefic proteins, in CKD patients undergoing HD. We found that HSPB7 protein level of CKD patients undergoing HD was high in the serum, while the tetranectin protein was low compared to healthy individuals. Additionally, we reported that laboratory parameters as Hb, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet levels were decreased, and glucose, urea, CK, CRP values were increased in the HD patients.

Patients with CKD undergoing HD have a significantly higher risk of CVD than the general population, and approximately 50% of the causes of death are due to CVDs. Progressive destruction of renal parenchyma and loss of

functional nephrons are characteristic of CKD pathology [2]. The most important indicator of CKD is the irreversible decrease in GFR over time. In today's diagnosis of CKD, many laboratory parameters, especially GFR levels in the blood, are important [22].

It is known that inflammation plays a significant role in the mortality of HD patients and HD treatment itself increases the production of inflammatory mediators in CKD patients [23]. In recent years, due to the advantage of easily obtaining routine hemogram and laboratory parameters without adding an economic burden, they have become the focus of researchers as indicators of inflammation. Among these parameters, CRP is a parameter that indicates inflammation in patients undergoing HD treatment, and a positive correlation has been detected between CRP levels and the development of CVD [24].

In studies conducted, it has been shown that in patients undergoing HD treatment CRP increases and albumin decreases, and Alanli et al. [24] have suggested that these parameters can be used to evaluate the risk of mortality in HD patients [25]. In this study, in line with the literature, it was found that CRP levels were high and albumin levels were low in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment compared to controls.

Another laboratory finding is that CK isoenzyme and urea levels are high in patients with CKD undergoing HD treatment [26]. In this study, in line with the literature. CK and urea levels were found to be statistically significantly higher in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment compared to controls.

Platelets, one of the routine hemogram parameters, secrete inflammatory mediators and growth factors taking part in hemostasis, inflammation, and tissue repair [27]. A decrease in lymphocyte count is observed in many inflammatory diseases. NLR is a hemogram parameter obtained by dividing the number of neutrophils by lymphocytes. In previous studies, it has been reported that NLR has a negative correlation with GFR, a positive correlation with the stage of CKD, and thrombocytopenia is observed in patients undergoing HD treatment [28]. In this study, in line with the literature, it was found that lymphocyte and platelet levels were statistically significantly lower and NLR levels increased in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment compared to controls.

Studies have shown that CVDs can develop in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment. Ng et al. [8] reported a significant increase in cardiac mortality in patients undergoing HD treatment with CKD. In patients with CKD undergoing HD treatment, it is thought that HD treatment can lead to the development of CVD due to a decrease in perfusion of vital organs (heart, intestines, kidneys, and brain) and can also be considered as a reason for progressive dysfunction in the cardiovascular system due to an increase in arterial pressure and total blood volume [29, 30].

HSPs, which constitute approximately 10% of all cellular proteins, have the main function of preventing the accumulation of denatured proteins and controlling protein homeostasis [31]. It has been found that they increase not only in response to increased temperature but also to many adverse conditions such as toxins, inflammation, ischemia, and hypoxia [32]. The expression of HSPB7 increases under different adverse stress conditions. HSPB7 can participate in the selective degradation of denatured proteins in autophagosomes, control the redox state, and assemble and protect the cell skeleton [33]. Data obtained from studies have characterized HSPB7 as a protein mainly expressed in the heart and named it as a cardiac heat shock protein. It has been concluded that HSPB7 affects cardiac morphogenesis and can accompany congenital and acquired heart diseases [34]. HSPB7 stabilizes by binding to sarcomeric proteins and maintains contraction integrity [14]. In addition, it is necessary for the growth of ventricular cardiomyocytes to maintain the number and size of cells [34]. Loss of HSPB7 protein from cardiac tissue leads to irregularities in myofibrils and disruption of the sarcolemma structure. When HSPB7 is released from muscle tissue, its levels increase in the serum. On the other hand, the expression of HSPB7 protein in muscle tissue prevents the apoptosis of myocardial cells by providing reoxygenation and protects the heart from the harmful effects of ischemia-reperfusion [35]. In the study conducted by Liao et al. [36], they found that the dislocation of HSPB7 resulted in the disruption of the gap-junction complex and intercalated disc structures in cardiomyocytes.

This led to a decrease in the expression of connexin 43 and mislocalization of N-cadherin and desmoplakin proteins, inducing arrhythmic sudden death. In this study, it has been demonstrated that serum HSPB7 levels in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment have significantly increased compared to the control group. This finding suggests that the increase in the HSPB7 protein in muscle tissue may be due to potential damage that could have developed in cardiomyocytes as a result of HD treatment.

Tetranectin is a type C lectin that specifically binds to the plasminogen kringle-4 domain, thereby enhancing plasminogen activation, making it an endogenous ligand [37]. It primarily plays a role in tissue remodeling and development [38]. Tetranectin released from platelets possesses anti-thrombotic properties (through increased plasminogen activation) and anti-proliferative characteristics (associated with endothelium) [39]. One of the most significant effects of tetranectin is to support better blood circulation in the heart muscles. In a study conducted by Yin et al. [39], it was found that tetranectin levels were inversely proportional to the risk of cardiovascular events (CVD), and Chen et al. [40] found lower serum tetranectin levels in relation to the prognosis of coronary artery disease. In this study, it was demonstrated that serum tetranectin levels in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment have significantly decreased compared to the control group. This finding suggests that the decrease in this heart-specific protein may result from potential damage that could occur in cardiomyocytes as a result of HD treatment.

In conclusion, despite some limitations in this study, it was determined for the first time that serum HSPB7 levels increased and tetranectin levels decreased in CKD patients undergoing HD treatment. As a result, our findings suggest that changes in these proteins specific to the heart muscle may serve as indicators for potential CVD developments that are important in terms of morbidity and mortality in CKD patients receiving HD treatment.

There are certain limitations to our study. The study was conducted based on a single center, and patients from other centers were not included. Although a larger sample could not be examined, power analysis was performed, and an adequate number of patients were included accordingly. In future studies, monthly followups can be conducted during hemodialysis treatment in CKD patients, allowing the observation of changes in these proteins over time, and confirming the ELISA results with RT-PCR.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Okpechi IG, Nthite T, Swanepoel CR. Health-related quality of life in patients on hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl 2013;24:519-526. https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-2442.111036
- Vaidya SR, Aeddula NR. Chronic Kidney Disease. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan. 2022 Oct 24.
- Elliott DA. Hemodialysis. Clin Tech Small Anim Pract 2000;15:136-148. https://doi.org/10.1053/ svms.2000.18297
- Pedersen JO, Knudsen F, Jersild C. Acute effect of hemodialysis on neutrophil migration: impact on humoral and cellular function. Kidney Int Suppl 1988;24:86-89.
- Baigent C, Burbury K, Wheeler D. Premature cardiovascular disease in chronic renal failure. Lancet 2000;356:147-152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02456-9
- Li X, Lindholm B. Cardiovascular risk prediction in chronic kidney disease. Am J Nephrol 2022;53:730-739. https://doi.org/10.1159/000528560
- Cozzolino M, Galassi A, Pivari F, Ciceri P, Conte F. The cardiovascular burden in end-stage renal disease. Contrib Nephrol 2017;191:44-57. https://doi. org/10.1159/000479250
- Ng CH, Ong ZH, Sran HK, Wee TB. Comparison of cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis. Int Urol Nephrol 2021;53:1363-1371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-020-02683-9
- Mahmoodi BK, Matsushita K, Woodward M, et al. Associations of kidney disease measures with mortality and end-stage renal disease in individuals with and without hypertension: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2012;380:1649-1661. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61272-0
- Janowska MK, Baughman HER, Woods CN, Klevit RE. Mechanisms of small heat shock proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2019;11:a034025(e1-22). https:// doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A034025
- Juo LY, Liao WC, Shih YL, Yang BY, Liu AB, Yan YT. HSPB7 interacts with dimerized FLNC and its absence results in progressive myopathy in skeletal muscles. J Cell Sci 2016;129:1661-1670. https://doi.org/10.1242/ jcs.179887

- Sun Y, MacRae TH. The small heat shock proteins and their role in human disease. FEBS J 2005;272:2613-2627. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.04708.x
- Rusmini P, Cristofani R, Galbiati M, et al. The role of the heat shock protein B8 (HSPB8) in motoneuron diseases. Front Mol Neurosci 2017;21:10:176(e1-9). https://doi.org/10.3389/FNMOL.2017.00176
- Juo LY, Liao WC, Shih YL, et al. HSPB7 interacts with dimerized FLNC and its absence results in progressive myopathy in skeletal muscles. J Cell Sci 2016;129:1661-1670. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.179887
- Chiu TF, Li CH, Chen CC, et al. Association of plasma concentration of small heat shock protein B7 with acute coronary syndrome. Circ J 2012;76:2226-2233. https:// doi.org/10.1253/circj.cj-12-0238
- Chen FF, Xia YL, Xu CQ, et al. Common variant rs7597774 in ADD2 is associated with dilated cardiomyopathy in Chinese Han population. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8:1188-1196.
- Tanisawa K, Arai Y, Hirose N, et al. Exome-wide association study identifies clec3b missense variant p.s106g as being associated with extreme longevity in east asian populations. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2017;72:309-318. https://doi.org/10.1093/GERONA/ GLW074
- Christensen L, Clemmensen I. Differences in tetranectin immunoreactivity between benign and malignant breast tissue. Histochemistry 1991;95:427-433. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00315737
- Arellano Garcia ME, Li R, Liu X, et al. Identification of tetranectin as a potential biomarker for metastatic oral cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2010;11:3106-3121. https://doi. org/10.3390/IJMS11093106
- Dardé VM, De La Cuesta F, Gil Dones F, Alvarez Llamas G, Barderas MG, Vivanco F. Analysis of the plasma proteome associated with acute coronary syndrome: does a permanent protein signature exist in the plasma of ACS patients? J Proteome Res 2010;9:4420-4432. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr1002017
- Ghazavi A, Ganji A, Keshavarzian N, Rabiemajd S, Mosayebi G. Cytokine profile and disease severity in patients with COVID-19. Cytokine 2021;137:155323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155323
- Khan Z, Pandey M. Role of kidney biomarkers of chronic kidney disease: an update. Saudi J Biol Sci 2014;21:294-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SJBS.2014.07.003
- Wang Y, Gao L. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease associated with hemodialysis for end-stage renal disease. Front Pharmacol 2022;13:800950(e1-19). https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHAR.2022.800950

- Alanli R, Kucukay MB, Mursel S, et al. Laboratory test paramaters and echocardiography findings that affect mortality in hemodialysis patients. Ankara Egt Ars Hast Derg 2022;56:74-77. https://doi.org/10.20492/ aeahtd.1019834
- Ma L, Zhao S. Risk factors for mortality in patients undergoing hemodialysis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 2017;238:151-158. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.02.095
- Jaffe AS, Ritter C, Meltzer V, Harter H, Roberts R. Unmasking artifactual increases in creatine kinase isoenzymes in patients with renal failure. J Lab Clin Med 1984;104:193-202.
- Moro García MA, Mayo JC, Sainz RM, Alonso Arias R. Influence of Inflammation in the Process of TLymphocyte Differentiation: Proliferative, Metabolic, and Oxidative Changes. Front Immunol 2018;9:00339(e1-18). https:// doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2018.00339
- 28. Hakim RM, Schafer AI. Hemodialysis-associated platelet activation and thrombocytopenia. Am J Med 1985;78:575-580. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(85)90398-5
- Buchanan C, Mohammed A, Cox E, et al. Intradialytic cardiac magnetic resonance imaging to assess cardiovascular responses in a short-term trial of hemodiafiltration and hemodialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017:28:1269-1277. https://doi.org/10.1681/ ASN.2016060686
- Kanda H, Hirasaki Y, Iida T, et al. Perioperative management of patients with end-stage renal disease. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2017;31:2251-2267. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2017.04.019
- Morimoto RI. Cell-nonautonomous regulation of proteostasis in aging and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2020;12:a034074. https://doi. org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A034074
- Doran P, Gannon J, O'Connell K, Ohlendieck K. Aging skeletal muscle shows a drastic increase in the small heat shock proteins αB-crystallin/HspB5 and cvHsp/ HspB7. Eur J Cell Biol 2007;86:629-640. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejcb.2007.07.003
- Muranova LK, Shatov VM, Bukach OV, Gusev NB. Cardio-Vascular Heat Shock Protein (cvHsp, HspB7), an unusual representative of small heat shock protein family. Biochemistry (Moscow) 2021;86:1-11. https:// doi.org/10.1134/S0006297921140017
- Rosenfeld GE, Mercer EJ, Mason CE, Evans T. Small heat shock proteins Hspb7 and Hspb12 regulate early steps of cardiac morphogenesis. Dev Biol 2013;381:389-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. YDBIO.2013.06.025

- Liu L, Zhang X, Qian B, et al. Over-expression of heat shock protein 27 attenuates doxorubicin-induced cardiac dysfunction in mice. Eur J Heart Fail 2007;9:762-769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejheart.2007.03.007
- Liao WC, Juo LY, Shih YL, Chen YH, Yan YT. HSPB7 prevents cardiac conduction system defect through maintaining intercalated disc integrity. PLoS Genet 2017;13:e1006984. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL. PGEN.1006984
- Mogues T, Etzerodt M, Hall C, Engelich G, Graversen JH, Hartshorn KL. Tetranectin binds to the kringle 1-4 form of angiostatin and modifies its functional activity. J Biomed Biotechnol 2004;2004:73-78. https://doi. org/10.1155/S1110724304307096
- Jaquinod M, Las Holtet T, Etzerodt M, Clemmensen I, Thøgersen HC, Roepstorff P. Mass spectrometric characterisation of post-translational modification and genetic variation in human tetranectin. Biol Chem 1999;380:1307-1314. https://doi.org/10.1515/ BC.1999.166
- Yin X, Subramanian S, Hwang SJ, et al. Protein biomarkers of new-onset cardiovascular disease: a prospective study from the Systems Approach to Biomarker Research in Cardiovascular Disease (SABRe CVD) initiative. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34:939-945. https://doi.org/10.1161/ ATVBAHA.113.302918
- Chen Y, Han H, Yan X, et al. Tetranectin as a potential biomarker for stable coronary artery disease. Sci Rep 2015;1:17632. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP17632

Ethics committee approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the Medical Ethics Committee of Pamukkale University (approval date 13.09.2022/13, decision no: E-60116787-020-263897). Informed voluntary consent forms were obtained from the subjects regarding the study.

Authors' contributions to the article: Conceptualization: O.K.E. and G.G. Literature Review: O.K.E., G.G. and D.S. Design: O.K.E., G.G. and M.B.K. Data Collection: D.A. and M.A. Analysis and Interpretation: O.K.E. and G.G. Manuscript Writing: O.K.E., G.G., D.A., D.S., M.A. and M.B.K. Critical Review: D.A., G.G. and M.B.K.

Effect of quercetin on perirenal adipose tissue adiponectin and resistin levels in rats with metabolic syndrome induced by high fructose-diet

Yüksek fruktozlu diyet ile metabolik sendrom oluşturulmuş sıçanlarda quercetinin perirenal yağ dokusu, adiponektin ve resistin düzeyleri üzerine etkisi

Emine Kılıç Toprak, Melek Tunç Ata

Posted date:30.11.2023

Acceptance date:15.03.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a cluster of risk factors for developing heart disease, stroke, and type 2 diabetes. Visceral adiposity and insulin resistance are crucial mechanisms of MetS. The increase in adipose tissue observed in MetS causes proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine imbalance. Accumulating evidence on quercetin, one of the antioxidants frequently used in MetS treatment, suggests that quercetin has significant anti-obesity and lipid-lowering effects simultaneously. Our aim is to investigate the effects of quercetin supplementation on MetS parameters and adipose tissue adipokine levels in rats fed high fructose.

Materials and methods: Sprague Dawley rats, 8-10 weeks of age, were divided into 4 groups, including a control group (C), high fructose (HF) group, quercetin (Q) group, and high fructose+quercetin (HF+Q) group. Fructose was administered to HF groups as a 20% solution in drinking water for 10 weeks. The rats in the Q groups were given 50 mg quercetin per kg BW by gavage for the last 4 weeks of experiment. The body weight, triglyceride (TG), high density lipoprotein (HDL), fasting insulin, fasting glucose, and HOMA-IR were determined in rats. Adiponectin and resistin levels were determined by ELISA assay from perirenal adipose tissue homogenates.

Results: We showed that quercetin acts to improve TG, fasting glucose and insulin resistance in high fructosefed rats. In this study, we found no effect of quercetin on perirenal adipose tissue adiponectin and resistin levels. **Conclusion:** These results showed that high fructose could induce MetS in rats, while quercetin could favorably affect these parameters.

Keywords: Metabolic syndrome, quercetin, perirenal adipose tissue, adiponectin, resistin.

Kilic Toprak E, Tunc Ata M. Effect of quercetin on perirenal adipose tissue adiponectin and resistin levels in rats with metabolic syndrome induced by high fructose-diet. Pam Med J 2024;17:347-357.

Öz

Amaç: Metabolik sendrom (MetS) kalp hastalığı, inme ve tip 2 diyabet gelişimi için bir risk faktörleri kümesidir. Visseral adipozite ve insülin direnci MetS'in önemli mekanizmalarıdır. MetS'de gözlenen yağ dokusu artışı proinflamatuar ve antiinflamatuar sitokin dengesizliğine neden olur. MetS tedavisinde sıklıkla kullanılan antioksidanlardan biri olan quercetin hakkındaki kanıtlar, quercetin'in önemli anti-obezite ve lipid düşürücü etkilerinin eş zamanlı olduğu gösterilmiştir. Amacımız, yüksek fruktozla beslenen sıçanlarda quercetin takviyesinin MetS parametreleri ve yağ doku adipokin düzeyleri üzerindeki etkilerini araştırmaktır.

Gereç ve yöntem: 8-10 haftalık Sprague Dawley sıçanlar, kontrol grubu (C), yüksek fruktoz (HF) grubu, quercetin (Q) grubu ve yüksek fruktoz+quercetin (HF+Q) grubu olmak üzere 4 gruba ayrıldı. Fruktoz, HF grup sıçanlarına içme suyunda %20'lik çözelti halinde 10 hafta süreyle uygulandı. Quercetin grubundaki sıçanlara deneyin son 4 haftasında vücut ağırlığı kg başına 50 mg quercetin gavaj yoluyla verildi. Sıçanlarda vücut ağırlığı, trigliserit (TG), yüksk dansiteli lipoprotein (HDL), açlık insülini, açlık glukozu ve HOMA-IR belirlendi. Adiponektin ve resistin seviyeleri perirenal yağ dokusu homojenatlarından ELISA yöntemi ile belirlendi.

Bulgular: Yüksek fruktozla beslenen sıçanlarda quercetin'in TG'yi, açlık glikozunu ve insülin direncini iyileştirdiğini gösterdik. Bu çalışmada quercetin'in, perirenal yağ dokusu adiponektin ve resistin düzeylerine etkisi bulunmadı.

Sonuç: Bu sonuçlar, yüksek fruktozun sıçanlarda MetS'i indükleyebileceğini, quercetin'in ise bu parametreleri olumlu yönde etkileyebileceğini göstermektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Metabolik sendrom, quercetin, perirenal adipoz doku, adiponektin, resistin.

Kılıç Toprak E, Tunç Ata M. Yüksek fruktozlu diyet ile metabolik sendrom oluşturulmuş sıçanlarda quercetinin perirenal yağ dokusu, adiponektin ve resistin düzeyleri üzerine etkisi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:347-357.

Emine Kılıç Toprak, PhD. Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ektoprak@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8795-0185) (Corresponding Author)

Melek Tunç Ata, PhD. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: melekt@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0384-2356)

Introduction

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a combination of interrelated conditions that often occur together, including obesity, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, hypertension, and dyslipidemia [1]. MetS is diagnosed as the presence of at least three of the following five characteristics: insulin resistance, high blood pressure, elevated blood sugar level, increased blood lipids [2]. Central obesity is the main cause of the etiological cascade of MetS. Abnormal fat distribution, rather than adiposity itself, is a more important risk factor for obesity-related disorders [3, 4].

Bioactive substances called adipocytokines which include visfatin, resistin, adiponectin (ADP), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and leptin are secreted by adipocytes. Numerous essential physiological processes, including as inflammation, insulin sensitivity, energy metabolism, and cardiovascular function, are regulated by them [5]. Adipose tissue has a high expression of ADP, which causes the body to become instantly sensitive to insulin [6]. In obese, insulin-resistant mouse models, ADP expression is decreased in contrast to the expression of adipokines that cause insulin resistance, such as resistin and TNF-a [7]. Furthermore, resistin has been shown to preventing insulin-mediated glucose absorption into cells, raise hepatic glucose synthesis, and reduce glucose tolerance, all of which contribute to the development of insulin resistance and the inhibition of adipogenesis in obesity [8].

These adipokines released into the blood attach to specific receptors on the target cells surface to affect the metabolism of tissues and organs. Adipokines can reduce the insulin sensitivity of tissues, leading to inflammation and the development of chronic complications [9]. Consequently, systemic inflammation and ultimately metabolic disorders arise from deregulation of metabolism and adipokine release in adipose tissue [10].

Treatment methods for the control of all these pathologies have not yet provided a complete solution to obesity. Therefore, there is a need for new approaches in the treatment of diseases leading to morbidity caused by MetS. Flavanoids are phytochemicals and have anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-diabetic effects that are known protective against obesity-related diseases. An essential flavonoid, quercetin is present in human food and forms combinations with other flavonoids like rutin, hesperidin, and naringenin. Animal and human studies have reported different pharmacological effects of quercetin as attenuation of blood pressure [11], cardiovascular protection [12], loosing of weight [13], improvement of hyperglycemia [13], and hypolipidemic effects [14]. The studies have indicated that quercetin may also help regulate metabolic diseases through a variety of processes, including raising ADP, lowering leptin, antioxidant activity, reducing insulin resistance, raising insulin levels, and inhibiting calcium channels [15].

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of quercetin on adipocytokine activity from perirenal adipose tissue in MetS rats induced by a high fructose diet, to obtain information about the underlying processes and to identify new therapeutic targets for the treatment of MetS.

Material and methods

Animals

The Pamukkale University Experiments Animal Research Ethics Committee approved all experimental protocols used in our work. Animals were housed in stainless-steel cages in standard conditions (24±2°C and 50±5% humidity) with a 12-h light-dark cycle.

Experiment design

For this study, 24 *Sprague-Dawley male rats* (8-10 weeks old, 135-200 gr) were used. The animals were divided into two groups and were randomly assigned to one of the two following groups: high fructose (HF) (n=12) and control group (C) (n=12). HF had a D-fructose-enriched drink for 10 weeks, while the other group C had tap water for this study. At the end of 6 weeks, the HF and C rats were were randomly separated into four experimental groups as follows:

- I: Control (C, n=6) group
- II: Quercetin (Q, n=6) group
- III: High fructose (HF, n=6) group

IV: High fructose+quercetin (HF+Q, n=6) group

On the other hand, Q and HF+Q group 50 mg/kg/day quercetin was administered by oral

gavage. The experimental period is 10 weeks in total (Figure 1).





Preparation of fructose drinking water

The D-Fructose >99% was used in this study to develop a rat model of HF. Rats from groups HF and HF+Q were fed with fructose-enriched drink (D-fructose 20%, Biomatik, CAS:57-48-7, MW: 180.16) (20 g/mL, orally) for 10 weeks. Fructose-enriched drinks were prepared fresh every other day, water bottles were sterilized every week. 20 g of fructose were diluted in 100 mL of tap water to make 20% of the fructoseenriched drinks [16]. For 10 weeks, the rats were given the HF beverages on an ad libitum basis every day. Rats in group C were given tap water.

Quercetin application

Quercetin (Lot: SLCC9071, 10G SIGMA) in powder form was dissolved in 1 mL ethanol+4 mL 0.9% serum physiological and administered to Q and HF+Q rats by oral gastric gavage method at a dose of 50 mg/kg/day for last 4 weeks of the study.

Serum biochemical parameters

At the end of experimental period, animals were fasted for 12h. An abdominal cavity incision of 25 mm was made along the ventral midline. The blood samples were obtained from the abdominal aorta of anesthetized rats and were centrifuged to obtain serum. On the experimental day, fasting insulin (E-EL-R3034), triglyceride (TG) (E0249Ra), high density lipoprotein (HDL) levels (AD1756Ra) were measured from serum by ELISA method.

Adipose tissue homogenate

Perirenal adipose tissue was extracted from the abdominal cavity. The perirenal adipose tissue were accessible by retracting the intestines to the side. The samples were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C for later analysis. This fat tissue was resistin (AD3196Ra) and ADP (AD3187Ra) were measured from perirenal adipose tissue homogenates by ELISA method.

Body weight and HOMA-IR measurement

Body weight (BW) was measured, and the results were recorded. Blood samples were collected from the tail of each animal after 12 hr fasting. The tail was cleaned with alcohol and about 1 mm of its end was cut, and a drop of blood was used for the blood glucose test using a handheldglucometer (ACCU-CHEK Performa Nano).

The following formula was used to determine the Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance. (HOMA-IR) index: Fasting glucose (mmol/L) × fasting insulin (mIU/L) / 22.5 is the formula for HOMA-IR.

Statistical analysis

The data were analyzed with the software package SPSS 25.0. Continuous variables are expressed as the mean±standard error (SEM).

Shapiro-Wilk method was used to determine whether the data were normally distributed. For parametric tests we used one-way analysis of variance (Tukey test for pairwise examinations). For non-parametric tests we used Kruskal-Wallis variance analysis (Bonferroni-corrected Mann-Whitney U test for pairwise examinations). In all analyses, $p \le 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

Results

At the end of the 10-week experimental period; body weight and fasting insulin level increased in the HF group due to HF diet, body weight of HF+Q group significantly higher compared to the C+Q group (p=0.012), but no significant difference was observed between the groups for fasting insulin level (p=0.103).

According to the lipid profile results, HDL level did not differ between the groups (p=0.08), whereas TG level increased significantly in the HF group compared to the C group (p=0.009) and HF+Q group TG level significantly lower compared to the HF group (p=0.009). The results showed that this increment in the HF group was normalized by quercetin.

Fasting glucose levels were high in animals given a HF diet. HF and HF+Q group fasting glucose level was significantly higher than the C group (p=0.0001, p=0.011, respectively; C+Q group fasting glucose level was significantly lower than the HF group (p=0.011); HF+Q group fasting glucose level was significantly higher than the C+Q group (p=0.001). Quercetin was observed to have a positive effect on the increased fasting glucose level.

According to HOMA-IR results, HF group results was significantly higher than the C group (p=0.012); C+Q group level was significantly lower than the HF group (p=0.013); HF+Q group level was significantly lower than the HF group (p=0.015); it was observed that insulin resistance occurred in the HF group due to HF. Although quercetin had the effect of reducing insulin resistance in the HF group, this reduction was not significant (Table 1).

When ADP and resistin levels between the groups were analyzed, it was observed that there was no significant difference between the 4 groups (Figure 2, 3).

	U	HF	C+Q	HF+Q	1
rarameters	(n=6)	(n=6)	(n=6)	(n=6)	р
Body weight (g)	359.4±14.1	395.5±12.3	355.2±7.4	398.1±7.7 ^{\$}	0.012
TG (mmol/L)	4960.6 (4192.0-5026.3)	5945.6 (5856.4-6695.6)*	5566.5 (4630.6-5858.3)	4715.3 (4660.7-5352.8)#	0.029
HDL (pg/mL)	237.1 (216.4 - 248.6)	106.9 (100.8-145.2)	295.2 (123.8-396.3)	261.6 (218.7-307.5)	0.08
Fasting insulin (ng/mL)	50.9±4.8	72.3±8.3	54.5±7.4	52.9±1.7	0.103
Fasting glucose (mg/dL)	125.1±9.2	255.1±17.5*	143±10.1#	216±17* ^{\$}	0.0001
HOMA-IR	485.0 (401.1-662.0)	976.7 (913.9-1341.8)*	611.51 (166.3-724.7)#	507.8 (467.1-610.6)#	0.031

Table 1. General characteristics of C, HF, Q and HF+Q group rats

Other parameters were described as median and interquartile range and determined by Kruskal Wallis Variance Analysis p≤0.05 is considered statistically significant. Results having statistical significance are represented by symbols * Groups that differ significantly from group C * Groups that differ significantly from group HF \$ Groups that differ significantly from group C+C C Control group, HF: High fructose group, C+O. Control+Quercetin group, HF+Q: High fructose+Quercetin group C: Control group, HE: High fructose group, C+O. Control+Quercetin group, HF+Q: High fructose+Quercetin group C: Triglyceride, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, HOMA-IR: Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance



Figure 2. 10^{th} week ADP data of 4 groups. Arithmetic mean and the standard error is used to express the results ($p \le 0.05$). One-way ANOVA were used to analyze the data C: control, (n=6); HF: high fructose, (n=6); Q: quercetin, (n=6); HF+Q: high fructose+quercetin, (n=6)





Discussion

MetS is considered an epidemic and is a complex and heterogeneous disease. Clinical signs of a complicated illness include hypertension, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, abdominal obesity, and hyperglycemia [2]. Various therapeutic strategies used to control MetS include lifestyle changes (such as increased physical activity and calorie restriction), pharmacological agents, and natural compounds [17]. Nevertheless, pharmaceutical drugs have occasionally been linked to cytotoxic effects. Because of this, accumulating evidence showed that several natural polyphenols (resveratrol, quercetin, procyanidins, curcumin, etc.) were beneficial to obesity and other metabolic disorders [17, 18].

As a significant flavonoid, quercetin offers a number of benefits, including lowering blood pressure, preventing hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia, and having anti-oxidant, antiviral, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, neuroprotective, and cardioprotective qualities [16]. In the present work, we analyzed the effects of quercetin, on body fat, serum insulin, glucose, TG, HDL parameters; ADP and resistin levels of perirenal adipose tissue in rats fed a high fructose-diet. The current study demonstrated TG, fasting glucose level and HOMA-IR increased in HF group compared to the C group, and these levels were normalized by quercetin treatment, while HDL, ADP and resistin levels were found to be similar all groups. Evaluation of this effect may help us to provide a better understanding of the pathophysiology and treatment of MetS. In recent years, there has been an increasing emphasis on the study of adipocyte biology due to the rising prevalence of adipose tissuerelated health issues on a global scale.

Over the past few years, there has been an increase in the body of research demonstrating the health advantages of polyphenols. Several of these polyphenols have demonstrated a definite anti-obesity effect in animal models in the field of MetS. The well-known polyphenolic flavonoid molecule quercetin (3,5,7,3',4'-pe ntahydroxyflavone) is found in berries, onions, broccoli, tomatoes, and apples. It has hepatoprotective, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant qualities [16]. Numerous studies have examined its advantageous impacts on obesity, insulin resistance, and MetS [19, 20]. A lot of investigations have exhibited the advantageous impacts of quercetin in decreasing body fat and enhancing insulin sensitivity [21]. According to earlier research by Vazquez Prieto et al. [22], adipose tissue mass was significantly reduced after 6 weeks of treatment with a combination of resveratrol and quercetin at doses that did not significantly reduce body fat when given separately (15 mg/kg/day and 30 mg/kg/day, respectively). The other study, Panchal et al. [23] showed that rats given a high-fat diet supplemented with 0.08% quercetin for eight weeks had reduced abdominal obesity (-37%). On the other hand, Wein et al. [24] demonstrated that quercetin feeding over 4 weeks did not affect body weight gain, body composition, or plasma leptin levels compared to other groups (high-fat diet and low-fat diet without quercetin). Similar to these results, Aranaz et al. [25] showed that no effects were observed on body weight during guercetin supplementation for 8 weeks. In our study, consistent with Wein et al. [24] and Aranaz et al. [25], when the effect of quercetin on body weight was analyzed, these parameters were increased in the HF group, but there was no significant change between the groups. Our results are supported by research conducted in the literature on the impact of the effects of polyphenols, which are dependent on the dose and the time of treatment. These variable results of guercetin on body weight may probably be due to the differences in the models used.

There are several studies in the literature showing alterations in lipid profile in rats with a high-fructose diet [25-27]. Fructose consumption for 6 weeks led to the development of metabolic alterations characteristic of MetS. In our study, according to the lipid profile results, TG level increased significantly in the HF group compared to the C group. The results showed that this increment in the HF group was normalized by quercetin. HDL level did not significantly differ between the groups, whereas HDL level was decreased in the HF group compared to the other groups; Q and HF+Q levels were higher than the HF group, but these changes were not significant. According to several studies, quercetin prevented mice fed a high-fat and high-sucrose diet from accumulating hepatic fat [25, 28]. Similarly, Jung et al. [26] showed that mice given a diet supplemented with 0.025%

quercetin for 9 weeks showed significant reductions in serum TG, TC, and epididymal adipose tissue weight. In another investigation, Peredo Escárcega et al. [29] found that, in comparison to control animals, MetS rats developed dyslipidemia with lower levels of HDL-C and elevated levels of non-HDL-C and triglycerides. Conversely, in the MetS group, the maximum dose of resveratrol+quercetin was effective in lowering triglycerides and non-HDL-C, but in the control group, only the highest dose was able to lower the concentration of non-HDL-C. In line with previous investigations, Wang et al. [30] demonstrated that the percentage of abdominal fat was considerably reduced when quercetin intake increased, with the greatest outcome occurring at 0.06% dietary quercetin supplementation when compared to the control group. Concurrently, quercetin at concentrations of 0.04% and 0.06% dramatically lowered serum levels of TG, TC, and LDL. Taken together, our data show that quercetin may improve lipid profile, and these different results of quercetin on lipid profile, may probably be due to the distinct dose and the time of treatment.

Our investigation found that animals given a HF diet had high fasting glucose levels. Quercetin was observed to have a positive effect on the increased fasting glucose level. Studies have shown quercetin to boost ADP expression and secretion while lowering blood levels of insulin, TG, cholesterol, and glucose [30]. As previously noted, obesity increases the mass and functionality of adipose tissue, which can result in elevated levels of free fatty acids in the blood, which can obstruct the transmission of insulin signals and induce glucose intolerance. Because of this, we set out to find out if quercetin supplementation may enhance the MetS rats' insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance. According to our study's HOMA-IR results, it was observed that insulin resistance occurred in the HF group due to HF diet. Like our result, Henagan et al. [31] have demonstrated that quercetin supplementation at low levels (50 mg/ day for 8 weeks) had positive effects on body fat and diet-induced insulin resistance in rats, but not at higher dosages (600 mg/day). Similarly, Vazquez Prieto et al. [22] showed that rats given high fructose for six weeks experienced lower plasma ADP, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, obesity, and inflammation of the adipose tissue. All of these indicators were enhanced by dietary supplementation with 20 mg/kg/d of quercetin. In line with these findings, we recently observed that a 50 mg/kg dose of quercetin supplementation dramatically lowered the HOMA-IR score, pointing to a possible function in preventing diet-induced insulin resistance. Although quercetin had the effect of reducing insulin resistance in the HF group, this reduction was not significant.

Adipokines related to inflammation, lipid and glucose homeostasis, and adipocyte synthesis have all been demonstrated to occur in adipose tissue. It is proposed that these compounds could be useful therapeutic targets. Adipose tissue in good health is essential to human health. In addition to its other functions, it helps maintain energy homeostasis and isolates interior organs. A metabolically active tissue is the perirenal adipose tissue (PAT), which is a part of visceral adipose tissue. This is because PAT can create a panel of adipokines or cytokines that control renal activity through endocrine or paracrine mechanisms [32, 33]. Thus, PAT is considered to be a very useful cell source in therapeutic aspects. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effects of quercetin on ADP and resistin levels from perirenal adipose tissue in rats fed HF.

In animal studies showed that obese animals had lower levels of ADP, but calorie restriction increased ADP levels [34]. Reports on changes in ADP levels with quercetin are controversial. Some studies report that there is no change, while others report an increase or decrease. Leptin and ADP concentrations were found to be significantly higher in MetS rats compared to control rats, according to Peredo Escárcega et al. [29]. The MetS rats' ADP levels were only slightly decreased (13% by resveratrol 50 + quercetin 0.95), and leptin concentration was not affected by supplementation with resveratrol + quercetin. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that supplementing mice with a high-fat diet to create obesity led to decreased levels of glucose, insulin, TG, and cholesterol but increased ADP secretion [35]. Kim et al. [36] found that quercetin-rich onion peel extract supplementation increased ADP mRNA levels in mesenteric adipose tissue but found no differences in ADP mRNA levels from

in the perirenal adipose tissue of rats with dietinduced obesity. In our study, when the effect of quercetin on adipokines was analyzed, there was no significant change in ADP levels between the groups.

Our data revealed that ADP and resistin levels didn't show a significant difference between the groups. The multiple administration periods that were used could be the cause of this disparity with other studies. It is possible that adipokine levels would alter if the duration of the polyphenol treatment interval was extended. Insulin resistance is promoted by elevated levels of resistin, a circulating hormone unique to adipocytes in rodents that is elevated in obesity [35, 37]. Although conflicting data in animal models suggests that resistin levels are low in obesity, it is commonly believed that resistin levels are elevated in obesity [38, 39]. Iqbal et al. [40] found no relationship between the degree of obesity and resistin levels in 71 obese patients. In our study, similar to this result, no significant increase in resistin level was observed in the Q and HF+Q groups compared to the control group. The dosage and timing of treatment have an impact on the effects of polyphenols. More research on the biological role and control of quercetin is necessary because the implications of these discoveries are not entirely obvious.

In conclusion, we effectively created a highfructose diet rat model by administering 20% fructose and by providing adequate criteria. Administration of quercetin alone improved fasting glucose and insulin resistance. Coadministration of quercetin with fructose normalized TG levels. Quercetin administration did not affect ADP and resistin levels in perirenal fat of high fructose-treated rats. Our study's findings imply that 50 mg/kg of quercetin given for four weeks may be advantageous for fructose-mediated lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. Thus, it will be guiding us to evaluate the antiobesity activity of quercetin and its potential to be developed as a drug in the fight against MetS.

Conflict of interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

 Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet 2005;365:1415-1428. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66378-7

- Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation 2009;120:1640-1645. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644
- Hu J, Yang S, Zhang A, et al. Abdominal obesity is more closely associated with diabetic kidney disease than general obesity. Diabetes Care 2016;39:179-180. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-1025
- Fan H, Li X, Zheng L, et al. Abdominal obesity is strongly associated with Cardiovascular Disease and its Risk Factors in Elderly and very Elderly Communitydwelling Chinese. Sci Rep 2016;6:21521. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep21521
- 5. Kobayashi K, Inoguchi T. Adipokines: therapeutic targets for metabolic syndrome. Curr Drug Targets 2005;6:525-529. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389450054021972
- Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T, Kubota N, Hara K, Ueki K, Tobe K. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors in insulin resistance, diabetes, and the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1784-1792. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl2912
- Hu E, Liang P, Spiegelman BM. AdipoQ is a novel adipose-specific gene dysregulated in obesity. J Biol Chem 1996;271:10697-10703. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.271.18.10697
- Mohammadzadeh G, Zarghami N, Mobaseri M. Serum resistin concentration in obese diabetic patients: any possible relation to insulin resistance indices? Int J Endocrinol Metab 2008;4:183-193.
- Schöttker B, Herder C, Rothenbacher D, Roden M, Kolb H, Müller H, Brenner H. Proinflammatory cytokines, adiponectin, and increased risk of primary cardiovascular events in diabetic patients with or without renal dysfunction: results from the ESTHER study. Diabetes Care 2013;36:1703-1711. https://doi. org/10.2337/dc12-1416
- Zorena K, Jachimowicz Duda O, Ślęzak D, Robakowska M, Mrugacz M. Adipokines and obesity. potential link to metabolic disorders and chronic complications. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21:3570(e1-18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21103570
- Leiherer A, Stoemmer K, Muendlein A, et al. Quercetin impacts expression of metabolism- and obesityassociated genes in SGBS adipocytes. Nutrients 2016;8:282(e1-12). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8050282
- Yamamoto Y, Oue E. Antihypertensive effect of quercetin in rats fed with a high-fat high-sucrose diet. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2006;70:933-939. https:// doi.org/10.1271/bbb.70.933

- Dong Q, Chen L, Lu Q, et al. Quercetin attenuates doxorubicin cardiotoxicity by modulating Bmi-1 expression. Br J Pharmacol 2014;171:4440-4454. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12795
- Aguirre L, Arias N, Teresa Macarulla M, Gracia A, Portillo MP. Beneficial effects of quercetin on obesity and diabetes. The Open Nutraceuticals Journal 2011;4:189-198. https://doi.org/10.2174/18763960011 04010189
- Bhaskar S, Kumar KS, Krishnan K, Antony H. Quercetin alleviates hypercholesterolemic diet induced inflammation during progression and regression of atherosclerosis in rabbits. Nutrition 2013;29:219-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2012.01.019
- Hosseini A, Razavi BM, Banach M, Hosseinzadeh H. Quercetin and metabolic syndrome: a review. Phytother Res 2021;35:5352-5364. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ptr.7144
- Zhao L, Zhang Q, Ma W, Tian F, Shen H, Zhou M. A combination of quercetin and resveratrol reduces obesity in high-fat diet-fed rats by modulation of gut microbiota. Food Funct 2017;8:4644-4656. https://doi. org/10.1039/c7fo01383c
- Dong J, Zhang X, Zhang L, et al. Quercetin reduces obesity-associated ATM infiltration and inflammation in mice: a mechanism including AMPKα1/SIRT1. J Lipid Res 2014;55:363-374. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M038786
- Lee KW, Kim YJ, Kim DO, Lee HJ, Lee CY. Major phenolics in apple and their contribution to the total antioxidant capacity. J Agric Food Chem 2003;51:6516-6520. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf034475w
- 20. Yang L, Li XF, Gao L, Zhang YO, Cai GP. Suppressive effects of quercetin-3-O-(6"-Feruloyl)β-D-galactopyranoside on adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes through down-regulation of PPARγ and C/EBPα expression. Phytother Res 2012;26:438-444. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.3604
- Pfeuffer M, Auinger A, Bley U, et al. Effect of quercetin on traits of the metabolic syndrome, endothelial function and inflammation in men with different APOE isoforms. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2013;23:403-409. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2011.08.010
- Vazquez Prieto MA, Bettaieb A, Rodriguez Lanzi C, et al. Catechin and quercetin attenuate adipose inflammation in fructose-fed rats and 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res 2015;59:622-633. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mnfr.201400631
- Panchal SK, Poudyal H, Brown L. Quercetin ameliorates cardiovascular, hepatic, and metabolic changes in diet-induced metabolic syndrome in rats. J Nutr 2012;142:1026-1032. https://doi.org/10.3945/ jn.111.157263

- 24. Wein S, Behm N, Petersen RK, Kristiansen K, Wolffram S. Quercetin enhances adiponectin secretion by a PPAR-gamma independent mechanism. Eur J Pharm Sci 2010;41:16-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejps.2010.05.004
- Aranaz P, Zabala M, Romo Hualde A, et al. A combination of borage seed oil and quercetin reduces fat accumulation and improves insulin sensitivity in obese rats. Food Funct 2020;11:4512-4524. https://doi. org/10.1039/d0fo00504e
- Jung CH, Cho I, Ahn J, Jeon TI, Ha TY. Quercetin reduces high-fat diet-induced fat accumulation in the liver by regulating lipid metabolism genes. Phytother Res 2013;27:139-143. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.4687
- Rivera L, Morón R, Zarzuelo A, Galisteo M. Longterm resveratrol administration reduces metabolic disturbances and lowers blood pressure in obese Zucker rats. Biochem Pharmacol 2009;77:1053-1063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2008.11.027
- Arias N, Picó C, Teresa Macarulla M, et al. A combination of resveratrol and quercetin induces browning in white adipose tissue of rats fed an obesogenic diet. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017;25:111-121. https://doi. org/10.1002/oby.21706
- 29. Peredo Escárcega AE, Guarner Lans V, Pérez Torres I, et al. The combination of resveratrol and quercetin attenuates metabolic syndrome in rats by modifying the serum fatty acid composition and by upregulating SIRT 1 and SIRT 2 expression in white adipose tissue. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2015;2015:474032(e1-10). https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/474032
- Wang M, Mao Y, Wang B, et al. Quercetin Improving Lipid Metabolism by Regulating Lipid Metabolism Pathway of Ileum Mucosa in Broilers. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2020;2020:8686248(e1-17). https://doi. org/10.1155/2020/8686248
- Henagan TM, Cefalu WT, Ribnicky DM, et al. In vivo effects of dietary quercetin and quercetin-rich red onion extract on skeletal muscle mitochondria, metabolism, and insulin sensitivity. Genes Nutr 2015;10:451(e1-12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12263-014-0451-1
- Jespersen NZ, Feizi A, Andersen ES, et al. Heterogeneity in the perirenal region of humans suggests presence of dormant brown adipose tissue that contains brown fat precursor cells. Mol Metab 2019;24:30-43. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019.03.005
- Liu BX, Sun W, Kong XQ. Perirenal fat: a unique fat pad and potential target for cardiovascular disease. Angiology 2019;70:584-593. https://doi. org/10.1177/0003319718799967
- Yu H, Chhabra KH, Thompson Z, et al. Hypothalamic POMC deficiency increases circulating adiponectin despite obesity. Mol Metab 2020;35:100957. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2020.01.021

- Stewart LK, Wang Z, Ribnicky D, Soileau JL, Cefalu WT, Gettys TW. Failure of dietary quercetin to alter the temporal progression of insulin resistance among tissues of C57BL/6J mice during the development of diet-induced obesity. Diabetologia 2009;52:514-523. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-008-1252-0
- Kim OY, Lee SM, Do H, et al. Influence of quercetinrich onion peel extracts on adipokine expression in the visceral adipose tissue of rats. Phytother Res 2012;26:432-437. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.3570
- Steppan CM, Bailey ST, Bhat S, et al. The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. Nature 2001;409:307-312. https://doi.org/10.1038/35053000
- Rajala MW, Qi Y, Patel HR, et al. Regulation of resistin expression and circulating levels in obesity, diabetes, and fasting. Diabetes 2004;53:1671-1679. https://doi. org/10.2337/diabetes.53.7.1671
- Steppan CM, Lazar MA. Resistin and obesityassociated insulin resistance. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2002;13:18-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1043-2760(01)00522-7
- Iqbal N, Seshadri P, Stern L, et al. Serum resistin is not associated with obesity or insulin resistance in humans. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2005;9:161-165.

Acknowledgements and funding: This study is supported by funding from the Pamukkale University (project number 2019BSP003). The authors thank Assist. Prof. Hande Senol for her help in statistical analyses.

Ethics committee approval: The Pamukkale University Experiments Animal Research Ethics Committee approved all experimental protocols used in our work (the registry number: 60758568-020-441007; date: 19.10.2023). This study was planned as an additional study from the study in which animal tissues were removed and ethical approval was obtained previously (the registry number: e-60758568-020-197540; date: 05.04.2022).

Authors' contributions to the article

E.K.T. and M.T.A. have constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. E.K.T. and M.T.A. they developed the theory and arranged/ edited the material and method section. E.K.T. and M.T.A. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article. Written by E.K.T. and M.T.A., E.K.T. and M.T.A. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Descriptive characteristics of spinal traumas in the Eastern Anatolia region of Türkiye: a 3-year retrospective analysis

Türkiye'de Doğu Anadolu bölgesinde spinal travmaların tanımlayıcı özellikleri: 3 yıllık retrospektif analiz

Murteza Çakır, Fatma Tortum, Kamber Kasali

Posted date:27.02.2024

Acceptance date:14.03.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Understanding the descriptive characteristics of traumatic spinal injuries such as etiology, epidemiology, mortality and their associations with mortality may facilitate the diagnosis and management of spinal traumas. Moreover, its incidence can be reduced through eliminating preventable causes. The present study aimed to assess the descriptive characteristics of spinal traumas and the conditions associated with mortality in our country.

Materials and methods: Our study was conducted retrospectively in the emergency service of a tertiary care hospital. Data of patients visiting to our hospital's emergency room between 2020 and 2023 with spinal trauma, were obtained from the hospital information management system by scanning electronic patient records for inclusion in the study.

Results: A total of 1835 patients were included in our study, of which 427 (23.3%) were female and 1408 (76.7%) were male. The most common complaint of the included patients who presented to the emergency room was observed as falls (n=1112). 52.8% (n=968) of those patients with special traumas had other concomitant injury. 3.7% (n=68) of the included patients resulted in death.

Conclusion: Falls are the most common cause of special traumas in our country and concomitant head trauma and thoracic trauma are closely associated with mortality. While men are more frequently presented to the emergency room with special trauma, there has been no difference between both sexes in terms of mortality rate. Moreover, the most common vertebral fractures after spinal trauma occur in the parts of the corpus and spinous processes of the lumbar vertebrae.

Keywords: Vertebra fracture, spinal trauma, etiology, epidemiology, Eastern Anatolia.

Cakir M, Tortum F, Kasali K. Descriptive characteristics of spinal traumas in the Eastern Anatolia region of Türkiye: a 3-year retrospective analysis. Pam Med J 2024;14:359-368.

Öz

Amaç: Spinal travmaların etiyoloji, epidemiyoloji, mortalite, mortalite ile ilişkili tanımlayıcı özelliklerinin bilinmesi spinal travmaların tanı, tedavisini kolaylaştırabilir. Ayrıca önlenebilir nedenlerin ortadan kaldırılması ile görülme sıklığı azaltılabilir. Bu çalışmada da ülkemizde spinal travmaların tanımlayıcı özellikleri ve mortalite ile ilişkili durumların değerlendirilmesi amaçlandı.

Gereç ve yöntem: Çalışmamız üçüncü düzey bir hastanenin acil servisinde retrospektif olarak yapılmıştır. 2020-2023 yılları arasında hastanemiz acil servisine omurga travması nedeniyle başvuran hastaların verileri, çalışmaya dahil edilmek üzere hastane bilgi yönetim sisteminden elektronik hasta kayıtları taranarak elde edildi. **Bulgular:** Çalışmamıza toplamda 1835 hasta dahil edilmiştir. Bu hastalardan 427 tanesi kadındı. Çalışmaya dahil edilen hastaların en sık acile başvuru şikâyeti düşme (n=1112) olarak gözlendi. Çalışmaya alınan hastalardan %52,8'inde (n=968) spinal travmaya eşlik eden başka bir yaralanma daha mevcuttu. Çalışmaya dahil edilen hastalardan %3,7'si (n=68) exitus olarak sonlanmıştır.

Sonuç: Ülkemizde en sık spinal travma nedeni düşmeler olup eşlik eden kafa travması ve toraks travması olması mortalite ile yakından ilişkilidir. Spinal travma ile erkekler daha sık acil servise başvururken mortalite oranı açısından her iki cinsiyet arasında bir fark bulunmamamıştır. Ayrıca spinal travma sonrasında en sık görülen vertebra fraktürü lomber vertebranın corpus ve processus spinosus kısımlarındadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Vertebra fraktürü, spinal travma, etiyoloji, epidemiyoloji, Doğu Anadolu.

Çakır M, Tortum F, Kasali K. Türkiye'de Doğu Anadolu bölgesinde spinal travmaların tanımlayıcı özellikleri: 3 yıllık retrospektif analiz. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;14:359-368.

Murteza Çakır, Assoc. Prof. Ataturk University, Medical School, Department of Neurosurgery, Erzurum, Türkiye, e-mail: m.ckr@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6186-5129)

Fatma Tortum, Asst. Prof. Ataturk University, Medical School, Department of Emergency Medicine, Erzurum, Türkiye, e-mail: drcitirik@hotmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1876-5998) (Corresponding Author)

Kamber Kasali, Asst. Prof. Ataturk University, Medical School, Department of Biostatistics, Erzurum, Türkiye, e-mail: kamber@atauni.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2851-5263)

Introduction

Physicians dealing with the trauma frequently encounter spinal traumas (ST) and vertebral fractures (VFr). The incidence of VFr has been reported as 24-90 cases per 100.000 people [1]. Despite current treatment modalities, prolonged rehabilitation, prolonged absence from work or permanent disability may occur. Consequently, VFr is often associated with a significant impact on daily life activities, leading to a considerable primary and secondary socioeconomic cost burden.

Today, changing living conditions have led to changes in the socio-demographic characteristics and trauma mechanisms of patients impacted by ST. Increased life expectancy has also increased the risk of VFr development at advanced ages [2]. The mechanism of trauma can result from various causes such as falls, traffic accidents, gunshot wounds, battery, sports injuries, etc. Currently, it has been reported that ST and VFr-related injuries frequently occur as a result of falls in elderly patients and motor vehicle accidents in young patients [3]. Different results were obtained in similar studies. This may vary with factors such as geographical structure, level of development of the country and differences in driving legislation [4].

Concomitant injuries in patients with spinal trauma vary depending on factors such as the patient's presence of comorbid diseases, treatment options (the need for surgical repair) and gender in the studies [4, 5]. A study analyzed concomitant injuries based on the three spinal regions: cervical, thoracic, and lumbar. That study demonstrated that cranial injuries were the most common in patients with cervical ST, lung injuries were the most common in patients with thoracic ST, and intra-abdominal organ injuries were the most common in patients with lumbar ST [6]. Another study found that patients with lumbar ST had a higher risk for concurrent thoracic and retroperitoneal cavity visceral injuries [7].

We consider that the data we will obtain from the center where our study was conducted will be descriptive for the Eastern Anatolia region of our country, due to frequent admission of patients from rural centers and other provinces in the Eastern Anatolia region. Given the different outcomes of ST in different countries and regions, in this study, we aimed to assess the demographic variations in ST in our region, the most common vertebra and part of the vertebra where a fracture occurs if VFr occurs, the mechanism of injury, treatment options (outpatient, inpatient), the presence of comorbid conditions and concomitant injuries.

Material and method

Our study was conducted retrospectively in the emergency room of a tertiary care hospital. Data of patients visiting to our hospital's emergency room from January 1, 2020 to January 1, 2023 with ST and suspected with Vfr, were obtained from the hospital information management system by scanning electronic patient records for inclusion in the study.

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from Ataturk University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee.

Study population

From January 1, 2020 to January 1, 2023, 8956 patients presenting to the emergency room with suspected VFr who had ST were identified from the hospital information management system. No age range was determined for the patients included in our study. Patients for whom we could access all data and patient records from the electronic system were included in the study. Patients who were found to have only vertebral radiographs in the electronic patient files were excluded from the study. Also, patients who were seen to be pregnant and who received spinal magnetic resonance imaging for spinal imaging were excluded from the study. In addition, since the study evaluated patients who were first presented to the emergency room, patients who received spinal tomography other than at the time of presentation to the emergency room or whose image quality was not suitable for spinal evaluation were also excluded from the study. Patients who were planned to be included in the study but whose data were incomplete were also excluded. Patients who requested discharge during clinical observation were also excluded from the study because we could not follow their final status. When all inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied, 1835 patients were included in the study (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flow chart showing the patients included in the study

Acquisition of data

The electronic health records of patients with suspected VFr who had ST in the emergency room including age, gender, trauma mechanism, presence of accompanying comorbid conditions (such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, coronary artery disease, chronic endocrine disorders requiring chronic medication use), treatment modality (outpatient, inpatient treatments), presence of VFr, if VFr is present, which part of the vertebral column is affected (cervical, thoracic, lumbar), which part of the vertebra is affected (corpus, transverse process, spinous process), the presence of concomitant injury, which part of the vertebra is affected if concomitant injury is present (brain, thorax, abdomen, genitourinary, pelvis, extremity, neck, maxillofacial), the clinical outcomes of the patients (death or discharge) and vertebral tomography images were obtained from the electronic patient records.

The CT scans for the patients at the time of their presentation to the emergency department were re-evaluated by two radiologists with 5-10 years of professional experience. Patients' vertebral and other systemic pathologies were recorded.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with the IBM SPSS 20 statistical analysis program. Data are presented as percentages and numbers. Comparisons between categorical variables were made using the Pearson Chi-square test or Fisher's Exact test. The statistical significance level was taken as p<0.05.

Results

A total of 1835 patients were included in our study, of which 427 (23.3%) were female and 1408 (76.7%) were male. The most common complaint of the included patients who presented to the emergency room was observed as falls (n=1112). 442 patients were evaluated in the emergency room due to ST caused by traffic accidents. VFr was present in 833 of the patients included in our study. The most commonly injured vertebrae were lumbar vertebrae (n=568). The socio-demographic characteristics of the patients included in the study and the descriptive characteristics of their trauma are summarized in Table 1.

Variable	Mean±SD	(min-max)
Age	36.8±21.5	(0-93)
Variable	n	%
Gender		
Female	427	23.3
Male	1408	76.7
Cause of trauma		
Falls	1112	61
Traffic accident	442	24
Battery	83	4.5
Animal attack	50	2.7
Gunshot wound	8	0.4
Sharp object injuries	16	0.8
Electric shock	36	2
Vaccines	24	1.2
Trapped under rubble or Injured by falling object	64	3.4
Type of Medical Care		
Hospitalization	1108	60
Discharged from emergency	727	40
Receiving spinal surgical treatment	311	16.9
Presence of fracture in any vertebra	833	45
Fractured cervical vertebra	63	3.4
Fractured thoracic vertebra	202	11
Fractured lumbar vertebrae	568	30.6
Vertebral corpus fracture	309	16.5
Spinous process fracture	395	21.5
Transverse process fracture	112	6.1
Spondylolisthesis	13	0.7
Odontoid process	4	0.2

Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of the patients and descriptive characteristics of their trauma

Of the patients included in the study, 52.8% (n=968)had another concomitant injury associated with ST. The most common concomitant injury was thoracic trauma (n=357). The rate of consultation to neurosurgery clinic in patients with ST was 29.9% (n=548). Of the patients included information are summarized in Table 2.

in the study, 5.3% (n=97) had comorbid diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, and heart failure. The rate of death in patients was 3.7% (8n=68). Other concomitant injuries associated with ST and consultation

Variable	n	%
Presence of other concomitant injuries associated with spinal trauma	968	52.8
Thoracic injury	357	19.5
Extremity injury	336	18.3
Head trauma	269	14.6
Maxillofacial injury	227	12.4
Abdominal injury	126	6.9
Pelvic injury	120	6.5
Neck injury	9	0.5
Genitourinary injury	3	0.2
Patients requested for consultation	1080	58.9
Number of patients for whom neurosurgical consultation was requested	548	29.9
Number of patients requested for orthopedic consultation	407	22.2
Number of patients requested for thoracic surgery consultation	355	19.4
Number of patients requested for general surgery consultation	140	7.6
Number of patients requested for otolaryngology consultation	136	7.4
Number of patients requested for ophthalmology consultation	107	5.8
Number of patients requested for urology consultation	83	4.5
Number of patients requiring maxillofacial surgery consultation	79	4.3
Number of patients requested for cardiovascular surgery consultation	47	2.6
Number of patients requested for pediatric surgery consultation	45	2.5
Number of patients for whom plastic and reconstructive surgery consultation was requested	39	2.1
Patient's outcome		
Death	68	3.7
Discharge	1767	96.3
The presence of chronic disease		
Having a chronic disease	97	5.3
No chronic disease	1738	94.7

Table 2. Other concomitant injuries in patients with spinal trauma and their consultation information

Of the patients included in the study, 3.7% injury with ST was associated with the patient's patients and the presence of traumas other than ST, indicated that the presence of concomitant

(n=68) resulted in death. An examination of outcome (p<0.001). The association of gender, the association between the outcome of these concomitant injury and consultations with patient's outcome is summarized in Table 3.

h patient's outcome
s with
consultation
and
injury
ociation of gender, concomitant injury and consultations with
of gender,
ŝ
с Э
able 3. As:

			Patient's outcome	me	
	Δ	Death	Dis	Discharged	1 /0/ 0 0/ U
Variable	Number of (n)	Percentage (%)	Number (n)	Percentage (%)	r value (%)
Gender					
Female	20	29.4%	407	23%	0.222
Male	48	70.6%	1360	77%	
Concomitant injury	63	92.6%	905	51.2%	
No concomitant injury	S	7.4%	862	48.8%	<0.001
Concomitant head injury	40	58.8%	229	13%	
No concomitant head injury	28	41.2%	1538	87%	20.001
Concomitant thorax injury	40	58.8%	317	17.9%	100 01
No concomitant thoracic injury	28	41.2%	1450	82.1%	<0.001
Concomitant abdominal injury	15	22.1%	111	6.3%	
No concomitant abdominal injury	53	77.9%	1656	93.7%	100.02
Concomitant pelvic injury	13	19.1%	107	6.1%	100 07
No concomitant pelvic injury	55	80.9%	1660	93.9%	1.00.02
Concomitant extremity injury	18	26.5%	318	18%	0.076
No concomitant extremity injury	50	73.5%	1449	82%	0.0.0
Concomitant neck injury	-	1.5%	8	0.5%	0.200
No concomitant neck injury	67	98.5%	1759	99.5%	0.203
Concomitant maxillofacial injury	12	17.6%	215	12.2%	0 1 7 0
No concomitant maxillofacial injury	56	82.4%	1552	87.8%	0.170
Concomitant genitourinary injury	0	%0	3	0.2%	Ţ
No concomitant genitourinary injury	68	100%	1764	8.66	_
Consultation requested	68	100%	1012	57.3%	100.07
					-00.0/

			Patient's outcome	ne	
		Death	Dis	Discharged	(/0/ Uline (0/)
Variable	Number of (n)	Percentage (%)	Number (n)	Percentage (%)	r value (%)
Neurosurgery consultation requested	58	85.3%	490	27.7%	100 01
Not requested	10	14.7%	1277	72.3%	100.02
Thoracic surgery consultation requested	39	57.4%	316	17.9%	100.01
Not requested	29	42.6%	1450	82.1%	100.02
General surgery consultation requested	20	29.4%	120	6.8%	100.01
Not requested	48	70.6%	1647	93.2%	100.02
Orthopedic consultation requested	22	32.4%	385	21.8%	
Not requested	46	67.6%	1382	78.2%	0.04
Urology consultation requested	10	14.7%	73	4.1%	100.01
Not requested	58	85.3%	1693	95.9%	100.02
Ophthalmology consultation requested	5	7.4%	102	5.8%	022
Not requested	63	92.6%	1664	94.2%	0.119
Otolaryngology consultation requested	8	11.8%	128	7.2%	0 162
Not requested	60	88.2%	1639	92.8%	0.103
Maxillofacial surgery consultation requested	4	5.9%	75	4.2%	
Not requested	64	94.1%	1692	95.8%	0.034
Pediatric surgery consultation requested	ę	4.4%	42	2.4%	
Not requested	65	95.6%	1725	97.6%	0.231
Cardiovascular surgery consultation requested	2	2.9%	45	2.5%	0 600
Not requested	66	97.1%	1722	97.5%	0.032
Plastic-reconstructive surgery consultation requested	5	7.4%	34	1.9%	0.012
Not requested	63	92.6%	1733	98.1%	0.015
Patient has a comorbidity	52	76.5%	1686	95.4%	100.0/
	(2		100.02

Table 3. Association of gender, concomitant injury and consultations with patient's outcome (continued)

As a result of our study, we observed that patients with ST who were evaluated at our hospital over the past three years had a mortality rate of 3.7%, which was independent of gender. While the incidence of ST was observed more frequently in male patients in our study consistent with the literature, no significant difference was observed between both genders in terms of mortality, which aligns with the findings of the study of Barbiellini Amidei et al. [8]. This may be linked with patient-dependent factors such as concomitant comorbid diseases, age at exposure to trauma, social engagement or the type of trauma.

The etiology of ST may differ depending on the country and region of residence. Some previous studies have shown that falls are the primary etiology of ST in developing countries, while motor vehicle accidents are the typical primary etiology in developed countries [9]. Alshahri and Alshehri [10] identified motor vehicle accidents as the most common cause of ST in their country. A study conducted in our country in 2013 found that falls were the most common etiologic cause of ST, consistent with our findings [11]. The decrease in motor vehicle accidents in various countries can be attributed to different factors [9]. The fact that the vehicles produced in today's technology are more protective, increased compliance with traffic rules, and legal regulations, potentially leading to less severe motor vehicle accidents.

Our study showed that the most common vertebrae fractured as a result of ST were lumbar vertebrae. In the study by Mahmud et al. [12] however, cervical vertebral fractures were observed most frequently. However, the most common etiology in the study by Mahmud et al. [12] was motor vehicle accidents, while the most common etiology of ST in our study was falls. Hence, the level of fractured vertebra may have changed depending on the mechanism of trauma. Furthermore, the fact that lumbar vertebrae are less protected and more flexible may increase the frequency of lumbar vertebral fractures. Shahriari et al. [13] also identified fractures in the corpus and transverse process of the lumbar vertebrae most frequently in patients with ST resulting from a fall. Yet, when the same study was evaluated in detail, it was observed that spinous process fractures in ST caused by falls were higher than spinous process fractures in motor vehicle accidents, the second most common cause of ST [13]. In our study, corpus and spinous process fractures were frequently observed in the lumbar vertebrae. Falls on the spinous process during falls or hyper-extension movement to avoid falls may have increased the injuries in the posterior vertebrae.

Injuries in other systems are likely to be present in patients with ST. The likelihood of concurrent injuries with ST was observed in 63% of patients with cervical spine injury, 79% of patients with thoracic spine injury, and 71% of patients with lumbar spine injury [6]. Of the patients included in our study, 52.8% had another concurrent injury with ST. These injuries may affect the brain, thorax, abdomen, genitourinary system or extremities. Studies are showing that abdominal injury is frequent, especially in patients with lumbar VFr [13]. In contrast to this, in our study, thoracic injuries were observed to be the most common concurrent injury in patients with VFr. Similarly, Anandasivam et al. [6] emphasized that the most common concurrent injury in patients with lumbar VFr was in the thoracic region.

The mortality rate in patients with ST is between 4-18% [14]. Our study found a mortality rate of 3.7% which is consistent with the literature. In patients with ST, mortality was most commonly observed in patients with cervical VFr [8]. In our study, the association of mortality with the injured vertebral region was not evaluated. Nevertheless, the association of mortality with concurrent injuries of the patients was evaluated. Mortality will increase as concurrent injuries increase in patients with ST. In our study, 63 of the 68 patients who resulted in death had concurrent injuries. Our study showed that head traumas, and thoracic traumas in particular, were more prevalent among other injuries in patients resulting in death. When trauma patients are evaluated overall in the literature, brain and thorax injuries have a high rate among the leading causes of premature death. Since the first visits of ST patients to the hospital were evaluated in this study, it is not surprising that brain and thorax injuries were frequently observed in our patients resulting in death. Also, our work on this situation showed

that the most frequent consultation requested, apart from the neurosurgery clinic, was for the thoracic surgery clinic in patients resulting in death.

Our study has several limitations. Since our study was retrospective, our data were collected by scanning electronic patient records. This has resulted in missing data. Furthermore, we were unable to obtain outcome information for some patients who requested to seek treatment at other centers. We had to exclude these patients from the study, which resulted in missing data. The association of mortality with the level of VFr of our patients was not evaluated. Moreover, when evaluating the etiologies of ST in patients, the fall group was not divided into falls from their height level or falls from a height. Therefore, the difference between these two groups could not be evaluated.

In conclusion, our study is significant for highlighting the descriptive characteristics of STs in the recent period in Türkiye, particularly in the Eastern region. While ST is a more common cause for the male population presenting to the emergency room, there is no difference between both sexes in terms of mortality. ST is more common in young and middle-aged individuals who are active in daily life. Despite variations in etiology, considering the frequency of ST in the group who are active in daily life, the advancing technology, and living conditions today, falls are the most common cause of ST. Although it depends on the etiology of ST, VFr is most commonly seen in the corpus and spinous process region in the lumbar region. Concomitant injuries are common. However, head trauma and thoracic trauma are the most common concomitant injuries and are also the most frequently associated with mortality.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Hoyt D, Urits I, Orhurhu V, et al. Current concepts in the management of vertebral compression fractures. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2020;24:16(e1-10). https://doi. org/10.1007/s11916-020-00849-9
- Breitenbach M, Phan A, Botros M, et al. The fourth column of the spine: Prevalence of sternal fractures and concurrent thoracic spinal fractures. Injury 2022;53:1062-1067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. injury.2021.12.040

- Kumar R, Lim J, Mekary RA, et al. Traumatic spinal injury: global epidemiology and worldwide volume. World Neurosurg 2018;113:345-363. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2018.02.033
- Algahtany M, McFaull S, Chen L, et al. The changing etiology and epidemiology of traumatic spinal injury: a population-based study. World Neurosurg 2021;149:116-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wneu.2021.02.066
- Zileli M, Sharif S, Fornari M. Incidence and epidemiology of thoracolumbar spine fractures: WFNS Spine Committee recommendations. Neurospine 2021;18:704-712. https://doi.org/10.14245/ ns.2142418.209
- Anandasivam NS, Ondeck NT, Bagi PS, et al. Spinal fractures and/or spinal cord injuries are associated with orthopedic and internal organ injuries in proximity to the spinal injury. NASSJ 2021;6:100057. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.xnsj.2021.100057
- Tang A, Gambhir N, Menken LG, et al. Identification of concomitant injuries associated with specific spine level fractures in polytrauma patients. Injury 2022;53:1068-1072. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2021.12.005
- Barbiellini Amidei C, Salmaso L, Bellio S, Saia M. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury: a large population-based study. Spinal Cord 2022;60:812-819. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41393-022-00795-w
- Golestani A, Shobeiri P, Sadeghi Naini M. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in developing countries from 2009 to 2020: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Neuroepidemiology 2022;56:219-239. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000524867
- Alshahri S, Alshehri A. Traumatic spinal cord Injury (TSCI) in King Fahd Medical City, an epidemiological study. Paper presented at: Global Congress on Physiotherapy, Physical Rehabilitation and Sports Medicine 18-19 November; 2019 (Paris), France.
- Erdoğan M Ö, Anlaş Demir S, Koşargelir M, Colak S, Öztürk E. Local differences in the epidemiology of traumatic spinal injuries. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2013;19:49-52. https://doi.org/10.5505/ tjtes.2013.74501
- Mahmud M, Alfin D, Gana S, et al. Clinical characteristics and challenges of management of traumatic spinal cord injury in a trauma center of a developing country. J Neurosci Rural Pract 2019;10:393-399. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-0039-1695696
- Shahriari M, Sadaghiani MS, Spina M, Yousem DM, Franck B. Traumatic lumbar spine fractures: transverse process fractures dominate. Clinical Imaging 2021;71:44-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clinimag.2020.11.012
14. Chhabra HS, Sharawat R, Vishwakarma G. In-hospital mortality in people with complete acute traumatic spinal cord injury at a tertiary care center in India-a retrospective analysis. Spinal Cord 2022;60:210-215. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41393-021-00657-x

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Ataturk University Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (permission date: 21.02.2024, permission number 1/43).

Authors' contributions

M.C. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. M.C., F.T. and K.K. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. M.C., F.T. and K.K. have evaluated the data in the results section. The discussion section of the article was written by M.C. and F.T.. K.K. reviewed, corrected, and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Effects of boric acid on oxidant-antioxidant, proinflammatory cytokine levels, and biochemical parameters in aged rats

Yaşlı sıçanlarda borik asidin oksidan-antioksidan, proinflamatuar sitokin seviyeleri ve biyokimyasal parametreler üzerine etkisi

Mehmet Başeğmez, Muhammed Fatih Doğan

Posted date:17.02.2024

Acceptance date:19.03.2024

Abstract

Purpose: As a result of the literature studies, it was seen that boric acid was the subject of many studies, and its effects on living things were investigated and examined. This study aimed to investigate the effects of oral boric acid supplementation at pharmacologic doses on physiological and biochemical systems in aged rats.

Material and methods: A total of 32 Wistar Albino male-aged rats were randomly and equally divided into the following four groups: 1st; Control=1 ml saline; 2nd; Low-dose boric acid (L-BA)=10 mg/kg; 3rd; Medium-dose boric acid (M-BA)=20 mg/kg; 4th; High-dose boric acid (H-BA)=40 mg/kg. Boric acid was given orally to aged rats for 28 days. Blood, liver, and kidney samples of rats were collected on day 29 to be analyzed for oxidants, antioxidants, proinflammatory cytokines, and biochemical changes.

Result: Boric acid significantly increased albumin, total protein, calcium levels equally in all boric acid groups compared to the control group (p<0.05), increased cholesterol parameter only in H-BA group (p<0.05), increased phosphor level in M-BA and H-BA groups compared to control and L-BA groups (p<0.05), total bilirubin level was increased only in L-BA group (p<0.05), blood urea nitrogen level was increased in L-BA and M-BA groups (p<0.05), alanine aminotransferase level was increased only in M-BA group (p<0.05), creatine kinase and glucose levels were increased boric acid in all groups compared to control group (p<0.05). However, boric acid did not affect globulin, creatine, alkaline phosphatase, and amylase levels in a dose-dependent manner (p>0.05). Boric acid significantly decreased MDA levels (p<0.05) and increased GSH, SOD, and CAT enzyme activities (p<0.05) in liver and kidney tissues in a dose-dependent manner. In addition, boric acid decreased plasma IL-6 and TNF- α proinflammatory cytokine levels (p<0.05).

Conclusion: This study demonstrated that boric acid supplementation has ameliorative effects in a dosedependent manner on lipid peroxidation, immunomodulation, and regulation of many blood biochemical parameters in aged rats.

Keywords: Age, antioxidant, boric acid, oxidant, proinflammatory cytokine.

Basegmez M, Dogan MF. Effects of boric acid on oxidant-antioxidant, proinflammatory cytokine levels, and biochemical parameters in aged rats. Pam Med J 2024;17:369-379.

Öz

Amaç: Yapılan literatür çalışmaları neticesinde borik asit 'in birçok çalışmaya konu olduğu ve canlıya olan etkilerinin araştırılarak incelendiği görülmüştür. Bu çalışmada yaşlı sıçanlarda farmakolojik dozlarda uygulanan oral borik asit takviyesinin fizyolojik ve biyokimyasal sistemlerdeki etkilerinin araştırılması amaçlanmıştır.

Gereç ve yöntem: Toplam 32 adet Wistar Albino erkek yaşlı sıçan rastgele ve eşit olarak aşağıdaki dört gruba ayrılmıştır: 1.; Kontrol=1ml salin, 2.; Düşük-doz borik asit (L-BA)=10 mg/kg, 3.; Orta-doz borik asit (M-BA)=20 mg/kg, 4.; Yüksek-doz borik asit (H-BA)=40 mg/kg. Yaşlı sıçanlara 28 gün boyunca borik asit oral olarak verilmiştir. Sıçanların kanı, karaciğer ve böbrek örnekleri oksidan, antioksidan, proinflamatuar sitokinler ve biyokimyasal değişiklikler açısından analiz edilmek üzere 29. günde toplanmıştır.

Bulgular: Borik asit, albümin, total protein ve kalsiyum düzeylerini kontrol grubuna kıyasla tüm borik asit gruplarında eşit oranda artırırken (p<0,05), kolesterol parametresini sadece H-BA grubunda artırmıştır (p<0,05). Borik asit fosfor düzeyini kontrol ve L-BA gruplarına kıyasla M-BA ve H-BA gruplarında artırırken (p<0,05), total bilirubin düzeyini sadece L-BA grubunda (p<0,05), kan üre nitrojen düzeyini L-BA ve M-BA gruplarında artırmıştır (p<0,05). Ayrıca alanın aminotransferaz düzeyini sadece M-BA grubunda artırırken (p<0,05), kreatin kinaz ve glukoz düzeylerini kontrol grubuna kıyasla tüm gruplarda artırdığı tespit edilmiştir (p<0,05). Ancak borik asit asidin globulin, kreatin, alkalin fosfataz, amilaz düzeyleri üzerinde doza bağlı bir etkisi olmamıştır (p<0,05). Borik asit karaciğer ve böbrek dokularında MDA düzeylerini önemli ölçüde azaltmış (p<0,05) ve GSH, SOD ve CAT enzim aktivitelerini artırmıştır (p<0,05). Ayrıca, borik asit plazma IL-6 ve TNF- α proinflamatuar sitokin düzeylerini azaltmıştır (p<0,05).

Mehmet Başeğmez, MSc. Pamukkale University, Acıpayam Vocational High School, Department of Veterinary, Laboratory and Veterinary Health Program, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: mbasegmez@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9994-1251) (Corresponding Author)

Muhammed Fatih Doğan, Assoc. Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Pharmacology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: mfatihdogan89@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4628-2771)

Sonuç: Bu çalışma borik asit takviyesinin yaşlı sıçanlarda lipid peroksidasyonu, immünomodülasyon ve birçok kan biyokimyasal parametresinin düzenlenmesi üzerinde doza bağlı olarak iyileştirici etkileri olduğunu göstermiştir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Yaş, antioksidan, borik asit, oksidan, proinflamatuar sitokin.

Başeğmez M, Doğan MF. Yaşlı sıçanlarda borik asidin oksidan-antioksidan, proinflamatuar sitokin seviyeleri ve biyokimyasal parametreler üzerine etkisi. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:369-379.

Introduction

The aging process is one of the most significant examples of homeostasis disruption, which affects physiological systems, especially the immune, nervous, and endocrine systems, including oxidative stress and inflammation [1]. Thus, aging can be characterized as a progressive and widespread decline in the organism's functioning that results in a reduced capacity to adapt to changes and maintain homeostasis [2].

Boric acid, which is widely used in both industrial and consumer products, exists in nature as a mineral substance [3]. It has been proven in various experimental studies that boron and its compounds are beneficial for humans and animals [4]. Boric acid has been shown to play a significant function in preserving health through nutritional and pharmacological intakes [5]. The effects of boric acid on enzyme, mineral, and hormone metabolism have been previously demonstrated [5]. Indeed, boron supplements in diets have been demonstrated to play key roles in bone development by reducing calcium excretion and increasing plasma-ionized calcium and phosphorus levels [6]. It is known that boron plays an important role in the inflammatory response by suppressing the activities of some enzymes, such as 6-phosphogluconate [4]. There are also a few studies showing the importance of boron on antioxidant activity by destroying reactive oxygen species [7]. It has been reported that oral boric acid administration increases GSH and CAT antioxidant enzyme levels in the body and prevents oxidative damage by inhibiting reactive oxygen species [8]. In a previous study, boric acid and borax supplementation were shown to reduce lipid peroxidation and increase antioxidant activity by decreasing blood MDA levels and increasing blood GSH levels [9]. Boric acid has been suggested to be better than borax in combating heavy metal toxicity [10]. Furthermore, boron compounds, particularly boric acid and borax, have been demonstrated to decrease oxidative stress by boosting the antioxidant system in several disease and toxicity models [3].

The most important sources of boron and its derivatives are plants and drinking water. A report by the World Health Organization (WHO) reports that nearly 1.2 mg of boron is consumed daily through nutrients, with 0.2-0.6 mg ingested with drinking water. It has been reported that the safe dosage range for individuals is 1-13 mg/ day and that a daily intake of less than 1 mg is inadequate [11]. Oral boric acid supplements have been observed to be easily absorbed from the gastrointestinal system in humans and animals and quickly dispersed throughout the body. Regardless of the mode of administration, boric acid has been observed to be quickly excreted unchanged in the urine in less than 24 hours in both people and animals [12].

Considering previous studies, the importance of boric acid, a boron compound, for homeostasis is emphasized. In this study, different doses of oral boric acid supplementation were administrated to aged rats. It investigated how oral boric acid supplementation influenced biochemical parameters in serum, as well as oxidant and antioxidant markers in kidney and liver tissue.

Materials and methods

Chemical

Boric acid (H3BO3) (Code number: V55901), purchased from Chemistry Lab Istanbul, Türkiye, was used as a test compound.

Animals and experimental model

This study began following the approval of the Pamukkale University Animal Experiments Ethics Committee. In this study, thirty-two male-aged rats (aged between 24-28 months) were purchased from Pamukkale University Experimental Surgery Application and Research Center, Denizli, Türkiye. The rats were checked daily at regular intervals under the supervision of a veterinarian. Rats were housed in cages in the experimental animal unit at a temperature of 22±1°C, 50% humidity, 12 hours of light/ darkness, and regular ventilation. To feed the rats, standard rat food and fresh drinking water were given ad libitum every day. The control group of rats received 1 ml of physiological saline orally by gastric gavage daily for 28 days. Boric acid was applied by oral gastric gavage for 28 days at the dose ranges specified in Table 1.

Table 1. The procedure process and experimental groups

Groups	28. days	29. days
Control group	1mL oral saline was given for twenty-eight days	Rats in all
Boric acid 10 mg/kg group (L-BA)	10 mg/kg of boric acid was given for twenty-eight days	groups will be sacrificed on
Boric acid 20 mg/kg group (M-BA)	20 mg/kg of boric acid was given for twenty-eight days	day 29 of the
Boric acid 40 mg/kg group (H-BA)	40 mg/kg of boric acid was given for twenty-eight days	experiment

After the application period, which lasted a total of 28 days, the animals were sacrificed by anesthetizing with a combination of xylazine HCl and ketamine HCl after a 24-hour fast following the last application. Samples of blood were extracted from the abdominal aorta of each rat into lithium heparin and serum separator tubes. After centrifugation of blood samples at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C, plasma and serum samples were obtained.

Determination of TNF- α and IL-6

Plasma TNF- α (Cat. No. E0764Ra) and IL-6 (Cat. No. E0135Ra) levels were determined using a commercial rat ELISA kit from Bioassay Technology Laboratory, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Biochemical evaluation

Albumin (ALB), total protein (TP), globulin calcium (CA), (GLO), creatine (CRE), phosphorus (P), total bilirubin (TBIL), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), creatine kinase (CK), amylase (AMY), glucose (GLU), and cholesterol (CHOL) were measured from serum samples using the MNCHIP Veterinary Chemistry Analyzer Pointcare v3 device. To determine oxidant and antioxidant markers in the liver and kidney tissues of rats, the tissues were first washed with 0.9% NaCl. Subsequently, tissues were homogenized at a 1:40 w/v ratio in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (PH=7.4). The tissue homogenates were then centrifuged at 4°C and

3500 rpm for 10 minutes to obtain the supernatant [13]. The supernatants that were collected were used to test the activities of glutathione (GSH), superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and malondialdehyde (MDA). The MDA concentration in tissue supernatants, an indication of lipid peroxidation, was measured using Ohkawa et al. [14] methods. The GSH concentration was determined in tissue supernatants using the method presented by Beutler et al. [15]. For SOD enzyme activity, Sun et al. [16] and for CAT enzyme activity, using the method described by Aebi [17] were used.

Statistical analysis

The results obtained from the study were analyzed in SPSS 28.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics 28 software (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.)). GraphPad Prism 9.5 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used for graphical presentations. All results are expressed in mean±standard error of the mean (SEM). The normal distribution of the data was performed by the Shapiro-Wilk test, and data normality was found to be greater than 0.05. In addition, the assumption of homogeneity of the variance of the data was examined by Levene's statistical test, and a value greater than 0.05 was obtained. When the parametric test assumptions were met, oneway analysis of variance was used to compare independent group means, and the level of statistical significance between the means was determined by the Duncan test. In all analyses, *p*<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

In the study, the effects of oral boric acid supplements administered at pharmacological doses [3] on aged rats on serum biochemical parameters are given in Table 2. While oral boric acid supplementation did not affect GLO, AMY, ALP, and CRE levels (p>0.05), it was observed to significantly increase ALB, TP, and CA levels without any dose-related statistical effect (p<0.05). The GLU and CK levels significantly increased in the boric acid group compared with the control group (p<0.05). Also, the M-BA and H-BA groups demonstrated a similar statistical rate of increase in GLU and CK levels (p>0.05). The P level was not different between the control and L-BA groups (p>0.05), but considerably increased in the M-BA and H-BA groups compared to the control and L-BA groups (p<0.05). The H-BA group demonstrated a significant reduction in CHOL levels compared to the control and boric acid groups (p<0.05). BUN levels were statistically similar in control and H-BA doses, whereas L-BA and M-BA doses significantly increased BUN levels (p<0.05). Significant increases in ALT and TBIL levels were observed in the M-BA and L-BA groups, respectively (p<0.05).

Parameters	Control	L-BA	M-BA	H-BA
ALB (g/dL)	2.56±0.14 ^b	3.20±0.12ª	3.30±0.08ª	3.31±0.06ª
TP (g/dL)	6.03±0.13 ^b	6.74±0.09ª	6.81±0.16ª	6.82±0.08ª
GLO (g/dL)	3.61±0.09	3.61±0.11	3.43±0.10	3.51±0.12
CA (mg/dL)	8.08+0.10 ^b	9.48±0.13ª	9.60±0.11ª	9.64±0.06ª
CRE (mg/dL)	0.48±0.06	0.52±0.02	0.54±0.05	0.49±0.03
P (mg/dl)	6.08±0.20 ^b	6.56±0.26 ^b	7.50±0.15ª	7.66±0.19ª
TBIL (mg/dL)	0.18±0.02 ^b	0.24±0.02ª	0.22±0.01 ^{ab}	0.19±0.02 ^{ab}
BUN (mg/dL)	15.54±0.46°	16.95±0.41 ^₅	18.08±0.25ª	16.08±0.26 ^{bc}
ALT (U/L)	48.00±1.83 ^b	46.25±1.92 ^₅	55.25±2.09ª	48.37±1.44 ^b
ALP (U/L)	152.75±9.28	128.00±10.59	130.75±6.30	135.50±7.76
CK (U/L)	587.25±15.99°	710.37±22.80 ^b	771.56±25.98ª	885.12±25.87ª
AMY (U/L)	522.25±29.40	527.25±14.13	559.88±21.64	526.63±15.86
GLU (mg/dL)	175.12±4.82°	201.50±6.05 ^ь	229.37±7.31ª	240.75±6.03ª
CHOL(mg/dL)	115.38±6.04ª	119.50±7.56ª	118.00±4.85ª	91.50±5.55⁵

The values were expressed as means ± SEM

^{a,b,c} In the same line values with different letters show statistically significant differences in serum (*p*<0.05)

ALB: Albumin, TP: Total Protein, GLO: Globulin, CA: Calcium, CRE: Creatine, P: Phosphor TBIL: Total bilirubin, BUN: Blood Urea Nitrogen ALT: Alanine Aminotransferase, ALP: Alkaline Phosphatase, CK: Creatinine Kinase, AMY: Amylase, GLU: Glucose

CHOL: Cholesterol.L-BA: Boric Acid 10mg/kg, M-BA: Boric Acid 20mg/kg, H-BA: Boric Acid 40mg/kg

In the study, the effects of oral boric acid supplements administered at pharmacological doses to aged rats on liver MDA, GSH, SOD, and CAT activities are given in Table 3. Boric acid did not statistically affect MDA levels in the L-BA group (p>0.05) and significantly reduced MDA levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups (p<0.05). Boric acid significantly increased dose-dependent GSH levels compared to the control group (p<0.05). Boric acid did not statistically affect SOD levels in the L-BA group (p>0.05) and increased SOD levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups (p<0.05). Boric acid did not statistically affect CAT levels in the L-BA group and dose-dependently increased CAT levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups.

Groups	Liver MDA (nmol/g tissue)	Liver GSH (nmol/g tissue)	Liver SOD (nmol/g tissue)	Liver CAT (nmol/g tissue)
Control	4.51±0.52ª	19.52±0.64°	3.24±0.16°	1.48±0.11°
L-BA	4.35±0.32ª	23.82±0.74 ^b	3.69±0.13°	1.78±0.09°
M-BA	3.13±0.38 ^b	25.06±1.29 ^b	4.30±0.72 ^b	2.18±0.10 ^b
H-BA	1.57±0.12°	31.44±1.25ª	5.19±0.23ª	2.51±0.12ª

Table 3. Effects of boric acid supplementation on MDA, GSH, SOD, and CAT activities in the liver tissue of rats (n=8)

The values were expressed as means ± SEM, ^{a,b,c} Different letters in the same column represent statistically significant differences (*p*<0.05) MDA: Malondialdehyde, GSH: Glutathione, SOD: Superoxide Dismutase, CAT: Catalase, L-BA: Boric Acid 10mg/kg M-BA: Boric Acid 20mg/kg, H-BA: Boric Acid 40mg/kg

In the study, the effects of oral boric acid supplements administered at pharmacological doses to aged rats on kidney MDA, GSH, SOD, and CAT activities are given in Table 4. Boric acid did not statistically affect MDA levels in the L-BA group (p>0.05) and significantly reduced MDA levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups (p<0.05). Boric acid significantly increased dose-dependent GSH levels compared to the control group (p<0.05). Boric acid did not statistically affect SOD levels in the L-BA group (p>0.05) and increased SOD levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups (p<0.05). Boric acid did not statistically affect CAT levels in the L-BA group and increased CAT levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups (p<0.05).

Table 4. Effects of boric acid supplementation on MDA, GSH, SOD, and CAT activities in the kidney tissue of rats (n=8)

Groups	Kidney MDA (nmol/g tissue)	Kidney GSH (nmol/g tissue)	Kidney SOD (nmol/g tissue)	Kidney CAT (nmol/g tissue)
Control	7.15±0.63ª	19.86±0.55°	3.98±0.21°	0.44±0.02 ^b
L-BA	6.69±0.43 ^{ab}	25.36±0.50 ^b	4.31±0.27 ^{bc}	0.54±0.03 ^b
M-BA	5.21±0.61 ^{bc}	30.40±0.77ª	4.83±0.23 ^{ab}	0.73±0.04ª
H-BA	4.83±0.34°	32.28±1.30ª	5.06±0.19ª	0.89±0.04ª
	aha			

The values were expressed as means ± SEM, ^{a,b,c} Different letters in the same column represent statistically significant differences (*p*<0.05) MDA: Malondialdehyde, GSH: Glutathione, SOD: Superoxide dismutase, CAT: catalase, L-BA: Boric Acid 10mg/kg M-BA: Boric Acid 20mg/kg, H-BA: Boric Acid 40mg/kg

In the study, the effects of oral boric acid supplements administered at pharmacological doses to aged rats on plasma TNF- α levels are given in Figure 1. As shown in Figure 1, boric acid caused a significant dose-dependent decrease in TNF-a levels in the other study groups compared to the control group (*p*<0.05).

In the study, the effects of oral boric acid supplements administered at pharmacological doses to aged rats on plasma IL-6 levels are given in Figure 2. As demonstrated in Figure 2, L-BA decreased IL-6 levels in comparison to the control group, but the difference was not statistically significant. Boric acid significantly reduced IL-6 levels in the M-BA and H-BA groups in a dose-dependent manner compared to the control group (p<0.05).



Figure 1. Plasma TNF- α levels in boric acid-treated rats with pharmacological dose

Each value represents the mean±SEM (n=8). The letters (a, b, c, d) indicate statistically significant differences between the groups, *p*<0.05 L-BA: Boric Acid 10mg/kg, M-BA: Boric Acid 20mg/kg, H-BA: Boric Acid 40mg/kg



Figure 2. Plasma IL-6 levels in boric acid-treated rats with pharmacological dose

Each value represents the mean±SEM (n=8). The letters (a, b, c) indicate statistically significant differences between the groups, *p*<0.05 L-BA: Boric Acid 10mg/kg, M-BA: Boric Acid 20mg/kg, H-BA: Boric Acid 40mg/kg

Discussion

The study investigated how the pharmacological dose of boric acid supplementation affects serum biochemical parameters, liver and kidney tissue oxidant and antioxidant enzyme levels, and IL-6 and TNF- α proinflammatory cytokine levels, which are important in immune system regulation.

The liver is the primary source of serum proteins and produces albumin, globulin, fibrinogen, and the majority of other clotting factors [18]. In the study, oral boric acid supplementation increased serum TP and ALB levels equally in all doses compared to the control group and did not affect GLO levels. Similarly, previous studies have shown no effect on GLO levels when boric acid is added to broiler diets [19] and when rabbits were administered boric acid dose-dependently [20]. In addition, Kan and Kucukkurt [21] showed that 10 and 20 mg/kg of boric acid supplementation did not change the TP level in rats compared to the control group. In contrast, TP and ALB levels in aged rats increased in a dose-independent manner in the boric acid groups compared to the control group. This finding suggests that different animal species do not respond in the same way to boric acid supplementation. This could be due to the study used aged rats and administered boric acid orally.

Considering the reports that dietarv or supplemental boric acid affects many biochemical parameters [22, 23], it is important to reveal the effects of dose-dependent boric acid supplementation on biochemical parameters in aged rats. In the study, serum calcium concentrations increased in rats supplemented with oral boric acid for 28 days. This study is consistent with reports that the boron diet prevents prenatal metabolic disorders by increasing serum calcium levels and dietary boron intake increases calcium content in the femur bones of rats [24] and chickens [25]. In addition, the increase in fracture strength in the lumbar vertebrae of rats [26], femur bones [6] and layers [27] of rabbits with the addition of boron to diets supports this study. Also, it has been reported that boron species, which have an essential function in bone development and mineralization, ensure the incorporation of calcium into the bone, joints, and cartilage, leading to a significant improvement in bone

development observed in 95% of the patients [28]. The findings of the study suggest that oral boric acid intake may be a useful tool for increasing serum calcium levels and that dose-dependent supplementation may not provide additional benefits.

In this study, creatine did not change depending on the dose of oral boric acid. This finding is similar to reports showing that serum creatinine levels were unchanged when boron and boric acid were added to the diets of rabbits [20] and rats [21]. In addition, the dose-dependent effect of boron was reported to cause an increase in creatinine levels in rats exposed to acrylamide [29]. When the impact of boric acid on creatinine levels is examined, different results emerge. In most of the studies, creatinine levels were not affected by boric acid supplementation in a dose-dependent manner, as in this study. We also analyzed that creatine kinase enzyme activity was significantly higher in all boric acid groups compared to the control group. This finding was consistent with previous research [19] showing boron supplementation in broiler diets at levels of 750 and 1000 mg/ kg increased creatine kinase enzyme activity compared to the control group.

During the aging period, several cellular and physiological changes occur in the liver tissue, which has a remarkable ability to renew and maintain its function throughout life [30]. It has been observed that serum AST, ALT, ALP, and bilirubin activities are commonly used to assess liver structural integrity [31]. Kan and Kucukkurt [21] reported that the different doses of boron supplementation had no statistically significant effect on serum ALP activity levels in rats compared to the control group. In the present study, serum ALP levels did not change in the L-BA and H-BA groups but increased only in the M-BA group. This is in line with the previous report that there was no effect on ALT levels in rats given boric acid at a dose of 10 mg/kg [21]. In addition, when oral borax decahydrate was given to rabbits at a dose of 10 mg/kg, it did not affect ALT levels [32]. In this study, TBIL levels increased only in the L-BA group. Indeed, these results show that BA produces different effects on the liver depending on the dose.

Previous reports have indicated that boron supplements can alter the amounts of nitrogen metabolites in blood and urine by affecting the

consumption of certain amino acids or proteins [22]. When compared with the control group, the BUN level was statistically higher in the group given L-BA and M-BA boric acid. Similarly, it was reported that boron given with acrylamide caused an increase in urea nitrogen level [29]. In addition, similar to our study, boron has been shown to increase serum urea levels in laying hens [33]. However, it was reported that increased serum BUN levels in gentamicintreated rats decreased in dose-dependent boron groups (5, 10, and 20 mg/kg) [34]. The main reason for the different results of the studies on the effect of boric acid on serum BUN activity may be due to differences between doses and administration methods. Therefore, further studies with different doses and administration methods should be performed to clarify the issue in aged rats.

The increased blood GLU levels of boric acid administered orally in the study support the previous report [35] on increased blood GLU levels when rats were given feed enriched with boric acid at doses of 250, 500, and 1000 ppm. Some studies have shown that boron does not affect increasing or decreasing blood glucose levels [21]. This may be due to differences in the dose, route of administration, absorption, distribution, and catabolism of boric acid with age, sex, and race differences between living organisms.

In a recent study, it was concluded that boron supplements affect lipid metabolism as a result of the relationship between total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and triglyceride levels in rats fed a high-fat diet [36]. In our study, except for an important decrease in the H-BA group, the other study groups did not affect serum CHOL levels in aged rats. This finding is in agreement with the report [37] that dietary boron supplementation in Japanese quail at a dose of 1000 mg/kg compared to 500 mg/ kg and 750 mg/kg boric acid supplementation decreased total cholesterol levels. In this case, boron-containing drugs could have a reducing effect on serum cholesterol levels.

Free oxygen radicals are highly reactive and can cause damage to cell membranes and organelles through lipid peroxidation [9]. In our study, MDA levels, which indicate lipid peroxidation, decreased significantly in the liver and kidney tissues of aged rats given oral boric acid supplementation at M-BA and H-BA dosages. We also found that oral boric acid supplementation dose-dependently increased GSH levels, SOD, and CAT antioxidant enzyme activities in aged rats. Consistent with our results, oral boric acid supplementation acted as a scavenger of superoxide, hydroxyl radical, and singlet molecular oxygen [38]. Similarly, Kar et al. [39] found a substantial decrease in MDA levels in the group given boric acid after ischemic reperfusion injury of kidney tissue, while an increase in SOD, CAT, and GSH levels was observed. However, low doses of boric acid supplementation (15-50 mg/L) did not alter MDA and CAT concentrations in human peripheral blood cultures [40]. It was also reported that boric acid supplementation in rats does not change the MDA level in liver and kidney tissues, while SOD and CAT antioxidant enzyme parameter levels decrease [9]. The reason for the difference may be the difference in the dose of boric acid used in the study, the method of administration, the duration, and the age of the rats used. Indeed, this suggests that oral boric acid supplementation may play a significant role in maintaining homeostasis by increasing the activity of these enzymes in a dose-dependent manner.

It is known that boric acid affects the function of the immune system [41]. The need for boric acid can vary greatly due to infection, increased inflammation, and metabolic disorders, and this can be particularly pronounced for malnourished individuals. In particular, diet boron is known to help control the normal inflammatory process by serving as a signaling suppressor that downregulates certain enzymatic activities typically elevated at the site of inflammation [42]. In the present study, a decrease in IL-6 and TNF-α cytokine levels was observed in aged rats due to the pharmacologic dose of boric acid. It has been similarly shown that boron supplementation decreased proinflammatory cytokine levels such as IL-6 and TNF- α [43]. This study was also consistent with the report [44] that boric acid supplementation significantly decreased TNF-α proinflammatory cytokine levels, which play an important role in the pathophysiology of the knee osteoarthritis model in rats. In the previous study, oral boric acid supplementation

similarly reversed BPA-induced TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β expression levels [45] as well as acrylamide-induced TNF- α expression levels [29]. These results show that giving aged rats a boric acid supplement in pharmacologic doses lowers their elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF- α .

In summary, this study demonstrated that dose-dependent supplementation of boric acid has ameliorative effects on lipid peroxidation, immunomodulation, and regulation of many blood biochemical parameters in aged rats. The study found that boric acid supplementation reduced systemic inflammation markers such as IL-6 and TNF- α . This suggests that boric acid may help reduce the risk of inflammatory diseases in the elderly. Boric acid contributes to the maintenance of antioxidant capacity, which is an important approach in the treatment of aging-related disorders. Furthermore, oral boric acid supplementation for humans and animals would be useful to determine its nutritional value. In the future, our study will provide perspectives that will contribute to new studies to compare the effects of different doses and routes of administration of boric acid in different age and gender groups.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- De La Fuente M. Role of neuroimmunomodulation in aging. Neuroimmunomodulation 2008;15:213-223. https://doi.org/10.1159/000156465
- De La Fuente M, Miquel J. An update of the oxidationinflammation theory of aging: the involvement of the immune system in oxi-inflamm-aging. Curr Pharm Des 2009;15:3003-3026. https://doi. org/10.2174/138161209789058110
- Ince S, Keles H, Erdogan M, Hazman O, Kucukkurt I. Protective effect of boric acid against carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in mice. Drug Chem Toxicol 2012;35:285-292. https://doi.org/10.310 9/01480545.2011.607825
- Uluisik I, Karakaya HC, Koc A. The importance of boron in biological systems. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2018;45:156-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jtemb.2017.10.008
- Singh AK, Kewalramani N, Mani V, Sharma A, Kumari P, Pal RP. Effects of boric acid supplementation on bone health in crossbred calves under tropical condition. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2021;63:126647. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2020.126647

- Hakki SS, Dundar N, Kayis SA, et al. Boron enhances strength and alters mineral composition of bone in rabbits fed a high energy diet. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2013;27:148-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jtemb.2012.07.001
- Karabağ F, İnce S, Demirel HH. Boric acid is associated with the suppression of apoptosis and endoplasmic reticulum stress in rat model of paracetamol -induced hepatotoxicity. J Taibah Univ Sci 2023;17:1-9. https:// doi.org/10.1080/16583655.2023.2250565
- Cengiz M. Boric acid protects against cyclophosphamide-induced oxidative stress and renal damage in rats. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 2018;64:11-14.
- Ince S, Kucukkurt I, Cigerci IH, Fidan AF, Eryavuz A. The effects of dietary boric acid and borax supplementation on lipid peroxidation, antioxidant activity, and DNA damage in rats. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2010;24:161-164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2010.01.003
- Turkez H, Geyikoglu F, Tatar A, Keles MS, Kaplan I. The effects of some boron compounds against heavy metal toxicity in human blood. Exp Toxicol Pathol 2012;64:93-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etp.2010.06.011
- WHO (2003) Boron in Drinking-water Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. Available at: https:// cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/washdocuments/wash-chemicals/boron-2003-background. pdf?sfvrsn=8b397e68 4. Accessed 15 February, 2024
- Murray FJ. A comparative review of the pharmacokinetics of boric acid in rodents and humans. Biol Trace Elem Res 1998;66:331-341. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02783146
- Ince S, Kucukkurt I, Demirel HH, Arslan Acaroz D, Akbel E, Ciğerci IH. Protective effects of boron on cyclophosphamide induced lipid peroxidation and genotoxicity in rats. Chemosphere 2014;108:197-204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.01.038
- Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Anal Biochem 1979;95:351-358. https://doi. org/10.1016/0003-2697(79)90738-3
- Beutler E, Duron O, Kelly BM. Improved method for the determination of blood glutathione. J Lab Clin Med 1963;61:882-888.
- Sun Y, Oberley LW, Li Y. A simple method for clinical assay of superoxide dismutase. Clin Chem 1988;34:497-500. https://doi.org/10.1093/ clinchem/34.3.497
- 17. Aebi H. Catalase. Methods of Enzymatic Analysis (Second Edition) 1974;2:673-684. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-091302-2.50032-3
- Thapa BR, Walia A. Liver function tests and their interpretation. Indian J Pediatr 2007;74:663-671. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-007-0118-7

- Eren M, Uyanik F, Kocaoglu Guclu B, Atasever A. The influence of dietary boron supplementation on performance, some biochemical parameters and organs in broilers. Asian J Animal Veterinary Advances 2012;7:1079-1089. https://doi.org/10.3923/ ajava.2012.1079.1089
- Yiğit P, Eren M, Soyer Sarica Z, Şentürk M. Tavşanlarda borik asidin kan kimyasina etkisi. Erciyes Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi 2013;10:77-85.
- Kan F, Kucukkurt I. Investigation of the effect of boron on thyroid functions and biochemical parameters in hypothyroid induced-rats. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 2022;36:e23186. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbt.23186
- 22. Nielsen FH. Boron in human and animal nutrition. Plant and Soil 1997;193:199-208.
- Hazman Ö, Bozkurt MF, Fidan AF, Erkan Uysal F, Çelik S. The effect of boric acid and borax on oxidative stress, inflammation, er stress and apoptosis in cisplatin toxication and nephrotoxicity developing as a result of toxication. Inflammation 2018;41:1032-1048. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10753-018-0756-0
- Nielsen FH. Dietary fat composition modifies the effect of boron on bone characteristics and plasma lipids in rats. Biofactors 2004;20:161-171. https://doi. org/10.1002/biof.5520200305
- Mızrak C, Yenice E, Can M, Yıldırım U, Atik Z. Effects of dietary boron on performance, egg production, egg quality and some bone parameters in layer hens. South African J Animal Sci 2010;40:257-264. https://doi. org/10.4314/sajas.v40i3.10
- Naghii MR, Ebrahimpour Y, Darvishi P, et al. Effect of consumption of fatty acids, calcium, vitamin D and boron with regular physical activity on bone mechanical properties and corresponding metabolic hormones in rats. Indian J Exp Biol 2012;50:223-231.
- Cufadar Y, Olgun O, Bahtiyarca Y. Effects of different sources of boron supplementation to diet on egg shell quality and bone characteristics in laying hens. Archiva Zootechnica 2011;14:37-42.
- Devirian TA, Volpe SL. The physiological effects of dietary boron. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2003;43:219-231. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408690390826491
- Acaroz U, Ince S, Arslan Acaroz D, et al. The ameliorative effects of boron against acrylamide-induced oxidative stress, inflammatory response, and metabolic changes in rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology 2018;118:745-752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2018.06.029
- Frith J, Jones D, Newton JL. Chronic liver disease in an ageing population. Age Ageing 2009;38:11-18. https:// doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afn242
- Adewale OB, Adekeye AO, Akintayo CO, Onikanni A, Saheed S. Carbon tetrachloride (CCl4)-induced hepatic damage in experimental Sprague Dawley rats: Antioxidant potential of Xylopia aethiopica. J Phytopharmacol 2014;3:118-123. https://doi. org/10.31254/phyto.2014.3207

- Basoglu A, Baspinar N, Sagkan Ozturk A, Peker Akalin P. Effects of boron administration on hepatic steatosis, hematological and biochemical profiles in obese rabbits. Trace Elements and Electrolytes 2010;27:225-231. https://doi.org/10.5414/tep27225
- Eren M, Uyanik F. Influence of dietary boron supplementation on some serum metabolites and egg-yolk cholesterol in laying hens. Acta Vet Hung 2007;55:29-39. https://doi.org/10.1556/ AVet.55.2007.1.4
- Ince S, Kucukkurt I, Demirel HH, Arslan Acaroz D, Varol N. Boron, a trace mineral, alleviates gentamicininduced nephrotoxicity in rats. Biol Trace Elem Res 2020;195:515-524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-019-01875-4
- Akman Alacabey N, Ozdemir H, Oto G. Hyperglycemic effect of dietary boron in rats with experimental diabetes mellitus induced by streptozotocin. Van Vet J 2023;34:244-250. https://doi.org/10.36483/ vanvetj.1298344
- Kucukkurt I, Ince S, Eryavuz A, et al. The effects of boron-supplemented diets on adipogenesis-related gene expressions, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidative response in high-fat fed rats. J Biochem Mol Toxicol 2023;37:e23257. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbt.23257
- Eren M, Guclu B, Uyanik F, Karabulut N. The effects of dietary boron supplementation on performance, carcass composition and serum lipids in Japanese quails. J Anim Vet Adv 2006;5:1105-1108.
- Ince S, Kucukkurt I, Demirel HH, Turkmen R, Sever E. Thymoquinone attenuates cypermethrin induced oxidative stress in Swiss albino mice.Pestic BiochemPhysiol 2012;104:229-235. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2012.09.003
- Kar F, Hacioglu C, Senturk H, Burukoglu Donmez D, Kanbak G. The role of oxidative stress, renal inflammation, and apoptosis in post ischemic reperfusion injury of kidney tissue: the protective effect of dose-dependent boric acid administration. 2020;195:150-158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-019-01824-1
- Türkez H, Geyikoglu F, Tatar A, Keleş S, Ozkan A. Effects of some boron compounds on peripheral human blood. Z Naturforsch C J Biosci 2007;62:889-896. https://doi.org/10.1515/znc-2007-11-1218
- 41. İlhan AO, Can B, Kar F, Çakır Gündoğdu A, Söğüt İ, Kanbak G. An investigation into the protective effects of various doses of boric acid on liver, kidney, and brain tissue damage caused by high levels of acute alcohol consumption. Biol Trace Elem Res 2023;201:5346-5357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-023-03699-9
- Hunt CD, Idso JP. Dietary boron as a physiological regulator of the normal inflammatory response: a review and current research progress. 1999;12:221-233.

- 43. Naghii MR, Mofid M, Asgari AR, Hedayati M, Daneshpour MS. Comparative effects of daily and weekly boron supplementation on plasma steroid hormones and proinflammatory cytokines. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology 2011;25:54-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2010.10.001
- 44. Gundogdu K, Gundogdu G, Demirkaya Miloglu F, Demirci T, Yılmaz Tascı S, El Aty AMA. Antiinflammatory effects of boric acid in treating knee osteoarthritis: biochemical and histopathological evaluation in rat model. Biol Trace Elem Res 2023:e1-11 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-023-03872-0
- 45. Acaroz U, Ince S, Arslan Acaroz D, et al. Bisphenol-A induced oxidative stress, inflammatory gene expression, and metabolic and histopathological changes in male Wistar albino rats: Protective role of boron. Toxicol Res (Camb) 2019;8:262-269. https://doi. org/10.1039/c8tx00312b

Acknowledgment: This study was supported by the Pamukkale University Scientific Research Coordination Unit (project code: 2022BSP010).

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from the Pamukkale University Animal Experiments Ethics Committee for the study (permission date (meeting dated 01.09.2022 and numbered 2022/07), permission number PAUHDEK-2022/26).

Author contributions

M.B. and M.F.D. designed the study and provided the relevant materials and analytical tools for experiments. M.B. and M.F.D. performed the experiments. M.B. and M.F.D. analyzed the data. M.B. wrote the manuscript.

Repair of vesicovaginal fistula with transvaginal and abdominal technique: Pamukkale University Urology Clinic's results

Vezikovajinal fistülün transvajinal ve abdominal teknik ile onarımı: Pamukkale Üniversitesi Üroloji Kliniği sonuçları

Kürşat Küçüker, Alper Şimşek, Mesut Berkan Duran, Salih Bütün, Sinan Çelen, Yusuf Özlülerden

Posted date:22.12.2023

Acceptance date:20.02.2024

Abstract

Purpose: Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) is a pathological condition that causes urinary incontinence from a tract between the bladder and the vagina, negatively affecting the quality of life, social life, and patient health. The preferred method for VVF repair depends on the patient's characteristics, the features of the fistula, and the surgeon's experience. There is no definitive guideline for choosing between vaginal and abdominal VVF repair. This study aims to retrospectively evaluate VVF cases operated on in our clinic, comparing and interpreting patient characteristics and outcomes with the literature.

Materials and methods: The data of 35 patients who underwent vaginal and abdominal VVF repair in our clinic were evaluated retrospectively.

Results: Transvaginal repair was preferred in 23 (65.7%) of the patients and abdominal repair was preferred in 12 (34.3%). The success rate of VVF surgery performed in our clinic was determined to be 88.6%. Success rates were similar; 91.4% in vaginal repair and 83.4% in abdominal repair. Recurrence was observed in 2 of 23 patients (8.6%) who underwent transvaginal repair and in 2 of 12 patients (16.6%) who underwent abdominal repair.

Conclusion: In vesicovaginal fistula surgery, patient characteristics and fistula characteristics guide the preferred surgery. However, the surgeon's experience also plays a big role. Vaginal and abdominal VVF surgeries are performed with similar high success rates.

Keywords: Vesicovaginal fistula, vaginal vesicovaginal fistula repair, abdominal vesicovaginal fistula repair.

Kucuker K, Simsek A, Duran MB, Butun S, Celen S, Ozlulerden Y. Repair of vesicovaginal fistula with transvaginal and abdominal technique: Pamukkale University Urology Clinic's results. Pam Med J 2024;17:381-387.

Öz

Amaç: Vezikovajinal fistül (VVF), mesane ve vajina arasındaki bir trakttan idrar kaçırmaya sebep olan, yaşam kalitesini, sosyal hayatı ve hasta sağlığını olumsuz etkileyen patolojik bir durumdur. VVF onarımında tercih edilen yöntem hastanın, fistülün özelliklerine göre ve cerrahın deneyimine göre yapılmaktadır. Vajinal ve abdominal VVF onarımı tercihinde kesinleşmiş kılavuz bilgileri bulunmamaktadır. Bu çalışmada, kliniğimizde opere edilen VVF vakaları retrospektif olarak değerlendirilerek hasta özelliklerinin ve sonuçlarının literatür ile karşılaştırılarak yorumlanması amaçlanmaktadır.

Gereç ve yöntem: Bu çalışmada kliniğimizde vajinal ve abdominal VVF onarımı yapılan 35 hastanın verileri retrospektif olarak değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Hastaların 12'sinde (%34,3) abdominal yöntem tercih edilirken 23 (%65,7) hastada transvajinal yöntem tercih edildi. Kliniğimizde uygulanan VVF cerrahisinin başarı oranı %88,6 olarak tespit edilmiştir. Vajinal onarımda %91,4, abdominal onarımda ise %83,4 olarak birbirine yakın başarı oranları görüldü. Transvajinal teknik tercih edilen 23 hastanın 2'sinde (%8,6) ve abdominal teknik tercih edilen 12 hastanın ise 2'sinde (%16,6) nüks izlendi.

Sonuç: Vezikovajinal fistül cerrahisinde hastanın ve fistülün özellikleri tercih edilecek cerrahiye yön gösterse de özellikle cerrahın deneyimi büyük rol oynamaktadır. Vajinal ve abdominal VVF cerrahisi birbirine benzer ve yüksek başarı oranları ile uygulanmaktadır.

Kürşat Küçüker, Pamukkale University Hospital, Department of Urology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: kursat_kucuker@hotmail.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0002-5558-327X)

Alper Şimşek, Siverek State Hospital, Department of Urology, Sanliurfa, Türkiye, e-mail: drsimsekalper@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0513-4505) (Corresponding Author)

Mesut Berkan Duran, Pamukkale University Hospital, Department of Urology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: drberkanduran@gmail.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0002-8597-2081)

Salih Bütün, Pamukkale University Hospital, Department of Urology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: salihbutun92@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5969-0371)

Sinan Çelen, Pamukkale University Hospital, Department of Urology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: sinancelen@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4309-2323)

Yusuf Özlülerden, Pamukkale University Hospital, Department of Urology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: yusufozlu35@hotmail.com (https://orcid. org/0000-0002-6467-0930)

Anahtar kelimeler: Vezikovajinal fistül, vajinal vezikovajinal fistül onarımı, abdominal vezikovajinal fistül onarımı.

Küçüker K, Şimşek A, Duran MB, Bütün S, Çelen S, Özlülerden Y. Vezikovajinal fistülün transvajinal ve abdominal teknik ile onarımı: Pamukkale Üniversitesi Üroloji Kliniği sonuçları. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:381-387.

Introduction

Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) is a pathological condition that causes urinary incontinence from a tract between the bladder and the vagina, negatively affecting the quality of life, social life and patient health [1]. Common causes in developed countries include bladder injury during gynecological pelvic surgery and pelvic radiotherapy. In developing countries, the most common cause is vaginal birth [2]. Vaginal necrosis and bladder necrosis, especially during difficult labor due to cephalopelvic discordance, increase the frequency of VVF [2]. The incidence of VVF in the population can reach 2% [3]. Although there may be variations depending on the hysterectomy technique, it has been generally demonstrated that VVF associated with hysterectomy occurs in the range of 0.02% to 0.22% [1, 4].

Vesicovaginal fistulas can be classified in various ways. Generally, small fistulas (≤0.5 cm), without exposure to radiation and occurring in isolation, are termed simple fistulas. On the other hand, large-sized fistulas (≥2.5 cm), with radiation exposure and unsuccessful fistula repairs, are defined as complex fistulas. Fistulas developed after radiation exposure are often multiple and challenging to treat due to poor tissue viability. Medium-sized fistulas (between 0.5 and 2.5 cm) are commonly considered complex fistulas by most authors [5]. Surgical inflammatory reaction reduction in the fistula area is necessary for vesicovaginal fistula operation, and therefore, the operation is planned 3-6 months after the onset of symptoms [6]. During this period, the patient is catheterized, and a decrease in postoperative inflammation and edema is anticipated. This conservative approach may result in spontaneous recovery in about 15-20% of cases with simple fistulas [5].

Small and uncomplicated cases can be attempted to be treated conservatively and with minimal invasive methods, but surgical treatment is the primary method of repair [7]. Factors such as the location and size of the fistula, previous surgeries, history of VVF operations, the need for simultaneous abdominal surgery, history of radiotherapy, patient preference, and the surgeon's experience are considered in the selection of the surgical technique [5]. There are both transvaginal and abdominal repair techniques available for VVF surgery. However, due to lower operative complications, shorter hospital stays, less blood loss, and lower postoperative pain, and additionally similar success rates with abdominal VVF repair, the vaginal approach is more commonly preferred [8]. The abdominal technique is chosen when vaginal repair is not possible. When success rates are generally examined, the transvaginal technique varies between 86-91%, and the abdominal technique ranges from 84-100% [3]. There are limited randomized controlled studies in the literature comparing abdominal and vaginal approaches [3].

In this study, a retrospective evaluation of VVF cases operated on in our clinic is conducted. The aim is to compare and assess patient characteristics and outcomes with the existing literature and interpret the success of the current practices in our clinic.

Material and method

In the study, 35 patients who underwent VVF surgery in our clinic between January 1, 2012 and November 1, 2022 were evaluated retrospectively. During the postoperative period, patients were monitored for sexual function, urinary function, complications, and recurrence. For the purposes of this study, women with recto-vaginal fistula or other causes of urinary incontinence were excluded. Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study.

As a transvaginal technique, the optically guided transvaginal repair method applied in our clinic was used [9]. The patients underwent a cystoscopy before fistula repair. Retrograde pyelography (RGP) was conducted on both ureters to rule out ureteral injury. A thin Foley catheter was inserted into the fistula to provide traction. After fistula catheterization, surgical dissection and suturing techniques were performed under 5 mm, 30 degree optical lens vision. The fistula was released from the surrounding tissues to the healthy tissues, and first the bladder mucosa, then the layers containing the detrusor and serosa were closed separately in two layers. After that, the fistula was repaired in 3 layers in total, with the vagina perpendicular to this line. The urethral foley was removed 14 days later.

Before the repair with the abdominal technique, a cystoscopy was performed on the patients and fistula characteristics were determined. RGP was performed on both ureters, ureteral damage was evaluated, and a ureteral catheter was placed in the ureters in the necessary patients, depending on the location of the fistula. After the subumbilical incision, the peritoneum was opened and the bladder was found. The bladder was opened with a vertical incision. The fistula tract was reached by visualizing the fistula mouth. The bladder and vaginal wall were dissected with

sharp dissections. The vaginal opening was sutured. Fixation sutures were placed to create an omental flap between the bladder and vagina. The bladder was repaired as doublelayer waterproof, and a leak test showed no leakage. The omental flap was brought between the vagina and bladder and fixed with fixation sutures. Urethral foley was removed 14 days later.

Statistics and analysis

The data was analyzed using SPSS 25.0 statistical software package. Number, percentage, average and minimum-maximum expressions were used for descriptive statistics.

Results

The average age of the patients was calculated as 47.17±7.09. The general characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1. All of the patients included in the study had a history of gynecological surgery; 32 (91.4%) had a history of hysterectomy, 2 had a myemectomy, and 1 had an oophorectomy.

	Transvaginal Repair	Abdominal Repair	Total
Number of patients	23 (65.7%)	12 (34.3%)	35
VVF surgery history	-	9 (75%)	9
Simultaneous abdominopelvic surgery	-	2 (16.6%)	2
History of pelvic radiotherapy	-	1 (8.3%)	1

 Table 1. Patient characteristics

While the abdominal method was preferred in 12 (34.3%) of the patients, the transvaginal method was preferred in 23 (65.7%) patients. It was noteworthy that 9 of the patients who underwent abdominal technique had a history of VVF surgery and 1 patient had a history of radiotherapy. Recurrence was observed in 2 of 23 patients (8.6%) for whom the transvaginal technique was preferred and in 2 of 12 patients (16.6%) for whom the abdominal technique was preferred, and no significant difference was found between the two methods in terms of recurrence.

After transvaginal surgical treatment, recurrence was observed in one patient, where

a single fistula was localized on the opposite wall, and in another patient, three millimetersized fistulas were identified. Among the patients who underwent abdominal technique and experienced recurrence, one had a large fistula tract (4 cm), while the other exhibited adhesions and poorly healed tissues due to a previous VVF operation. Following the recurrence after abdominal VVF repair, two patients underwent a second abdominal VVF repair. For the two patients with recurrence after vaginal VVF surgery, a repeat vaginal VVF repair was performed, and in the followup of both groups, no further recurrences were observed. During the follow-up of the patients participating in the study, 1 patient developed pain during sexual intercourse (dyspareunia) and 1 patient developed stress incontinence. Two of these patients were in the abdominal repair group. Additionally, in two patients who underwent abdominal VVF repair, simultaneous ureteroneocystostomy was performed. The absence of recurrence was considered a success criterion, and the success rate was found to be 91.4% for the transvaginal technique, 83.4% for the abdominal technique. Overall, the success rate was found to be 88.6% (Table 2). Fistula characteristics are presented in Table 3.

	Transvaginal Repair (n:23)	Abdominal Repair (n:12)	Total (n:35)
Recurrence	2 (8.6%)	2 (16.6%)	4 (11.4%)
Success	21 (91.4%)	10 (83.4%)	31 (88.6%)

 Table 3. Fistula characteristics

	Transvaginal	Repair (n:23)	Abdominal F	Repair (n:12)	Total (n:35)
Fistula	Base	20 (87%)	Base	5 (41.7%)	Base	25 (71.4%)
locations within the	Anterior Wall	2 (8.7%)	Anterior Wall	3 (25%)	Anterior Wall	5 (14.3%)
bladder	Trigonal Area	1 (4.3%)	Trigonal Area	4 (33.3%)	Trigonal Area	5 (14.3%)
Average Fistula Size (mm)	9 mm (5-20)		21 mm (15-40)	12 mm (5-40)	
Average Number of fistulas	1.13 (1-3)		1.17 (1-2)		1.14 (1-3)	

Discussion

Most vesicovaginal fistula repairs are performed by a small number of vesicovaginal fistula surgeons, even in regions with high prevalence [10]. In our clinic, VVF surgery is performed with a success rate of 88.6%. It was observed that vaginal (91.4%) and abdominal (83.4%) VVF surgery had similar success rates. The success rates of VVF repair with the optically guided transvaginal approach applied in our clinic are in line with the literature [3].

In the etiology of vesicovaginal fistula, a history of hysterectomy is frequently observed, accounting for 80% of cases [1]. In our clinic, 91% of patients who underwent VVF repair had a history of hysterectomy. Hysterectomy emerged as a prominent etiological factor in this patient group as well. It is noteworthy that all VVF patients presenting to our clinic had a history of gynecological surgery as the etiology, with none having a history of obstetric surgery.

Pelvic gynecological surgeries should be approached with caution in the presence of adhesions. In cases where bladder injury is suspected, it is essential to examine the bladder with cystoscopy. Fistulas developed after hysterectomy performed for malignant reasons should be considered to potentially involve malignant tissue [11].

It is necessary to comply with certain principles in vesicovaginal fistula repair, as in other operations. There must be adequate vascular support tissue in the surgical field, and no necrosis, inflammation, or malignancy should be present. A multilayered suture line should be created with absorbable sutures that is tension-free, waterproof, and avoids overlapping sutures. Continuous bladder drainage should be ensured after surgery [6, 12]. The first operation has the highest success rate in vesicovaginal fistula repair. Although the cause, location, size and onset time of the fistula are taken into consideration when choosing a surgical technique, the method chosen may generally depend on the training and experience of the surgeon. The best method is probably the one with which the surgeon is most familiar. In the reports given by surgeons who prefer vaginal and abdominal methods, they make the choice of method by adopting their individual preferences and reviewing their experiences in their own institutions [13].

The advantages of the vaginal approach are short surgery time, short hospital stay, and less blood loss [14]. As a surgical technique, the transvaginal method is preferred in rates ranging from 42-81% [3]. In our clinic, we preferred the vaginal method more frequently (65.7%).

It is known that some factors are effective in the choice of abdominal technique. Short vaginal length for sexual intercourse, high location of the fistula, complicated fistulas, recurrence after VVF surgery, scarred fistula, history of pelvic radiotherapy, additional abdominal intervention and the need for ureter reimplantation are the prominent situations in choosing the abdominal method [14]. History of fistula surgery, history of pelvic radiotherapy, and the need for simultaneous abdominal intervention were also decisive in the choice of abdominal technique in our clinic. In our clinic, we preferred abdominal repair with a rate of 34.3%. In the 10-year meta-analysis reviewed by Shrestha et al. [3], it was reported that abdominal VVF repair was performed at a rate of 49.5%.

Recurrence was observed in two patients who were operated on via the abdominal approach. There was no feature other than a history of VVF operation in one of the patients. In the other patient, we operated on a 4 cm fistula. We performed VVF surgery again with the abdominal method on these two patients and did not observe any recurrence during follow-up. Opinions have been reported in the literature that previous VVF surgery either increases or does not change the risk of recurrence [15]. In a study examining the success factor, it was stated that one of the main determinants was the fistula size, and even the presence of >3 cm fistula was at high risk for recurrence [15]. In our study, recurrence was observed in patients with the profiles predicted in the literature.

In this study, recurrence was observed in 2 (8.6%) of our patients to whom we preferred the vaginal approach. We repaired both of these patients using the vaginal method again due to the location of the fistula. Kapoor et al. [16] reported recurrence in 1 patient (3.1%) in their 32-patient vaginal VVF repair series. The absolute contraindication for vaginal repair of vesicovaginal fistula is the coexistence of fistulas with other abdomino-pelvic organs such as ureters, small and large intestine [5]. Situations such as radiation exposure, scarred, and recurrent fistulas increase the failure rate, and these are important factors that the surgeon should consider when choosing the operation based on personal experience. These should not be considered as absolute contraindications [5], but some authors view these conditions as contraindications for VVF vaginal repair [16].

Pushkar et al. [17] evaluated the results of the vaginal approach for 210 patients who developed radiation-induced VVF. The success rate of the first repair was reported as 48.1%. They stated that the cumulative success rate was 80.4% after 3 recurrent surgeries in patients with relapse. They reported that subsequent repairs did not reduce the chance of recovery but cumulatively increased recovery rates. They emphasized that failed treatments may be due to tissue reaction to radiation exposure and recommended that re-surgery of failed fistula repair should be considered as the first surgery. In another study examining 30 patients who developed VVF after gynecological pelvic surgery, 23 patients underwent abdominal repair, 7 underwent vaginal repair, and recurrence was observed in 3 patients within 1 month. They found the overall success rate of VVF surgery to be 90%. Additionally, radiation-induced VVF patients were examined as a separate group, but a high success rate was not achieved. Urinary diversion has been emphasized as a more preferable method for this group [18]. In our study, there was only 1 patient with radiation exposure and no recurrence was observed after the first repair.

Angioli et al. [5] reviewed the studies on VVF repair. In this study, they reported that the success rate of VVF surgery in patients without radiation exposure varied between 70% and

100%, and the average success rate was 92%. Similar success rates of 91% and 96% have been reported for vaginal and abdominal repair, respectively. Another study showed that the success rate of transvaginal repair (90.8%) was higher than transabdominal repair (83.9%) [10]. In a series including 52 VVF patients, 32 patients with simple fistulas underwent vaginal repair, and 20 patients with complex fistulas underwent abdominal repair. Recurrence occurred in 1 patient who underwent vaginal repair and in 2 patients who underwent abdominal repair. They achieved more successful results in VVFs with vaginal repair [16]. In our study, the absence of recurrence was considered as the success criterion, and we determined the overall success rate to be 88.6%. The success rate was calculated as 91.4% for the vaginal approach and 83.4% for the abdominal approach. The results demonstrate success rates similar to the literature [3, 5].

Abdominal VVF repair can also be performed using laparoscopic and robot-assisted laparoscopic approaches. The success rate in large series can reach up to 86%. While minimal invasive methods are not yet common in VVF surgery, they have been successfully used in surgery performed in a single region. Despite the many advantages of minimally invasive surgery, the most successful approach is the one the surgeon is most familiar with [19].

The limitations of our study are that the patient group in our study was evaluated retrospectively and only the absence of recurrence was taken as the success criterion. As a result, in vesicovaginal fistula surgery, the characteristics of the patient and the fistula affect the success rate and direct the surgery to be preferred. However, it should not be forgotten that the surgeon's experience also plays a big role. In our clinic, vaginal and abdominal VVF surgery are performed with similar high success rates.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

 Malik MA, Sohail M, Malik MT, Khalid N, Akram A. Changing trends in the etiology and management of vesicovaginal fistula. International Journal of Urology 2018;25:25-29. https://doi.org/10.1111/iju.13419

- De Ridder D. Vesicovaginal fistula: a major healthcare problem. Current Opinion in Urology 2009;19:358-361. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOU.0b013e32832ae1b7
- Shrestha DB, Budhathoki P, Karki P, et al. Vesicovaginal fistula in females in 2010–2020: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Reproductive Sciences 2022;29:3346-3364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43032-021-00832-8
- Medlen H, Barbier H. Vesicovaginal Fistula. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Angioli R, Penalver M, Muzii L, et al. Guidelines of how to manage vesicovaginal fistula. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 2003;48:295-304. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1040-8428(03)00123-9
- Kumar S, Kekre NS, Gopalakrishnan G. Vesicovaginal fistula: an update. IJU 2007;23:187-191. https://doi. org/10.4103/0970-1591.32073
- El Azab AS, Abolella HA, Farouk M. Update on vesicovaginal fistula: a systematic review. Arab Journal of Urology 2019;17:61-68. https://doi.org/10.1080/209 0598X.2019.1590033
- Tancer ML. Observations on prevention and management of vesicovaginal fistula after total hysterectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1992;175:501-506.
- Zumrutbas AE, Ozlulerden Y, Alkis O, Baser A, Aybek Z. Optic-guided vaginal repair of vesicovaginal fistula. Journal of Endourology 2014;28:275-279. https://doi. org/10.1089/end.2013.0435
- Hillary CJ, Osman NI, Hilton P, Chapple CR. The aetiology, treatment, and outcome of urogenital fistulae managed in well-and low-resourced countries: a systematic review. European Urology 2016;70:478-492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2016.02.015
- Kaplan Ö, Güney M. Obstetrik ve jinekolojik operasyonlar sonrasında gelişen vezikovajinal fistüllerin retrospektif değerlendirilmesi. SDÜ Tıp Fak Derg 2014;21:72-77.
- Ayed M, Atat RE, Hassine LB, Sfaxi M, Chebil M, Zmerli S. Prognostic factors of recurrence after vesicovaginal fistula repair. International Journal of Urology 2006;13:345-349. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1442-2042.2006.01308.x
- Blaivas JG, Heritz DM, Romanzi LJ. Early versus late repair of vesicovaginal fistulas: vaginal and abdominal approaches. J Urol 1995;153:1110-1113.
- McKay E, Watts K, Abraham N. Abdominal approach to vesicovaginal fistula. Urol Clin N Am 2019;46:135-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ucl.2018.08.011
- Ockrim JL, Greenwell TJ, Foley CL, Wood DN, Shah PJR. A tertiary experience of vesico-vaginal and urethro-vaginal fistula repair: factors predicting success. BJU International 2009;103:1122-1126. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.08237.x

- Kapoor R, Ansari M, Singh P, et al. Management of vesicovaginal fistula: an experience of 52 cases with a rationalized algorithm for choosing the transvaginal or transabdominal approach. Indian J Urol 2007;23:372-376. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-1591.36709
- Pushkar DY, Dyakov VV, Kasyan GR. Management of radiation-induced vesicovaginal fistula. European Urology 2009;55:131-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eururo.2008.04.044
- Langkilde NC, Pless TK, Lundbeck F, Nerstrøm B. Surgical repair of vesicovaginal fistulae: a ten-year retrospective study. Scand J Urol Nephrol 1999;33:100-103. https://doi.org/10.1080/003655999750016069
- Tenggardjaja CF, Goldman HB. Advances in minimally invasive repair of vesicovaginal fistulas. Curr Urol Rep 2013;14:253-261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11934-013-0316-y

Ethics committee approval: Permission was obtained from Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee for the study (permission date (14.03.2023 and permission number 05).

Authors' contributions to the article

K.K. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. A.S. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. Discussion section of the article written by M.B.D., Y.O. and S.C. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Transient neonatal diabetes mellitus: a case report

Geçici neonatal diyabetes mellitus: bir olgu sunumu

Gülay Sönmez Demir, Didem Yıldırımçakar, Murat Öcal, Özmert M.A. Özdemir, Selda Ayça Altıncık, Gökhan Ozan Çetin, Hacer Ergin

Posted date:24.09.2023

Acceptance date:12.12.2023

Abstract

Neonatal diabetes mellitus (NDM) is defined as hyperglycemia in the first six months of life for at least two weeks and requiring insulin therapy. Although its incidence is 1 in 90000-160000 live births, its frequency rises to 1/30000 in societies such as our country, where consanguineous marriages are common. NDM may be seen as transient (50-60%), permanent or a part of syndromes. Clinical manifestations of NDM are intrauterine growth retardation, growth cessation, excessive urination, dehydration, and ketoacidosis.

Since hyperglycemia may develop due to many different reasons in premature or low birth weight babies, difficulties and delays may occur in diagnosis. If the high blood glucose level lasts longer than 7-10 days after excluding other causes of transient hyperglycemia, it is recommended to suspect NDM and perform genetic examination, especially in infants with blood glucose above 250 mg/dL.

Herein, a newborn, referred to our neonatal unit due to persistent hyperglycemia on the postnatal 15th day and diagnosed as transient NDM after excluding other causes of hyperglycemia, is presented due to the rarity of the disease.

Keywords: Congenital, neonatal diabetes mellitus, transient, diagnosis.

Sonmez Demir G, Yildirimcakar D, Ocal M, Ozdemir OMA, Altincik SA, Cetin GO, Ergin H. Transient neonatal diabetes mellitus: a case report. Pam Med J 2024;17:389-393.

Öz

Neonatal diyabetes mellitus (NDM), yaşamın ilk altı ayında en az iki hafta süren ve insülin tedavisi gerektiren hiperglisemi olarak tanımlanır. Görülme sıklığı 90000-160000 canlı doğumda bir olmasına rağmen ülkemiz gibi akraba evliliklerinin yaygın olduğu toplumlarda görülme sıklığı 1/30000'e kadar çıkmaktadır. NDM geçici (%50-60), kalıcı veya sendromların bir parçası olarak görülebilir. NDM'nin klinik belirtileri intrauterin büyüme geriliği, büyümenin durması, aşırı idrara çıkma, dehidratasyon ve ketoasidozdur.

Prematüre veya düşük doğum ağırlıklı bebeklerde birçok farklı nedene bağlı olarak hiperglisemi gelişebileceğinden tanıda zorluklar ve gecikmeler yaşanabilmektedir. Geçici hipergliseminin diğer nedenleri dışlandıktan sonra kan şekeri yüksekliği 7-10 günden uzun sürüyorsa özellikle kan şekeri 250 mg/dL'nin üzerinde olan bebeklerde NDM'den şüphelenilmesi ve genetik inceleme yapılması önerilir.

Burada postnatal 15. günde inatçı hiperglisemi nedeniyle yenidoğan ünitemize başvuran ve diğer hiperglisemi nedenleri dışlandıktan sonra geçici NDM tanısı alan bir yenidoğan, hastalığın nadir görülmesi nedeniyle sunulmaktadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Konjenital, neonatal diyabet, geçici, tanı.

Sönmez Demir G, Yıldırımçakar D, Öcal M, Özdemir ÖMA, Altıncık SA, Çetin GO, Ergin H. Geçici neonatal diyabetes mellitus: bir olgu sunumu. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:389-393.

Gülay Sönmez Demir, Specialist Dr. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: gulaysonmezdemir@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6472-8912) (Corresponding Author)

Didem Yıldırımçakar, Specialist Dr. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dycakar@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4788-3256)

Murat Öcal, Specialist Dr. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: drmurat2010@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4424-07051)

Özmert M.A. Özdemir, Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: drozmert@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2499-4949)

Selda Ayça Altıncık, Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: saltincik@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6234-0874)

Gökhan Ozan Çetin, Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Department of Genetics, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: ocetin@pau.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6100-7973)

Hacer Ergin, Prof. Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: hacergin@yahoo.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6002-4202)

Introduction

Neonatal diabetes mellitus (NDM) is defined as hyperglycemia in the first six months of life, persisting for at least 15 days, and requiring insulin therapy [1-3]. A blood glucose level of >150 mg/dL in newborns is defined as hyperglycemia. Hyperglycemia is common, especially in premature and low-birth-weight infants, due to stress, sepsis, and the use of drugs such as steroids and beta-adrenergic agents [1, 4]. After excluding the other causes of transient hyperglycemia, NDM should be suspected in infants whose blood glucose level is still high, especially in infants whose blood glucose level is above 250 mg/dL [1, 4, 5]. Although the frequency of NDM is reported as one in every 90000-160000 live births, its frequency increases in societies where consanguineous marriages are common [1, 6]. In a study covering 5 provinces in the Southeastern Anatolia region of our country, the incidence of NDM was found to be at least 1/30000 [7].

Clinical findings of neonatal diabetes are failure to gain weight, growth retardation, excessive urination, and secondary dehydration. If the diagnosis is delayed, severe ketoacidosis may also be added to these symptoms [8]. The birth weight of babies is generally low due to intrauterine insulin deficiency [9]. NDM can be transient, permanent or a part of syndromes. Transient NDM is present in 50% to 60% of cases with neonatal diabetes [1, 8]. Transient NDM goes into remission in the first 3-6 months of life, but recurrence may be seen in 40-50% of cases, especially during puberty, so it is recommended not to exclude infants from clinical follow-up. Clinically, it is very difficult to distinguish between transient and permanent diabetes. More than 20 genetic causes have been reported for transient or permanent NDM [1, 6]. Insulin is the essential therapy for neonatal diabetes, and an infusion pump is often used in insulin therapy because of the low-dose insulin requirement in newborns [1, 10]. Although rare, oral sulfonylurea therapy is also used in some types of NDM [11, 12].

In this article, a newborn, referred to our neonatal unit due to persistent hyperglycemia on the postnatal 15th day and diagnosed as

Case report

The patient, born at 37 weeks' gestation to a 26-year-old mother, had respiratory distress and was admitted to the neonatal intensive care unit with the preliminary diagnosis of transient tachypnea of the newborn. After the therapies of appropriate parenteral fluid (60 mL/kg/day, 10% dextrose, 4.2 mg/kg/minute glucose infusion) and nasal continuous positive airway pressure, the respiratory symptoms of the patient were resolved completely on the second day. Enteral nutrition was started with breast milk on the first postnatal day.

According to the patient history, hyperglycemia (825 mg/dL) was detected on postnatal first day, and also it was observed that hyperglycemia (735 mg/dL) persisted despite appropriate fluid therapy (80 mL/kg parenteral 5% dextrose, 2.4 mg/kg/minute, and enteral nutrition). In addition, although the patient had normal blood gases, negative keton in the urine, and reduction of glucose infusion, its blood glucose level was higher than 250 mg/ dL. Therefore, it was decided to start the insulin infusion at a dose of 0.01 U/kg/h; afterwards, the insulin dose was increased to 0.07 U/kg/h. The patient, whose glucose levels were regulated after insulin therapy and whose hyperglycemia recurred when insulin therapy was interrupted (>250 mg/dL), was admitted to our neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) with a prediagnosis of neonatal diabetes for further examination and therapy.

It was learned from the patient's history that her parents were first-degree cousins, and they did not have a known disease such as diabetes. In addition, the patient's mother did not use any medication during pregnancy. On physical examination, the patient's body weight was 1945 grams (<3 percentile), head circumference was 33 cm (10 percentile), and height was 47 cm (3-10 percentile). Her general condition was good; she was active, and her system examinations were normal. She was externally female and did not have a syndromic facial appearance. In the laboratory evaluation, electrolytes and kidney and liver function tests were normal; acute phase reactants were negative. The patient, who was considered small for gestational age (SGA), had negative TORCH serology. Blood glucose level was 462 mg/dL, C- peptide was 0.08 ug/L (N:0.9-7.1 ug/L), insulin was 2.3 mU/L (N:2.6-24.9 mU/ L), urine ketone was negative, urine glucose was 2 positive, anti-insulin antibody, anti-glutamate decarboxylase (anti-GAD) and islet cell antibodies were negative. The patient's stool steactocrit value was 0.014%, and pancreas was seen to be structurally normal on magnetic resonance imaging. In consultation with the genetics department, an examination was performed for neonatal diabetes genes, but no known mutations were detected.

A sensor-assisted insulin pump was fitted to the patient on the second day of hospitalization in the NICU. Basal insulin was determined to be 0.025 u/h (0.012 u/kg/h), the insulin sensitivity factor was 300 mg/dL, and the carbohydrate/ insulin ratio was 45/1. She was fed orally with breast milk every three hours. If the pre-feeding blood glucose level was above 150 mg/dL, a bolus wizard was used, and if it was below, a manual bolus was administered (0.15U for 100-150 mg/dL, 0.10U for <100 mg/dL). If the blood glucose level was below 60 mg/dL, no insulin was administered. Postprandial blood glucose was measured 1.5 hours after feeding, and a correction insulin dose was administered with a bolus wizard at values of blood glucose above 300 mg/dL.

On postnatal day 57, it was observed that the patient's insulin requirement started to decrase. On postnatal day 59, the patient no longer needed insulin, and her blood glucose level was in the normal range (between 70-100 mg/dl). The patient, whose blood glucose was regulated and did not require insulin, was discharged on postnatal day 62 with a diagnosis of transient NDM, and clinical follow-up was planned.

Discussion

Neonatal diabetes can be recognized in the first few days of life, and it may be difficult to diagnose, especially in premature or low-birthweight babies, as hyperglycemia may develop due to many different reasons [9]. The prevalence of hyperglycemia in premature infants is 25-75%. Hyperglycemia is often seen in the first

days of life and usually returns to normal levels after a few days [13]. There are many causes of hyperglycemia in the neonatal period, such as parenteral glucose administration, sepsis, increased regulatory hormones due to stress, and drugs like steroids [2-4]. Diabetes should be suspected in a newborn if hyperglycemia lasts longer than 7-10 days, and genetic examination should also be recommended if it exceeds 2-3 weeks [1, 5]. In the examinations of our patient for the causes of transient hyperglycemia, acute phase reactants were negative, and blood and urine cultures showed no growth. On the 15th day, she was followed up with the diagnosis of NDM because her hyperglycemia continued and her insulin need continued.

Neonatal diabetes mellitus mav be presented with growth retardation, dehydration, and ketoacidosis, which may be fatal if the diagnosis is delayed [5, 6, 14]. Severe hyperglycemia (blood glucose >360 mg/dl) may cause significant osmotic changes leading to intraventricular bleeding [5]. It is very important to measure serum glucose, urine ketone, serum c- peptide, and insulin levels in the initial evaluation of infants with suspected of having this disease. Radiological evaluation of the pancreas should be recommended for the presence or absence of the pancreas, because this will guide the diagnosis and treatment [5, 10, 15]. Our patient had a low birth weight, but normal growth was achieved by insulin therapy, and laboratory values were also compatible with NDM. No structural anomaly or agenesis was detected in the pancreas radiologically with an MRI.

Neonatal diabetes is detected frequently in the first 6 months of life, but rarely until the 12th month of life, and it is highly likely to be caused by a monogenic defect [6, 16]. Genetic mutations cause NDM development by disrupting pancreatic beta cell functions, leading to decreased insulin secretion, pancreatic hypoplasia/agenesis or beta cell damage [15, 17]. Therefore, genetic examination is recommended in all NDM cases [6, 17]. In a large international cohort study including patients clinically diagnosed with neonatal diabetes; it was reported that 80% of the patients had an underlying genetic defect. It has also been reported that genetic analysis should be performed regardless of time in patients presenting with acute severe hyperglycemia

(serum glucose higher than 1000 mg/dL) [1, 5, 14]. So, we analyzed the genetic mutations of the patient for NMD by next generation sequence analysis; however, no known mutations could be detected.

Neonatal diabetes may be divided into transient, permanent, and syndromic forms according to its phenotypic characteristics [1]. Duplication of genes (ZAC, HYMAI) in the 6q24 region is responsible for the majority of the transient forms. Mutations of the KCNJ11 and ABCC8 genes, which encode the potassium channel subunit of the beta cell responsible for insulin secretion, are in the second frequency range. In transient NDM, remission is usually between 13-18 weeks; however, in about 40% of the cases, hyperglycemia may recur in later life. Mutations of KCNJ11, ABCC8, and insulin (INS) genes are responsible for the permanent form of NDM. The genotypephenotype relationship is weak, and it is difficult to distinguish the transient/permanent form clinically [1, 16]. Remission was developed in our patient between 8-9 weeks, and no genetic mutation was detected.

Early diagnosis and initiation of insulin therapy are very important in terms of the metabolic effects of ketoacidosis and preventing the development of chronic and irreversible complications of diabetes [1]. If the blood glucose level is higher than 180-200 mg/dL and there is +2 glucosuria in a newborn, insulin therapy should be needed [18]. The prognosis and treatment options for monogenic forms of neonatal diabetes vary greatly depending on which gene is affected. 40% of neonatal diabetes patients have mutations in KCNJ11 and ABCC8 that affect the pancreatic beta cell K-ATP channel [19]. Patients with these mutations can be treated with oral sulfonylureas. Studies show that, unlike insulin, early sulfonylurea therapy may improve neurodevelopmental outcomes in sulfonylurea-responsive patients 12, 20]; however, without genetic [11, conclusions, empirical sulfonylurea therapy is not recommended. Insulin therapy was started for our patient. Insulin therapy was administered with an infusion pump, as it provided ease of administration at very low doses. While insulin therapy is administered with an infusion pump, a blood glucose sensor is simultaneously placed subcutaneously, and continuous blood glucose is monitored. No severe symptomatic hypoglycemia was experienced in the clinical follow-up. The presented patient's blood glucose was regulated between 8 and 9 weeks; she did not need insulin therapy on the 62nd day, so she was discharged with the consideration of transient NDM and followed up clinically.

In conclusion, if hyperglycemia in the newborn exceeds one week, neonatal diabetes should be suspected; if it exceeds two weeks, molecular genetic studies should be started; and it should not be forgotten that early diagnosis and treatment have very important effects on the clinical course of these infants with NDM.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Lemelman MB, Letourneau L, Greeley SAW. Neonatal diabetes mellitus: an update on diagnosis and management. Clin Perinatol 2018;45:41-59. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clp.2017.10.006
- Pildes RS. Neonatal hyperglycemia. J Pediatr 1986;109:905-907. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(86)80725-9
- Hay WW Jr, Rozance PJ. Neonatal hyperglycemiacauses, treatments, and Cautions. J Pediatr 2018;200:6-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.04.046
- Hemachandra AH, Cowett RC. Neonatal hyperglycemia. Pediatr Rev 1999;20:16-24. https://doi. org/10.1542/pir.20-7-e16
- Ogilvy Stuart AL, Beardsall K. Management of hyperglycaemia in the preterm infant. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2010;95:126-131. https://doi. org/10.1136/adc.2008.154716
- Letourneau LR, Carmody D, Wroblewski K, et al. Diabetes presentation in infancy: high risk of diabetic ketoacidosis. Diabetes Care 2017;40:147-148. https:// doi.org/10.2337/dc17-1145
- Demirbilek H, Arya VB, Ozbek MN, et al. Clinical characteristics and molecular genetic analysis of 22 patients with neonatal diabetes from the South-Eastern region of Turkey: predominance of non-KATP channel mutations. Eur J Endocrinol 2015;172:697-705. https:// doi.org/10.1530/EJE-14-0852
- Polak M, Cavé H. Neonatal diabetes mellitus: a disease linked to multiple mechanisms. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2007;2:12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-2-12
- Garg M, Devaskar SU. Disorders of Carbohydrate Metabolism in the Neonate In: Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC, ed. Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine: diseases of the fetus and infant 11th ed. St. Louis: Elsevier Mosby, 2020:1584-1610.

- Tubiana Rufi N. Insulin pump therapy in neonatal diabetes. Endocr Dev 2007;12:67-74. https://doi. org/10.1159/000109606
- Pearson ER, Flechtner I, Njølstad PR, et al. Switching from insulin to oral sulfonylureas in patients with diabetes due to Kir6.2 mutations. N Engl J Med 2006;355:467-477. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa061759
- Rafiq M, Flanagan SE, Patch AM, et al. Effective treatment with oral sulfonylureas in patients with diabetes due to sulfonylurea receptor 1 (SUR1) mutations. Diabetes Care 2008;31:204-209. https://doi. org/10.2337/dc07-1785
- Besser RE, Flanagan SE, Mackay DG, et al. Prematurity and genetic testing for neonatal diabetes. Pediatrics 2016;138:e20153926. https://doi.org/10.1542/ peds.2015-3926
- Karges B, Meissner T, Icks A, Kapellen T, Holl RW. Management of diabetes mellitus in infants. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2011;8:201-211. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrendo.2011.204
- Ziegler AG, Hummel M, Schenker M, Bonifacio E. Autoantibody appearance and risk for development of childhood diabetes in offspring of parents with type 1 diabetes: the 2-year analysis of the German BABYDIAB Study. Diabetes 1999;48:460-468. https:// doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.48.3.460
- Rubio Cabezas O, Ellard S. Diabetes mellitus in neonates and infants: genetic heterogeneity, clinical approach to diagnosis, and therapeutic options. Horm Res Paediatr 2013;80:137-146. https://doi. org/10.1159/000354219
- Støy J, Steiner DF, Park SY, Ye H, Philipson LH, Bell GI. Clinical and molecular genetics of neonatal diabetes due to mutations in the insulin gene. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2010;11:205-215. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11154-010-9151-3
- Beardsall K, Vanhaesebrouck S, Ogilvy Stuart AL, et al. Prevalence and determinants of hyperglycemia in very low birth weight infants: cohort analyses of the NIRTURE study. J Pediatr 2010;157:715-719. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.04.032
- Flanagan SE, Patch AM, Mackay DJ, et al. Mutations in ATP-sensitive K+ channel genes cause transient neonatal diabetes and permanent diabetes in childhood or adulthood. Diabetes 2007;56:1930-1937. https://doi. org/10.2337/db07-0043
- Shah RP, Spruyt K, Kragie BC, Greeley SA, Msall ME. Visuomotor performance in KCNJ11-related neonatal diabetes is impaired in children with DEND-associated mutations and may be improved by early treatment with sulfonylureas. Diabetes Care 2012;35:2086-2088. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-2225

Consent to participate: The authors certify that they obtained all the appropriate patient consent forms. The patient's mother and father provided their consent for the patient's images and other clinical information to be reported in this journal. The patient's mother and father understand that the patient's name and initials will not be published, and that although due effort has been made to conceal the patient's identity, anonymity cannot be guaranteed.

Authors' contributions to the article

S.A.A., O.M. and A.O. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. D.Y. and M.O. developed the theory and arranged/edited the material and method section. G.O.C. and H.E. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article was written by G.S.D., O.M.A.O. and G.S.D. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Malignancy smell in the air: widespread eroded, hemorrhagic, and lichenified plaques in an older man

Havada malignite kokusu var: yaşlı erkekte yaygın erode, hemorajik ve likenifiye plaklar

Rashad Ismayilov, Oğuz Abdullah Uyaroğlu, Berkay Kapar, Murat Özdede, Deniz Ateş Özdemir

Posted date:10.09.2023

Acceptance date:21.12.2023

Abstract

Paraneoplastic pemphigus (PNP) is a rare autoimmune mucocutaneous disease associated with underlying neoplasia. It is typically characterized by painful mucosal erosions and dark, patchy skin eruptions. A 66-yearold male was admitted to the internal medicine outpatient clinic with complaints of suddenly started rashes, loss of appetite, dyspepsia, weakness, and unexplained gross weight loss. The patient was cachectic, and physical examination revealed widespread eroded, erythematous, thick-middle, yellow-pitted, lichenified plaques on bilateral arms and legs and the hands and feet dorsum. Scattered seborrheic keratosis lesions on the trunk were also detected. He had microcytic anemia with elevated CA 19-9 measures. Abdomen computed tomography showed a malignant mass in the antrum. An endoscopic biopsy of the gastric mass revealed poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma composed of discohesive signet ring cells, and the skin punch biopsy was compitable compatible with paraneoplastic pemphigus.

In patients with rapidly developing skin lesions with constitutional symptoms, underlying malignancies should be kept in mind.

Keywords: Paraneoplastic pemphigus, Leser Trelat, gastric adenocarcinoma.

Ismayilov R, Uyaroglu OA, Kapar B, Ozdede M, Ates Ozdemir D. Malignancy smell in the air: widespread eroded, hemorrhagic, and lichenified plaques in an older man. Pam Med J 2024;17:395-398.

Öz

Paraneoplastik pemfigus (PNP), altta yatan neoplazi ile ilişkili nadir bir otoimmün mukokutanöz hastalıktır. Tipik olarak ağrılı mukozal erozyonlar ve koyu yamasal döküntülerle ile karakterizedir. Altmış altı yaşında erkek hasta ani başlayan kızarıklık, iştahsızlık, hazımsızlık, halsizlik ve açıklanamayan aşırı kilo kaybı şikayetleri ile dahiliye polikliniğine başvurdu. Kaşektik olan hastanın fizik muayenesinde her iki kol ve bacakta, el ve ayak sırtında yaygın aşınmış, eritematöz, ortası kalın, sarı-çekirdekli, likenifiye plaklar saptandı. Gövdede dağınık seboreik keratoz lezyonları da olan hastanın yüksek CA 19-9 düzeyi ile mikrositer anemisi vardı. Karın bilgisayarlı tomografisinde antrumda malign bir kitle görüldü. Mide kitlesinin endoskopik biyopsisinde diskohezif taşlı yüzük hücrelerinden oluşan az diferansiye adenokarsinom saptandı ve cilt biyopsisi paraneoplastik pemfigus ile uyumlu izlendi. Yapısal semptomlarla birlikte hızla gelişen cilt lezyonları olan hastalarda altta yatan maligniteler akılda tutulmalıdır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Paraneoplastik pemfigus, Leser Trelat, gastrik adenokarsinom.

Ismayilov R, Uyaroğlu OA, Kapar B, Özdede M, Ateş Özdemir D. Havada malignite kokusu var: yaşlı erkekte yaygın erode, hemorajik ve likenifiye plaklar. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:395-398.

Rashad Ismayilov, Ph.D. Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: ismayilov_r@ hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7093-2722) (Corresponding Author)

Oğuz Abdullah Uyaroğlu, Assoc. Prof. Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of General Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: oguzuyaroglu@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0440-2026)

Berkay Kapar, Ph.D. Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: berkaykpr@gmail. com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6458-3346)

Murat Özdede, MSc. Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of General Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: muratozdede@hacettepe.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6981-1210)

DenizAteş Özdemir, Assoc. Prof. Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Ankara, Türkiye, e-mail: denizatesozdemir@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9051-0343)

Introduction

Some malignancies may trigger several cutaneous manifestations. Although recognition of some typical paraneoplastic dermatoses may lead to early diagnosis of a neoplasm, some may progress with atypical involvements [1]. Sometimes, patients may apply to the physician for the first time not only with symptoms related to the primary diagnosis but also with cutaneous manifestations that seem unrelated.

Here, we present a rare case of metastatic gastric adenocarcinoma applying to the general internal medicine outpatient clinic with complaints of constitutional symptoms and widespread cutaneous manifestations.

Case report

A 66-year-old male patient with type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and coronary artery disease was admitted to the general internal medicine outpatient clinic with complaints of rashes that started on the hands and spread to the trunk and feet 2 months ago. It was accompanied by loss of appetite, dyspepsia, weakness, and unexplained gross weight loss (15 kg per 2 months). The patient was cachectic, and physical examination revealed widespread eroded, erythematous, thickmiddle, yellow-pitted, lichenified plaques on bilateral arms and legs and dorsum of the hands and feet. Scattered seborrheic keratosis lesions on the trunk were also detected (Picture 1). He was on metformin, dapagliflozin, telmisartan, metoprolol, and clopidogrel treatment for 4 years and had a 20-pack-year smoking history. Laboratory studies revealed microcytic anemia with a hemoglobin level of 8.3 g/dL, leukocyte count of 5.6x10³/ml, platelet count of 321x103/ml, creatinine level of 1.5 mg/ dL, serum sodium 126 mEq/L, potassium 3.58 mEg/L, chlorine 94 mEg/L, hemoglobin A1C 6%, normal liver functions, and negative acute phase reactants. He was admitted to the hospital ward, and intravenous fluid resuscitation and topical 0.05% clobetasol propionate were administered. Antinuclear antibody, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody, rheumatoid factor, indirect immunofluorescence on rat bladder epithelium, prostate-specific antigen, carcinoembryonic antigen, and alphafetoprotein were negative, while CA 19-9 was 65.7 U/mL (normal range: 0-35). Subsequently, abdomen computed tomography showed a malignant mass in the antrum, 12 mm thickening in the right adrenal gland, three heterogeneous contrasted lesions, the largest of which is 34x24 mm in the left adrenal gland, and multiple paraaortic, paracaval, and portal hilar lymphadenopathies up to 36x46 mm in size. Upper endoscopy revealed an ulcerovegetative antral mass surrounding the pylorus.



Picture 1. (a) and (b) Widespread eroded, erythematous, thick-middle, yellow-pitted, lichenified plaques on the trunk, (b) arrow signs; scattered seborrheic keratosis lesions on the trunk, (c) dorsum of the feet

An endoscopic biopsy of the gastric mass revealed poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma composed of discohesive signet ring cells. A skin punch biopsy showed intense dyskeratosis, suprabasilar clefting, lymphocyte exocytosis, and acantholysis in the epidermis (Picture 2). Immunofluorescence examination of tissue from the perilesional skin showed weak intraepidermal positivity with C3. IgG, IgA, and IgM were negative. The findings were compatible with Paraneoplastic pemphigus.

Written informed consent for the publication of their details was obtained from the relatives of the patient.



Picture 2. Suprabasal splitting is observed in the lower epidermis, and dense dyskeratosis is observed in the upper epidermis (H&E 40x)

(a) Larger magnification shows acantholytic cells in the splitting cavity with diffuse dyskeratosis and residual basal layer cells due to suprabasal detachment (H&E, 100x) (b)

Discussion

Paraneoplastic pemphigus (PNP) is a rare autoimmune mucocutaneous disease associated with underlying neoplasia. It is typically characterized by painful mucosal erosions and dark, patchy skin eruptions. Widespread epidermal loss can lead to severe dehydration, protein loss, and an increased risk of infection. In at least 80% of patients, the underlying malignancy is lymphoproliferative diseases, primarily non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Despite its association with many solid organ malignancies, only 4 cases of gastric cancer have been published to date [2, 3]

At first glance, the lesions on the trunk suggested Leser-Trelat sign, which is considered to be a fairly rare paraneoplastic cutaneous marker of internal malignancy (gastric adenocarcinoma being the overall most common malignancy, followed by breast cancer and lymphoproliferative disorders/lymphoma), with the hallmark finding being an abrupt eruption of multiple seborrheic keratoses [4]. However, the biopsy was not taken from these seborrheic keratoses lesions; PNP turned out to be a more accurate diagnosis.

Unfortunately, there is no current diagnostic guide or treatment protocol for PNP [5]. The treatment of patients with PNP consists of suppressing of the disease manifestations and managing patient symptoms. Treatment of the underlying malignancy is beneficial in some cases. We consulted our patient with the oncology department for the treatment of gastric adenocarcinoma.

It should be kept in mind that some malignancies may trigger cutaneous manifestations. Underlying malignancies should not be forgotten in patients with rapidly developing skin lesions with constitutional symptoms. **Conflict of interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Kim JH, Kim SC. Paraneoplastic pemphigus: paraneoplastic autoimmune disease of the skin and mucosa. Front Immunol 2019;10:1-11. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01259
- Basir N, Telisinghe PU, Chong VH. Gastric cancer and paraneoplastic pemphigus. Indian J Surg 2015;77:545-546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12262-015-1311-y
- Lepekhova A, Olisova O, Teplyuk N, Zolotenkov D, Allenova A. A rare association of paraneoplastic pemphigus with gastric signet cell ring carcinoma. Australas J Dermatol 2019;60:168-169. https://doi. org/10.1111/ajd.12963
- Bernett CN, Schmieder GJ. Leser Trelat Sign. [Updated 2022 Sep 12]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022.
- Svoboda SA, Huang S, Liu X, Hsu S, Motaparthi K. Paraneoplastic pemphigus: revised diagnostic criteria based on literature analysis. J Cutan Pathol 2021;48:1133-1138. https://doi.org/10.1111/cup.14004

Informed consent: Written informed consent for publication of their details was obtained from the relatives of the patient.

Authors' contributions to the article

R.I. constructed the main idea and hypothesis of the study. O.A.U. developed the theory and edited the material and method section. B.K. and M.O. have done the evaluation of the data in the results section. Discussion section of the article written by R.I. and O.A.U.

D.A.O. reviewed, corrected and approved. In addition, all authors discussed the entire study and approved the final version.

Traumatic knee dislocation "about"

Travmatik diz çıkıkları "hakkında"

Uğur Ertem

Posted date:03.01.2024

Dear Editor,

I would like to share my opinions on the article "Traumatic knee dislocation" [1]. First of all, I would like to thank the authors for contributions to the science of a subject that is of great concern to physicians interested in the musculoskeletal system and whose treatment and rehabilitation is very difficult. I will try to contribute to such an important issue as a physical medicine and rehabilitation physician.

Traumatic knee dislocation is an extremely rare injury, with a prevalence of less than 0.2% of all orthopedic injuries. However, because it is frequently accompanied by meniscus, ligament, bone and soft tissue injuries, it is a difficult pathology to treat for orthopedics, physical medicine and rehabilitation physicians [2, 3]. Apart from this, knee dislocation can be accompanied by various vascular and neurological injuries, and if timely diagnosis and treatment is not performed, it may lead to consequences such as limb loss [4]. Today, there is still no consensus on the best treatment strategy for the optimal surgical treatment of traumatic knee dislocations [4, 5]. Bektas et al. [1] point out in their article the importance of early and appropriate patient-based intervention by experienced orthopedic surgeons and high awareness of neurovascular injuries.

Post-operative rehabilitation is as important as the surgical treatment of traumatic knee dislocations in terms of preventing morbidity in patients. Treatment of traumatic knee dislocations is surgically difficult and there is no standard treatment protocol, and the situation is similar in the field of rehabilitation. It can generally occur with poor functional results in these patients. In such injuries, combined instability is observed in many planes of the knee [6]. Owens et al. [7] stated that the treatment

results of patients who did not receive a modern rehabilitation program following early surgery were unsuccessful. Postoperative protection for multiple ligament injuries is important for healing of surgically repaired or reconstructed tissues, but major injuries and complex surgeries can develop stiffness and loss of motion in the knee joint [8, 9]. Postoperative protection is as important for the recovery of the surgical field as it is for the improvement of functional status in rehabilitation. In a review, Mook et al. [10] found that late knee reconstruction of severe multiligament knee injuries may provide similar outcomes for stability compared to acute surgery. But, it was concluded that early initiation of mobility in patients is better than immobilization.

Rehabilitation of multiple ligament injuries is different from isolated ligament injuries. In such injuries, a more protective rehabilitation program is planned. Surgical treatment is generally essential in the presence of multiple ligament injuries, especially traumatic knee dislocations. Arthrofibrosis is the most common complication of these surgeries. Early rehabilitation is of great importance in preventing complications. After multiple ligament injury surgery, partial load should be given for 6-8 weeks. Return to sports should not occur before 1 year [11]. Therefore, a comprehensive rehabilitation program should be organized after knee dislocation surgery, including strengthening exercises, range of motion exercises, mobilization exercises, walking and balance exercises.

As a result, the rehabilitation program is as important as the success of the surgical treatment in terms of successful functional results in traumatic knee dislocations. Surgery and postoperative rehabilitation program are two integral elements for successful results in such injuries.

Uğur Ertem, M.D. Bursa Uludag University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Bursa, e-mail: ugurertem@ uludag.edu.tr (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2142-2264) (Corresponding Author)

References

- Bektaş M, Güngör HR, Gem K. Travmatik diz çıkıkları. Pam Tıp Derg 2024;17:173-184. https://dx.doi. org/10.31362/patd.1265253
- Mermerkaya MU, Polat M, Tanriöver A, Tandoğan R, Kayaalp A. Dizin travmatik çıkıkları. TOTBİD Dergisi 2019;18:71-88. https://doi.org/10.14292/totbid. dergisi.2019.09
- Hegyes MS, Richardson MW, Miller MD. Knee dislocation. Complications of nonoperative and operative management. Clin Sports Med 2000;19:519-543. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0278-5919(05)70222-2
- Ma W, Yang Y, Ha X. Two-stage ligament reconstruction with remnant preservation as treatment of knee dislocation. BMC Surg 2023;23:371. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12893-023-02271-5
- Held M, Laubscher M, von Bormann R, Richter DL, Wascher DC, Schenck RC. Open approaches for cruciate ligament reconstruction in knee dislocations: a technical note and case series. SICOT J 2021;7:17. https://doi.org/10.1051/sicotj/2021016
- Kekatpure A, Kekatpure A, Deshpande S, Srivastava S, Saoji K. Multiligament knee injury with common peroneal nerve palsy in a long jump athlete with 4-year follow-up: a case report. J Orthop Case Rep 2023;13:121-125. https://doi.org/10.13107/jocr.2023. v13.i07.3778
- Owens BD, Neault M, Benson E, Busconi BD. Primary repair of knee dislocations: results in 25 patients (28 knees) at a mean follow-up of four years. J Orthop Trauma 2007;21:92-96. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BOT.0b013e3180321318
- Ergan M, Başkurt Z, Çetin C, Atay T. Diz çoklu bağ yaralanmasında cerrahi sonrası rehabilitasyon programının sonuçları: olgu sunumu. Spor Hekimliği Dergisi 2019;54:202-206. https://doi.org/10.5152/ tjsm.2019.133
- Hubert MG, Stannard JP. Surgical treatment of acute and chronic anterior and posterior cruciate ligament and medial-side injuries of the knee. Sports Med Arthrosc Rev 2011;19:104-109. https://doi.org/10.1097/ JSA.0b013e3182191874
- Mook WR, Miller MD, Diduch DR, Hertel J, Boachie Adjei Y, Hart JM. Multiple-ligament knee injuries: a systematic review of the timing of operative intervention and postoperative rehabilitation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009;91:2946-2957. https://doi.org/10.2106/ JBJS.H.01328
- Tandoğan NR, Gönç HU, Polat P, Tanrıöver A. Çoklu bağ yaralanmalarında ön çapraz bağa yaklaşım. TOTBİD Dergisi 2020;19:586-593. https://doi. org/10.14292/totbid.dergisi.2020.72

Traumatic knee dislocation "author's response"

Travmatik diz çıkıkları "yazarın yanıtı"

Mert Bektaş, Harun Reşit Güngör, Kadir Gem

Posted date:20.01.2024

Dear Editor,

We would like to thank authors for their invaluable comments on our article. These types of complicated injuries are challenging traumas that can be overcome with the cooperation of orthopaedics and traumatology and physical therapy and rehabilitation units [1, 2]. Physical therapy is at least as important as surgery in restoring the patient's previous movement function, especially in the postoperative period [3, 4]. With this awareness, we aimed to restore the pre-injury functions of the patients by receiving the necessary support from our physical therapy and rehabilitation unit in the patients we included in our study. We have seen that early stage physical therapy and rehabilitation, especially after surgery, reduces the limitation of function. In addition, we concluded that physical therapy and rehabilitation specific to the patient and the type of injury will be more effective.

In conclusion, as you mentioned in your article, such injuries with high morbidity are injuries that many medical departments can overcome by working together. Physical therapy and rehabilitation is the most important building block of the postoperative process.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

References

- Mermerkaya MU, Polat M, Tanriöver A, Tandoğan R, Kayaalp A. Dizin travmatik çıkıkları. TOTBİD Dergisi 2019;18:71-88. https://doi.org/10.14292/totbid. dergisi.2019.09
- Hegyes MS, Richardson MW, Miller MD. Knee dislocation: complications of nonoperative and operative management. Clin Sports Med 2000;19:519-543. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0278-5919(05)70222-2

Acceptance date:29.01.2024

- Ergan M, Başkurt Z, Çetin C, Atay T. Diz çoklu bağ yaralanmasında cerrahi sonrası rehabilitasyon programının sonuçları: olgu sunumu. Spor Hekimliği Dergisi 2019;54:202-206. https://doi.org/10.5152/ tjsm.2019.133
- Hubert MG, Stannard JP. Surgical treatment of acute and chronic anterior and posterior cruciate ligament and medial-side injuries of the knee. Sports Med Arthrosc Rev 2011;19:104-109. https://doi.org/10.1097/ JSA.0b013e3182191874

Mert Bektaş, Research Asst. Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: dr.mertbektas@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0744-8708) (Corresponding Author)

Harun Reşit Güngör, Prof. Pamukkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Denizli, Türkiye, e-mail: hrgungor@gmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0721-0890)

Kadir Gem, Specialist Alaşehir State Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Manisa, Türkiye, e-mail: Kadirgem.ege@hotmail.com (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8607-3491)